Institut für Mathematik Lehrstuhl für Didaktik der Mathematik

Titel der Dissertation

Applying Realistic Mathematics Education in Vietnam: Teaching middle school geometry

Dissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades "doctor rerum naturalium" (Dr. rer. nat.) in der Wissenschaftsdisziplin "Mathematikdidaktik"

eingereicht an der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Potsdam

Von Tuan Anh Le

Potsdam, den 11.12.2006

Vorsitzender:	Prof. Dr. Klaus-Dieter Denecke Universität Potsdam Institut für Mathematik
Gutachter:	Prof. Dr. Thomas Jahnke (Betreuer) Universität Potsdam Institut für Mathematik
Gutachter:	Prof. Dr. Koeno Gravemeijer Universität Utrecht Freudenthal Institut
Gutachter:	Prof. Dr. Ba Kim Nguyen Pädagogische Universität Hanoi Fakultät für Mathematik – Informatik
Tag der Einreichung:	11. 12. 2006
Tag der Verteidigung:	22. 03. 2007

Allgemeinverständliche Zusammenfassung zur Dissertation

Seit 1971 wurde an dem renommierten Freudenthal Institut in Utrecht ein als Realistic Mathematics Education (RME) bezeichneter mathematikdidaktischer Ansatz entwickelt. Die Philosophie von RME beruht auf Hans Freudenthals Auffassung von Mathematik als menschlicher Aktivität. Der Mathematiker und Didaktiker Prof. Hans Freudenthal (1905 – 1990) plädierte dafür, dass Mathematik an den Schulen nicht als Fertigprodukt unterrichtet werden sollte. Im Gegensatz dazu forderte er, den Schülern an ,realistischen' Situationen nicht-formale und formale Mathematik wieder entdecken zu lassen.

Obwohl die mathematische Schulbildung in Vietnam in den letzten Jahrzehnten schon einige Fortschritte gemacht hat, steht sie noch vor großen Herausforderungen. Derzeit ist die Reform der Unterrichtsmethoden eine dringliche Aufgabe in Vietnam. Augenscheinlich ermangelt es der Mathematikdidaktik in Vietnam an dem dazu notwendigen theoretischen Rahmen. Die Philosophie von RME eignet sich grundsätzlich als Orientierung für die Reform der Unterrichtsmethoden in Vietnam. Allerdings ist die Potenz von RME für die mathematische Schulbildung in Vietnam und die Möglichkeiten, RME im Mathematikunterricht anzuwenden, noch zu klären.

Das Hauptziel dieser Arbeit war zu erforschen, wie RME beim Mathematik-Lernen und -Lehren in Vietnam eingesetzt werden kann und die Frage zu beantworten: Wie kann RME den Mathematikunterricht in Vietnam bereichern? Dazu wurde insbesondere der Geometrieunterricht in der Sekundarstufe I betrachtet.

Im Einzelnen beinhaltet die Untersuchung:

- eine Analyse der vietnamesischen Mathematikdidaktik in der 'Reformperiode' (etwa von 1980 bis 2000)
- die Konzeption, Durchführung und Auswertung einer Befragung von 152 Mittelschullehrern aus verschiedenen vietnamesischen Provinzen und Städten zum Mathematikunterricht in Vietnam
- eine Analyse von RME einschließlich der Freudenthalschen Sicht von RME und der Charakteristika von RME
- die Diskussion, wie man RME-basierten Unterrichtseinheiten gestalten und diese in den Mathematikunterricht in Vietnam integrieren kann
- Test solcher Einheiten in vietnamesischen Mittelschulen
- Analyse der Rückmeldungen anhand der Schülerarbeitsblätter und der Lehrerberichte
- Diskussion der Chancen und Probleme von RME-basierten Unterrichtseinheiten im Geometrieunterricht vietnamesischer Mittelschulen
- Diskussion von Vorschläge zur Entwicklung und zum Einsatz RME- basierter Unterrichtseinheiten in Vietnam, einschließlich von Hinweisen für Lehrende und der Konzeption von Ausbildungs- und Fortbildungskursen zu RME

Die Untersuchung zeigt, dass – obwohl Lehrer wie Schüler zunächst einige Hindernisse beim Lehren und Lernen mit RME- basierten Unterrichtseinheiten zu bewältigen haben werden – RME ein mächtiger mathematikdidaktischer Ansatz ist, der wirkungsvoll im Lehren und Lernen von Mathematik in vietnamesischen Schulen angewandt werden kann.

Abstract

Since 1971, the Freudenthal Institute has developed an approach to mathematics education named Realistic Mathematics Education (RME). The philosophy of RME is based on Hans Freudenthal's concept of 'mathematics as a human activity'. Prof. Hans Freudenthal (1905-1990), a mathematician and educator, believes that 'ready-made mathematics' should not be taught in school. By contrast, he urges that students should be offered 'realistic situations' so that they can rediscover from informal to formal mathematics.

Although mathematics education in Vietnam has some achievements, it still encounters several challenges. Recently, the reform of teaching methods has become an urgent task in Vietnam. It appears that Vietnamese mathematics education lacks necessary theoretical frameworks. At first sight, the philosophy of RME is suitable for the orientation of the teaching method reform in Vietnam. However, the potential of RME for mathematics education as well as the ability of applying RME to teaching mathematics is still questionable in Vietnam. The primary aim of this dissertation is to research into abilities of applying RME to teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam and to answer the question "how could RME enrich Vietnamese mathematics education?". This research will emphasize teaching geometry in Vietnamese middle school.

More specifically, the dissertation will implement the following research tasks:

- Analyzing the characteristics of Vietnamese mathematics education in the 'reformed' period (from the early 1980s to the early 2000s) and at present;
- Implementing a survey of 152 middle school teachers' ideas from several Vietnamese provinces and cities about Vietnamese mathematics education;
- Analyzing RME, including Freudenthal's viewpoints for RME and the characteristics of RME;
- Discussing how to design RME-based lessons and how to apply these lessons to teaching and learning in Vietnam;
- Experimenting RME-based lessons in a Vietnamese middle school;
- Analyzing the feedback from the students' worksheets and the teachers' reports, including the potentials of RME-based lessons for Vietnamese middle school and the difficulties the teachers and their students encountered with RME-based lessons;
- Discussing proposals for applying RME-based lessons to teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam, including making suggestions for teachers who will apply these lessons to their teaching and designing courses for inservice teachers and teachers-in training.

This research reveals that although teachers and students may encounter some obstacles while teaching and learning with RME-based lesson, RME could become a potential approach for mathematics education and could be effectively applied to teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnamese school.

Acknowledgements

First of all, let me express my special thanks to the Vietnamese Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) and the Vietnamese government for giving me a three-year scholarship for my study in the Federal Republic of Germany.

I would like to thank Hanoi University of Education, where I work, for allowing me to study overseas.

Let me express my deep thanks to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Thomas Jahnke, for his support and help during the time I spent in Potsdam, Germany. I especially appreciate his guidance and support of my dissertation work. He introduced me to Realistic Mathematics Education (RME). Although I had worked as a mathematics teacher educator at Hanoi University of Education, I had never heard about RME before I went to Germany in October 2003. He helped finance my attendance at congresses, including ICME-10 in Copenhagen, Denmark and GDM-39 in Bielefeld, Germany and my visit to the Freudenthal Institute in October 2004. By hiring me to correct students' homework of a stochastic course, he enabled me to visit my family and my newborn son. I also would like to thank Prof. Jahnke for having purchased some necessary books from the Freudenthal Institute which were important for my dissertation.

I would like to express my deep gratitude to Dr. Axel Brückner. He helped me enroll at the University of Potsdam and was always willing to help me whenever I requested. I would like to thank him for correcting my German writing when I prepared homework for in-service mathematics teachers in the winter semester of 2003-2004. He also gave me some useful suggestions for my RME-based geometry lessons.

I am very grateful to Dr. Wolfram Meyerhöfer, Dr. Winfried Müller and Mrs. Nguyen Phuong Chi for their feedback on my dissertation. I also wish to thank Dr. Meyerhöfer for offering to purchase some books from the Freudenthal Institute which were critical to my dissertation.

I would like to express my thanks to Mrs. Silke Biebeler, Secretary of the Institute for Mathematics, the University of Potsdam, for her administrative help during my time in Potsdam.

Let me express my appreciation to the members of the Freudenthal Institute, the University of Utrecht, the Netherlands for their hospitability and help during my visit to the Freudenthal Institute in October 2004: Mr. Henk van der Kooij, Ms. Truus Dekker, Prof. Dr. Koeno Gravemeijer, Prof. Dr. Jan de Lange, Dr. Heleen Verhage, Mr. Aad Goddijn, Mr. Martin Kindt, Dr. Michiel Doorman, Ms. Dede de Haan, Dr. Marja van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, Dr. Corine van den Boer, Mr. Frans Moerlands, Ms. Betty Heijman, Mr. Bart van Walderveen and others.

I owe special gratitude to the ICME-10 committee for granting me a grant to attend their international congress.

I would like to express my deep thanks to Prof. Dr. Nguyen Ba Kim, manager of the Project Teachers Development, the MoET for his support and help.

I am indebted to Dr. Hoang Thi Thanh Mai from the Hasso-Plattner Institute at the University of Potsdam for introducing me to Prof. Dr. Thomas Jahnke. Dr. Hoang Thi Thanh Mai also gave necessary help and guidance when I arrived in Germany to study.

Let me express my appreciation to Mr. Le Xuan Mui and Ms. Do Lan Huong, mathematics teachers in Nguyen Luong Bang middle school, Thanh Mien district, Hai Duong province for their willingness to apply some RME-based geometry lessons. I also wish to thank their students in classes 7A and 7B (the school-year 2005-2006) for feedback from their interactive worksheets while they were working with RME-based geometry lessons. In addition, I would like to thank 152 middle school teachers who completed my questionnaire.

I would like to thank Dr. Nguyen Thanh Thuy, lecturer of mathematics education at Cantho University for giving her copy of dissertation to the Library of the Mathematics Education Department of the Institute for Mathematics at Potsdam University.

My special thanks to Dr. Nguyen Van Trao in the Faculty for Mathematics at Hanoi University of Education for his willingness to do some necessary official administrative procedures in Vietnam for me. He also helped me interview middle school mathematics teachers. Furthermore, he always encouraged me to persevere with my study.

My acknowledgements are due to Mr. Nguyen Hung Chinh and Dr. Nguyen Anh Tuan in the Department of Teaching Methods of the Faculty for Mathematics at Hanoi University of Education. They helped me collect some vital sources from Vietnam. I would like to thank Mr. Nguyen The Thach, MoET for giving me some materials related to mathematics education in Vietnam.

My gratitude is extended to Dr. Vu Quoc Anh, a former employee at the Vietnamese Embassy to Germany in Berlin, who gave me necessary advice for my life and study in Potsdam.

I am very thankful to Dr. Tran Anh Dung at the Vietnamese Embassy to Germany in Berlin for his good counsel and support.

I would like to thank associate Prof. Dr. Pham Khac Ban, head of the Training Department and associate Prof. Dr. Bui Van Nghi, dean of the Faculty for Mathematics at Hanoi University of Education for their support of my study in Germany.

I would like to express my special thanks to Ms. Raysh Weiss, a PhD candidate at the University of Minnesota, the U.S.A. for correcting my English writing.

Thanks to all of my Vietnamese friends who have studied in Potsdam and Berlin for their moral support and friendship during my study.

I would like to acknowledge gratefully the love and support of my parents and parents-in-law. They also helped my wife and my small son overcome many difficulties while I was studying in Germany. Special thanks to my younger sister, Le Thi Thanh Huong and her husband, Nguyen Ngoc Oanh, as well as to my cousins, Le Thi Thu Nhi, Le Xuan Nhu and Bui Thi Do and my other relatives for their help and support.

Last but not least, I wish to thank my wife, Nguyen Thi My Binh and my small son, Le Tuan Hung. They are, and have been, indispensable sources of love and encouragement as I completing this dissertation. Dear Binh and Hung, I sincerely regret that I was not there to share your difficulties and hardships during my study in Germany.

Potsdam, December 2006

Le Tuan Anh

Table of contents

LIST OF TABLES	8
LIST OF FIGURES	9
SOME MATHEMATICAL SIGNS USED IN THE DISSERTATION	11
ABBREVIATIONS IN THE DISSERTATION	13
INTRODUCTION	14
CHAPTER 1 CHARACTERISTICS OF MATHEMATICS EDUCATION IN VIETNAM	19
1.1 BRIEF INTRODUCTION TO EDUCATIONAL REFORMS IN VIETNAM AFTER 1945	20
1 2 GENERAL EDUCATION IN VIETNAM	22
1.3 CHARACTERISTICS OF MATHEMATICS EDUCATION IN THE 'REFORMED' PERIOD	23
1 3 1 School mathematics curriculum and textbooks	23
1.3.1.1 Overview of mathematical curriculum and textbooks	
1.3.1.2 Rigorous characteristic of mathematical curriculum and textbooks	
1.3.1.3 Theoretical knowledge in mathematics curriculum and textbooks	
1.3.1.4 Lack of practical knowledge in mathematics curriculum and textbooks	30
1.3.1.5 Other characteristics	
1.3.2 Methods of teaching mathematics	32
1.3.2.1 Typical methods of teaching mathematics in school	
1.3.2.2 Impact of examinations on methods of teaching mathematics	33
1.3.3 Assessment and examinations.	
1.3.3.1 Examinations	33
1 3 3 3 Lack of scientific foundations for assessment and examinations	
1 3 4 Classroom organization	36
1 3 4 1 Curriculum distribution and teaching plan	
1.3.4.2 Tools and activities of teachers in lessons	
1.3.4.3 Tools and activities of students in lessons	
1.3.4.4 High number of students in a class	38
1.3.5 Teacher staff	39
1.4 GENERAL IDEAS TO IMPROVE MATHEMATICS EDUCATION	40
1.4.1 Mathematics curricula and textbooks	41
1.4.1.1 Primary school	41
1.4.1.2 Middle school	41
1.4.1.3 High school	43
1.4.2 Methods of teaching	44
1.4.3 Assessment and examinations	45
1.5 RESEARCH QUESTION	45
1.5.1 Research question	45
1.5.2 Sub-questions	46
1.5.2.1 Sub-question 1 (concerning a grade and a mathematics strand)	46
1.5.2.2 Sub-question 2 (considering difficulties teachers and students may meet)	46
1.5.2.3 Sub-question 3 (concerning potentials of RME)	
1.5.2.4 Sub-question 4 (considering possible proposals for applying KME)	
CHADTED 2 DEALISTIC MATHEMATICS EDUCATION	
21.0	40
2.1 OVERVIEW OF RME HISTORY	48
2.2 SOME BASIC IDEAS OF FREUDENTHAL FOR KME	50
2.2.1 Mathematics as a human activity	
2.2.1.1 Mathematics and common sense	50
2.2.1.2 maintenances as a ready-made product and matternatics as a number activity	
2.2.2 Guided reinvention	<i>31</i> 57
2.2.5 Diadelicai phenomenology	<i>32</i> 52
2.3 IVIEANING UF KEALISTIC IN NIVIE	
2.3.1 Muneman approaches to mathematics advestion	
2.3.2 Dijjereni approaches io mainematics eaucation	
2.5.5 Kealistic and autoentic	3/
2.4 1 ENEIS (PRINCIPLES) OF KIVIE	
2.4.1 The use of contexts	

	59
2.4.1.2 Roles of context	59
2.4.2 The use of models	60
2.4.2.1 Roots of models.	60
2.4.2.2 Self-developed (emergent) models	61
2.4.2.3 "Didactical modeling", "mathematical modeling" and "emergent modeling"	62
2.4.5 The students own productions and constructions	03
2.4.4 The interactive principle	64
2.4.5 The intertwining of mathematical strands	64
2.5 SOME EXAMPLES	65
2.5.1 Developing long division	66
2.5.2 Empty number line for additions and subtraction up to 100	67
CHAPTER 3 VIETNAMESE RME-BASED GEOMETRY LESSONS FOR GRADE 7	70
3.1 MIDDLE SCHOOL GEOMETRY CURRICULA	70
3.1.1 An overview of middle school geometry curricula	70
3.1.2 Characteristics of Vietnamese middle school geometry	73
3.1.2.1 The 'reformed' period (from the early 1980s until the early 2000s)	73
3.1.2.2 Geometry in the current middle school curriculum and textbooks	78
3.1.2.3 Insufficiency of conditions for a Vietnamese RME curriculum	80
3.2 FOUNDATIONS TO DESIGN VIETNAMESE RME-BASED GEOMETRY LESSONS FOR GRADE 7	82
3.2.1 The Vietnamese mathematics curriculum, textbooks and curricular distributions	82
3.2.2 Studies on RME	83
3.2.2.1 The basic ideas of Freudenthal and the characteristics of RME	83
3.2.2.2 The characteristics of the (Dutch) realistic geometry curriculum	84
3.2.2.3 Differences between using manipulations and mathematics applications in the Vietnamese	07
textbooks and realistic contexts in RME	87
2.2.2. Van Hiolo's loyals of geometric thinking and phases of instruction	09
3.2.3 Van Hiele's levels of geometric thinking and phases of instruction	00
3 2 3 2 The characteristic of Van Hiele's theory of levels	90
3.2.4 Using information and communication technology (ICT) in teaching and learning geom	netrv
	91
3.3 THE TRIANGLE SUM THEOREM (TRIANGLE-ANGLE SUM THEOREM) AS AN EXAMPLE	02
	97
3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	92 92
3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	92 92 92
3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks 3.3.1.1 Advantages 3.3.1.2 Disadvantages	92 92 92 93
3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks 3.3.1.1 Advantages 3.3.1.2 Disadvantages 3.3.2 RME-based lesson	92 92 92 93 94
3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks 3.3.1.1 Advantages 3.3.1.2 Disadvantages 3.3.2 RME-based lesson	92 92 92 93 94
3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks 3.3.1.1 Advantages 3.3.1.2 Disadvantages 3.3.2 RME-based lesson CHAPTER 4 ANALYZING FEEDBACK FROM EXPERIMENT LESSONS	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	92 92 92 93 94 96 96
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks. 3.3.1.1 Advantages. 3.3.1.2 Disadvantages. 3.3.2 RME-based lesson CHAPTER 4 ANALYZING FEEDBACK FROM EXPERIMENT LESSONS. 4.1 INTRODUCTION TO FEEDBACK ANALYSIS. 4.2 THE SUM OF THE MEASURES OF THE INTERIOR ANGLES IN A TRIANGLE (LESSON 1) 4.2.1 Introduction 4.2.2 Analyzing the students' worksheets of situation 1 4.2.3 Analyzing the students' worksheets of situation 2 4.2.4 Teacher's comments. 4.2.5 Findings. 4.3 CHARACTERISTICS OF THE BISECTOR OF AN ANGLE (LESSON 2) 4.3.1 Introduction 4.3.2 Feedback analysis from the students' worksheets 4.3.3 The teacher's comments 4.3.4 Findings: 4.4 CHARACTERISTICS OF THE PERPENDICULAR BISECTOR OF A SEGMENT (LESSON 3). 4.4.1 Introduction 4.4.2 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 1 and 2 4.4.3 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 3 and 4 	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks. 3.3.1 Advantages. 3.3.1 2 Disadvantages. 3.3.2 RME-based lesson. CHAPTER 4 ANALYZING FEEDBACK FROM EXPERIMENT LESSONS. 4.1 INTRODUCTION TO FEEDBACK ANALYSIS. 4.2 THE SUM OF THE MEASURES OF THE INTERIOR ANGLES IN A TRIANGLE (LESSON 1) 4.2.1 Introduction 4.2.2 Analyzing the students' worksheets of situation 1 4.2.3 Analyzing the students' worksheets of situation 2 4.2.4 Teacher's comments 4.2.5 Findings. 4.3 CHARACTERISTICS OF THE BISECTOR OF AN ANGLE (LESSON 2) 4.3.1 Introduction 4.3.2 Feedback analysis from the students' worksheets 4.3.3 The teacher's comments 4.3.4 Findings: 4.4.1 Introduction 4.4.2 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 1 and 2 4.4.3 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 5 and 6 4.4.5 Teacher's comments 4.4.6 Findings. 	
 3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks. 3.3.1 Advantages. 3.3.1 2 Disadvantages. 3.3.2 RME-based lesson CHAPTER 4 ANALYZING FEEDBACK FROM EXPERIMENT LESSONS. 4.1 INTRODUCTION TO FEEDBACK ANALYSIS. 4.2 The SUM OF THE MEASURES OF THE INTERIOR ANGLES IN A TRIANGLE (LESSON 1) 4.2.1 Introduction 4.2.2 Analyzing the students' worksheets of situation 1 4.2.3 Analyzing the students' worksheets of situation 2 4.2.4 Teacher's comments 4.2.5 Findings. 4.3 CHARACTERISTICS OF THE BISECTOR OF AN ANGLE (LESSON 2) 4.3.1 Introduction 4.3.2 Feedback analysis from the students' worksheets 4.3.3 The teacher's comments 4.3.4 Findings: 4.4 CHARACTERISTICS OF THE PERPENDICULAR BISECTOR OF A SEGMENT (LESSON 3) 4.4.1 Introduction 4.4.2 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 1 and 2 4.4.3 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 5 and 6 4.4.4 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 5 and 6 4.4.5 Teacher's comments 4.4.6 Findings. 	

4.5.3 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 4, 5 and 6	131
4.5.4 Teacher's comments	132
4.5.5 Findings	133
4.6 CONCLUSIONS	134
4.6.1 Difficulties	134
4.6.2 Potentials of RME-based lessons	
4.6.3 Adjustment of RME-based lessons	137
4.6.3.1 The teaching time pressure	
4.6.3.2 Encouraging low-performing students	139
CHAPTER 5 PROPOSALS FOR APPLYING RME-BASED GEOMETRY LESSONS	IN
VIETNAM	140
5.1. VIEWPOINTS ON MATHEMATICS EDUCATION	140
5.1.1 Mathematics as a ready-made product or mathematics as a human activity	140
5.1.2 Guided reinvention/rediscovery	141
5.1.3 Well-structured mathematics curriculum and textbooks	142
5.1.4 Informal knowledge (strategies and solutions) in teaching and learning mathematics	143
5.1.5 Teaching mathematics application	144
5.1.6 Emergent modeling	145
5.2 CONDITIONS FOR APPLYING RME-BASED GEOMETRY LESSONS	146
5.2.1 Teachers' quality and competence	146
5.2.2 Amount of content in the current mathematics textbooks	147
5.2.3 Teaching time pressure	148
5.2.4 Teachers' difficulties	149
5.2.4.1 Methods of teaching mathematics	149
5.2.4.2 Teachers' difficulties for the reform of teaching methods	150
5.2.5 Assessment and examinations	152
5.2.6 Students' difficulties in learning mathematics	154
5.3 PROPOSALS FOR APPLYING RME-BASED LESSONS IN VIETNAMESE SCHOOL	156
5.3.1 Applying RME-based lessons in Vietnamese middle school	156
5.3.1.1 The difficulties the teacher and students encountered	156
5.3.1.2 Proposals for applying RME-based geometry lessons	157
5.3.2 Mathematics teachers' education	162
5.3.2.1 Teachers with substandard training	
5.3.2.2 Introducing RME and RME-based geometry lessons to in-service mathematics teachers	
5.3.2.3 Prospective mathematics teachers.	165
5.4 CONCLUSION	168
CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS AND SUGGESTIONS	170
6.1 CONCLUSIONS	170
6.1.1 Vietnamese mathematics education reconsidered	170
6.1.1.1 The current mathematics curricula and textbooks	171
6.1.1.2 Teaching styles	1/2
6.1.1.5 Examinations and assessment	173
6.1.1.5 Some other factors	173
6.1.2 The way of applying RMF in teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam (answers	to sub-
austions 1 and 5)	10 Sub 174
6.1.3 The potential of RMF for mathematics education in Vietnam (answers to sub-auestion	13) 175
6.1.4 The difficulties of applying RME-based lessons in teaching and learning in Vietnam (answors
to sub question 2)	177
6.1.5 The proposals for applying RMF based lessons (approvers to sub-question 1)	177
6 2 Successions	170
6.2.1 Pastrictions of the dissortation	120
6.2.1 Actionatics education in Vietnam	1
6.2.2 praintine Mathematics Education	107
0.2.5 Realistic Munematics Education	102
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX	201
APPENDIX A: SOME SEVENTH- GRADE GEOMETRY LESSONS (FOR 12-YEAR-OLD STUDENTS) I 'REFORMED' AND CURRENT TEXTBOOKS	N THE 201

APPENDIX B: QUESTIONNAIRE FORM	216
APPENDIX C: RME-BASED GEOMETRY LESSONS	225
APPENDIX D: THE FORMS OF THE STUDENTS' WORKSHEETS (LESSON 1)	260

List of tables

Table 1.1: The first three Educational Reforms in Vietnam	.20
Table 1.2: The percentage of students who take extra-lessons according to grades	.27
Table 1.3: A regulation about a number of students in a class (The Institute for Educationa	ıl
Development, 1998)	. 38
Table 1.4: An everage number of students per class	. 39
Table 3.1: The main geometrical contents in the current middle school curriculum	. 79
Table 4.1: The timetable for RME-based geometry lessons	.97
Table 5. 1: The proposals for the amount of time for RME-based lessons as the selected mathematics lessons	160

List of figures

Figure 1.1: The general education system in Vietnam	
Figure 1.2: The proportion of student who take extra-lessons according to their compete	ence
(Nguyen Thi Quy, 2004)	27
Figure 1.3: Contents are taught in the extra-lessons (Nguyen Thi Quy, 2004)	28
Figure 1.4: De Lange' Pyramid model	35
Figure 1.5: The proportion of primary teacher according to standards	40
Figure 1.6: The proportion of middle school teachers according to standards	40
Figure 1.7: The proportion of high school teachers according to standards	40
Figure 2.1: Approaches in mathematics education	57
Figure 2.2: Self-developed models in RME	62
Figure 2.3: Emergent and mathematical modeling	63
Figure 2.4: Guided figures (Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 84)	66
Figure 2.5: Using repeated addition	66
Figure 2.6: Using multiplication and repeated addition	67
Figure 2.7: Making numbers of the bead string (Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 125)	68
Figure 2.8: Modeling a bead string solution with an empty number line (Gravemeijer, 1	994, p.
125)	68
Figure 2.9: Different strategies for addition 27 +38 (Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 120)	69
Figure 3.1: Figure 74 in Mathematics 7	76
Figure 3.2: Figure 75 a in Mathematics 7	77
Figure 3.3: Figure 75 b & c in Mathematics 7	77
Figure 3.4: Figure 76 of Mathematics 7	77
Figure 3.5: The presentation of the concept of a trapezoid in Mathematics 8	88
Figure 3.6: One mathematics application in Mathematics 7-Part 2	89
Figure 4.1: The worksheets of P.T. Lanh and T. T. Bich (L.1, S.1)	101
Figure 4.2: The worksheet of D.V. Tu and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.1)	101
Figure 4.3: The third case of V.V. Dong and H.T.H. Tam (L.1, S.1)	101
Figure 4.4: The first two cases of D.T. Huong and P.T. Lanh (L.1, S.1)	102
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2)	102
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2)	102
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2)	102 103 103
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2)	102 103 103 104
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1)	102 103 103 104 108
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1)	102 103 103 104 108 109
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1)	102 103 103 104 108 109 110
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 1 (L.2, S.1)	102 103 103 104 104 108 109 110 110
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 1 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1)	102 103 103 104 108 109 110 111
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 1 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1)	102 103 103 104 108 109 110 110 111
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 1 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.14: Worksheet 1 of group 6 (L.2, S.1)	102 103 103 104 108 109 110 110 111 111 113
 Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 1 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.14: Worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.15: The worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.16: The worksheet of group 2 (L.2, S.2) 	102 103 103 104 108 109 110 111 111 111 113 113
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 1 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.14: Worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.15: The worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.16: The worksheet of group 2 (L.2, S.2)	102 103 103 104 109 110 111 111 111 113 114
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 1 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.14: Worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.15: The worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.16: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.17: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2)	102 103 103 104 108 109 110 111 111 111 113 113 114 114
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.14: Worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.15: The worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.16: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.17: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.18: The worksheet of group 4 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.19: A formal proof of group 4 (L.2, S.2).	102 103 103 104 108 109 110 110 111 111 113 113 114 114
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.14: Worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.15: The worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.16: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.17: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.18: The worksheet of group 4 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.19: A formal proof of group 4 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.20: The questions for groups 3 and 4 (L.3)	102 103 103 104 108 109 110 111 111 111 113 113 114 114 114 119
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.14: Worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.15: The worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.16: The worksheet of group 2 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.17: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.18: The worksheet of group 4 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.19: A formal proof of group 4 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.19: A formal proof of group 4 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.20: The questions for groups 3 and 4 (L.3)	102 103 103 104 108 109 110 111 111 111 113 114 114 114 119 119
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.14: Worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.15: The worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.2). Figure 4.16: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2). Figure 4.17: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2). Figure 4.18: The worksheet of group 4 (L.2, S.2). Figure 4.18: The worksheet of group 4 (L.2, S.2). Figure 4.19: A formal proof of group 4 (L.2, S.2). Figure 4.20: The questions for groups 3 and 4 (L.3). Figure 4.21: The task for groups 5 and 6 (L.3). Figure 4.22: The worksheets of group 1 (L.3).	102 103 103 104 109 110 110 111 111 111 113 113 114 114 114 119 119 120
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.14: Worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.15: The worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.16: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.17: The worksheet of group 4 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.18: The worksheet of group 4 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.19: A formal proof of group 4 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.19: A formal proof of group 3 and 4 (L.3) Figure 4.21: The task for groups 5 and 6 (L.3) Figure 4.22: The worksheet of group 1 (L.3)	102 103 103 104 108 109 110 110 111 111 113 113 114 114 114 119 120 120
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2). Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2). Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1). Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1). Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1). Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1). Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 6 (L.2, S.1). Figure 4.14: Worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.1). Figure 4.15: The worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.2). Figure 4.16: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2). Figure 4.17: The worksheet of group 4 (L.2, S.2). Figure 4.18: The worksheet of group 4 (L.2, S.2). Figure 4.19: A formal proof of group 4 (L.2, S.2). Figure 4.20: The questions for groups 3 and 4 (L.3). Figure 4.21: The task for groups 5 and 6 (L.3). Figure 4.23: The worksheet of group 2 (L.3). Figure 4.24: The answers of group 3 (L.3).	102 103 103 104 108 109 110 110 111 111 113 113 114 114 114 119 120 120 121
Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2) Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.14: Worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.1) Figure 4.15: The worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.16: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.17: The worksheet of group 4 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.18: The worksheet of group 4 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.19: A formal proof of group 4 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.20: The questions for groups 3 and 4 (L.3) Figure 4.21: The task for groups 5 and 6 (L.3) Figure 4.22: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2) Figure 4.22: The worksheet of group 3 and 4 (L.3) Figure 4.23: The worksheet of group 3 (L.3) Figure 4.24: The answers of group 3 (L.3) Figure 4.25: The worksheet of group 4 (L.3)	102 103 103 104 108 109 110 111 111 111 113 114 114 114 114 119 120 121 121

Figure 4.27: The worksheet of group 6 (L.3)	
Figure 4.28: The worksheet of group 1 (L.4)	
Figure 4.29: The answers for question b) of group 4 (L.4)	
Figure 4.30: The answers of group 2 (L.4)	
Figure 4.31: The answer of group 5 (L.4)	
Figure 4.32: The answer of group 3 (L.4)	
Figure 5.1: The teachers' ideas	1/12

Figure 5.1: The teachers' ideas	142
Figure 5.2: Frequent use of mathematics application in lesson	145
Figure 5.3: Teachers' opinions about the current mathematics curriculum and textbooks	148
Figure 5.4: Methods of teaching mathematics	150
Figure 5.5: Teachers' difficulties in the reform of teaching methods	151
Figure 5.6: Teacher' opinion about the 'Polar Bear' problem	153
Figure 5.7: Additional ideas of teachers about the 'Polar Bear' problem	153
Figure 5.8: Students' difficulties in learning mathematics	155

Some mathematical signs used in the dissertation

Sign	Magning	Vietnamesestyle
Sign	Meuning	v tetnamese style
\overline{AB}	Segment	Segment AB
AB	The measure (length) of \overline{AB}	AB
AB = CD	The length of \overline{AB} is equal to the length of \overline{CD}	AB = CD
AB > CD	The length of \overline{AB} is greater than the length of \overline{CD}	AB > CD
$\overline{AB} \cong \overline{CD}$	\overline{AB} is congruent to \overline{CD}	AB = CD (two segments AB and CD are equal)
$\overline{AB} \parallel \overline{CD}$	\overline{AB} is parallel to \overline{CD}	AB // CD (segment AB is parallel to segment CD)
$\overline{AB} \perp \overline{CD}$	\overline{AB} is perpendicular to \overline{CD}	AB \perp CD (segment AB is parallel to segment CD)
\overrightarrow{Ox}	Ray	Ray Ox
ĀB	Ray	Ray AB
ä	Straight line	Straight line a
\overrightarrow{AB}	Straight line	Straight line AB
$ec{h} \perp ec{k}$	\vec{h} is perpendicular to \vec{k}	$h \perp k$ (straight line h is perpendicular to straight line k)
$ec{h} \parallel ec{k}$	\vec{h} is parallel to \vec{k}	h // k (straight line h is parallel to straight line k)
$\angle A$, $\angle xOy$ and $\angle ABC$	Angles	$\angle A$, $\angle xOy$ and $\angle ABC$
		\hat{A} , $x\hat{O}y$ and $A\hat{B}C$
		Angles A, xOy and ABC
$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbf{m} \angle A, \mathbf{m} \angle x O y, \\ \mathbf{m} \angle A B C \end{array} $	The measure of $\angle A$, $\angle xOy$ and $\angle ABC$ respectively	The measure of angles A, xOy and ABC
$m \angle A = 30^{\circ}$	The measure of $\angle A$ is 30°	$\hat{\mathbf{A}} = 30^{0}$
$\mathbf{m} \angle A = \mathbf{m} \angle B$	The measure of $\angle A$ is equal to the measure of $\angle B$	$\hat{A} = \hat{B}$
$\angle A \cong \angle B$	$\angle A$ is congruent to $\angle B$	$\hat{A} = \hat{B}$ (two angles are

		equal)
$\mathbf{m} \angle A > \mathbf{m} \angle B$	The measure of $\angle A$ is greater than the measure of $\angle B$	$\hat{A} > \hat{B}$
ΔABC	Triangle	ΔABC
$\Delta ABC \cong \Delta DEF$	ΔABC is congruent to ΔDEF	$\Delta ABC = \Delta DEF$ (two triangles ABC and DEF are equal)
(O; R)	A circle with center <i>O</i> and radius <i>R</i>	(O; R)

Abbreviations in the dissertation

Abbreviation	Meaning
2-D	Two-dimensional (geometry)
3-D	Three-dimensional (geometry)
DG	Dynamic Geometry
ICT	Information and Communication Technology
IT	Information technology
ICT	Information and communication technology
MoET	The Ministry of Education and Training (Vietnam)
n.d.	No date
NIES	The National Institute for Educational Sciences (Vietnam)
NIESAC	The National Institute for Educational Strategy and Curriculum Development (Vietnam)
OW & OC	The Research Group on Mathematics Education and Educational Computer Centre (the Netherlands)
RME	Realistic Mathematics Education

Introduction

Recently, education in Vietnam has been transitioned from the third educational reform to the next movement. Because of the fact of primitive and conventional teaching methods, a reform for teaching methods has become an essential task in Vietnam. The Vietnamese Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) has set up the orientation for this reform with the motto "activate students' activities". At first sight, RME approach which has been developed at the Freudenthal Institute, the Netherlands since the early 1970s seems to be suitable for the MoET's orientation of teaching methods and can become a promising approach for mathematics education in Vietnam. However, the potential, ability and efficacy of the application of RME in Vietnamese school are still questionable. For these reasons, it is worth conducting the application of RME to mathematics education in Vietnam.

This section, firstly, establishes the objective and includes some specific tasks and research methods of the dissertation.¹ Later, this section provides a brief overview to the chapters in this dissertation.

The primary aim of this dissertation is to explore and consider the efficacy of Realistic Mathematics Education (RME) when applied in mathematics education in Vietnamese school.² This purpose can be divided into the following research tasks:

• researching the characteristics of mathematics education (mathematics curricula and textbooks, teaching methods, teacher staff, examinations and assessment, etc.) in Vietnam;

• studying Realistic Mathematics Education (a brief overview of history, basic ideas and characteristics);

• applying RME in teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam (differences and similarities between Vietnamese and (Dutch) RME curricula and textbooks; possible potentials of RME for enriching Vietnamese mathematics education; a method, advantages and disadvantages of applying RME in Vietnamese school; and proposals for using RME in Vietnam).

¹ The research questions are presented at the end of chapter one.

 $^{^2}$ Some researchers consider RME as a theory, while the others regard it as a philosophy. In this dissertation, RME is considered as a theory.

Here are some of the research methods and strategies applied in this study:

• Literatures related to Vietnamese mathematics education as well as RME (mathematics curricula and textbooks, research articles, books and so forth) were reviewed and analyzed.

• A questionnaire about mathematics curricula and textbooks, teaching methods, teachers' difficulties in reform of teaching methods, students' difficulties in learning mathematics, teaching mathematics application in school, working in groups, etc. was distributed in 2005 and at the beginning of 2006 to 152 middle school mathematics teachers from several Vietnamese provinces and cities, including Kien Giang, Thai Binh, Ha Nam, Hai Duong, Ha Tay and Hanoi. In addition, the teachers were also asked to give their ideas about a problem called 'Polar Bear' (see Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 1996, p. 95) and solutions of a problem named 'T-shirts and Sodas' (see Van Reeuwijk, 1995, pp. 2-4; De Lange, 1996, p. 63-64³). The questionnaire form is presented in appendix B.

• RME-based lessons were introduced and tested in mathematics lessons in Vietnam, and the participating teachers and students' feedback was carefully analyzed.

The dissertation is divided into six chapters. The following paragraphs briefly introduce these chapters.

Chapter one discusses the characteristics of mathematics education in Vietnam. Vietnamese education has been influenced by countries such as China, France, the U.S.A and some countries in the Social System⁴, especially the former Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (U.S.S.R.) (see, for example, Fraser, 1984, pp. 78-82; Nguyen Thanh Thuy, 2005, p. 3). In the history of education, Vietnam implemented three reforms which started in 1950, 1956 and 1979 to overcome educational weaknesses because of consequences of the French domination (1858-1945) and the Vietnam War (1954-1975) (see, for instance, Pham Minh Hac⁵, 2002; Bui Minh Hien, 2005). After the national unity in 1975, there were two different educational systems in two parts of the country (the Northern and Southern Vietnam) because of the Vietnam War. Due to the third reform, a national-wide series of curricula and 'reformed' textbooks for all grades has been used since 1992. Recently, Vietnamese education has been transitioned

³ Prof. Dr. De Lange is the former director of the Freudenthal Institute, Utrecht University in the Netherlands.

⁴ To some extent, Vietnamese mathematics education is a little (structurally) similar to the former German Democratic Republic's mathematics education which is described by Henning (n.d).

⁵ Prof. Dr. Pham Minh Hac is a former Minister of Education and Training in Vietnam.

from the third reform to the next educational movement. A new series of curricula and textbooks for grades 1 until 10 has been used in school instead of the old one since the school-year 2006-2007. In the school-year 2008-2009, this series will be used for the last grade (12) in the system of general education. Because of this situation, chapter one discusses some characteristics of mathematics education in the 'reformed' period (from 1979 to the early 2000s), some changes and efforts of the Ministry of Education and Training to overcome disadvantages of this period. Finally, some research questions are posed at the end of this chapter.

In general, mathematics education is quite rigid in the 'reformed' period. Firstly, the mathematics curriculum and textbooks emphasize formal mathematics phase rather than pedagogic phase. Moreover, there is an imbalance between amount of content in the textbooks and amount of time teachers and students have for their teaching and learning. Secondly, the teaching style of most classrooms is distinctly teacher-centered. Thirdly, there is a general lack of research on examinations and assessment, and written examination is the primary mode of evaluation in this period. Fourthly, in some parts, teachers are not well-trained. More specifically, these teachers do not have qualifications which are requisite for teaching in school because of a confluence of historical factors, including the consequences of wars. Finally, teaching and learning resources are insufficient in Vietnamese school.

Recently, the Vietnamese Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) has implemented many important national projects to combat, and, remedy ultimately the weaknesses of education. There are significant changes in the new curricula and textbooks. Students from grades 1 through 10 have been using new textbooks. Generally, these series of curricula and textbooks have many advantages compared to the 'reformed' ones. A movement of method teaching reforms has become an urgent task with the motto, "activate students' activeness" (MoET, 2002 a) or "learning through activities" (Nguyen Ba Kim⁶, 2002, p. 112). Solutions to problems of substandard teachers and insufficiency of teaching and learning facilities have been discussed and gradually executed. Overall, chapter one provides some examples of efforts and changes related to mathematics education.

⁶ Prof. Dr. Sc. Nguyen Ba Kim is the Project Manager of the Middle School Teacher Training Project of the MoET.

A reform of teaching and learning mathematics has become an essential task in Vietnam because of the weaknesses of teaching methods (Nguyen Ba Kim, 2002, pp. 111-112). Some non-traditional (modern) approaches were introduced in methodology courses for pre-service and in-service mathematics teachers (see, for instance, Nguyen Ba Kim, 2002, pp. 178-286; Pham Gia Duc, Nguyen Manh Cang, Bui Huy Ngoc & Vu Duong Thuy, 1998 a, pp. 91-120). In general, each non-traditional approach has its own advantages and disadvantages when it is applied in teaching and learning in Vietnam. Hence, beyond these approaches, finding and applying other approaches which are suitable for the orientation of the teaching method reform are necessary. This dissertation places special emphasis on the researching potentials of Realistic Mathematics Education (RME) which has been developing in the Netherlands since 1970s for mathematics education in Vietnam. However, it restricts itself from teaching and learning grade-seven geometry because it appears that Vietnamese mathematics curricula and textbooks focuses on formal (deductive Euclidean) geometry, an area with which students usually struggle. At the end of chapter one, some research questions are posed.

Chapter two presents RME theory, including a brief overview of history, basic ideas of Freudenthal, characteristics of RME and some selected examples. As RME is new for nearly all mathematics educators, curriculum developers, textbooks authors and teachers in Vietnam, this chapter tries to present the basics of this theory clearly.

Chapter three discusses foundations for designing RME-based geometry lessons for grade 7 in Vietnam. First, the chapter discusses some controversial phases in curricula and textbooks and insights into the Vietnamese ones in the 'reformed' period and at present. In general, there are different viewpoints on creating school geometrical curricula and textbooks. Second, this chapter explains why it is not reasonable for creating and applying a RME curriculum for teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam at least in the foreseeable future. However, creating RME-based lessons for Vietnamese school is possible. Next, the chapter discusses the foundations for designing Vietnamese RME-based geometry lessons for grade 7. Finally, at the end of this chapter, RME-based lesson for the Triangle-Angle Sum Theorem is introduced as an example. Details of some other RME-based geometry lessons are presented in appendix C. The aim of the fourth chapter is to examine how RME-based lessons worked in Vietnamese school. The lessons were offered to several middle school mathematics teachers; however, only two young teachers among them were willing to test out these lessons. Their reservations stemmed from a number of reasons, such as teaching time pressure, refusal to change teaching habits and disapproval of their head teachers. Because these two teachers could not read English, these RME-based lessons, as well as some related materials, were translated into Vietnamese. They used these lessons in the school-year 2005-2006. They were not obliged to follow these lessons completely. In contrast, they could alter certain aspects to make these lessons better suited to the circumstances of their teaching. For several reasons, especially the teaching of time pressure, the teachers used four RME-based lessons. The author of this dissertation could not attend the lessons. This chapter analyzes the feedback, including the teachers' comments and their students' worksheets. The advantages and disadvantages of RME-based lessons are discussed in the chapter. At the end, some adjustment of RME-based lessons is discussed.

Chapter five discusses proposals for applying RME-based geometry lessons in teaching and learning in Vietnam. Firstly, the chapter proposes some necessary changes of viewpoints on mathematics education related to *mathematics as a ready-made product* and *mathematics as a human activity, guided reinvention, informal knowledge* in teaching and learning school mathematics, teaching mathematics application and emergent modeling (see, for example, Freudenthal, 1973, 1983, 1991; Gravemeijer, 2002, 2004). It is argued that these are prerequisites for applying RME-based lessons. Secondly, it refers to conditions for applying RME-based lessons in teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam. Thirdly, training pre-service and inservice mathematics teachers is discussed.

Conclusions and suggestions are presented in the last chapter of the dissertation. First, this chapter makes some conclusions related to Vietnamese mathematics education, potentials and difficulties of applying RME in teaching and learning and proposals for utilizing RME in Vietnam. This chapter also gives answers to the research questions posed at the end of chapter one. Second, this chapter provides some suggestions for further possible research in this area.

Chapter 1 Characteristics of mathematics education in Vietnam

Education in Vietnam is evolving from the third education reform (from 1979 until the early 2000s) to the next educational movement.⁷ This chapter, firstly, discusses some characteristics of mathematics education, including school mathematics curriculum and textbooks, teaching methods, assessment and examinations and some other factors during the third education reform in Vietnam. Secondly, it discusses some efforts and changes of the Vietnamese Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) to overcome weakness of education as well as mathematics education. Finally, some research questions are posed.

On September 2, 1945, President Ho Chi Minh declared independence for the Democratic Republic of Socialist Vietnam. After the declaration of the independence, young Vietnamese education faced many problems as a result of a French domination. In addition, Vietnamese education was also affected seriously by the Vietnam War (1954-1975). To solve these problems, the government of Vietnam implemented several education reforms. The third education reform was established in Vietnam in 1979. This reform plays its role in the process of education development; however, it reveals some problems. For this reason, recently, the third education reform's school curricula and textbooks, known as 'reformed' ones, have been gradually replaced by new ones since the early 2000s.

Teaching and learning mathematics have played an important role in the process of education development in Vietnam.⁸ Although Vietnamese school mathematics education has many achievements, such as students' high performances in the International Mathematics Olympiads (IMO) and Asian Pacific Mathematics Olympiad (APMO) for high school students, the International Junior Science Olympiad (IJSO) and the Mathematics and Science Olympiad for primary students from ASEAN (see, for example, International Mathematical Olympiad, n.d.; Canadian Mathematical Society, n.d.; Vu Kim Thuy, 2006), it has still faced some challenges.⁹

⁷ Recently, new curricula and textbooks have been being written and utilized in Vietnamese schools.

⁸ In Vietnam, mathematics is often considered as one of the main school subjects. Mathematics is taught from grade 1 to grade 12 in Vietnamese school. Moreover, mathematics is always appears in middle and high school diploma examination. In addition, most blocks of university entrance examinations contain mathematics examination.

⁹ There are few studies on comparison students' achievement in Vietnam and other countries. Nevertheless, one study on comparison students' achievement and motivation in Hanoi and Munich shows that students from Hanoi get higher achievement in mathematics than those from Munich;

In this chapter, some shortcomings relating to Vietnam's mathematics curriculum and textbooks, teaching methods, examinations and assessment and classroom organization are carefully discussed. The weak points mainly appeared from the early 1980s until the early 2000s. The analyses of these shortcomings do not aim at blaming students, mathematics teachers, mathematics educators, mathematics textbook authors, curriculum developers, policy makers and education managers. Their primary purposes are to give a factual overview of teaching and learning mathematics so that possible ways of enriching mathematics education are hopefully found. Several characteristics discussed below might appear in teaching and learning not only mathematics but also some other school subjects.

1.1 Brief introduction to educational reforms in Vietnam after 1945

This section introduces a brief history of three education reforms in Vietnam after it became the independent state in September 1945. The brief description of the first three education reforms, including the starting time, main reason and range of each reform is presented in table 1.1 (Pham Minh Hac, 2002, pp. 65-70; Bui Minh Hien, 2005, pp. 136-137, 153-155 & 181-183).

Education	Starting	Main reason	Range
reform	time		
1 st	1950	Extremely primitive education	Liberated areas
2^{nd}	1956	Necessary unification of general	The Northern
		education after the restoration of peace in the Northern Vietnam	Vietnam
3 rd	1979	Necessary unification of general education after the war	The whole country

Table 1.1: The first three Educational Reforms in Vietnam

After becoming independent in September 1945, Vietnamese education faced many serious problems. For example, at that time more than 95% of the population were illiterate, and only around 3% of the population were attending school (Pham Minh Hac, 2002, pp. 45-46). Because of the war, until July 1950, a project of

furthermore, Hanoi students have more desire to learn mathematics than Munich counterparts (Helmke et al., 2003, pp. 195-198).

educational reform was passed, and the *first educational reform* was implemented in liberated areas; and as a result of this reform, a nine-year educational system, including level I (from grade 1 to grade 4), level II (from grade 5 to grade 7) and level III (grades 8 and 9) was implemented, whereas in French-occupied territories, curricula which were similar to pre-1945 curricula were being used (Pham Minh Hac, 2002, pp. 65-67; Bui Minh Hien, 2005, pp. 137-138). In 1954, peace was restored in Northern Vietnam. Since 1954, there were two different general educational systems in the Northern Vietnam: the first educational reform-based one with nine-year duration and the other one with twelve-year duration in pre-French occupied territories (Pham Minh Hac, 2002, p. 67). Therefore, one urgent task at that time was to unify the education system (Pham Minh Hac, 2002, p. 67; Bui Minh Hien, 2005, pp. 153-154).

In May 1956, a project of the *second educational reform* was passed and implemented by the Ministry of Education, and according to this project, the general educational system included 10 grades (level I: from grade 1 to grade 4, level II: from grade 5 to grade 7 and level III: from grade 8 to grade 10) (Pham Minh Hac, 2002, pp. 67-68; Bui Minh Hien, 2005, p. 154).

Although Vietnam was unified, after securing peace in April 1975, it still had two different systems of general education: the Northern Vietnam's system with duration of 11 years and the Southern Vietnam's one with 12 years as a result of the wars (Pham Minh Hac, 2002, p. 68; Bui Minh Hien, 2005, pp. 181-182). Eventually, Vietnam needed to have one united system for education. Moreover, despite the fact that Vietnamese education had many important achievements from the second educational reform begun in 1956, it "did not keep up with the development of society, science, and technique and satisfy requirements of the country's postwar rebuilding" (Pham Minh Hac, 2002, p. 68). This is why the Vietnamese government implemented the third educational reform in 1979. As a result of this reform, in the school-year 1981-1982, textbooks for grade 1 called 'reformed' textbooks were originally used (Pham Minh Hac, 2002, pp. 69-70; Bui Minh Hien, 2005, p. 183). Subsequently, the 'reformed' textbooks were applied for grade 12 in the school-year 1992-1993. Vietnam succeeded in unifying its general educational system with a duration of 12 years (grades 1 to 12), and all schools in the whole country used a common set of curricula and textbooks (Pham Minh Hac, 2002, pp. 69-70; Bui Minh Hien, 2005, p. 183).

The aforementioned set of curricula and textbooks assumed an important role in the process of educational development in Vietnam. However, it also revealed some shortcomings. This is why there is a great need of a new series of curricula and textbooks for Vietnamese school. Since the early 2000s, this new series has been tested and gradually applied in school.

1.2 General education in Vietnam

This section briefly introduces general education (primary, middle and high school education) in the Vietnamese education system.

According to Vietnam National Assembly (1998, chapter 1, article 6; 2005, chapter 1, article 4), the national education system includes pre-school education, general education, vocational education and graduate and postgraduate education. The general education including primary, middle and high school education can be illustrated in figure 1.1 (Vietnam National Assembly, 1998, chapter 2, article 22; 2005, chapter 2, article 26). The full of the Vietnamese national education system can be found in MoET (n.d. a).



Figure 1.1: The general education system in Vietnam

Typically, there is a unique nationwide series of curricula and textbooks for Vietnamese school. Exceptionally, during the early 1990s until the late 1990s, there were three series of high school textbooks (for some subjects) written by three different groups of authors from Hanoi University of Education, Ho Chi Minh City's University of Pedagogy and the National Institute for Educational Sciences (NIES). However, in 2000, these series were corrected, edited and unified to make a unique series called 'corrected and unified the year 2000 textbook' one. Furthermore, the MoET implemented an experiment according to which high school students were divided into three streams: Natural Sciences (stream A), Technique (Stream B) and Social Sciences (Stream C) from 1992 until 1997.¹⁰ However, this experiment did not succeed for many reasons. One reason for this experiment is ultimate failure is that very few students chose the Technique Stream. Recently, there has been a unique series of curricula and textbooks for primary as well as middle school. In high school level, grade-ten students have been divided (since the school-year 2006-2007) and grade-eleven and grade-twelve students are going to be divided (from the school-year 2007-2008 and 2008-2009, respectively) into three streams named a Basic Stream, a Natural Stream and a Social Stream. In the school-year 2006-2007, most grade-ten students (about 73%) choose the Basic Stream; in contrast, very few students (around 6%) choose the Social Stream (see, for instance, Kim Dung, 2006 and related information in Vietnam News, 2006).

1.3 Characteristics of mathematics education in the 'reformed' period

1.3.1 School mathematics curriculum and textbooks

This section presents some characteristics of the school mathematics curriculum and textbooks in the 'reformed' period (from 1979 until the early 2000s). First, it briefly introduces the mathematics curriculum and textbooks. Second, it discusses specific characteristics of these curriculum and textbooks. Finally, additional characteristics are presented and discussed.

1.3.1.1 Overview of mathematical curriculum and textbooks

Vietnamese national mathematical curriculum is designed and determined by the Ministry of Education and Training (MoET). Based on the national mathematical curriculum, the authors write experimental mathematics textbooks. These textbooks are tested in some schools in different areas during a span of several years and upgraded before they are official used in all schools. All Vietnamese school textbooks are published by a special publisher named the Educational Publishing House. Mathematics textbooks are divided into several chapters containing lessons. A mathematics lesson often has some formal mathematics definitions, theorems,

¹⁰ Recently, the MoET has been experimented and applied a new policy. According to this policy, high school students are divided into three streams: Natural Science, Social Science and Basis streams.

regulations, or formulae. Some contents of probability, analysis and analytic geometry have been presented in high school textbooks since the early 1990s.

Typically, there is one series of mathematical textbooks in school despite that students live in different regions such as urban, rural and remote (mountainous and islandish) areas.¹¹ In general, Vietnamese students' achievement differs from one region to another region. From 1998 to 2000, the National Institute for Educational Sciences (NIES) conducted a study on third and fifth grade students' achievement of fourteen primary schools in five provinces. The research demonstrates that there are "big gaps in pupils' achievement not only among provinces but also among schools in one province", and it is surprising that "grade 3 pupils in the capital, Hanoi had levels of achievement in mathematics and reading comprehension in Vietnamese that were higher than grade 5 pupils in the other four, more rural, provinces" (The World Bank, 2004). The Primary Education for Disadvantaged Children Project also confirms an inhomogeneity of education opportunity [for students] and education quality in the whole country although the MoET has tried to reduce the gap (MoET, n.d. b).

Using the common set of textbooks in Vietnam has advantages (see section 3.1.2.3 of chapter 3). However, it also has some disadvantages (see section 3.1.2.3 of chapter 3). For instance, students and teachers have no choice but to use this specific series of textbooks. Moreover, a common textbook should be conformable to different levels of students' capacity. As discussed above, it should be noted that there are significant gaps of Vietnamese students' achievement from urban, rural and remote (mountainous and islandish) areas; moreover, the teaching and learning conditions in urban areas are much better than the teaching and learning conditions in remote areas (see also Nhan Dan, 2006).

On the contrary, there are different sets of mathematical textbooks in many countries. As an example, in Korea, about ten sets of mathematics textbooks are available for secondary school, although there is one series of textbooks for primary school (KSICMI, 2004, pp. 40 & 69). In Japan, there are six series of mathematics textbooks for middle school (Kunimune & Nagasaki, 1996). In China, in the past, there were unique series of curricula and textbooks; however, several series of textbooks

¹¹ Recently, there have been different points of view about the unique school textbook set in Vietnam. See a related debate in section 3 of chapter 3.

have been used since 1998 (Zhongru, 2004, p. 3). According to Hoyles¹², Küchenmann and Foxman (2003 a, p. 4), there are about six series of mathematics textbooks available in the Netherlands. Furthermore, Dutch school teachers can choose a mathematics textbook for their teaching, or they themselves can design a curriculum (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2000, p. 10). There are 16 states (Bundesländer) in Germany, and each state has its own education system (Weidig, n.d.). There are different series of mathematics textbooks used in Germany; moreover, the teachers of a school can choose the most suitable one from a list of textbooks accepted by the state, or they can personally develop teaching materials (Keitel-Kreidt, n.d.; Haggarty & Pepin, 2001, p. 119-120). There are several main sets of middle school mathematics textbooks in the United States such as *Mathematics in Context*¹³, *Math Thematics, Connected Mathematics, MathScape* and *Pathways to Algebra and Geometry* (Meyer, Dekker & Querelle, 2001, p. 522). A project called Project 2061 analyzed thirteen sets of the middle school mathematics textbooks in the United States; however, only four of them were found "to be satisfactory" (Kulm, Roseman & Treistman, 1999).

1.3.1.2 Rigorous characteristic of mathematical curriculum and textbooks

One can compare the mathematical curriculum and textbooks in Vietnam with those in some other countries. However, it is a quite hard task because it is not easy to select a suitable country in order to consider this country's mathematical curriculum and textbooks and Vietnam's ones. Moreover, finding criteria for the comparison can be quite difficult. In the following, we mainly consider the relationship between amount of content in mathematics textbooks and amount of time a teacher has in a school.

There is a tension between the amount of content in mathematical textbooks and the amount of time teachers can spend in school. Some mathematics teachers complain that they do not have enough time for their teaching, and they have to transfer knowledge in textbooks to their students by anyway they can without paying attention to teaching methods they use (Tran Viet Luu, 2001, p. 19; Nguyen Thi Quy¹⁴, 2004).

¹² Prof. Dr. Celia Hoyles was awarded the first (2003) Hans Freudenthal Medal of International Commission on Mathematical Instruction (ICME) for her outstanding contribution in the technology and mathematics education domain.

¹³ This set of textbook which is based on RME is created by researchers at the Freudeuthal Institute in the Netherlands.

¹⁴ Dr. Nguyen Thi Quy is the Vice-Director of the Institute for Educational Research, Ho Chi Minh City University of Pedagogy.

One study of Do Dinh Hoan¹⁵ shows that Vietnamese primary students spend less time than students from some other countries learning in school.¹⁶ Because of this phenomenon, he suggests that primary students need to learn both in the morning and in the afternoon (two shifts) in school (Do Dinh Hoan, 2003, p. 14). Some studies based on the contradiction between knowledge quantity and total time (teachers can use for their teaching in school) to propose that all elementary students should participate in school both in the morning and in the afternoon (see, for instance, Nguyen Thi Quy, 2004).

Furthermore, some researchers claim that some parts of middle and high school students also need to learn two shifts in school (some other parts of middle school students in rural areas usually have to help their parents do housework and fieldwork. For this reason, these students cannot attend school in the morning and in the afternoon) (Do Dinh Hoan, 2003, p. 14; Nguyen Thi Quy, 2004; Huynh Cong Minh¹⁷, 2004).

Apart from learning in official classes in school, students usually have to take part in some extra-lessons to keep up with curricula or pass examinations, and their parents have to pay these lessons. In some big cities or towns, even primary students have to attend these types of lessons. Students must attend extra-lessons so often that they have little time for their self-study or leisure activities. Among subjects in school, the number of students taking the extra-lessons of mathematics is highest. The abuse of extra-lessons has become one serious social problem and attracts attention of educators and society (see, for example, Nguyen Thi Quy, 2004; Huynh Cong Minh, 2004; Ho Thieu Hung, 2004; Binh Thanh Department of Education and Training, 2004, Tran Thu Ha et al., n.d.). The National Assembly has discussed the possibility of reducing school-induced stress (Nguyen Van An¹⁸, 2004). The MoET has implemented certain strategies designed to cope with this problem; however, it appears that it is an extremely complicated social problem, and dealing with this problem is an especially

¹⁵ Associate Prof. Dr. Do Dinh Hoan is the Director of the Center of Curriculum and Method for General Education of the MoET.

¹⁶ Chapman and Adams (1998, p. 646) gave detailed data:

Primary school students in Vietnam receive about 660 h of instruction, about ³/₄ of the worldwide average of 880 h for primary education. This is the result of both a short school year (165 d, below the international norm of 180 d) and short school days (rarely exceeding four hours a day).

¹⁷ Huynh Cong Minh is the Director of Ho Chi Minh City's Education and Training Department.

¹⁸ Nguyen Van An is the former President of Vietnam National Assembly.

difficult task (Nguyen Minh Hien¹⁹, 2000 & 2005; Ho Thieu Hung, 2004; Huynh Cong Minh, 2004).

The same situation is also found in some other Asian countries. According to Heinze, Cheng and Yang (2004, p. 166), a number of Taiwanese students taking part in out-school-studying are quite high (more than 60%).²⁰

The Institute for Educational Research at Ho Chi Minh City University of Pedagogy surveys of 35 schools, including primary, middle and high schools in 14 districts of Ho Chi Minh City, including 2,384 students and concludes that most of the students in these schools have to take extra-lessons (table 1.2), and there is no great difference among high-, middle-, low- and very low-achieving students (figure 1.2).

Table 1.2: The percentage of students who take extra-lessons according to grades(Nguyen Thi Quy, 2004)

	Grade 6	Grade 7	Grade 8	Grade 9	Grade 10	Grade 11	Grade 12
The percentage of students who take extra- lessons (%)	60.87	85.23	88.80	92.70	81.80	88.56	85.86



Figure 1.2: The percentage of student who take extra-lessons according to their competence (Nguyen Thi Quy, 2004)

In the research of Nguyen Thi Quy (2004), 2,151 students are asked about the contents in the extra-classes. The number of students who answer "learn more carefully content in the official classes" is highest (954 students, figure 1.3).

¹⁹ Associate Prof. Dr. Nguyen Minh Hien is the former Minister of Education and Training.

²⁰ Taiwanese students also attend cram schools. However, there is no detailed information about a number of Taiwanese students taking part in this type of schools (Heinze, Cheng & Yang, 2004, p. 166).



Figure 1.3: Contents are taught in the extra-lessons (Nguyen Thi Quy, 2004)

According to an interview of 416 parents, children usually spend anywhere from 5 to 25 hours a week for the extra-lessons, and 75.7 % parents said that their children do not have enough time for self-study (Nguyen Thi Quy, 2004). More seriously, 49.3 % of parents report that health and spirit of their children become weaker because of taking too many extra-lessons (Nguyen Thi Quy, 2004).

Most of the related studies confirm that among subjects in school, a number of students taking the extra-lessons of mathematics are highest from primary through high school (Ho Thieu Hung, 2004).

One study of an innovative long-term international research project, "Young Lives", is conducted in five Vietnamese provinces: Lao Cai, Hung Yen, Da Nang, Phu Yen and Ben Tre (Tran Thu Ha et al., n.d.). About 1,000 eight-year-old primary students are involved in the project. This research shows that the percentage of eight-year-old children take extra-lessons, in which mathematics and Vietnamese are the main subjects, in urban, rural and mountainous areas are 58 %, 56% and 7% respectively, and on average, children must spend about 9 hours per week for these lessons (7.8 hours, 8.9 hours and 9.5 hours for children in urban, rural and mountainous areas, respectively) (Tran Thu Ha et al., n.d.).

In comparison with curricula and textbooks from some other countries, some contents are presented earlier in Vietnamese ones.²¹ In the following section, some examples are discussed.

²¹ There are a few studies which compare mathematics education in Vietnam and in other countries.

Children in Vietnam are taught two-digit multiplication as early as second grade, whereas children in the United State learn multiplication more than a year later, around third grade (Orey & Nguyen, n.d.).

1.3.1.3 Theoretical knowledge in mathematics curriculum and textbooks

Generally, the Vietnamese mathematical curriculum and textbooks which emphasize mathematics structures and formal mathematics include some theoretical knowledge which is not suitable for school students:

• There are many complicated theoretical proofs in the middle and high school mathematics textbooks (see, for instance, some lessons in the 'reform' mathematics textbooks in appendix A). Furthermore, some contradiction proofs are introduced in the middle school mathematical textbooks. The fact of teaching mathematics shows that it is quite difficult for middle school students to understand such proofs (MoET, 2002 a, p. 9).

• After comparing geometrical content in mathematics textbooks of some countries, Hoang Chung (1999, p. 15) concludes that:

The Vietnamese middle school geometrical textbooks mainly focus on practicing logical thought and reasoning deductively for students. In the whole geometrical textbooks from 7 to 9 (and geometrical parts in textbooks 6), there are mainly abstract geometry, definitions and proofs.

Hoang Chung also confirms that students could not acquire such abstract logical thought, or if they could acquire something, this is only the form, not the insight and meaning of geometry (1999, p. 16).

• As discussed in section 1.3.1.1 (this chapter), some content of probability and statistics, analysis and analytic geometry was first introduced in high school in Vietnam in the early 1990s. However, some knowledge is presented in the mathematical textbooks without taking notice of levels of students' awareness such as limit (ε - δ notation), tangent, derivative and integral concepts. It is rather difficult for students in high school to grasp fully concepts of a sequence and a function used ε - δ notion. Indeed, many mathematical teachers cannot teach these concepts, and they only teach students how to apply formulae in calculating a limit (Le Van Tien, 2000, p. 25; Nguyen Manh Chung, 2001, pp. 8-9; Nguyen Phu Loc, 2005, p. 30).

1.3.1.4 Lack of practical knowledge in mathematics curriculum and textbooks

Mathematics in the textbooks as well as examinations in school offer few examples or applications relating to real life or real world (see, for example, Do Dat, 2000). The relations between mathematics and other activities such as sports, politics, art and environment are not considered in the mathematics curriculum and textbooks, especially in secondary level. In general, application role of mathematics is not sufficiently appreciated in teaching-learning process.²²

Vietnamese students often struggle to apply mathematical knowledge in reality. Despite the fact that they can find solutions to problems with pure mathematics content, it is difficult for them to use this knowledge to solve problems with practical contents or apply it in other disciplines. One reason for this situation is that the mathematics curriculum and textbooks do not pay enough attention to applying mathematics in reality. For instance, both the textbook and exercise-book of algebra for grade 10 have *only 5 exercises* with content related to reality (Dinh Quang Minh, 2003, p. 17). The same situation also occurs in other textbooks for other grades (see, for instance, some mathematics lessons in appendix A). Moreover, these exercises rarely appear in mathematical examinations (Dinh Quang Minh, 2003, p. 17).

Nguyen Ngoc Anh (1999, p. 18) emphasizes a role of mathematical application in teaching and learning mathematics in school; however, he claims that mathematics teachers do not train their students in applying mathematics in real life or in other subjects. He shows some main causes of this situation. Firstly, application of mathematics in other subjects in school or in real life is not focused in mathematical textbooks and referent books; secondly, it is not considered as an essential task in assessment; furthermore, such contents do not appear in mathematical examinations, and teachers often notice other contents which their students need for passing examinations (Nguyen Ngoc Anh, 1999, p. 18). For this reason, students are generally incapable of applying mathematics. One of Nguyen Ngoc Anh's surveys in the schoolyear 1994-1995 shows that although 48% of students know how to find extreme values of a function, only 28% of them can solve a simple problem of extreme values with practical contents (Nguyen Ngoc Anh, 1999, p. 18).

 $^{^{22}}$ Recently, the present mathematics curriculum and textbooks significantly emphasize mathematics application. However, the way in which mathematics applications are used is still primitied and limited (see section 3.2.2.3).

Tran Kieu ²³(2001, p. 9) stresses that "practical roots and various applications of mathematics are acknowledged most in teaching in school". According to Tran Kieu (2001, p. 9), mathematics is often regarded as a necessary tool for understanding the sciences. Despite mathematics' noted centrality, Vietnamese schools neglect to present mathematical applications to real life situations.

In comparison with trends of mathematics education in the world, the MoET confirms that the Vietnamese mathematics curriculum and textbooks in middle school immoderately focuses on pure theory and did not take enough notice of practical knowledge (MoET, 2002 a, p. 2).

Mathematical exercises related to reality do not appear in examinations (see some mathematics examinations in Do Dat, 2000).

1.3.1.5 Other characteristics

In general, most of the 'reformed' mathematics textbooks are well-structured. However, the form and content of mathematics textbooks used from the early 1980s through the early 2000s appeared more advanced and theoretical and less pedagogically- suitable. More specifically, although these textbooks ensured scientific and precise characteristics, pedagogical phases were not sufficiently considered.

Typically, a formula or a theorem is presented in the mathematics textbooks as follows:

• Step1: Content of a formula or a theorem

• Step 2: A proof of the formula or theorem

• Step 3: Application of the formula or theorem in some pure mathematics examples

Similarly, a concept is often performed as follows:

- Step 1: Definition
- Step 2: Some examples of the concept
- Step 3: Characteristics

However, some parts of some mathematical textbooks are not well-structured, for example:

There is an imbalance between teaching time for natural numbers and for decimal numbers. Time for teaching natural numbers starts from the beginning of the first year

²³ Associate Prof. Tran Kieu is an Ex-director of the The National Institute for Educational Sciences in Vietnam.

to half of the first term of year 5, but time for teaching decimal numbers only starts at the end of the first term of year 5. Therefore pupils' calculating skills with decimal numbers are weak

(Do Dat, 2000, p. 4)

1.3.2 Methods of teaching mathematics

1.3.2.1 Typical methods of teaching mathematics in school

In general, methods of teaching school subjects, in general and mathematics, in particular are poorly developed in Vietnam (Ton Than, 2003 a, p. 31; Hoang Huy Lap, 2004, p. 14; Nguyen Minh Thuyet, 2005, p. 3). Most school mathematics teachers in Vietnam use and prefer two teaching styles called 'thay doc, trò chép' and 'luyện thi', meaning 'a teacher reads, students write' and 'training for exams', respectively. It is better if the first one is called 'a teacher explains, students listen and write down'. The latter can be described as follows: a teacher introduces different forms of problems which are related to specific knowledge and gives illustrated examples for each form, then student imitate the teacher' solutions to deal with other similar problems. The 'teacher reads, students write' method is quite popular in teaching mathematics in Vietnamese school (see, for instance, Ton Than²⁴, 2003 a, p. 31).

Dinh Quang Bao, a former Rector of Hanoi University of Education (from 1998 to 2006), states that:

Teaching methods in both school and university are underdeveloped. Main method is a lecture method. Teachers slowly and monotonously present and even slowly read their teaching plan. School and university students write down carefully. At home, they only learn what are written down in their notebooks.

(cited in Hoang Thanh Hai, n.d.)

Hoang Xuan Sinh, a professor of mathematics, also confirms that: "until the master level, we have only one way of teaching: teachers lecture, and students take notes" (cited in Hoang Thanh Hai, n.d.).

Bui Huy Hien (2005, p. 221) writes in his book about the history of Vietnamese education about the fact of the current teaching methods in Vietnam:

²⁴ Associate Prof. Dr. Ton Than is the Chief Editor of the current middle school mathematics textbooks in Vietnam.
Methods of teaching are not improved: normally, a teacher lectures, and students inactively acquire. This occurs not only in school education but also in graduate and post-graduate education.

Similarly, Do Dat describes typical methods of teaching mathematics in primary school as follows:

In most primary schools, teaching methods are explained and illustrated. The teacher mainly imparts content and knowledge, pupils learning by the examples. The majority of teachers generally prefer explanations, lectures and samples with frequent incidental questioning. The teachers are not monitored, they do not help pupils to create problems and 'occupy' new knowledge.

(Do Dat, 2000, p. 4)

1.3.2.2 Impact of examinations on methods of teaching mathematics

Typically, schools, local Departments of Education and Training in a province or city and the Ministry of Education and Training often regard results of examinations as important indicators and goals of teaching and learning.

Mathematics teachers usually use 'training for exams' method to help their students carefully practice forms of problems which usually appear in examinations. One 'real goal' of teaching mathematics in school is to help students score higher on examinations.

1.3.3 Assessment and examinations

This section, firstly, introduces examinations which school students must take from primary through high school. Secondly, it discusses some characteristics of school assessment and examinations. Finally, lack of scientific foundations for school assessment and examination is considered.

1.3.3.1 Examinations

Apart from examinations at the beginning of the first semester and at the end of every semester of school-years, there are five major and hard examinations (MoET, 2002 c; 2006, p. 4):

• Examination for diploma of primary school (two subjects: mathematics and Vietnamese)²⁵;

²⁵ Recently, the National Assembly of Vietnam has made a decision of deletion of this examination (see, for instance, Hoang Van Tu, Le Van Binh, Vu Anh Tuan, Vu Lan Anh, Phan Thanh Ha, 2005, p. 29).

• Examination for diploma of middle school (four subjects: mathematics, literature and two of the other subjects);

• Examination prior to entering high school (two subjects: mathematics and literature; in some provinces or cities, students' enter high school are considered through their learning results in middle school);

• Examination for diploma of high school (six subjects: mathematics, literature, foreign language and three of the other subjects);

• College or university entrance examinations (there are four main blocks: A (mathematics, physics and chemistry), B (mathematics, chemistry and biology), C (literature, history and geography) and D (mathematics, literature and foreign language). This is an exceptionally competitive examination.

Nearly all of the mentioned examinations include mathematics. Written examinations are mainly used. All mentioned mathematics examinations in this section are in the form of written examinations. Each of the examinations for diploma and college or university entrance (national examinations) is organized on the same days throughout the country (MoET, 2002 c, p. 1) The examination for diploma of middle school is composed by a committee of the local department of education and training in a city or province, while the examination for diploma of high school and the university entrance examination are composed by the MoET (MoET, 2002 c, pp. 8-9).

1.3.3.2 Memorization and creativity in examinations

In general, content of examination in school forces students to learn by heart and does not require creativity (Tran Viet Luu, 2001, p. 19 & 22; Nguyen Thi Quy, 2004).

De Lange uses a pyramid model to present the levels of understanding (cited in Verhage & De Lange, 1996, pp. 1-5; Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 1996, pp. 137-139). He distinguishes three levels: a lower, middle and high level (Verhage & De Lange, 1996, p. 2):



Figure 1.4: De Lange's Pyramid model

Generally, assessment in Vietnamese school often focuses on the lower level. Most of problems appearing in mathematics examinations are algorithm-based problems which usually assess students' ability of rote learning. In other words, students have to memorize mathematical regulars and formulae and then apply them to solve problems. Or students are introduced to one form of mathematical problems and then try to understand the solution to these problems and how to apply this solution in similar situations. Sometimes "problems that offer different strategies for solving, or offer more than one approach to solve" (Verhage & De Lange, 1996, p. 3) are used in assessment. However, as a whole, the second level (middle level) of De Lange (Verhage & De Lange, 1996, pp. 3-4) is rarely used in assessment in Vietnam.

There is a familiar problem of 'Polar Bear' in the Netherlands: "A polar bear weights 500 kilograms. How many children together weigh as much as one polar bear?" (Van den Heuvel- Panhuizen, 1996, p. 95). Verhage and De Lange (1996, pp. 4-5) offer this problem as an example for the third level. In order to solve this problem, students, first of all, have to estimate the average weight of children. The solution to the problem is not fixed, and it depends on estimations of students. The aim of assessment is not only to test students' ability of applying division regulations (with

remainder), but also to test their estimation and use of different (informal) strategies to solve the problem. The author of this dissertation used a questionnaire, including this problem to interview 152 Vietnamese mathematics teachers from different middle schools in Hai Duong, Ha Nam, Ha Tay, Kien Giang, Thai Binh and Hanoi (see the questionnaire form in appendix B). Most of them believed that not enough 'given' information was provided because the weight of a child or the average of children' weight is unknown (see details in section 5.2.5 of chapter 5). Moreover, they thought that this problem is not worth using in school.

Nguyen Quang Trung (2004) describes examinations in Vietnamese school as follows:

Examinations only aim at assessing students' abilities of memorization. As a result, students often focus on learning their teachers' lectures by heart. They do not know how to learn creatively [...]

Similarly, Le Thi Thanh Thao states that most of the examinations only require abilities of "rote memorization, repetition and understanding through mechanical impractical applications" (Le Thi Thanh Thao, 2004). She explains that the applications "often require tricks and forms", and if students do not have chances to pre-train, they cannot solve problems of the applications (Le Thi Thanh Thao, 2004).

1.3.3.3 Lack of scientific foundations for assessment and examinations

Some research shows that there is a derth of scientists who specialize in assessment and examinations (see, for example, Le Thi Thanh Thao, 2004). According to Le Thi Thanh Thao (2004), one reason for this situation is that the role of assessment and examinations is not adequately considered; consequently, there is no strategy for developing staff in this field. Le Thi Thanh Thao explains why teachers often meet difficulties with assessment innovation: "[...] all teachers who graduated within several tens years ago were not equipped with knowledge about assessment and examination; therefore, they are faced many difficulties when they would like to reform methods of assessment and examination." (Le Thi Thanh Thao, 2004).

1.3.4 Classroom organization

1.3.4.1 Curriculum distribution and teaching plan

The local department of education and training in a province or city determined a year curriculum distribution, which indicates how much time should be devoted to each

lesson. A teacher must prepare a written teaching plan. The headmaster of a school or the head of the school mathematics department can check whether or not a mathematics teacher has her or his own teaching plan.

The typical classroom in Vietnam rigidly adheres to set curriculum. Because teachers are so dependent on time regulations of the curriculum distribution, it is difficult for them to adjust their teaching method. These time allowances specified in the curriculum distribution will stifle certain classrooms by imposing time restraints on the lesson plan. Moreover, as discussed in section 1.3.1.1 of this chapter, students' achievement varies between regions and ethnicities. One standardized curriculum distribution established by the province or city's department of education cannot accommodate students' many different needs and capabilities.

1.3.4.2 Tools and activities of teachers in lessons

In classroom, mathematics teachers usually use pieces of chalk, a blackboard, a compass and a ruler. Teachers rarely use overhead projectors, computers, beamers, videos and other tools for their teaching. In the past, teachers were not sufficiently equipped these teaching tools. Recently, although Vietnamese schools have been gradually equipped necessary teaching facilities, teachers are not familiar with these tools.

Nguyen Quang Trung observes that most of school teachers, especially teachers of mathematics and English, suffer from overload of lecturing; and consequently, the teachers do not have sufficient time for self-studying, upgrading knowledge and reforming their teaching methods (Nguyen Quang Trung, 2004).

1.3.4.3 Tools and activities of students in lessons

The teacher typically assigns each student to a specific seat in the classroom for the semester or school-year. Normally, students are not allowed to change their seats.

Students rarely work in groups or in pairs. In primary school, for example, only 2% of classtime is allocated for group work (Do Dat, 2000, p. 4).

Students typically use pens, pencils, rulers, compasses and papers.

Students do not have the chance to play games, which can help them to learn mathematics.

1.3.4.4 High number of students in a class

According to a regulation of the Vietnamese Ministry of Education and Training, a class in a high school must have fewer than 50 students (table 1.3).

	1 , ,		
	A number of students per a class (according to regulation)		
Primary school	From 35 to 40		
Middle school	From 40 to 45		
High school	From 45 to 50		

Table 1.3: A regulation about a number of students in a class (The Institute for Educational Development, 1998)

However, the number of students per class is actually much higher than this regulation mandates. Different researches give different numbers. For example, the number of students in middle and high school in the city center are quite high (more than 40 students per class) (Huynh Cong Minh, 2004), and because of this high number of the students, the classroom is too crowded (on average from 40 to 55 students per a class) (Binh Thanh Department of Education and Training, 2004). Trinh Quoc Thai (2002, p. 23) confirms that the average number of students in a primary class is 60-70.²⁶

According to the General Statistics Office of Vietnam (2005), an average number of students are presented in table 1.4 according to school-years²⁷ and a level (primary, middle and high school). In general, the average number of students in a high school class ranges from 46 to 50 students, while the average number of students in a primary class ranges 28 to 31 students. It should be noted that the number of students in a class in an urban area is significantly higher than the number of students in a class in a rural or mountainous area.

²⁶ It appears that he mentions primary classes in densely-populated cities.

²⁷ A Vietnamese school-year often lasts from September of a year to Mai of next one.

School-year Level	1998 -1999	1999 -2000	2000 -2001	2001 -2002	2002 -2003	2003 -2004
Primary school	31	31	30	30	29	28
Middle school	41	41	41	41	40	40
High school	49	50	48	46	47	46

Table 1.4: An average number of students per class

According to Stigler and Hiebert (1999, p. 28), the national average for eighthgrade class size is twenty-five students per class in Germany and the United States and thirty-seven students per class in Japan. There are roughly thirty-five students per middle school class in Japan (Kunimune & Nagasaki, 1996). In comparison with these countries, the number of students in a class in Vietnam is considerably higher.

1.3.5 Teacher staff

Due to historical factors, a percentage of teachers in general studies, in particular teachers of mathematics, were not properly trained. As a consequence, they lack not only mathematical, but also pedagogical, knowledge. Hence, these teachers have, and continue to, struggle to modify or reform their teaching approaches (Nguyen Quang Trung, 2004). Furthermore, teachers' individual competence and capabilities differ widely among urban, rural and remote areas. The National Institute for Educational Sciences (NIES) conducted a study on three and five grade students' achievement in reading and mathematics of fourteen primary schools in five provinces. This study reveals that, "some Grade 5 pupils performed better than some Grade 5 teachers" (see details in The World Bank, 2004).

According to the MoET (cited in Bui Huy Hien, 2005, p. 222), the percentage of teachers who do not satisfy *training standards* is quite high (12,28%, 8,47% and 4,75% teachers in primary, middle and high school respectively in the school-year 2001-2002) (see details in figures 1.4, 1.5 and 1.6 below). In order to receive the teaching certification, primary teachers-in-training spend two years studying in professional schools to obtain diplomas; middle school teachers-in-training spend three years studying in colleges to obtain their degrees; and high school teachers-in-training spend three National four years studying in universities for qualification (Vietnam National

Assembly, 2005, chapter 4, item 2, article 77). In case the students who graduated from either non-pedagogic professional schools or non-pedagogic colleges and universities, they need to participate in some extra-lessons and receive certification for educational profession (Vietnam National Assembly, 2005, chapter 4, item 2, article 77). Recently, school standards for primary teachers have been discussed and created in Vietnam (see draft of standards for primary teachers in Educational Review, 2003, pp. 3-6).



Figure 1.5: The percentage of primary teacher according to training standards



Figure 1.6: The percentage of middle school teachers according to training standards



Figure 1.7: The percentage of high school teachers according to training standards

One study shows that about 10% of primary teachers would change jobs in order to ensure teaching and learning quality following the new curricula in Vietnam (Do Dinh Hoan, 2003, p. 14).

1.4 General ideas to improve mathematics education

As discussed above (section 1.3), Vietnamese mathematics education has encountered some challenges. To solve these problems is an extremely difficult and complicated long-term task. The Vietnamese Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) has been

carrying out some important projects, including the Renovation of the Curriculum and Teaching Methods, Training of Information Technology (IT) officers and introducing of IT into school education, Primary Education Project, Primary Teacher Development Project, Lower Education Project and Lower Education Teacher Development Project, in order to reform and improve school education (see, for instance, MoET, n.d. c). In the following sections, some general ideas for improving mathematics education are considered and expounded.

1.4.1 Mathematics curricula and textbooks

As discussed in section 1.1 (this chapter), the 'reformed' series of curricula and textbooks has been gradually replaced by new curricula and textbooks. The new curricula and textbooks are noticeably different than the former 'reformed' materials. This section will explore some of these major modifications of the primary, middle and high school mathematics curricula and textbooks.

1.4.1.1 Primary school

According to Do Dat (2000, p. 6), the Primary Mathematics Curriculum for 2000 includes the following modifications:

- Minimizing unnecessary difficult knowledge;²⁸
- Increasing mathematical application in reality;
- Adjusting time for teaching natural numbers, fractions, decimal and percentage;
- Introducing more geometrical shapes such as cylinder and sphere.

1.4.1.2 Middle school

Recently, a new series of textbooks based on a Middle School Mathematics Curriculum promulgated by the MoET on January 24, 2002 has been written (MoET, 2002 b). Most mathematics educators in Vietnam believe the new curriculum and textbooks are generally superior to the 'reformed' curriculum and textbooks.

Some of the principles for building the middle school mathematics curriculum are:

²⁸ It appears that the new series of primary curricula is still quite rigorous. According to the MoET, the new primary curricula need to be reduced about 15% although these curricula have just been used for a few years.

• do not pay excessive attention to structural and precise characteristics of the system of mathematical contents in the curriculum;

• do not present results with pure theoretical meaning and long complicated proofs which are not suitable for majority of students to the curriculum;

• allow students to practice and exercise calculation skills and applying mathematical knowledge in life and other school disciplines.

(MoET, 2002 a, p. 2)

According to Nguyen Minh Phuong (2001, pp. 9 & 11), Ton Than (2000, 2003 a, b & c), Tran Phuong Dung (2003), Pham Gia Duc (2003) and Vu Huu Binh (2004), the new series of middle school mathematics textbooks has the following advantages:

• *Inappropriate mathematical content is reduced* in the textbooks. Mathematical concepts, theorems and exercises which are not suitable for students at one grade are moved to the next grades or removed from the curriculum and textbooks. Additionally, some theorems are introduced without proofs if these proofs are too long or complicated, and some abstract mathematical definitions are replaced by simple descriptions.

• *Various types of exercises* are presented in the textbooks. There are exercises which seek to help students practice calculating, draw figures, predict characteristics, reason, create proofs, etc. In addition, there are *various forms for exercises* such as word problems, gap fillings, 'true-false' and multiple choice questions, crossword puzzles and mistake findings in given problems' solutions, whereas most of the exercises in the former textbooks were conventional word problems.

• The new series emphasizes *problem situations* and *self-study*.

• While the old set of textbooks did not strongly incorporate mathematics application, the *new one places special importance on mathematics application* in real life and other school disciplines.²⁹

• The new series also hopefully attracts students' interest by providing them interesting stories about history of mathematics.

• The new curriculum covers *calculator usage* in mathematical calculation and reality.

²⁹ Although new mathematics curriculum and textbooks pay special attention to mathematics application, the way in which application is presented is quite conventional. That is, formal mathematics is taught first, and then formal mathematics is applied on solving application problems. See detailed discussion in section 2 of chapter 3.

In geometry:

• *Absolute axiom-based viewpoint* in geometry is replaced by *using alternative visual and reasoning*. Geometry in middle school is not constructed as *a pure deduction science*. This means that geometry does not introduce a system of axiomatic and then builds mathematical theorems and characteristics by using mathematical proof. Instead, in some cases, students can measure, observe, experiment and then draw conclusions (without proofs). Geometrical proofs are reduced significantly in grades 6 and 7.

• By *drawing* and *observing* figures, *measuring* segments and angles, *folding* and *cutting* paper, students have the opportunity to *comment on events* and *predict characteristics* before geometrical theorems and their proofs are officially introduced.

1.4.1.3 High school

Three sets of high school mathematics 'reformed' textbooks were corrected and edited to build new one, which has been used since 2000 (see section 1.2 of this chapter).³⁰ This series is called a set of the '2000 corrected unified high school' mathematics textbooks. Recently, a new high school mathematics curriculum was approved, and new set of textbooks has been tested and gradually replaced the '2000 corrected unified high school' series.

In comparison with the 'reformed' textbooks (see section 1.3.1, this chapter), the '2000 corrected unified high school' ones have the following modifications (Nguyen Huy Doan, 2000):

• Reducing theoretical knowledge and increasing practical knowledge (while more abstract, complicated, theoretical knowledge is significantly reduced in this new curriculum, more applicable practical knowledge includes);

• Unifying mathematical signs and terms in textbooks;

• Removing extremely difficult exercises and using moderated number of exercises.

Recently, a new series of high school mathematics textbooks has been tested and gradually used in high school (see section 1.2, this chapter). In comparison with the 'reformed' curriculum and textbooks, new ones have following changes (MoET, 2002 b; Tran Van Hao, 2003, p. 20):

• Adjusting structure of mathematics contents;

³⁰ Typically, there is a unique series of mathematics textbooks in Vietnamese school. There was an exception for high school because there were three series of mathematics textbooks available from the early 1990s untill the late 1990s. However, these three sets of textbooks were unified in 2000.

• Reducing theoretical knowledge and paying attention to applications of mathematics (some complicated theoretical contents are omitted; in some cases, formal mathematical definitions are replaced by intuitive descriptions; some complicated formal mathematical proofs are not presented);

• Changing ways of presenting mathematical knowledge in textbooks (unlike the 'reformed' mathematics textbooks (see section 1.3.1.5 of this chapter), the new mathematics textbooks often offer students some tasks before mathematics definitions, theorems, rules and formulae are formally presented);

• Introduction to the use of calculators in teaching and learning mathematics;

- Introduction to the use of tests in examination;
- Emphasizing and encouraging students' self-study.

1.4.2 Methods of teaching

Because of the fact of underdeveloped teaching methods (section 1.3.2, this chapter), a reform of teaching methods is urgently required to remedy mathematics education in Vietnam (Nguyen Thi Quy, 2004).

General orientation for methods of teaching mathematics in middle school, determined by the MoET, is "activate students' activities; focus on students' abilities of self-studying, discovering and solving problems in order to form and to develop active, independent and creative characteristics for students" (MoET, 2002 a). According to this orientation, teachers should play the role of designers, organizers, guiders and controllers, and students should learn how to self-study and self-practice, in order to develop their personality and prepare themselves to fulfill the requirements of new employees eventually (MoET, 2002 a).

According to MoET (2002 b), general orientation for teaching high school mathematics is:

- Paying attention to activeness, initiative and ability of self-study for students;
- Using advantages of each teaching methods and paying attention to using problem solving approach;

• Providing students with the necessary knowledge and skills for real life.

1.4.3 Assessment and examinations

Recently, an assessment reform in Vietnamese school has become a necessary task. Here are some orientations for this reform:

• The MoET considered assessment as a part of the current mathematics curriculum. In this curriculum, the MoET suggests some changes of assessment (MoET, 2002 a, b & c).

• More research of assessment in mathematics is required (Le Thi Thanh Thao, 2004).

• Assessments and examinations are necessary to research and reform: develop students' creativeness and reduce memorization (Hoang Thi Tuyet, 2004).

• Conduct other types of assessment and experiment use of tests for examinations (Hoang Thi Tuyet, 2004; Nguyen Quang Trung, 2004).

1.5 Research question

The reform of the teaching methods has become urgent for mathematics education in Vietnam. For this reason, seeking a suitable teaching and learning approach is one of several possible necessary tasks for mathematics education in Vietnam. Considering the problem about the fact of the underdeveloped methods in teaching and learning mathematics (section 1.3.2 of this chapter), Realistic Mathematics Education (RME) may become a potential and suitable approach which will help mathematics education in Vietnam overcome its obstacles. However, RME must be expanded, and its application to Vietnamese mathematics education must be considered carefully.

1.5.1 Research question

This dissertation focuses on the general question: *how can RME enrich teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnamese school?*

This question, however, must be narrowed down so that it fits within the range of a dissertation. Because the author of this dissertation specializes in training (preservice and in-service) middle and high mathematics teachers, special emphasis is placed on the middle and high school level. Furthermore, since RME is quite new for mathematics curriculum developers, textbook authors, educators and teachers in Vietnam, the middle school level should be carefully considered. Finally, as discussed in chapter one, although teaching and learning mathematics have been noticeably improved, they still have their own weaknesses. The potentials of RME for overcoming shortcomings of mathematics education in Vietnam hence must be considered. In sum, the research question of this dissertation is:

How can RME be used as a potential teaching and learning approach which can help mathematics education in middle school overcome its disadvantages?

1.5.2 Sub-questions

1.5.2.1 Sub-question 1 (concerning a grade and a mathematics strand)

From primary school through high school in Vietnam, the abstraction of mathematics significantly increases. In addition, typically, Vietnamese mathematics curricula and textbooks emphasize formal mathematics. It appears that (formal deductive) geometry is one of the most difficult topics for Vietnamese middle school students. Accordingly, this dissertation focuses on middle school geometry. Furthermore, in the present middle school mathematics curriculum and textbooks, geometrical proofs are first introduced in grade 7, and a number of proofs are gradually increased in grade 8 and 9. It is worth considering how RME can be applied in teaching and learning grade-seven geometry. The first sub-question is:

How can RME be applied in teaching and learning grade-seven geometry in *Vietnamese school?*

1.5.2.2 Sub-question 2 (considering difficulties teachers and students may meet)

Teaching and learning styles in Vietnam are different from those in western countries, particularly in the Netherlands. Studies about applying RME to teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam should bear this difference in mind.

What difficulties do teachers and students meet while RME is applied in teaching and learning middle school geometry?

1.5.2.3 Sub-question 3 (concerning potentials of RME)

In general, RME seems to be especially suitable for the orientation of the reform of mathematics teaching methods in Vietnam (see section 1.4.2 of this chapter). However, it is necessary to investigate possible effects of RME in Vietnamese mathematics education. Sub-question 3 should be:

What is the potential of RME, and how can this potential help mathematics education in Vietnam overcome its shortcomings?

1.5.2.4 Sub-question 4 (considering possible proposals for applying RME)

Generally, teaching styles are quite rigid and conventional in Vietnam. Teachers and students may face difficulties while working with RME. For this reason, possible solutions or suggestions should be found so that teachers can deal with these difficulties. Sub-question 4 is:

What and how proposals should be made so that RME can be applied in teaching and learning in Vietnam?

1.5.2.5 Sub-question 5 (concerning frequency use of RME in teaching and learning in Vietnam)

In general, there is a strict regulation about a length of time and timetable for each lesson in Vietnam. Moreover, there is the contradiction between the amount of content in mathematical textbooks and the amount of time which teachers and students have in school (see section 1.3.1.2 of this chapter). In addition, in Vietnam the unique set of textbooks is considered as an official material for teaching and learning in school (see section 1.3.1.1 of this chapter).

One question is posed: *How often should RME be implemented in teaching and learning in middle school?*

Chapter 2 Realistic Mathematics Education

Realistic Mathematics Education (RME) is a theory of mathematics education that offers a pedagogical and didactical philosophy on mathematical learning and teaching as well as on designing instructional materials for mathematics education.

Bakker, A. (2004, p. 5)

Because *Realistic Mathematics Education* (RME) is new to most mathematics teachers, textbooks authors and educators in Vietnam, this chapter presents the basic ideas of RME theory. An overview of RME history is given, followed by the essential ideas of Freudenthal for RME (mathematics as a human activity, guided reinvention and didactical phenomenology) and discussions of the principles of RME which combine Van Hiele's levels of learning mathematics, Freudenthal's didactical phenomenology and Treffers's progressive mathematization. Finally, some selected examples about RME, including developing long division and the empty number line for addition and subtraction up to 100, are presented.

2.1 Overview of RME history

In this section, the *Wiskobas* project is discussed. In the Netherlands, the innovative Wiskobas project inaugurated the period of elementary mathematics education in which RME was formulated and developed.

Beginning in the Netherlands in 1968, the Wiskobas (mathematics in the elementary school) project sought to create innovations in national mathematics education by reforming teacher training. An attempt to devise a new elementary mathematics curriculum in the Netherlands, the researchers of the project analyzed different trends of mathematics education, not only inside, but also outside, the Netherlands such as: the *Arithmetical (Mechanistical), Structural, Empirical Trend* and *Dutch Arithmetic Education* (Treffers, 1987, pp. 14-17). Apart from the necessary "pre-institutional stage" (1968-1971), the Wiskobas project has three important periods: "an exploratory phase" (1971-1973), "an integration phase" (1973-1975) and "spin-off, further development and research" (1975-1977) (Treffers, 1987, pp. 11-13). As a result of this project, Dutch (elementary) mathematics education was not influenced by the "New Math" approach (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2000, p. 3). The founding principles of what later became RME approach appeared in the Netherlands in 1970s. The essential ideas of present RME form are mainly based on Freudenthal's

philosophy on mathematics and mathematics education (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2000, p. 3). RME also incorporates elements from the aforementioned educational approaches. Moreover, it takes advantages from these approaches (Treffers, 1987, pp. 14-18).

For over thirty years, RME has been primarily developed by mathematics educators in the Freudenthal Institute of Utrecht University and other research institutions in the Netherlands. Currently, about 75% of the elementary Dutch schools use RME-based textbooks (Treffers, 1991, p. 11). Although RME is already 30 years old, it is still in development (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 1998 & 2000, p. 3). Many dissertations and research projects conducted at the Freudenthal Institute and other institutions in the Netherlands have been involved in developing RME. The following paragraphs provide a brief introduction to some of these projects.

The Hewet project (1981-1985) developed a mathematics curriculum (*Mathematics A*), a high school RME curriculum, specially designed for students whose field of study in university will most likely be in either the humanities or the social sciences (De Lange, 1987, pp. 1-2 & 8-9). De Lange's dissertation (1987) includes an intense examination of historical context, development, content structure, theoretical framework, methods and assessment (tests) of *Mathematics A*.

Gravemeijer's dissertation (1994) entitled, "Developing Realistic Mathematics Education" thoroughly analyzes and discusses "instructional design as a learning process", "an instruction-theoretical reflection on the use of manipulatives", "mediating between concrete and abstract", "educational development and developmental research in mathematics education" and "implementation and effect of realistic curricula".

The development of RME assessment strategies (the starting period, the present period and written assessment) and the MORE project are sufficiently discussed, analyzed and expanded in Van den Heuvel's dissertation (1996).

The ideas of RME are applied to create a series of U.S. middle school mathematics textbooks called *Mathematics in Context* - one of the major middle school mathematics textbook series in the U.S.A (see, for instance, Romberg, 2001; Meyer et al., 2001). Although most research on RME focuses on school mathematics education, some even apply RME in undergraduate teaching and learning mathematics (Rasmussen & King, 2000; Kwon, 2002; Ju & Kwon, 2004).

2.2 Some basic ideas of Freudenthal for RME

In the following section, some basic ideas of Freudenthal for RME theory, including mathematics as a human activity, guided reinvention and didactical phenomenology are discussed. It should be noted that these Freudenthal' ideas are often interactive, and they relate to his question "Why [...] teach mathematics so as to be useful", a lecture name of Freudenthal (cited in Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 1996, p. 10) and a name of his first article in the Educational Studies in Mathematics (Freudenthal, 1968).

2.2.1 Mathematics as a human activity

2.2.1.1 Mathematics and common sense

After offering some examples about common sense and analyzing how it is often rejected by the natural sciences (e.g. physics, chemistry and astronomy) and their didactical principles, Freudenthal (1991, p. 6) stresses the importance of common sense in instruction, especially in mathematics instruction:

[...] I believe that in instruction it would be more recommendable to start with common sense ideas rather than to reject them as outdated and better being suppressed. This belief is supported in any case by the fact of the more or less spontaneous development of mathematics.

Freudenthal discusses the poor relationship between classroom and school experience and life experience; however, education should emphasize real life experience, argues Freudenthal (1991, pp. 4-6).

Below, Freudenthal (1991, p. 9) discusses strategies to repair this relationship:

Common sense, in order to become genuine mathematics and in order to progress, had to be systematised and organised. Common sense experiences, as it were, coalesced into rules (such as the commutativity of addition), and these rules again became common sense, say of a higher order, as a basis of even higher order mathematics-a tremendous hierarchy, built thanks to a remarkable interplay of forces.

According to Freudenthal (1991, p. 9), mathematics is the oldest science and "was more easily invented" than other sciences. After analyzing the differences between mathematics and other sciences, Freudenthal (1991, p. 11) suggests that mathematics should be learned and taught differently, "that is, neither as form nor as content but while maintaining respect for the interplay between them, acted out in the teaching/ learning process!".

2.2.1.2 Mathematics as a ready-made product and mathematics as a human activity

Freudenthal discusses two different approaches to mathematics. The first approach considers mathematics as *a ready-made product*, and the second one regards mathematics as *an activity*.

Freudenthal emphasizes idea of *mathematics as a human activity*. He explains that: "Mathematics as an activity is a point of view quite distinct from mathematics as printed in books and imprinted in minds." (Freudenthal, 1991, p. 14) Products of mathematical activity which are understood as a broad meaning include not only propositions and theorems, but also, "proofs, even definitions and notations, as well as the layout, in print and thought" (Freudenthal, 1991, pp. 14-15).

Freudenthal (1991) considers mathematizing to be one of main characteristics of mathematical activity. Details of mathematizing are discussed in section 2.3.1 of this chapter.

In mathematics education, Freudenthal strongly objects to what he called *antididactical inversion*: teaching mathematics by beginning with *ready-made mathematics* (Freudenthal, 1973, p. 106, 1983, p. ix; Gravemeijer & Terwel 2000, p. 780). Instead, Freudenthal believes that mathematics should be taught as an activity.

2.2.2 Guided reinvention

Freudenthal underscores the importance of *guided reinvention*.³¹ He explains the term inventions "[...] are steps in learning processes, which is accounted for by the "re" in reinvention, while the instructional environment of the learning process is pointed to by the adjective "guided"." (Freudenthal, 1991, p. 46) In Freudenthal's own words (1973, p. 120):

What I have called re-invention, is often known as discovery or re-discovery. I have also used these terms a few times, and it would not really matter which are used [...]

Perhaps the term "invention" was chosen because students are expected to find something which is new and un-known to them but well-known to the instructor. He also explains why he prefers the notion of 'guided reinvention' to other notions such as *problem solving, discovery learning, heuristics* and *genetic method* (Freudenthal, 1991, pp. 45-48).

³¹ The adjective 'guided' here might refer to guide from not only teachers and learning materials but also other peers (students) (Freudenthal, 1991, p. 47).

Students are not expected to "repeat the learning process of mankind" (Freudenthal, 1991, p. 48); however, they should be given the chance of reinventing mathematics under guidance of their teacher and learning materials. Freudenthal (1991, pp. 49-66) poses some basic questions which he later answers related to "guided reinvention". He suggests that students should be guided to reinvent mathematizing reality which means abstracting, schematizing and formalizing reality.³² To answer the question of how students should be guided, he mentions five tenets of Treffers, including choosing learning situations within the learner's current reality, offering means and tools for vertical mathematizing, interactive instruction, the learner' own production and intertwining learning strands (Freudenthal, 1991, pp. 56-57).

2.2.3 Didactical phenomenology

Freudenthal explains that the way in which mathematics is published and presented is different from the way in which it is invented (Freudenthal, 1983). From this he suggests that:

[...] one should recognise that the young learner is entitled to recapitulate in a fashion the learning process of mankind. Not in the trivial manner of an abridged version, but equally we cannot require the new generation to start just at the point where their predecessors left off.

(Freudenthal, 1983, p. ix)

Brousseau³³ (1998) also shares the same viewpoint when he creates and develops the *Theory of Didactical Situations in Mathematics*. He analyzes activities of mathematicians, mathematics teachers and students. Mathematicians put "knowledge into a communicable, decontextualized, depersonalized, detemporalized form", while mathematics teachers first create "the opposite action; a recontextualization and a repersonalization of knowledge" by providing their students with meaningful situations (Brousseau, 1998, p. 227). After responding to the situations, students often "have to redepersonalize and redecontextualize the knowledge" under guidance of their teachers (Brousseau, 1998, p. 227).

³² Reality here means what is experienced real to the students.

³³ Prof. Guy Brousseau was awarded the first (2003) Felix Klein Medal of the International Commission for Mathematics Instruction (ICMI) for his contribution in development of mathematics education and effort in applying his studies in teacher training. His Theory of Didactical Situation in Mathematics was introduced in Vietnam in the 1990s (see, for instance, Nguyen Ba Kim, 2002, p. 204).

Freudenthal (1983, p. ix) discusses the notions of phenomenology and didactical phenomenology as follows:

Phenomenology of a mathematical concept, structure, or idea means describing it in its relation to the phenomena for which it was created, and to which it has been extended in the learning process of mankind, and, as far as this description is concerned with the learning process of the young generation, it is *didactical phenomenology*, a way to show the teacher the places where the learner might step into the learning process of mankind.

Treffers believes that the idea of phenomenology is not entirely new, as it is often applied to find suitable mathematical applications in some other instruction approaches.³⁴ However, he stresses the essential difference of Freudenthal's viewpoint, that is, the idea of didactical phenomenology:

The novelty in the realistic conception is that reality does not only function in applications but also serves as a source of concept formation, that is, in order to first develop intuitive notions [...]. The emphasis is on laying a solid basis for learning rather than only on a *posteriori* applications at the end of the learning process.

(Treffers, 1987, p. 246)

Freudenthal (1983) analyzes didactical phenomenology of mathematical structures with a variety of strands. Gravemeijer (1994, pp. 90-91) explains why and how "situations where a given mathematical topic is applied are to be investigated" according to the idea of didactical phenomenology. From phenomenological perspective, he offers an example about different phases of angles such as tangible or imaginary, static or dynamic, directional and positional indications (Gravemeijer, 1998, p. 60).

2.3 Meaning of 'realistic' in RME

The label 'realistic' in RME originated from Treffers's distinguishing four approaches to mathematics education in which he uses the criteria of horizontal and vertical mathematization. Therefore, the following sections first expound on the notions of mathematization, horizontal and vertical mathematization. Later, four different trends in mathematics education, including *mechanistic*, *structuralistic*, *empiristic* and *realistic* approach are analyzed. Finally, the authenticity characteristic is discussed.

³⁴ Treffers (1987, p. 246) confirms that "such a didactical phenomenology is of course not new". It seems that he implied here phenomenology but not didactical phenomenology.

2.3.1 Mathematizing

As discussed previously (section 2.2.1.2 of this chapter), Freudenthal considers mathematizing primarily as an activity (Freudenthal, 1991, p. 30; see also Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 82). Freudenthal (1991, p. 31) explains that "[...] the origin of the term *mathematising* as an analogue to axiomatising, formalising, schematising." He also discusses aspects of mathematizing (Freudenthal, 1991, pp. 35-36). Gravemeijer (1994, p. 83) explains that:

[...] mathematizing mainly involves generalizing and formalizing. Formalizing embraces modelling, symbolizing, schematizing and defining, and generalizing is to be understood in a reflective sense.

De Lange defines mathematizing as "an organizing and structuring *activity* according to which acquired knowledge and skills are used to discover unknown regularities, relations and structures" (1987, p. 43).

The notions of *horizontal* and *vertical mathematization* are used in order to explain the differences between "transforming a problem field into a mathematical problem" and "processing within the mathematical system" (Treffers, 1987, p. 247). However, Treffers himself concedes that the distinction between the two types of mathematization is not necessarily readily apparent. According to Treffers (1987, p. 247), "[...] this distinction between horizontal and vertical components is a bit artificial given the fact that they may be strongly interrelated." This potential ambiguity is also confirmed by De Lange (1987, p. 44-45) and Freudenthal (1991, p. 132).

Following Treffers and Goffree, De Lange discusses horizontal and vertical components of mathematization. According to De Lange (1987, p. 43), horizontal components relates to "transferring the problem to a mathematically stated problem", and vertical components relates to "the mathematical processing and refurbishing of the real world problem transformed into mathematics" (De Lange, 1987, p. 43).³⁵

At first, Freudenthal was not willingly to accept Treffers's distinction between horizontal and vertical mathematization:

For a long time I have hesitated to accept this distinction. I was concerned about the theoretical equivalence of both kind of activities and, as a consequence, their equal status in practice, which I was afraid would be endangered by this distinction. How often haven't I been disappointed by mathematicians interested in education who narrowed

³⁵ Real world problems here should not be understood literally.

mathematising to its vertical component, as well as by educationalists turning to mathematics instruction who restricted it to the horizontal one [...].

(Freudenthal, 1991, p. 41)

Freudenthal eventually approves of this distinction "because of its consequences for mathematics education, and in particular, for characterising educational styles." (1991, p. 41) Freudenthal (1991, pp. 41-42) distinguishes horizontal and vertical mathematization as follows:

[...] Horizontal mathematisation leads from the world of *life* to the world of *symbols*. In the world of life one lives, acts (and suffers); in the other one symbols are shaped, reshaped, and manipulated, mechanically, comprehendingly, reflectingly; this is vertical mathematisation.

Freudenthal also confirms the equal roles of horizontal and vertical mathematization and their presence in all mathematical activity levels (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 1996, p. 11; Nguyen Thanh Thuy, 2005, p. 26).

De Lange (1987, p. 43) enumerates some activities containing strong horizontal components:

- identifying the specific mathematics in a general context;
- schematizing;
- formulating and visualizing a problem in different ways;
- discovering relations;
- discovering regularities;
- recognizing isomorphic aspects in different problems;
- transferring a real world problem to a mathematical problem;
- transferring a real world problem to a known mathematical model.

He also refers to some activity containing strong vertical components:

- representing a relation in a formula;
- providing regularities;
- refining and adjusting models;
- using different models;
- combining and integrating models;
- formulating a new mathematical concept;
- generalizing.

(De Lange, 1987, p. 44)

2.3.2 Different approaches to mathematics education

The 'realistic' term originated from Treffers's distinction of four different approaches to mathematics education: *mechanistic*, *structuralist*, *empiricist* and *realistic* by using the criteria of horizontal and vertical mathematization (De Lange, 1987, pp. 100-101; Treffers, 1987, pp. 250-252; Freudenthal, 1991, p. 132-136).

De Lange describes the mechanistic approach as follows:

In the *mechanistic* approach mathematics is a system of rules. The rules are given to the students, they verify and apply them to problems similar to previous examples.

(1987, p. 100)³⁶

This approach fails to incorporate adequately not only application and methodology but also structure, interrelatedness and insight (De Lange, 1987, p. 100). The similar analyses are also found in Streefland (1991, pp. 16-17). Freudenthal (1991, p. 134) describes how a man is treated like "a computer-like instrument" in the mechanistic approach. Both horizontal mathematization and vertical mathematization are weak in this approach.

The structuralist approach considers mathematics as "an organized, closed deductive system" (De Lange, 1987, p. 93). Hence, this approach emphasizes mathematical structures in school. In the 1960s and 1970s, this approach, labeled the 'New Mathematics', widely influenced mathematics education (De Lange, 1987, p. 97). Its impacts as well as the criticisms are thoroughly analyzed (De Lange, 1987, pp. 97-98; see also Freudenthal, 1991, p. 135; Streefland, 1991, pp. 15-16). In the structualist approach, vertical mathematization is stressed excessively, whereas attention to horizontal mathematization is insufficient.

The empiricist approach used mainly in Great Britain (Streefland, 1991, p. 22; see also Freudenthal, 1991, p. 135) is described as follows:

Provided with material from their living world, learners get the opportunity to acquire useful experiences, but they are not prompted to systematise and rationalise these experiences in order to break the barriers of the environment and to expand the reality they are familiar with.

(Freudenthal, 1991, p. 135)

³⁶ 'Training for examination' approach in Vietnam is quite similar to the mechanistic approach.

In the empiricist approach, horizontal mathematization is emphasized, but vertical mathematization is weak.

On the contrary, the realistic approach fully incorporates both vertical and horizontal mathematization.

The following table is often used to illustrate the differences of the four mentioned mathematics education approaches under the criterion of horizontal and vertical mathematization (De Lange, 1987, p. 101; Treffers, 1987, p. 251; Freudenthal, 1991, p. 133):

	Horizontal	Vertical			
	mathematization	mathematization			
Mechanistic	-	-			
Empiricist	+	-			
Structuralist	-	+			
Realistic	+	+			

Figure 2.1: Approaches in mathematics education

2.3.3 'Realistic' and 'authentic'

Jahnke (2001) discusses a notion of 'authentic', when introducing *productive exercises* for mathematics lessons (Produktive Aufgaben für Mathematikunterricht). A problem situation is authentic for learners if they "accept its actuality and involve it", and he urges that "productive exercises should be authentic" (Jahnke, 2001, p. 7; see also discussion in Jahnke, 2005). Authenticity, however, is not a compulsory characteristic in RME.

The word 'realistic' can therefore be slightly misleading. It has been often misunderstood, not only outside, but also inside the Netherlands, that the realistic approach focuses on reality or authenticity (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2000, p. 4 & 2003, pp. 9-10). Gravemeijer, Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen and Streefland (1990, p. VII) explains that 'realistic' "[...] not only means establishing the connection between reality and the mathematics to be learned, but also creating the possibility for the learners to construct a mathematical reality."

In fact, 'realistic', according to Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen (2003, pp. 9-10), was rooted in a Dutch verb 'zich realiseren' which means 'to imagine'. She explains

further: "[...] the term 'realistic' refers more to the intention that students should be offered problem situations which they can *imagine* [...] than that it refers to the 'realness' or authenticity of problems", and "The fantasy world of fairy tales and even the formal world of mathematics can be very suitable contexts for problems, as long as they are 'real' in the students' minds." (Van den Heuvel–Panhuizen, 2003, p. 10; see also Van den Heuvel–Panhuizen 2000) This is also confirmed when we consider mathematics materials which are presented at the beginning of every chapter of the Treffers's book about the Wiskobas Project- the initiation of RME (1987, pp. 1-7, 31-36, 75-82, 113-118, 159-166, 197-210 & 221-238) contain some mythologies, legends or "formal world of mathematics".

Gravemeijer (1994, p. 88) also confirms that:

[...] one cannot bring the reality into the classroom. Although students will be able to identify with well chosen contextual problems, these will never become real life problems.³⁷

Gravemeijer provides an example about fair distribution of 18 bottles of cola for 24 students at a school party. Twelve-year-old low-achieving students are assigned this problem. However, some of them argue that: "Some students don't drink cola", and "They don't drink the same amount" (Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 89). There is an interesting problem about 'T-shirts and Sodas' which aims at encouraging students to find different informal strategies. However, this is not a real world problem because students do not encounter a similar situation in their lives (Van Reeuwijk, 1995, pp. 2-4; De Lange, 1996, p. 63-64; see also appendix B).

2.4 Tenets (principles) of RME

The following describes the developing of RME according to five tenets (principles) of RME: the use of contexts, the use of models, the use of students' own construction and production, the interactive principle and the intertwining of learning strands. These principles are created by combining the Van Hiele's levels of learning mathematics, Freudenthal's didactical phenomenology and Treffers's progress mathematization (Treffers, 1987).

³⁷ The author of this dissertation agrees with Gravemeijer. However, it is better if "these will never become real life problems" is replaced by "in some cases, these will not become real life problems".

2.4.1 The use of contexts

2.4.1.1 Context in RME

Borasi defines context as "[...] a situation in which the problem is embedded." (cited in Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 1996, p.118) In traditional mathematics textbooks, most problems are presented without context, and context "appears only in brief introductions or end-of-section story problems" (Meyer et al., 2001, p. 522). For this reason, students who use these textbooks often experience difficulties when they encounter a contextual problem because: "[...] they must first translate the problems into [...] problems without context, before they can attempt to solve them." (Meyer et al., 2001, p. 522)

According to Gravemeijer and Doorman (1999, p. 111), context problems are "[...] problems of which the problem situation is experientially real to the student." Context problems include not only problems with reality contents, but also "pure mathematical" problems (Gravemeijer & Doorman, 1999, p. 111; see also Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2000, p. 4).

The notion of context problems in RME is similar to a notion of problem situation in *Problem Posing and Solving* which is defined by Nguyen Ba Kim and Vu Duong Thuy (1997) has three following conditions:

• It contains a problem which students do not know any algorithm to solve this problem;

• Students understand the problem's relevance; and

• Although students cannot solve the problem immediately and do not know any algorithm to solve this problem, they have some knowledge and skills relating to the problem, and they believe that if they try the best they may solve the problem.

2.4.1.2 Roles of context

Freudenthal discusses how to use contexts properly when discussing mathematics application:

If in traditional mathematical instruction the applications of mathematics are touched upon, it is always done according to the pattern of didactical inversion. Rather than departing from the concrete problem and investigating it by mathematical means, the mathematics comes first, while the concrete problem comes later as an "application".

(Freudenthal, 1973, p. 132)

In RME, "[...] the use of realistic contexts became one of the determining characteristics" (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2003, p. 9), and "[...] context problems play a role from the start onwards." (Gravemeijer & Doorman, 1999, p. 111)

De Lange speaks of three levels of using context: the third, second and first order. The third order use is the "most significant" and "to introduce and develop a mathematical model or concept", and the second one "is less essential, but still very important" when student "find the relevant mathematics, to organize and structure" to deal with "real world problem", while the first one is "often found in traditional schoolbooks" when "[...] the mathematical operations are embedded in contexts [...]", and a "[...] simple transition from the problem to a mathematical problem is sufficient [...]" (De Lange, 1987, pp. 76-77).

Based on De Lange's three levels of context use, Meyer et al. (2001, p. 523) point out five different roles of context in teaching and learning mathematics which are often interactive:

- motivating students to explore new mathematics;
- offering students a chance to apply mathematics;
- serving as a source of new mathematics;
- suggesting a source of solution strategy;
- providing an anchor for mathematical understanding.

2.4.2 The use of models

2.4.2.1 Roots of models

Initial ideas of models "at a much more general didactical level" in RME are discussed in 1975 by Freudenthal (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2003, p. 15). The model which is determined by Freudenthal differs from the mathematical model.³⁸ Streefland further develops these ideas "within a micro-didactic context" to create the notions of "model of" and "model for" in 1985 (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2003, p. 15). Later they are

³⁸ In Freudenthal's words:

According to my terminology, a model is just the- often indispensable- intermediary by which a complex reality or theory is idealised or simplified in order to become accessible to more formal mathematical treatment. I therefore do not like the term "mathematical model" in a context where it wrongly suggest that mathematics directly or almost directly applies to the environment. As a matter of fact, this only remained true as long as mathematics was tightly entangled with the environment. I lay out so much stress on the role of the model as an intermediary because people are all too often unaware of its indispensability. Much too often mathematical formulas are applied like recipes in a complex reality that lacks any intermediate model to justify their use.

developed and elaborated by other researchers. According to Streefland (cited in Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2003, p. 14), initially, a model is established and developed from a problem situation, and this context-based model which has close relationship with the problem situation called a *model of* (the specific problem situation); after this stage, the model of is developed and generalized which is independent of the problem situation defined as *model for* (not only the initial problem situation, but also other situations). "Model of" and "model for" are used as bridges to connect informal and formal knowledge. Typically, a problem situation is given to student. First, the student constructs context-based strategies to solve this problem with their informal knowledge. The student then develops these strategies into more general strategies, which can solve not only the given problem, but also other problems.

2.4.2.2 Self-developed (emergent) models

Gravemeijer (1994, pp. 100-101) elaborates disadvantages of using models in the information processing approach in which formal mathematics is a starting point, and concrete models, which he calls *didactical models*, are used to concretize this formal mathematical knowledge. The problem is that, "[...] although the models as such may be concrete- the mathematics *embedded in the models* is not concrete for the students." (Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 77) Furthermore, the use of these models "does not really help students attain mathematical insight" (Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 77). He describes this approach as "top-down" approach, which means that the direction of the instruction is from formal mathematics to informal mathematics (Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 77).

Consequently, he stresses that in order to overcome the mentioned weakness, "[...] situated, informal knowledge and strategies should be the starting point for developing abstract mathematical knowledge." (Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 77) In other words, one should reverse the direction from informal to formal mathematics in instruction process: from situations and informal knowledge, students develope themselves model-of, model-for and formal knowledge. He calls these "self-developed models". Gravemeijer (1994, p. 77) uses the notion of "alternative" or "bottom-up" approach to imply the latter approach.

Gravemeijer (1994, p. 101) discerns four levels in RME, including situations, model of, model for and formal mathematics by using the following figure:



Figure 2.2: Self-developed models in RME

Gravemeijer (1994, p. 101) describes the levels in more general terms:

• the level of the situations, where domain specific, situational knowledge and strategies are used within the context of the situation (mainly out of school situations);

• a referential level, where models and strategies refer to the situation which is sketched in the problem (mostly posed in a school setting);

• a general level, where a mathematical focus on strategies dominates the reference to the context;

• the level of formal arithmetic, where one works with conventional procedures and notations.

Later Gravemeijer uses the notion of *emergent models* instead of self- developed models (Gravemeijer & Doorman, 1999; Gravemeijer, 2002 & 2004). He explains that "[...] 'emergent' refers both to the character of the process by which models emerge within RME, and to the process by which these models support the emergence of formal mathematical ways of knowing." (Gravemeijer, 2004, p. 98)

2.4.2.3 "Didactical modeling", "mathematical modeling" and "emergent modeling"

Gravemeijer elaborates three different types of modeling in mathematics education: "didactical modeling", "mathematical modeling" and "emergent modeling" (Gravemeijer, 2004, pp. 97-99). He also confirms that each modeling assumes a certain role in mathematics education (Gravemeijer, 2004, p. 97).

The weakness of using didactical models is discussed above (see section 2.4.2.2). In "mathematical modeling", "the mathematical model and the situation being modeled are treated as separate entities." (Gravemeijer, 2004, p. 97) Gravemeijer suggests that emergent modeling can be served as "a precursor to mathematical

modeling" (2004, p. 97). His description about "emergent modeling", "mathematical modeling" and the relation between them can be expressed as the following figure: ³⁹



Figure 2.3: "Emergent modeling" and "mathematical modeling"

2.4.3 The students' own productions and constructions

Students should be encouraged and guided to reinvent mathematics (mainly by their teacher and learning materials, but also by other peers). In the learning process students should be encouraged to create their own productions and constructions, and then they can use those to approach latter tasks.

After confirming the role of the students' own constructions and productions as a key position in realistic instruction theory, Treffers (1987, p. 260) explains:

When speaking about their own *constructions*, we stress their *actions*, while in speaking about *production* the stress is on *refection*. Of course, this is only a matter of more or less emphasis, as they are inseparable.

Treffers carefully analyzes and explains how students' own constructions and productions function in the teaching and learning process, and he also discusses the lack of attention to students' own constructions in other mathematics education approaches, especially in the structuralist one (Treffers, 1987, pp. 260-261).

Streefland (1990, pp. 33-50) explains the meaning of students' own production and its functions in the teaching and learning process and gives variety of illustrated examples.

³⁹ This figure is built by combining two Gravemeijer's figures about emergent modeling and mathematical modeling (Gravemeijer, 2004, p. 99).

2.4.4 The interactive principle

Treffers (1987, p. 261) discusses the role of interactive characteristic in realistic approach as follows:

The pupils' own constructions and productions, as well as phenomenological exploration and modeling, can be efficient only if they are realised in interactive instruction, that is, instruction where there is the opportunity to consult, to participate, to negotiate, to cooperate, with review afterwards and where the teacher holds back from providing explanations.

It should be noted that although the interaction and cooperation between teacher and students and among students is emphasized, it does not mean that individual work is disregarded in the realistic approach (Treffers, 1987, p. 261).

Interactivity is not a distinguishing characteristic of RME. For example, Yackel and Cobb⁴⁰ (1996) refer to the notion of *sociomathematical norms* which is developed from their previous notion of (general classroom) *social norms*. The difference between sociomathematical norms and social norms is that the first ones mean "normative aspects of mathematical discussions that are specific to students' mathematical activity", whereas the second ones "apply to any subject matter area and are not unique to mathematic" (Yackel & Cobb, 1996). In their research paper, Yackel and Cobb (1996) describe how "sociomathematical norms are interactively constituted" and "these norms regulate mathematical argumentation and influence learning opportunities for both the students and the teacher". Discussion about social and sociomathematical norms are also found in Hershkowitz and Schwarz (1999) and McClain and Cobb (2001).

2.4.5 The intertwining of mathematical strands

This characteristic discusses relations among teaching mathematical strands (units). Freudenthal (1973, pp. 74-75) explains why it is necessary to intertwine mathematical strands as follows:

In principle it is a healthy idea not to teach isolated pieces but coherent material. Connected matter is faster learned and longer retained.

He suggests that: "Algebra, trigonometry, analytic geometry, infinitive series, calculus should not be any longer considered as closed units." (Freudenthal, 1973, p.

 $^{^{40}}$ Prof. Dr. Paul Cobb was awarded the 2005 (second) ICMI Hans Freudenthal Medal for his contribution to mathematics education.

137)⁴¹ He also offers some more examples about strands which should be intertwined such as ratio and fractions; functions, graphs and equations; negative numbers; vector algebra and geometry; linear graphs and functions; and plane and solid geometry (Freudenthal, 1991, pp. 118-119). He explains the role of intertwining learning strands as follows:

Teachers who prefer systematic instruction are likely to accuse this approach of being chaotic. They forget that systematics is an *a posteriori* contraption. What looks like chaos may be well-organised didactically, while, on the other hand the system as such may be a subject of guided reinvention.

(Freudenthal, 1991, p. 119)

Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen (2000, p. 8) thoroughly explains the relationship between different sections within a mathematical chapter and different mathematical chapters within in a textbook. Moreover, she underscores the necessity of exploiting different "mathematical tools and understandings" to solve rich context problem (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2000, p. 8).

2.5 Some examples

Numerous examples about RME can be found in De Lange (1987), Treffers (1987), Streefland (1991), Gravemeijer (1994), Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen (1996), Bakker (2004), Doorman (2005) and others. An example of 'T-shirts and Sodas' is used to interview some Vietnamese middle school mathematics teachers (appendix B). The problem in this example is assigned to middle school students so that they can develop different informal strategies to solve the given problem. Below, some additional

⁴¹ Apart from the relations among mathematical strands and units, Freudenthal also mentioned and strongly emphasized the relation among mathematics and other disciplines such as physics, chemistry, and biology. He emphasized the latter coordination, especially between mathematics and physics: "Physics needs mathematics as an auxiliary discipline, but physics can also belong to the lived-through reality from which mathematics is provided with subject matters and suggestions for mathematics organization." (Freudenthal, 1973, p. 136) After having analyzed how mathematics is applied in physics textbooks, he concluded that:

But meanwhile it remains a sad fact that physicists in their instruction use degraded mathematics. For the student this means that he learns de-mathematized physics, that he is not introduced to understanding how mathematics applies in physics, and that he experiences mathematics and physics as unrelated.

⁽Freudenthal, 1973, p. 139)

Because of this, he recommended that "[...] integration or coordination of mathematics not with other disciplines but integration around mathematics, that is with mathematics as a nuclear discipline that attracts subject matter of other disciplines to have them worked on by the student as fields of mathematical organization." (Freudenthal, 1973, p. 139) We can call these two types of relation internal relations and external relations.

examples are included. The first one describes how students at ages of 8 and 9 who have only learned multiplications up until number 10 reinvent different informal strategies to the problem of long division. The second one depicts how the empty number line is modeled to help students add and subtract up to 100.

2.5.1 Developing long division

In this section, an example of developing long division is described. This example is presented following Gravemeijer (1994, pp. 83-84).

Children age 8 or 9 *who have learned only multiplication up until number 10* are given the following problem:

Tonight 81 parents will be visiting our school. Six parents can be seated at each table. How many tables do we need?

(Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 83)

Then the teacher gives the students some suggestion by drawing the following figures:



Figure 2.4: Guided figures (Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 84)

The students can find different solutions to the problem:

- Repeated addition:

Some draw tables for 6 persons until they get enough tables for 81 persons. Then they count a number of necessary tables:



Figure 2.5: Using repeated addition

They can count 6, 12, 18, 24, 30, 36, 42, 48, 54, 60, 66, 72, 78 and 84. Then they count a number of tables: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14.

- Using $10 \times 6 = 60$ as a starting point:

Some students start by using the multiplication $10 \times 6 = 60$. Then they use repeated addition or multiplication:



Figure 2.6: Using multiplication and repeated addition

- Using $6 \times 6 = 36$ as a starting point:

One student starts by using the multiplication $6 \times 6 = 36$. Then this student doubles 36, adds 6 and adds 6 to find a number of necessary tables.

After that, students are encouraged to compare their solutions. Most of them agree that the solution starting by multiplication $10 \times 6 = 60$ is reasonable.

Finally, a similar problem is given to the students:

One pot serves seven cups of coffee; each parent gets one cup. How many pots of coffee must be brewed for the 81 parents?

(Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 84)

At this time, most of the student use "ten times" solution to deal with this problem, although their teacher has not told them to use it.

2.5.2 Empty number line for additions and subtraction up to 100

Gravemeijer gives three reasons related to "phenomenological analysis of number", "informal solution procedures" and "level-raising qualities" for using the *empty number line* to add and subtract up to 100 (Gravemeijer, 1994, pp. 123-125).

Moreover, he also identified a disadvantage of using *full number line* which tempts the students to use "primitive counting strategies" when they dealt with the subtraction (Gravemeijer, 1994, pp. 123-125).

Then Gravemeijer suggests a way of introducing the empty number line. First, the students are given a context problem. Then, a bead string is introduced, and the students work with it. After that, an empty number line can be introduced as a model of the bead string.



Figure 2.7: Making numbers of the bead string (Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 125)



Figure 2.8: Modeling a bead string solution with an empty number line (Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 125)
Gravemeijer (1994, p. 125) explains that "[...] there are no marks on the number line, the student places the marks that he or she chooses."

Then students can apply the empty number line to find different solution procedures for addition and subtraction up to 100. The following figure illustrates different student's strategies when they deal with an addition, for instance: 27 + 38:



Figure 2.9: Different strategies for addition 27 +38 (Gravemeijer, 1994, p. 120)

Chapter 3 Vietnamese RME-based geometry lessons for grade 7

The aim of this chapter is to discuss how to design RME-based geometry lessons for grade 7 in Vietnamese middle school. Firstly, this chapter analyzes some characteristics of the Vietnamese geometry curricula in the 'reformed' period and at present. Recently, the 'reformed' mathematics textbooks have been replaced by new textbooks in Vietnam (In the school-year 2005-2006, the 'reformed' textbooks are still used for grade 5 (primary school) and all grades in high school (10 to 12), while the new (current) ones are utilized for the other grades (grades 1 to 4 in primary school and grades 6 to 9 in middle school)). For this reason, not only the current but also the 'reformed' middle school textbooks are discussed in section 3.1.2 of this chapter. Secondly, this chapter discusses foundations for designing RME-based geometry lessons. Finally, it describes a RME-based lesson of the Triangle Sum Theorem. Some other RME-based geometry lessons are presented in appendix C.

3.1 Middle school geometry curricula

First, this section briefly discusses an overview of geometry curricula. After that, it analyzes Vietnamese middle school geometry curricula and textbooks in the 'reformed' period (from the early 1980s until the early 2000s), as well as some changes at present.

3.1.1 An overview of middle school geometry curricula

According to Malaty (1999, pp. 231- 233), some landmarks in the (recent) history of school geometry curricula include:

• until 1957 (in most countries, plane Euclidean geometry was taught in middle school, and analytic geometry and solid Euclidean geometry were taught in high school);

• The Royaumont Seminar in 1959 (because of this seminar and especially Jean Dieudonnés's slogan "Euclid must go", Euclidean geometry virtually disappeared from mathematics curricula in most Western countries as one impact of the "new math" movement, which originated in the U.S.A);⁴²

• around the end of the 1960s (the "new math" movement started to affect mathematics education in the Third World countries);

⁴² Germany is exceptional as the motion geometry, the simplification of Felix Klein's transformation geometry, had taken place of Euclidean geometry in some German schools before The Royaumont Seminar (Manlaty, 1999, p. 232).

• at the end of 1970s (the "new math" movement was replaced by the "Back-to-Basics" one after many weaknesses in the "new math" curriculum were found since it exposed many weaknesses).⁴³

In the 1970s and 1980s, geometry curricula lacked direction, and geometry was not emphasized in mathematics curricula, in comparison with other branches of mathematics (Quadling, 1985, pp. 91-94).

Many controversies about middle school geometry have been discussed, such as the role of geometry in a school mathematics curriculum (Quadling, 1885, pp. 91-94; Costello, 1991, p. 53; Clements & Battista, 1992, p. 422; Clements, 2003, pp. 151-152), transformation versus congruence (equality) (Bender, 1982; Fischer, 1996; pp. 135-141; Holland, 2001; p. 16), two-dimensional (2-D) and three-dimensional (3-D) geometry in middle school, teaching deductive geometry in school, the use of information and communication technology (ICT) in teaching geometry (Hoyles et al., 2003 a, pp. 2-6; see also Hoyles, Küchemann & Foxman, 2003 b, pp. 36-40; Hoyles, 2005, p. 143) and the relation between geometry and real life (Bender & Schreiber, 1985; Wittmann, 1987).

It appears that the role of geometry in mathematics curricula is not emphasized in countries such as the United States and Britain. After showing U.S. students' poor achievement in geometry, Clements and Battista (1992, p. 422) and Clements (2003, pp. 151-152) reveal its main causes: geometry plays an unessential role in U.S. mathematics curricula; requirements for students are low; and teachers are unwilling to teach it. The similar situation is also found in Britain: "[...] fears that geometry might be squeezed out of the curriculum are not new [...]" (Costello, 1991, p. 53). In general, the International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA) conclude, after conducting large international comparisons in mathematics education that geometry in school mathematics curricula is less important than some other strands (algebra and arithmetic) (Travers & Weinzweig, 1999, p. 25). However, geometry still plays an important role in mathematics curricula in countries such as China and Vietnam (Wang & Wu, 2002, pp. 107-108; section 3.1.2.1.1 of this chapter).

According to Holland (2001, p.16), geometric transformations are introduced in school mathematics curricula as a result of a modernist approach. Holland discusses

⁴³ However, it does not mean that geometry curricula returned to Euclidean geometry (Manlaty, 1999, p. 235).

transformations as a tool for studying geometry, as well as themselves subjects to be studied. In most states of Germany (Bundesländer), geometric transformations often appear as a tool for studying geometry, whereas the role of transformations as objects to be studied almost disappears in middle school mathematics curricula because of the unpopularity of the structuralist approach and the role of other new subjects such as statistics, probability and informatics in school (Holland, 2001, p. 16).

Fischer (1996, pp.135-144) discusses various aspects of congruent and transformational school geometry, including advantages, disadvantages and the historical roots of geometric transformations.

In middle school, 2-D geometry makes up the majority of the curriculum in some countries (e.g., England, Japan and France), while in others (e.g., the Netherlands) 2-D geometry is taught alongside 3-D geometry, and in others (e.g., Baden-Württemberg, a state in Germany) there is an emphasis on 3-D geometry (Hoyles et al., 2003 a, pp. 2-6).

According to Hoyles (2005, p. 143), in former times, the geometry curriculum in England and Wales emphasized deductive geometry, but recently, deductive geometry has nearly disappeared from the curriculum.⁴⁴ Similarly, Stigler and Hiebert (1999, p. 59) state that deductive reasoning often appears in mathematical proofs, but U.S. lessons have no mathematical proofs, while about 10 percent of German lessons and 53 percent of Japanese lessons contain mathematical proofs. Knuth (2002, pp. 61-62) likewise confirms that in U.S school, traditionally, only students who intend to go to college or university learn proofs-mainly Euclidean geometry proofs-but recently, the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics recommended that proofs should play a role in the curriculum for all students. After studying middle school mathematics teachers' conception of proof, Knuth concludes that these recommendations seem to challenge the teachers (2002, pp. 82-85). In Germany, proofs play an important role in mathematics curricula in school for high-achievement students (Gymnasien) and in some school for intermediate-achievement students (Realschulen) (Kaiser, 1999, p. 143). In Japan, students begin to learn deductive Euclidean geometry in grade 8, including proofs (Kunimune & Nagasaki, 1996). Similarly, Wang and Wu (2002, pp.

⁴⁴ It appears that deductive geometry is significantly reduced or even disappeared in geometry curricula in some Western countries because of 'Back-to-Basics' approach. However, it still played its role in geometry curricula in some Asian countries like Japan and Korea.

108-110) confirm that Chinese middle school geometry places great emphasis on formal mathematics such as logical reasoning and mathematical proof.

Recently, studies on the use of information and communication technology (ICT) in geometry lessons have flourished. A study of Hoyles et al. (2003 a, p. 5) has shown that the requirement to use ICT in geometry curricula varies from country to country: ICT is not mentioned in some geometry curricula (for example, in Poland) and mentioned sometimes in some others (for instance, in Japan and the Netherlands), while in other countries (for example, in Singapore and France) the use of ICT is explicitly stated in detail. Comparing the U.S. and Vietnamese middle school mathematics textbooks, Nguyen and Kulm (2002, p. 222) confirm that the U.S. textbooks place great emphasis on using technology in mathematics lessons, while the Vietnamese ones rarely mention it.⁴⁵

3.1.2 Characteristics of Vietnamese middle school geometry

This section discusses the characteristics of the Vietnamese middle school geometry curricula and textbooks in the 'reformed' period and at present. It is necessary to repeat that typically, mathematics textbooks in Vietnam are unique (see chapter 1, section 1.3.1.1). Until the school-year 2005-2006, the 'reformed' textbooks are used in grade 5 (primary school) and in grades 10 to 12 (high school). These textbooks will be gradually replaced by the new ones in the following school years. Chapter one discusses more details about the Vietnamese middle school geometry; this section discusses more details about the Vietnamese middle school geometry curricula and textbooks. These characteristics are analyzed in section 3.1.1 of this chapter, including the role of geometry in the mathematics curricula and textbooks, congruence and transformation, 2-D and 3-D geometry, teaching deductive geometry in school, using ICT in teaching and learning geometry and geometry and real life.

3.1.2.1 The 'reformed' period (from the early 1980s until the early 2000s)

3.1.2.1.1 The role of geometry in the middle school curriculum and textbooks

Unlike countries such as the United States and England, geometry always has been regarded as an essential part of the Vietnamese middle and high school curriculum, and this priority is reflected in the textbooks. In the 'reformed' period, for every grade from 7 to 9 there are two textbooks called *Geometry* and *Algebra*, and for grade 6, there are

⁴⁵ There are few researchers who compare mathematics education in Vietnam and other countries.

textbooks named *Mathematics 6: part 1* and *Mathematics 6: part 2*. Some basic concepts of geometry are first presented in the last chapter of *Mathematics 6: part 2* (Le Hai Chau, Nguyen Gia Coc & Pham Gia Duc, 1996, pp. 110-144).

3.1.2.1.2 Congruence and Transformation

In the 'reformed' period, Euclid-based geometry is a mainstay of the geometrical curriculum and textbooks. Middle school geometry introduces some basic shapes (a point and a line), relations (a point on a line and a point between two points) and measurements (measures of a segment and an angle); some axiomatic groups (incidence axioms, betweenness axioms, axioms about the measure of a segment, axioms about the measure of an angle, the axiom about two congruent triangles and the parallel axiom (the Euclidean axiom) (Pham Gia Duc, Nguyen Manh Cang, Bui Huy Ngoc & Vu Duong Thuy, 1998 b, pp. 124-126).

Geometric transformations are not regarded as "tools for proofs or solving a mathematical problem" and are not emphasized in the middle school curriculum and textbooks:⁴⁶ axial symmetry is introduced after the characteristics of a trapezoid (grade 8); central symmetry is introduced after the characteristics of a parallelogram (grade 8); rotation is introduced after the characteristics of a circle (grade 9); and translation is introduced in an extra, non-compulsory lesson (grade 8) (Pham Gia Duc et al., 1998 b, pp. 107-112).

3.1.2.1.3 2-D and 3-D geometry in the middle school curriculum

The middle school curriculum focuses on 2-D geometry. 3-D geometry is presented only in the last chapter in 'Geometry 9' textbook, which include four chapters (see some 'reformed' mathematics textbooks, for instance, Le Hai Chau et al., 1996; Nguyen Gia Coc & Pham Gia Duc, 1996; Nguyen Van Bang, 1997; Nguyen Ba Kim & Tran Kieu, 2002). In the middle school mathematics curriculum and textbooks, 2-D and 3-D geometry are regarded as two separate parts.

3.1.2.1.4 Geometry as a deductive system

In this period, deductive reasoning is strongly emphasized in the curriculum and textbooks. Most of the properties and theorems are deductively proven in the geometry

⁴⁶ Geometric transformations were also not regarded as tools for concepts' formation in the middle school curriculum and textbooks. However, 2- D geometry transformations, including axial and central symmetry, translation, homothetic transformation and similarity transformation were sufficiently presented in one chapter in *Geometry 10* (the first grade in high school) of the 'reformed' textbooks.

textbooks. Geometry textbooks look more like mathematics books than school textbooks. In other words, middle school geometry is regarded as a rigorous deductive geometry.

For instance, the intentions of the writers of the *Geometry 8* textbook (for 14-year-old students) are described in the teachers' book as follows:

• Every concept which is widely used in the textbook is defined from known definitions and should not be intuitively described.

• Every theorem must be proven from accepted characteristics and known theorems by using deductive proofs.

(cited in Hoang Chung, 1999, p. 16)

The requirements of deductive reasoning in the mathematics curriculum and textbooks are extremely rigorous for most of middle school students (Hoang Chung, 1999, pp. 15-17; MoET, 2002 a, p. 2).

3.1.2.1.5 Using information and communication technology (ICT) in teaching and learning geometry

The middle school geometry curriculum and textbooks do not discuss using ICT; moreover, they do not even refer frequently to the use of calculators in teaching and learning mathematics (see the 'reformed' textbooks, for example, Le Hai Chau et al., 1996; Nguyen Van Bang, 1997; see also Nguyen & Kulm, 2002, p. 221).⁴⁷

3.1.2.1.6 Geometry and real life

Generally, the 'reformed' geometry curriculum do not emphasize real life, and almost all geometry problems in the textbooks are pure mathematics problems (see the 'reformed' geometry textbooks, for instance, Nguyen Gia Coc & Pham Gia Duc, 1996; Nguyen Van Bang, 1997; see also Nguyen & Kulm, 2002, p. 221).

Following this paragraph, a grade-seven geometry lesson (for students at age of 13) from the 'reformed' textbook named *Geometry* 7 is presented in order to illustrate this section. In *Geometry* 7, the theorem about two congruent triangles (side-angle-side) is presented without proof. Based on this theorem, the two other theorems about two congruent triangles (side-side-side and angle-side-angle) are fully proved in this textbook. First, this lesson presents the theorem about two congruent triangles (side-

⁴⁷ Nguyen and Kulm mention the shortest of using technology in the Vietnamese middle school textbooks.

side-side) and its long and complicated proof, with three cases: the textbook proves the first case and then asks the student to prove the others. Second, this theorem is applied to solve a mathematics problem.⁴⁸ More examples are presented in appendix A.

§ 16 Two congruent triangles, case side-side (s. s. s.)⁴⁹

1. Theorem

If $\triangle ABC$ and $\triangle A'B'C'$ have AB = A'B', BC = B'C' and AC = A'C' then these triangles are congruent.

Proof

Draw $\Delta B'DC'$ on the half plane that does not contain vertex A', which has edge B'C' such that $m \angle C'B'D = m \angle B$, B'D = BA.⁵⁰ Clearly, $\Delta DB'C'$ and ΔABC are congruent (case s. a. s.). Consequently, DC' = CA.

Point B' is equidistant from two points A' and D (because $\overline{DB'}$ and $\overline{B'A'}$ are congruent to \overline{AB}); point C' is equidistant from two points A' and D (because $\overline{DC'}$ and $\overline{C'A'}$ are congruent to \overline{CA}), so $\overrightarrow{B'C'}$ is the perpendicular bisector of $\overline{A'D}$. I is the intersection point of $\overline{B'C'}$ and $\overline{A'D}$. We consider three following cases which depend on positions of point I.

a) Point *I* is situated between *B*' and *C*' (figure 3.1). Right $\Delta IB'A'$ and $\Delta IB'D$ are congruent (because they have two pairs of two congruent sides). Consequently, $m \angle DB'I = m \angle A'B'I$.

Because $m \angle DB'I = m \angle B$ (from the way in which $\triangle DB'C'$ is drawn), $m \angle A'B'I = m \angle B$.

Because $\triangle ABC$ and $\triangle A'B'C'$ have BA = B'A', BC = B'C' (given) and $m \angle B = m \angle B'$ (is just proved), $\triangle ABC$ and $\triangle A'B'C'$ are congruent.



Figure 3.1: Figure 74 in Mathematics 7

⁴⁸ This proof is not found in the current mathematics textbook.

⁴⁹ This lesson is translated from the 'reformed' textbook called *Geometry* 7.

⁵⁰ In Vietnam, ' $\angle CB' D = \angle B$ ' sign is used instead of ' $m \angle CB' D = m \angle B$ ' and ' $\angle CB' D \cong \angle B$ '.

b) Case in which point I is not situated between B' and C' (figure 3.2). Students prove it themselves.



Figure 3.2: Figure 75 a in *Mathematics* 7

c) Case in which point *I* coincides with *B*' or *C*' (figures 3.3 a & 3.3 b). Students prove it themselves.



Figure 3.3: Figure 75 b & c in Mathematics 7

2. Circle

A shape that includes points that are equidistant from a point O is called a circle with center O and radius r and is signed (O, r). In order to draw a circle, one uses a tool called a compass.



Figure 3.4: Figure 76 of Mathematics 7

Problem: Two circles with centers O and O' intersect each other at points A and B. Prove that $\Delta AOO'$ and $\Delta BOO'$ are equal.

Solution: $\triangle AOO'$ and $\triangle BOO'$ have a common side OO', OA = OB (radius of circle with center O), O'A = O'B (radius of circle with center O') (figure 3.4). Consequently, $\triangle AOO'$ and $\triangle BOO'$ are congruent.

(Nguyen Gia Coc & Pham Gia Duc, 1996, pp. 53-55)

3.1.2.2 Geometry in the current middle school curriculum and textbooks

3.1.2.2.1 An overview of changes in the middle school geometry curriculum

Recently, the middle school 'reformed' curriculum and textbooks were replaced by the new curriculum and textbooks with the following changes (MoET, 2002 a, p. 2; see also some geometry lessons of the current mathematics textbooks in appendix A):

• Geometry is not represented as an absolutely pure deductive science (geometry is not represented by the way that theorems and characteristics are built by absolute deductive proofs from a system of axioms).

• Proofs are significantly reduced, especially in grades 6 and 7.⁵¹ However, requirements of reasoning and proof are gradually increased from grade 7 to grade 9. Results with many applications are earlier presented.

• Spatial geometry *is not taught*, but students are taught to recognize some spatial objects so that some basic concepts of special geometry are maintained.

• Greater emphasis is placed on mathematics applications and on using a calculator in learning mathematics⁵².

(MoET, 2002 a, p. 2; see also some geometry lessons in appendix A)

As discussed in chapter one (section 1.4.1.2), the prominent characteristic of the new curriculum is that the requirement of deductive reasoning is noticeably reduced in the middle school curriculum and textbooks, especially in grades 6 and 7.

Other aspects the current geometry curriculum and textbooks (see sections 3.1.2.1.1, 3.1.2.1.2 & 3.1.2.1.3) are nearly unchanged in comparison with the 'reformed' geometry curriculum and textbooks (see the 'reformed' geometry textbooks; current geometry curriculum and textbooks).

3.1.2.2.2 Geometrical contents in the middle school curriculum

The main geometrical contents of the middle school curriculum are presented in the following table (MoET, 2002 a):

⁵¹ The same situation occurs with the Japanese geometry curriculum (Kunimune & Nagasaki, 1996). By contrast, the U.S mathematics educators tend to reconstitute the role of proof in their mathematics curriculum (Knuth, 2002, p. 62).

⁵² Details of the way mathematics applications are presented in the current textbooks will be discussed in section 3.2.2.3 of this chapter. Although the roles of using calculator are paid attention, the current textbooks do not mention the use of computer in teaching mathematics.

Textbooks	Chapters	Contents
<i>Mathematics 6</i> : p <i>art 1</i>	1. Segment	Point, line; three points in a straight line; a line is determined by two points; practice: plant trees in straight lines; ray; segment; measure of a segment; When does $AM + MB = AB$?; draw a segment with specific segment measure; midpoint of a segment.
<i>Mathematics 6:</i> part 2	2. Angle	Half of a plane; angle; measure of an angle; When does $m \angle xOy + m \angle yOz = m \angle xOz$?; draw an angle with specific angle measure; bisector of an angle; practice: draw angles; circle; triangle.
<i>Mathematics 7</i> : part 1	1. Perpendicular lines. Parallel lines	Vertical angles; two perpendicular lines; angles at a line cut two other lines; two parallel lines; Euclidean axiom about parallel lines; from perpendicular to parallel; theorem.
	2. Triangle	Sum of three angles of a triangle; two congruent triangles; 1 st case of two congruent triangles (side-side-side); 2 nd case of congruent triangles (side-angle-side); 3 rd case of congruent triangles (angle-side-angle); isosceles triangle; The Pythagorean theorem; Cases of two congruent right triangles.
<i>Mathematics 7:</i> part 2	3. Relation among factors of a triangle. Concurrent lines of a triangle	Relation between angles and their opposite sides in a triangle; relation among three sides of a triangle; characteristics of the three medians of a triangle; characteristics of the bisector of an angle; characteristics of the bisectors of a triangles; characteristics of the perpendicular bisector of a segment; characteristics of the three perpendicular bisectors of a triangle; characteristics of the three altitudes of a triangle.
<i>Mathematics 8:</i> part 1	1.Quadrilateral	Quadrilateral; trapezoid; construction with ruler and compass; axial symmetry; parallelogram; central symmetry; rectangle; a line parallel to a given line; rhombus; square.
	2. Polygonal. Area of a polygonal.	Polygonal; regular polygonal; area of a rectangle; area of a triangle; area of a trapezoid; area of a rhombus; area of a polygon.
<i>Mathematics 8:</i> part 2	3. Similar triangles	Thalet's theorem for a triangle; the converse theorem and consequences of Thalet's theorem; characteristics of bisectors of a triangle; concept of two similar triangles; the first case of two similar triangles; the second case of two similar triangles; the third case of two similar triangles; more cases of two similar triangles.
Mathematics 9:	1. Relations in	Some relations among sides and altitudes in a right triangle; trigonometric ratios of an acute angle; trigonometric table;

Table 3.1: The main geometrical contents in the current middle school curriculum

part 1	a right triangle	some relations among sides and angles in a right triangle; application of trigonometric ratios of an acute angle.
	2. Circle	Definition of a circle; symmetry characteristic of a circle; diameters and chords of a circle; relations among chords and distance from center to chords; relative positions of a line and a circle; tangents to a circle; the characteristics of two intersecting tangents; relative positions of two circles;
<i>Mathematics 9:</i> part 2	3. Angles at a circle	Angle with the vertex at a center of a circle; relations among chords and arcs; angle with the vertex in a circle; angles with a tangent and a chords as sides; angle with the vertex inside a circle; angle with the vertex outside a circle; a quadrilateral inscribed within a circle; a circle circumscribed by a quadrilateral; a circle inscribed with a circle; length of a circle; length of an arc.
	4. Cylinder, Cone and Sphere	Cylinder, area and volume of a cylinder; cone, area and volume of a cone; sphere, area and volume of a sphere

3.1.2.3 Insufficiency of conditions for a Vietnamese RME curriculum

This section explains why it is impossible and unreasonable to design a RME curriculum that could be applied in teaching and learning in Vietnamese school at present.

Fauzan (2002) conducts a study on applying RME in teaching Indonesian primary school geometry. In this study, he designed and implemented the Indonesian Realistic Mathematics Education (IRME) Curriculum of topic Area and Perimeter for grade 4. In the Netherlands, teachers, at least in elementary level, are quite flexible in their teaching. The Dutch elementary schools can choose the suitable textbooks, and they can even design a curriculum for themselves; moreover, teachers can also change the timetable without school headmasters' permission if it is necessary (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2000, p. 10).

In the United States, some states recommend textbooks to the schools, while in other states, the schools themselves can choose suitable textbooks (Stevenson, 1999, p. 114). In Germany, before use in school, the textbooks must be accepted by a state committee and are often selected by grade-level committees; however, a teacher who finds the textbooks not suitable can develop his or her own teaching material (Stevenson, 1999, p. 114). In Japan, teacher committees select textbooks from those

approved by the Ministry of Education, and the school administration or the individual teacher decides the timetable for and method of instruction (Stevenson, 1999, pp. 114).

The situation in Vietnam is quite different from the situation in these countries. There is a controversy surrounding the desire for multiple textbook series at the recent Vietnamese National Assembly meeting (Hoang Van Tu, Le Van Binh, Vu Anh Tuan, Vu Lan Anh & Phan Thanh Ha, 2005, pp. 27-28). Approvers appeal for different series so that teachers and students could choose the most suitable series for their conditions and instructional situation. There is much disapproval concerning low competence and underdeveloped methods of teachers and passive learning of students; the unevenness of teaching and learning among different schools; and difficulties in controlling the quality of education. Ultimately, the Vietnamese National Assembly struck down the proposal to use multiple series of textbooks.

According to Hoang Van Tu et al. (2005, pp. 77-78), "The Minister of Education and Training relies on the examinations of the National General Educational Curriculum and Textbook Examination Council to promulgate the general education curricula and ratify the textbooks for official unified stable use in teaching and learning at general educational establishments." According to this statement, in Vietnam, there is only one unified curriculum and one set of textbooks sanctioned for use in the classroom. Furthermore, school teachers often have to conform to the *curriculum distributions* which are set up by the local Education and Training Departments in a city or province (see, for example, Ho Chi Minh City's Education and Training Department, n.d.). These curriculum distributions set fixed timetables for mathematics lessons and tests and do not allow a teacher to modify the curriculum. In other words, mathematics lessons in each grade are taught the exact same way at every school throughout the country. If a teacher created his or her own mathematics curriculum, s/he would not be allowed to implement it in a Vietnamese school.

Moreover, both the 'reformed' and present mathematics curricula are quite different from the (Dutch) realistic curriculum (see, for instance, discussion about the Vietnam geometry curriculum and RME curriculum in section 3.2.2.3 of this chapter). Even though many in Vietnam advocate for the realistic curriculum, it would take much time to get it implemented in Vietnamese school.

For these reasons, this study does not discuss a design for a RME curriculum for Vietnamese school. However, it refers to what is called *RME-based lessons*. Bases for designing RME-based geometry lessons are discussed in section 3.2 of this chapter.

3.2 Foundations to design Vietnamese RME-based geometry lessons for grade 7

This section discusses how to design RME-based geometry lessons for grade 7. As discussed in section 3.1.2.2 of this chapter, deductive reasoning is first introduced in grade 7 of middle school.

This section discusses foundations for designing RME-based geometry lessons for grade 7 in Vietnamese middle school. In general, these principles can be also applied in designing other middle school geometry lessons. As discussed above (see chapter 3, section 3.1.2.3), because of the standardized national mathematics curriculum and textbook series, it is impossible to apply the entire realistic curriculum in teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnamese school. For this reason, this section first discusses the impact of the Vietnamese mathematics curriculum and textbooks on RME-based geometry lessons. It then considers studies on RME as an important base for creating RME-based geometry lessons. Aside from Freudenthal's ideas and the characteristics of RME discussed in chapter two, this part also delves into the details of the (Dutch) realistic geometric curriculum and analyzes geometry lessons in the current Vietnamese mathematics textbooks in the light of "didactical modeling", "emergent modeling" and "mathematical modeling". In addition, as discussed in chapter 1 (section 1.3.1.1), Vietnamese students' competence varies and often depends on their area of residence. To deal with such situation, in some RME-based lessons, different options are given so that teachers can choose the suitable ones for their students. To some extent, these selected situations can help teachers cope with the regimentation of teaching time. This part also briefly discusses making lessons specifically suitable for Vietnamese students. Next, the theory of Van Hiele's levels is discussed. Finally, this section explains why RME-based geometry lessons do not refer to the use of information and communication technology (ICT) although ICT, especially Dynamic Geometry Software (DGS), may enrich geometry instruction.

3.2.1 The Vietnamese mathematics curriculum, textbooks and curricular distributions As discussed in chapter 1 (see section 1.3.1.1) and this chapter (section 3.1.2.3), the mathematics curriculum, textbooks and curricular distributions are rigidly standardized across Vietnam. Unlike in some other countries, typically, Vietnamese teachers are not allowed to change the orders and contents of lessons. Furthermore, they are bound to obey the curricular distributions, designed by the local departments of education and training, when they teach a discipline in school (see, for example, Ho Chi Minh City's Education and Training Department). For this reason, RME-based geometry lessons must be designed to fit within the order and contents prescribed by the official textbooks and curricular distributions. Because RME-based lessons often require more time than the usual mathematics lessons in Vietnam, the requirements related to curricular distributions are not always satisfactorily met (see section 4.6.3.1 of chapter 4).

In the case of the Triangle-Angle Sum Theorem, for instance, RME-based lesson uses the context of decorative figures with isosceles triangles on an ancient Greek vase to help the students discover the theorem and its proofs. However, in the current mathematics curriculum and textbook for grade 7, students do not learn the concept of an isosceles triangle until later. For this reason, RME-based lesson is altered, showing students a vase with arbitrary triangles instead of one with isosceles triangles. Moreover, it may save time if the figure with arbitrary triangles is used instead of one with isosceles triangles (see the Triangle-Angle Sum Theorem in appendix C for more details).

3.2.2 Studies on RME

3.2.2.1 The basic ideas of Freudenthal and the characteristics of RME

The basic ideas of Freudenthal and the characteristics of RME, which are discussed in sections 2.2 and 2.4 of chapter 2, are important foundations for designing RME-based geometry lessons.

- The basic ideas of Freudenthal (see discussion in chapter 2, section 2.2):
 - Mathematics as a human activity
 - Didactical phenomenology
 - Guided reinvention
- The characteristics of RME (see discussion in chapter 2, section 2.4):
 - The use of contexts
 - The use of models
 - The students' own production and constructions

- The interactive principle
- Intertwining mathematics strands

Generally, the Vietnamese RME-based geometry lessons are designed based on the Freudenthal's basic ideas and the characteristics of RME. Intertwining strands of mathematics is one of the characteristics of RME (see chapter 2, section 2.4.5); however, RME-based geometry lessons sometimes cannot reach this requirement because, as discussed above (see chapter 3, section 3.2.1), these lessons must be compatible with the Vietnamese grade 7 mathematics curriculum, which is certainly not a realistic curriculum. Of course, when a wholly realistic mathematics curriculum can finally be realized, the characteristic of intertwined strands should be emphasized (see chapter 2, section 2.4.5).

3.2.2.2 The characteristics of the (Dutch) realistic geometry curriculum

This section briefly introduces the Dutch realistic geometry curriculum. According to Gravemeijer (1990, p. 79), this type of curriculum is quite different from a deductive Euclidean geometry curriculum, and realistic geometry should replace formal geometry or at least be considered as preparation for it.

To create a realistic geometry curriculum, "[...] Van Hiele levels can help to establish the macro-structure of a course [...]", and "micro-didactical structure [...] originates from Freudenthal's (1983) didactical phenomenology and the reinvention principle [...]" (Gravemeijer, 1990, p. 84). Freudenthal's didactical phenomenology principle lets an instructor know where an event appears so that s/he can design or create contextual geometry problems.

The following is considered as starting points for a realistic approach for children of ages 4 to 14:

- besides the study of number, mathematics also deals with the study of space;
- geometry instruction must start with and relate to real phenomena of the space that surrounds us;
- pupils of ages 4-12 are also entitled to geometry;
- the method for the introduction to geometry must have an intuitive character;
- formalisation will constitute the end point of a vertically planned curriculum.

(De Moor, 1991, p. 122)

There are various aspects of realistic geometry for children of ages 4 to 14, including "sighting and projecting, locating and orienting, spatial reasoning, transforming, drawing and constructing, measuring and calculating" (Treffers, de Moor & Feijscited cited in de Moor, 1991, p. 123).

Realistic geometry regards the realistic contexts and especially a variety of familiar phenomena in the real world (for example, the phenomena related to the lighting from the sun, the moon, a street-lamp and a light bulb and shadows of a people, trees, animals and posts; vision line; descriptions of routes, maps and graphs; constructions of blocks; overhead projectors and photocopiers and so forth) as sources for mathematics activities and as a starting point for instruction (De Moor, 1991, pp. 123-135; see also Gravemeijer, 1990, pp. 85-89; Goddijn, 1980, pp. 1-39).

Those who regard deductive geometry as the only legitimate geometry have reason to doubt the contextual problems of realistic geometry. More specifically, they question whether realistic context problems are mathematical and geometrical problems at all (Gravemeijer, 1990, p. 82). Gravemeijer (1990, pp. 82-84) convinces the doubters that realistic context problems are also mathematical and geometrical problems by using Freudenthal's idea of mathematics as a human activity and Van Hiele's theory of levels. Furthermore, borrowing the idea of mathematical literacy, Gravemeijer (1998, p. 48-49) confirms and explains that the aforementioned activities belonging to geometrical literacy. He tries to persuade the doubters, who often consider school geometry as a logic-deductive subject, of the necessary of the realistic context problems.

Phenomena, in a realistic curriculum, are often repeated at different levels, suitable for children of specific ages. De Moor offers several examples of using realistic contexts at different levels, related to sighting and projecting for different age groups of students (4-6, 6-10 and 10-14) (1991, pp. 123-124). In other words, the realistic geometric curriculum is spiral.

While trying to find answers to questions or to implement tasks, the children are gradually encouraged to reinvent informal geometry concepts and theorems. The realistic contexts help the children build their own informal geometric knowledge from their experiences and from what they obtained previously under the guidance of their teachers or the learning materials. (De Moor, 1991, pp. 123-135; Gravemeijer, 1990, pp. 85-89; Goddijn, 1980, pp.1-39)

Following Treffers, De Moor refers to and discusses bases for the justification of the study of geometry, including *applicability*, *preparatory value*, (*subject specific*) *value* and *personal value* (cited in de Moor, 1991, p. 136).

As discussed in chapter 2 (section 2.4.1.2), RME's viewpoint on teaching mathematics application is essentially different from the traditional viewpoint. In the traditional instruction, formal mathematics is taught, and applications of formal mathematics are afterwards introduced. Freudenthal often criticizes this by using the phase 'anti-didactical inversion'. By contrast, the realistic instruction takes the opposite direction. At the outset, realistic contexts are given to students. While working with these contexts, students can develop their own informal mathematical knowledge.

The value of realistic geometry as a preparatory tool is discussed at the beginning of this section (the idea of Gravemeijer about Dutch realistic geometric curriculum), as suitable starting points for instruction (Van Hiele's theory of levels). Realistic geometry can be considered a necessary, or at least useful, preparation for more formal geometry.

De Moor discusses the subject-specific value of geometry. He argues that geometry is one of the indispensable components in a mathematics curriculum because of its uses in exploring, aesthetically evaluating and conceptually modeling the spatial dimensions of the real world (De Moor, 1991, p. 137). In other words, geometry must play a role in any mathematics curriculum.

De Moor (1991, p. 137-138) emphasizes that geometry problems must have personal meaning to the student, i.e., a relevancy to his or her environment.

In conclusion, realistic geometry, based on Van Hiele' theory of levels as a macro-structure and Freudenthal's ideas of 'didactical phenomenology' and 'guided reinvention' as a micro-structure, is quite different from traditional Euclidean deductive geometry. It can perform a preparatory function for more formal geometry, or it can replace formal geometry. Phenomena in everyday situations are exploited to build realistic geometric contexts, which are the starting points and through which children can reinvent or rediscover informal geometrical knowledge. Following Freudenthal's idea of mathematics as an activity, mathematics includes not only definitions, theorems, regulations, etc. but also other components, which were discussed in previous parts of this section.

3.2.2.3 Differences between using manipulations and mathematics applications in the Vietnamese textbooks and realistic contexts in RME

As discussed in chapter 1 (section 1.4.1.2), in the present Vietnamese middle school mathematics textbooks, students often work with manipulations (drawing, measuring, folding, cutting and so forth) before formal geometry (definitions, theorems and regulations) is officially introduced. Furthermore, in comparison with the 'reformed' textbooks, the current textbooks include a significantly increased number of applications. In this section, the contexts of these manipulations in the Vietnamese mathematics textbooks are compared with realistic context in RME by using Gravemeijer's ideas of "didactical modeling", "mathematical modeling" and "emergent modeling" (see chapter 2, section 2.4.2.3). Gravemeijer (2004, pp. 97-100) argues that each of these types of modeling plays its role in mathematics education, and that "emergent modeling" (specific modeling in RME approach) should be the "precursor to mathematical modeling".

3.2.2.3.1 Didactical model and emergent model

In the present textbooks, before a theorem is officially presented, the students are often asked to do some activity such as drawing, measuring, cutting, folding and so forth, under the guidance of the textbooks. In other words, "didactical modeling" is utilized to concretize formal mathematics. Although studies of mathematics education confirm the use of "didactical modeling", they also note disadvantages to the practice (Gravemeijer, 2004; see also chapter 2, section 2.4.2). Detailed disadvantages are discussed in specific RME-based geometric lessons (see appendix C). On the one hand, the way in which the theorems are presented seems to be suitable for majority of the middle school students. On the other hand, as discussed in chapter 1 (see section 1.3.1.1), the use of a single, official textbook in every school in Vietnam cannot possibly cater to the competence of all students, especially since, as previously noted, the achievement of Vietnamese students often varies considerably from one area to another.

In the rest of this section, one example taken from the current mathematics textbook will illustrate how "didactical modeling" is used. More examples are found in appendix A.

Figure 3.5 represents how the concept of trapezoid is presented in the current textbook (Phan Duc Chinh et al., 2004 c, p. 69):

§ 2. Trapezoid

Do two sides AB and CD of the quadrilateral in figure 13 have any special characteristics?⁵³

1. Definition

The quadrilateral in figure 13, in which *AB*//*CD*, is a trapezoid.

This approach, typical of the current mathematics textbooks, is an example of "didactical modeling".



Figure 3.5: The presentation of the concept of a trapezoid in Mathematics 8

3.2.2.3.2 "Mathematical modeling" and "emergent modeling"

Although the number of mathematical applications has increased significantly in the Vietnamese middle school mathematics textbooks, the way in which the applications are presented in these textbooks is quite primitive (see Vietnamese middle school mathematics textbooks, for example Phan Duc Chinh et al., 2004 a, b & c). In other words, formal mathematics is taught first⁵⁴, and then formal mathematics is used to solve application-problems. Freudenthal and other RME researchers strongly oppose this way (see the details in chapter 2, sections 2.2.1.2 & 2.4.1.2). Freudenthal calls it "anti-didactical inversion" (1983, p. ix). It conforms to the concept of "mathematical modeling".

By contrast, realistic instruction assumes the opposite direction, as discussed in chapter two (see section 2.4.1 for details). That is, context problems are given to students first. Working with these contexts, students then gradually build up from informal to formal knowledge. This RME viewpoint on realistic contexts conforms to

⁵³ Besides the answer of the textbooks, teacher might expect other possible answers of students to the question:

[•] They are not equal;

[•] *CD* is two times longer than *AB*;

[•] They do not have any common vertex, or they are two opposite sides of quadrangle ABCD.

 $^{^{54}}$ As discussed in section 3. 2. 2. 3. 1, the present textbooks often use "didactical modeling" at the beginning of the lesson.

emergent modeling. Gravemeijer (2004, p. 97) has urges "emergent modeling as a precursor to mathematical modeling" in one of his research papers.

A copy of one exercise in *Mathematics 7: part 2* is presented in figure 3.6. After learning formal knowledge (the theorem about characteristics of the three perpendicular bisectors of a triangles and its formal proof), students are offered the exercise: "Three families decide to dig and build one common well. What position of the well should be selected such that the distances from the well to the families are equal?" (Phan Duc Chinh et al., 2004 b, p. 80). In this situation, students are expected to apply the formal mathematics theorem to solve this problem.



Figure 3.6: One mathematics application in Mathematics 7: part 2

3.2.2.4 Selected situations in RME-based geometry lessons

As discussed in chapter 1 (section 1.3.1.1), Vietnamese students' competence often depends on where they reside. Generally, students' achievement increases as one moves from the mountains and islands into rural areas and from there into urban areas. RME-based geometry lessons offer different situations so that middle school mathematics teachers can choose the suitable ones for their students and their teaching. If their students are highly competent, they can choose difficult situations. Otherwise, they can select situations with more or less guidance to help the students along.

Because of certain factors, contexts that are experientially real to students (Gravemeijer & Doorman, 1999, p. 111) in one country may not be experientially real to students in another country. For example, the bus (and bus-stop) context, which can function as emergent modeling to help students build "model of" and "model for" and

understand "number sentences" (Streefland, cited in Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2000, p. 6; Van den Brink, 1990, pp. 77-91; Van den Brink, cited in Gravemeijer, 1994, pp. 28-29 & 37-38), belongs to everyday life situations in the Netherlands and other developed countries. In other words, this context is "experientially real to the student" (Gravemeijer & Doorman, 1999, p. 111) or "real in the student's mind" (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 2000, p. 4). However, it might be unfamiliar to Vietnamese (primary) students, because at present there are only bus systems in certain busy provinces or cities in Vietnam. In other words, this context would be not experientially real to many Vietnamese students.

Contexts or situations in RME-based geometry lessons are selected such that they are, at least, familiar to the majority of Vietnamese students. In other words, they should be experientially real to most of the Vietnamese students.

3.2.3 Van Hiele's levels of geometric thinking and phases of instruction

3.2.3.1 Van Hiele's levels of geometric thinking and phases of instruction

This section briefly discusses Van Hiele's levels of geometric thinking.

Van Hiele's levels originally included five levels, but later on Van Hiele's theory is sometimes also discussed as having three levels (Clements & Battista, 1992, p. 427). For instance, Clements and Battista (1992, pp. 427-428), Fuys, Geddes and Tischler (1988, p. 5), Pegg and Davey (1998, p. 111) and Clements (2003, pp. 152-155) refer to Van Hiele's five-level-theory, while Gravemeijer (1990, pp. 83-84; 1998, pp. 54-55) and Costello (1991, pp. 52-53) mention Van Hiele's three-level-theory.

Five Van Hiele's levels:

Level 0: The student identifies, names, compares and operates on geometric figures (e.g., triangles, angles, intersecting or parallel lines) according to their appearance. Level 1: The student analyzes figures in terms of their components and relationships among components and discovers properties/rules of a class of shapes empirically (e.g., by folding, measuring, using a grid or diagram).

Level 2: The student logically interrelates previously discovered properties/ rules by giving or following informal arguments.

Level 3: The student proves theorems deductively and establishes interrelationships among networks of theorems.

Level 4: The student establishes theorems in different postulational systems and analyzes/ compares these systems.

(Fuys, Geddes & Tischler, 1988, p. 5)

3.2.3.2 The characteristic of Van Hiele's theory of levels

Van Hiele's theory of levels has the following characteristics (cited in Clements & Battista, 1992, pp. 426-427; Fuys, Geddes & Tischler, 1988, pp. 5-8):

- Discontinuity of learning process;
- Sequencing and hierarchy of the levels;
- Relativity of the levels about implicitness and explicitness;
- Linguistics phase of each level;
- The level of instruction conforms to the level of students' understanding;
- Role of instruction in moving from one to the next level;
- Variety of phases in moving from one to the next level.

3.2.4 Using information and communication technology (ICT) in teaching and learning geometry

Recently, studies on using information and communication technology (ICT) in mathematics instruction have flourished around the world. Dynamic Geometry (DG) computer software such as Cabri Geometry, Geometer's Sketchpad, Euclide, Geonext and so forth are given special attention in teaching and learning geometry (see, for instance, King & Schattschneider, 1997; Nguyen Ba Kim, Dao Thai Lai & Trinh Thanh Hai, 2005; Hoyles, 2005; Laborde, 2005). Although it is unquestionable that DG has potential for enriching the teaching of geometry in school, RME-based geometry lessons do not consider applications of Dynamic Geometry because of insufficient resources in Vietnam. The current Vietnamese textbooks do not discuss using computer software in mathematics instruction. When comparing Vietnamese and the U.S. mathematics textbooks, Nguyen and Kulm (2002) find that Vietnamese textbooks concentrate on logical deductive reasoning and hardly ever refer to using computer software to help students learn mathematics, while the U.S. textbooks, on the other hand, pay special attention to utilizing computer resources but do not focus on logical deductive reasoning.

More recently, there has been a rapid increase of studies on the application of ICT to the teaching of mathematics in Vietnam. Building and using 'giáo án điện tử'

('electronic lesson plans'), which are Power Point or Flash files containing lesson content, has become one of the prominent movements in mathematics instruction in Vietnam. However, a number of related questions which have arisen should be answered. In general, Vietnamese teachers have insufficient ICT knowledge.⁵⁵ In some schools, teachers who have just learned how to use Power Point or Flash and how to build and use 'electronic lesson plans'. In some cases, 'electronic lesson plans' only function as 'blackboards' with sound and pictures. In addition, although Vietnamese schools have been gradually improving teaching equipment (computers, overhead projectors, beamers, etc.), there are still questions relating to the quantity, quality and appropriateness of these resources (see section 5.2.4.2 of chapter 5).

3.3 The Triangle Sum Theorem (Triangle-Angle Sum Theorem) as an example

This section describes how the 'Triangle Sum Theorem' lesson is created based on RME. Details of this RME-based lesson as well as other RME-based lessons are presented in appendix C.

3.3.1 The 'triangle sum theorem' lesson in the present textbooks

3.3.1.1 Advantages

In comparison with the 'reformed' textbooks (see appendix A), the theorem is presented in the present one (see appendix A) with the following improvements:

• The students have the chance to draw two triangles, measure the three angles of each triangle, calculate the sum of the angle measures for each triangle and comment on the results. In this situation, the students are encouraged to remember and use knowledge (the concepts of triangle, triangle' angles, angle measure and sum) and skills (drawing, measuring and calculating). This knowledge and skill set belongs not only to geometry but also to algebra. Moreover, the students learn to understand the instructions of the textbook and do procedures following these instructions.

• Furthermore, the students have opportunities to manipulate a model triangle cut out of a board. This model functions as a didactical model (see chapter two, sections 2.4.2.2 & 2.4.2.3). In this situation, apart from the above-mentioned knowledge and skills, the

⁵⁵ In Vietnam, even some part of professors and associate professors do not have a habit of using IT. According to Do Tran Cat (cited in Kieu Oanh, 2005), about 30.3% of professors and 28.5% of associated professors do not use computers, and around 41.7% of professors and 53,3 associate professors use the internet. Le Hoang Mai (cited in Duc Hanh, 2005) shows the poor use of IT in teaching in primary schools in Hanoi: only 4 among 273 schools use IT in inteaching, and only 46 among 7172 teachers know how to use Winword and some educational software.

students must know and utilize other knowledge and skills such as the concept of adjacent angle, cutting, putting and predicting. Similar to the first activity, the students must understand the instructions and follow them. This time the instruction consists of not only the words but also the mathematical signs, including triangles, angles and measures of angles and the figures, including triangles and lines.

• The proof in the former textbook is quite long and complicated for the majority of grade-seven students. It requires a great deal knowledge of the concepts of segment, midpoint, ray, angle and triangle congruence, line parallel, opposite ray, alternate interior angle and ray between two rays. By contrast, the proof in the present textbook is shorter and simpler. The latter proof does not need the midpoint, ray, triangle congruence, opposite ray and ray between two rays. Moreover, before working with formal proof in the present textbook, the students work with its didactical model so that it is easier for them to understand the theorem and its proof.

3.3.1.2 Disadvantages

Despite the aforementioned advantages, there are also disadvantages to the present textbook. The following section analyzes and discusses these disadvantages:

• In *step ? 1*, the students may wonder why they should draw a triangle, measure its angles, and then calculate the sum of the angles' measures. Besides, some argue that the question may puzzle the pupils because it might be difficult for them to express any observations after simply drawing two triangles and calculating their angle measures' sums.

• In *step* ? 2, the students have to do some manipulations simply because their teacher or the textbook told them to do. In other words, they have to work by command.

• In the process of proving the theorem, the students usually observe their teacher's activities and try to understand the proof. The teacher often tries to help the pupils understand the proof by asking them some straightforward questions, for instance, "Why are $\angle ABC$ and $\angle A_1$ congruent?" and "Please give the reason why the sum of $m \angle BAC$, $m \angle A_1$ and $m \angle A_2$ is 180⁰?" or by telling them to do some activities: "Please compare m $\angle ABC$ and $m \angle A_1$ ", "Similarly, please compare a pair of $m \angle ACB$ and $m \angle A_2$ " and "From (1) and (2), please calculate the sum of $m \angle BAC$, $m \angle ABC$ and $m \angle ACB$ " or "Please prove that the sum of $m \angle BAC$, $m \angle ABC$ and $m \angle ACB$ " or "Please prove that the sum of $m \angle BAC$, $m \angle ABC$ and $m \angle ACB$ is equal to the sum of $m \angle BAC$, $m \angle A_1$ and $m \angle A_2$ ". In some circumstances these or similar types of suggestions and instructions are more or less necessary.

However, some argue that if the students do not have the chance truly to take charge of the proving process, they do not totally understand or will quickly forget the theorem and its proof- hence one Chinese proverb:

Ich höre, und ich vergesse Ich sehe, und ich erinnere mich Ich tue, und ich verstehe

(Vollath, 1995, p. 18)

At first glance, the students seem to become active when they are instructed to follow the steps in *Mathematics 7: part 1* (they draw triangles, measure their angles and calculate the sum of the angles of each triangle in ? 1 or cut a triangle from a board, cut out $\angle ABC$ and put it as required, then do similarly with $\angle ACB$ in ? 2). But, actually, this lesson *constrains* them to do these manipulative activities, and all students with *different mathematical competence* have to *follow the completely fixed way* which was designed by the authors of the textbook. In other words, in this situation the student is, to some extent, reduced to the role of the actor, who must play his or her role within the confines of a prescribed script and follow the orders of a director. Similarly, the students have no choice but to follow completely the scenario in the textbook. A similar description is also fully discussed by Jahnke (2001, p. 5) when he analyzes a conversation between teachers and students in a 'normal' mathematics lesson ("Normaler" Mathematikunterricht)

3.3.2 RME-based lesson

It is not easy to help students discover for themselves that the angle sum in a triangle is 180° . This section briefly describes the situations in RME-based lessons.

The *first situation* helps students revise some related knowledge (triangle, angles of a triangle, angle measure, etc.)

In *situation 2*, the students are encouraged to discover that there is a relation among the angle measure of a triangle. The students work in pairs. One student randomly writes down three sets of three angle measures, and the second student tries to draw (three times) a triangle with the three given angle measures. After that, they change their position (see worksheet forms for the students in appendix D). From this situation, the students are aware of the fact that in some cases they can draw a triangle with three given angle measures, and in some other cases they cannot. In the *third situation*, the students are offered a game for two players. The rule of the game is described sufficiently in the lesson (see appendix C). This situation encourages the students to use different knowledge and strategies and to reinvent the characteristics of the three angle measures in a triangle.

In *situation 4*, the students are first introduced to the figure in the ancient Greek vase and informed that the ancient Greeks used this figure to prove the relationship of the measures of the angles within a triangle. According to some books about the history of mathematics, the ancient Greeks used isosceles triangles to prove the theorem for the sum of the three angle measures in an isosceles triangle. However, in the present mathematics textbook, the concept of an isosceles triangle is not presented until later. For this reason, in RME-based lesson, instead of isosceles triangle, normal triangles are used in the model.

Then the students are asked to find the characteristic and prove it. The *situation* encourages the students to reinvent two different proofs of the theorem. In this *situation*, the students work in groups because the *situation* is more complicated than the two previous ones.

In the *fifth situation* (formal situation), the students are asked to prove the theorem. They are also asked to work in groups. *Situation 4* helps them find the proofs for *situation 5*.

Chapter 4 Analyzing feedback from experiment lessons

4.1 Introduction to feedback analysis

The purpose of this chapter is to analyze how RME-based geometry lessons, whose foundations are discussed in chapter 3, worked in teaching and learning middle school mathematics. The details of RME-based geometry lessons are presented in appendix C. The sources for the feedback analysis are the reports of the teachers, who used these lessons for their teaching and the worksheets of their students. Because the teachers believed that certain parts, especially the teaching time allowance, did not satisfy the requirements and conditions of teaching and learning in Vietnamese school, not all of RME-based geometry lessons were used (see section 3.2.1 of chapter 3; table 4.1 in this section). More specifically, lessons in Vietnamese mathematics textbooks often contain formal definitions and theorems with a specific timetable for each lesson determined by the local department of education and training. It should be noted that the unique nationwide series of curricula and textbooks is always considered as the official materials for teaching and learning in Vietnamese school (see sections 3.1.2.3 and 3.2.1 of chapter 3). In addition, informal mathematics is not usually accepted in teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam (see the current Vietnamese mathematics curriculum and textbooks). On the contrary, the (Dutch) RME geometry curriculum often emphasizes ways to help students gradually amass informal knowledge. This curriculum, at least for primary and early grades of middle school, does not focus on formal knowledge such as mathematics definitions and theorems. Moreover, mathematics teachers in the Netherlands are quite flexible in their teaching (see section 1.3.1.1 of chapter 1).

Specifically, the detailed tasks of the feedback analysis are designed to answer the following questions:

• What difficulties did the teachers and their students encounter while teaching and learning with RME-based lessons?

• How could RME-based geometry lessons enrich teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnamese middle school?

• How did the teachers and their students respond to RME-based lessons?

• How should these RME-based lessons be adjusted so that they are more suitable for teaching and learning geometry in Vietnamese middle school?

Some RME-based geometry lessons were taught in the two-semester schoolyear 2005-2006 in classes 7A and 7B of Nguyen Luong Bang middle school (Thanh Mien district), a school in rural area of Hai Duong province and a national standard school.⁵⁶ Most of these lessons were taught in the second semester of the school-year (see table 4.1).

Nr	Semester	Teaching	Class	Lesson
57.		time		
1	First Semester	31.10.2005	7 A	The Triangle Sum Theory
2	Second Semester	Not used ⁵⁸		Perpendicular line and slant line
3	Second Semester	Not used		The Triangle Inequality
4	Second Semester	15.4.2006	7 B	Characteristics of the bisector of an angle
5	Second Semester	Not used		Characteristics of the bisectors of a triangle
6	Second Semester	19.4.2006	7 A	Characteristics of the perpendicular bisector of a segment
7	Second Semester	26.4.2006	7 B	The 'train station' problem
8	Second Semester	Not used		Characteristics of the three perpendicular bisectors of a triangle

Table 4.1: The timetable for RME-based geometry lessons

There were 37 students in class 7 A and 38 students in class 7 B. Ms. Do Lan Huong, a new teacher, taught the lesson 'The Triangle Sum Theorem', and Mr. Le Xuan Mui, who has been worked as a mathematics teacher for six years, taught the others (Characteristics of the perpendicular bisector of a segment, Characteristics of the bisector of an angle and the 'train station' problem).⁵⁹ The teachers did not have to

⁵⁶ A national standard (middle) school is a school which reached national standards stipulated by the Ministry of Education and Training (MoET). For example, national standards for a primary school are found in MoET (c, n.d.).

⁵⁷ These lessons are sorted on their orders in the current textbooks

⁵⁸ This lesson was not used by the teachers because of its time requirement.

⁵⁹ Ms. Huong graduated from Hai Duong College of Education, and Mr. Mui graduated from Hanoi University of Education with a Bachelor degree in Mathematics and obtained a Master degree in Education after an in-service training course.

follow *situations* in RME-based lessons strictly. Rather, they could alter the situations so that these lessons were more suitable for their teaching and learning conditions.

4.2 The sum of the measures of the interior angles in a triangle (lesson 1)

4.2.1 Introduction

Firstly, this section presents an overview of the *situations* in RME-based geometry lesson (see the detailed lesson in appendix C). It then briefly describes teaching and learning process in which the teacher and their students were working with RME-based lesson.

This RME-based lesson includes 5 *situations* whose purposes are described as follows:

• The purpose of the *first situation* is to help students revise some knowledge relating to the theorem: a triangle, the angles in a triangle, the measure of an angle and how to measure the angles of a triangle;

• The aim of the *second situation* is to help students realize that it is impossible to draw a triangle with three given arbitrary measures of angles;

• *Situation 3* aims at helping students discover that there is a relation between the three measures of angles in an arbitrary triangle;

• *Situation 4* is created to give students chance to reinvent the content of the theorem (the sum of the measures of the interior angles of a triangle) and its proofs;

• The purpose of *situation* 5 is to help student create formal proofs for the theorem.

As discussed in chapter 3 (section 3.2.2.4), in some cases, RME-based geometry lessons offer selected *situations* so that teachers can choose the most suitable *situations* for their teaching conditions such as the allowance teaching length of time and students' competence. This RME-based lesson also gives the teachers different choices of *situations*.

Typically, a Vietnamese school teacher writes down a lesson title at the beginning of a lesson, while the teacher who used RME-based geometry lesson did not. First of all, the teacher, Mrs. Huong gave her students worksheets in which the students' tasks were explicitly stated and asked the students to work in pairs (*situation* 1, see the worksheet form in appendix D). After having completed the first worksheets, the students were given the second worksheets. Again, the students were instructed to work in pairs (*situation* 2, see the worksheet form in appendix D).

Each student worked twice with the same worksheet in different roles (one as the first student and the other as the second student) and with different partners (see forms of two worksheets in appendix D). Because there were 36 students in the class, the teacher received 36 worksheets with students' answers for the *first situation* and 36 worksheets for the *second situation*.

The teaching time pressure (see section 3.2.1 of chapter 3) did not leave the teacher sufficient time for *situation 3*. Instead, she proceeded to give her students *situation 4*. Some students were puzzled by the task of *situation 4* because they were unfamiliar with this situation. Normally, they would work with only concrete questions. Some students seemed to misunderstand *situation 4* and did not know how to deal with its instructions. Although the teacher had recognized her students' struggles, she did not have enough time to explain the detailed requirement of *situation 4* to them and let them work again with this *situation*. Therefore, she had to move to *situation 5*. The following sections analyze the feedback from the teacher and her students, who were working with RME-based lesson.

4.2.2 Analyzing the students' worksheets of situation 1

In the first worksheet, the first student was asked to draw three arbitrary triangles, and the second one was asked to measure the angles of each triangle and write down the results of her/his measures (see the form of the first worksheet in appendix D). They, however, were not asked to calculate the sum of the angles in each triangle⁶⁰.

Although the task in the *first situation* was not difficult for the students, there were 13 worksheets which contained at least one incorrect measure. Some worksheets showed a paradox: *in spite of incorrectness of the angle measures in a triangle, the sum of these measures was* 180° .

It is believed that the sums of the three triangle's angles which the students had measured were *around* 180° . However, it was surprising that nearly all of the students had the result of 180° . *Did the student measure the angles so precisely?*

In 13 of 36 worksheets, the students did not measure angles precisely in at least one of three cases:

• Some students did not measure precisely, or if they measured precisely, they wrote down the wrong names of the angles (there are 5 cases).

⁶⁰ 'Sum of angles', which also means 'sum of measures of angles', is sometimes used in this chapter.

• One student wrote down 57^{0} , 60^{0} and 117^{0} after measuring the three angles of one drawn *acute* triangle and 90^{0} , 115^{0} and 65^{0} after measuring the three angles of one drawn *right* triangle (see first and second cases in figure 4.1). Another student had the results of 101^{0} , 66^{0} and 35^{0} from a drawn *obtuse* triangle. (There are 4 cases)

• It is surprising that: although some students did not measure the angles properly, the sum of their three angles was 180° . For example, in the second case of the worksheet, V.V. Tu drew one obtuse ΔEGH ($\angle G$ is the obtuse angle); nevertheless, his partner N.T.N. Anh measured the three angles of this triangle and wrote down $m \angle E = 30^{\circ}$, $m \angle G = 61^{\circ}$ and $m \angle H = 89^{\circ}$ (see figure 4.2). Even though she did not measure these angles properly, the sum of the three N.T.N. Anh's angles was $180^{\circ}(30^{\circ} + 61^{\circ} + 89^{\circ})$. Similarly, H.T.H. Tam had the result: $m \angle GHI = 55^{\circ}$, $m \angle GIH = 39^{\circ}$ and $m \angle IGH =$ 86° after measuring the angles of an obtuse triangle which had been drawn by his partner V.V. Dong in the third case of their worksheet (see figure 4.3). Interestingly, the sum of these angle measures was also 180° . The same paradox was also found in the first and second case in the worksheet of D. T. Huong and P. T. Lanh (see figure 4.4). Their second case was similar to the mentioned cases of the pairs V.V. Tu-N.T.N. Anh and H.T.H. Tam-V.V. Dong. In the first case, D.T. Huong had drawn one acute triangle, however her partner-P.T. Lanh found that $m \angle A = 50^{\circ}$, $m \angle B = 110^{\circ}$ and $m \angle C = 20^{\circ}$ after measuring the thee angles of this acute triangle. Remarkably, the sum of the angle measures was also 180° . (There are 4 cases in total)



Figure 4.1: The worksheets of P.T. Lanh and T. T. Bich $(L.1, S.1)^{61}$

From this paradox, the second question is posed: *Had the students known the content of the lesson before the lesson started*?



Figure 4.2: The worksheet of V.V. Tu and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.1)



Figure 4.3: The third case of V.V. Dong and H.T.H. Tam (L.1, S.1)

 $^{^{\}rm 61}$ L.1, S.1 is an abbreviation of lesson 1, situation 1.

Học sinh : Doan Chy. Huisng	Hoc sinh : Phan The Lanh
Vẽ hình tam giác tuỷ ý	Đo số góc trong của các hình tam giác
s c	$\hat{A} = 50^{\circ}.$ $\hat{B} = 140^{\circ}.$ $\hat{C} = 20^{\circ}.$
E G	$\widehat{D} = 50^{\circ}$ $\widehat{E} = 80^{\circ}$ $\widehat{G} = 50^{\circ}$

Figure 4.4: The first two cases of D.T. Huong and P.T. Lanh (L.1, S.1)

4.2.3 Analyzing the students' worksheets of situation 2

In the second worksheet, the first student was asked to write down three arbitrary measures of three angles, and the second one was asked to draw one triangle with these measures if it was possible. Again, they were asked to do this task three times.

• In 7 worksheets, the students reasoned that it was impossible to draw a triangle because the sum of the three given measures of angles was not (greater or smaller than) 180° . For example, L.T. Ngoc gave three measures 80° , 70° and 40° ; her partner-N.T.N. Anh calculated the sum of these three measures (190°), and she reasoned that "It is impossible to draw [a triangle] because the sum of the three angle measures of a triangle equals 180° ." (figure 4.5). It implies that these students had known the content of the theorem already, and they also could reason that if three angle measures whose sum was not 180° could not be the three measures of the angles of a triangle.

$G = 80^{\circ}$	$\hat{G} + \hat{H} + \hat{I} = 80^{\circ} + 70^{\circ} + 90^{\circ} = 190^{\circ}$ =) Không về được vĩ số cho 3 goá cuả
H = 70° I = 40°	$1 \ \ D = 180^{\circ}.$

Figure 4.5: The third case of L.T. Ngoc and N.T.N. Anh (L.1, S.2)

• In 5 worksheets, the first students gave three cases, and in each case the sum of the given angle measures was 180° although they were asked to given three arbitrary angle measures. It appears that these students had also known the theorem already. For instance, N.T. Huong gave $m \angle A = 60^{\circ}$, $m \angle B = 63^{\circ}$ and $m \angle C = 57^{\circ}$ for the first case; $m \angle M = 54^{\circ}$, $m \angle N = 90^{\circ}$ and $m \angle G = 36^{\circ}$ for the second case; and $m \angle F =$

140[°], $m \angle K = 25^{\circ}$ and $m \angle H = 15^{\circ}$ for the third case (figure 4.6). In each of her given cases, the sum of the three angle measures was 180[°].

Hoc sinh :	Hoc sinh : Nguyen thi tuli
Cho số đo các góc trong của tam giác tuỷ ý	Ve cac tam glac theo so do o ben
$ \begin{array}{rcl} \widehat{A} &= & 60^{\circ} \\ \widehat{B} &= & 63^{\circ} \\ \widehat{C} &= & 57^{\circ} \end{array} $	b c
$\widehat{M} = 54^{\circ}$ $\widehat{N} = 90^{\circ}$ $\widehat{G} = 36^{\circ}$	R G
$\widehat{F} = 140^{\circ}$ $\widehat{K} = 25^{\circ}$ $\widehat{H} = 15^{\circ}$	H

Figure 4.6: The worksheet of N.T. Huong and N.T. Huyen (L.1, S.2)

• In 5 worksheets, the students attempted to draw a triangle with the three angle measures whose sum was not 180° . For instance, V.V. Dong gave three angle measures 10° , 25° and 115° . After failing to draw one triangle with these measures, his partner, P.T. Thanh concluded that "it is impossible to draw [a triangle with these measures of angles]" (figure 4.7).



Figure 4.7: The second case of V.V. Dong and P.T. Thanh (L.1, S.2)

• In the other 15 worksheets, the students responded with answers, such as "it is impossible to draw" or "it is impossible to draw a triangle" without any additional explanation why they could not draw any triangle when the sum of the three measures of angles was not 180° . For example, in the third case of the worksheet, V.M. Hai wrote down three angle measures 79° , 81° and 69° , and the partner, N.H. Duong only

answered "it is impossible to draw [a triangle]" without further explanation. There are two possibilities. The first one was that N.H. Duong reached the conclusion after he did not succeed in drawing one triangle with these measures of angles in extra-pieces of paper. The second possibility was that he had known the sum of the angle measures is 180⁰, and he had the conclusion after calculating the sum of the given angle measures (figure 4.8).

$\hat{H} = 79^{\circ}$	khôy cể chuốc .
$\widehat{M} = 69^{\circ}$	

Figure 4.8: The third case of V. M. Hai and N. H. Duong (L.1, S.2)

From these situations, it can be deduced that some students had known the theorem before the teacher taught them. Maybe they had read the textbook, or they had learned the theorem before in an extra-lesson.

As discussed above, the students' work with *situations 1* and 2 revealed that some students had known that the sum of the three angle measures in an arbitrary triangle is 180° . While observing the students' working, the teacher recognized this. Furthermore, she was pressured by the limited teaching time while using RME-based geometry lesson. Because some students already knew the content of the theorem, and the teacher was stifled by the teaching time pressure, she did not use the *third situation* which was designed to help students reinvent that there is a relation between the three angles' measures in an arbitrary triangle. After the *first* and *second situations*, the teacher offered her students the *fourth situation*. It appeared that the students did not adapt to the similar situations. For this reason, some students did not fully comprehend the *situation* to them. She had to continue with the *fifth situation* in which she and her students were working with formal knowledge.

4.2.4 Teacher's comments

According to the teacher's report, some characteristics emerged during the RME-based lesson:

• With the students' working in pairs or in groups, the classroom was noisier than usual. The louder noise level could disturb neighboring classes. Moreover, a few
students did not work actively because they assumed the tasks were intended exclusively for high-performing students. Instead of focusing on the assignment, these students used the time for their own private work.

• RME-based lesson required more time than conventional lesson in the present textbooks. For this reason, in the lesson of the sum of the three angles in a triangle, the teacher could use *situations 1, 2, 4* and *5*. In addition, she could not thoroughly discuss *situation 4* with her students. She argued that a teacher can effectively use this RME-based lesson if s/he is not constrained by the pressure of limited teaching time and overwhelmed by the content amount.

• The students worked independently and actively with RME-based lesson. Despite significant education reforms, the students still have to follow strict instruction in the mathematics textbooks⁶². In contrast, while working with RME-based lesson, the students could naturally acquire knowledge.

• The teacher expended more energy and effort than usual because she had to maintain order, organizing and directing the students' activity. Moreover, she had to understand the philosophy of RME and the purposes of the *situations* in RME-based lesson. Nonetheless, while teaching RME-based lesson, the teacher did not have to lecture because the students were more independent and demonstrated the initiative to find and acquire the knowledge.

4.2.5 Findings

In general, the students became more active while working with RME-based lesson. They did not follow the extremely strict guidelines prescribed by the textbooks. The teacher confirmed that the *situations* of RME-based lesson motivated her students.

As discussed in chapter 3 (section 3.2.1), Vietnamese school teachers must adhere to the curricular distribution created by a local department of education and training in a province or city. This regulation seemed to challenge the teacher while she was working with RME-based lesson. As explained above (sections 4.2.1 & 4.2.4, this chapter), she could not introduce *situation 3* and explain *situation 4* to her students because of the teaching time pressure. The teacher urged that she could apply RMEbased lesson if she was not limited by the teaching time pressure.

⁶² This is caused by the contradiction between the great quantity of knowledge and the limited length of teaching time (see discussion in section 1.2 of chapter 1).

The students learned actively with RME-based lesson. However, the teacher also 'complained' that she had to work harder than usual. First, she had to learn to understand RME approach and RME-based lesson. Second, she had to change her teaching habits. In addition, it was quite difficult for her to deal with the teaching time pressure. She should identify the reason why her students did not understand the task in *situation 4* and help them deal with it. In fact, she did not explain the task to them and turned to *situation 5*.

From analyzing the students' worksheets, two paradoxes emerged. Firstly, it appeared that most of the students had known the theorem's contents about the sum of the angles in an arbitrary triangle before the lesson began. In *situation 1*, some students incorrectly measured the three angles of a triangle; however, the sum of these angle measures was 180[°]. Moreover, in most of the students' worksheets, the sum of the three angle measures was 180° . In *situation 2*, most of the students wrote down three angle measures whose sum was equal to 180° , when they were asked to write down three arbitrary angle measures. Moreover, some students even wrote down formal reasoning to conclude that it was impossible to draw a triangle with the three angle measures whose sum was not 180° . There are two possible explanations for this occurrence: either, they had learned this lesson in an extra-class (see chapter 1, section 1.3.1.2), or they had read the lesson in the textbook. Tasks 1 and 2 in the textbook (see the Triangle Sum Theorem in the current textbook in appendix A), as well as situations 1, 2 and 3 in RME-based lesson (see appendix C), were not especially useful for the students who had known the theorem already. Secondly, some students did not know how to measure the angles in a triangle properly. As discussed in section 4.2.2 of this chapter, it is remarkable to note that although the students incorrectly measured the angles, the sum of the three angle measures was 180° . This was caused by strong emphasis on formal reasoning and less attention to other activities such as drawing and measuring in teaching and learning geometry in Vietnamese school (see Hoang Chung, 1999, pp. 15-17).

From analyzing the students' worksheet and the paradoxes, it is clear that the students' competence was not homogenous. Some of them could successfully perform the tasks in *situations 1* and 2 and even knew how to reason deductively. Other students struggled with basic routine tasks. Inhomogeneity of students' competence

existed not only among urban, rural and mountainous areas (see section 1.3.1.1 of chapter 1) but also within individual classes in a school and students in a class.

4.3 Characteristics of the bisector of an angle (lesson 2)

4.3.1 Introduction

Firstly, this section briefly introduces how the theorem was presented in the 'reformed' textbook called *Geometry* 7 and is presented in the current textbook named *Mathematics* 7: part 2. After that, it discusses the aims of the *situations* in RME-based lesson. Finally, some information about how the teacher, Mr. Le Xuan Mui organized his class is presented.

Geometry 7 of the 'reformed' textbooks presented only the content and one rigorous formal deductive proof of the theorem (see appendix A; see also discussion about the typical lessons of the 'reformed' textbooks in section 1.3.1.5 of chapter 1). In the current textbook, *Mathematics 7: part 2*, before the content and the proof of the theorem are presented, a short introduction is given:

We consider the following problem:

M is a given point insight $\angle xOy$ such that the distance from *M* to the two sides of this angle are equal. Is point *M* on the bisector ray (or is \overrightarrow{OM} the bisector ray) of $\angle xOy$?

(Phan Duc Chinh et al., 2004 b, p. 69)

RME-based geometry lesson has three *situations* (see details in appendix C). The first one, designed for individual work, introduces the context in which a farmer is working somewhere in an angle-shaped farm. The two 'sides' of the farm (the angle) are branches of a river. *Question a*) of this *situation* asks students to suggest a possible direction for the farmer when he wants to fetch some water from the river for his farm. *Questions b*) and *c*) ask students to point out some positions from which the farmer should go to branch 1 or branch 2 of the river. The *second situation* helps students rediscover that a point which is equidistant from the two sides of an angle is on the bisector of this angle. Students work with formal deductive geometry in the *last situation*. Students are asked to work in groups in the *second* and *third situations*.

The teacher, Mr. Le Xuan Mui, organized his students to work in groups (for *two first situations*). There were 37 students taking part in his class, and he divided his

students into 6 groups of from six to seven members.⁶³ Mr. Mui gave his students the *two first situations* of RME-based lesson. For each *situation*, he gave one copy of the worksheet to all members of each group. He did not give detailed information about the third one.

4.3.2 Feedback analysis from the students' worksheets

a) Situation 1:

This section analyzes how the students worked with the *first situation* based on their worksheets.

Group 2 (Ngoc Anh, Bich, Huong, Ngoc Lan, Lanh and Tran Ngoc) reasoned that "the farmer should go to branch 2 because the distance from A to branch 2 is nearer than the distance from A to branch 1" and then identified some positions from which the farmer should go to branch 1 or 2 of the river. It appeared that this group used only informal knowledge to solve the problem. They arrived at the conclusion after seeing the figure in *this situation* and did not draw any additional lines (see figure 4.9). The students of this group used the same sign for two different points.



Figure 4.9: Worksheet 1 of group 2 (L.2, S.1)

Some other groups alternated between informal and formal knowledge to answer *question a*) of *this situation*. For example, initially, the students of group 3 (Nguyen Huyen, Giang Son, Thom, Nhan Ton, Le Ngoc and Loc) used informal

⁶³ The tasks of situations 1 and 2 are not complicated. He should divide his students into smaller groups in these situations. In situation 3, students work with the formal proof of the theorem. So he should divide his students into largerr groups.

knowledge to answer *question a*), and then they applied formal knowledge to explain their conclusion (figure 4.10):

According to our group, the farmer should fetch water from branch 2 of the river because the distance from his working place to branch 2 is nearer than the distance to branch 1. So he can save his time and health.

Suppose that from position A we draw the two perpendicular lines to branches 1 and 2 at K and H, respectively.⁶⁴ We recognized that AK > AH, so the way from A to branch 2 is nearer.

The students of this group did not draw any additional lines in their worksheet. Moreover, they did not properly use Vietnamese: "Suppose that from position *A* we draw the two perpendicular lines to branches 1 and 2 at *K* and *H*, respectively."



Figure 4.10: Worksheet 1 of group 3 (L.2, S.1)

In general, the other groups used more formal knowledge for making conclusions. All of them drew the perpendicular lines from A to branches 1 and 2 of the river and used the perpendicular sign. Most of them (4 groups) named the intersection points between the perpendicular lines and the sides of the angle (the branches of the river).

This is the answer of group 5 (figure 4.11):

[...] in order to save time, the farmer should fetch water from branch 2.

AH is the perpendicular line to branch 2 (the shortest way from A to branch 2).

AK is the perpendicular line to branch 1 (the shortest way from A to branch 1).

We recognized that AH < AK.

(Group 5: Muoi, Ngan, Le Ngoc, Ny, Quy Thanh and Thao)

⁶⁴ Their answer is translated into English from original one. They did not properly use mathematics language as well as Vietnamese. They did not draw \overline{AH} and \overline{AK} in their worksheet.



Figure 4.11: Worksheet 1 of group 5 (L.2, S.1)

Group 1 used quite formal knowledge to reason (figure 4.12):

According to our group, the farmer should go to branch 2 to take water. Because the segment from *A* to branch 2 which is perpendicular segment \overline{AH} is the shortest way. Because AH < AK.

(Group 1: Khanh Huyen, Hue, Hieu, Thanh Hien, Ngoc Tuan and Anh Tuan)

The students of this group also used improper sentences in Vietnamese. They had problem with the Vietnamese 'because' expression. Furthermore, they used lower-case letters (a, b, c, d, etc.) to sign points.



Figure 4.12: Worksheet 1 of group 1 (L.2, S.1)

This is the worksheet of group 4 (figure 4.1.3):

The farmer should fetch water from branch 2 of the river because the distance from point A to branch 2 of the river is shorter than the distance from point A to branch 1. Consequently, going to branch 2 will save time and effort.⁶⁵



(Group 4: Thuy An, Cuong, Duong, Dong, Duc, Ha and Tam)

Figure 4.13: Worksheet 1 of group 4 (L.2, S.1)

Group 6 formally reasoned to answer the question (figure 4.14):

From *A* we draw the perpendicular lines to the two sides of the branches of the river at *B* and *C*. Seeing the figure, we recognized that AB > AC:

[...] the farmer should fetch water from branch 2.

(Group 6: Duong Hai, Vu Hai, Thanh, Theu, Ton and Tu)



Figure 4.14: Worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.1)

⁶⁵ In their worksheet, students did not properly use Vietnamese while writing the answer.

In conclusion, all groups reasoned that the farmer should go to the nearer branch. It appeared that both social norms and sociomathematical norms (Yackel & Cobb, 1996) emerged while the students were working in groups. The students discussed the tasks with each other to reason that the farmer should save his time and health (social norms) and find a shorter way from his position to the river (sociomathematical norms). However, they used different levels of formal reasoning to answer the first question. One group used only informal knowledge to answer question a), while the other groups alternatively utilized informal and formal knowledge to reason. All groups could identify some positions (from 2 to 4 positions) from which the farmer should go to branch 1 or branch 2 of the river. Some groups only drew positions with names, while the others additionally the drew perpendicular lines from these points to the sides of the angles (the branches of the river). Most of the groups did not sufficiently explain why the distance from A to branch 2 was shorter than the distance from A to branch 1, often using the expression "we recognize that...". Exceptionally, the students of group 6 explained that they reached the conclusion by *seeing* the figure in the worksheet. It appeared that none of them measured the distances from A to the two branches of the river in order to compare these distances. In some cases, the students did not accurately use mathematics expression and Vietnamese language while writing their answers.

b) Situation 2:

The teacher did not reorganize the groups. In other words, in this *situation*, each group has the same members as in *situation 1*.

To answer *question a*), each group identified from 2 to 4 positions. Two of them identified only the positions (points and their names) and did not connect these positions, while the others not only identified the positions but also connected these positions with each other and vertex O of $\angle xOy$. Group 6 (Duong Hai, Vu Hai, Thanh, Hieu, Ton and Tu) was an exceptional one because the students of this group applied the theorem of characteristic of the bisector of an angle to reply *question a*) (figure 4.15):

Draw the bisector ray \overrightarrow{Ot} of $\angle xOy$.

On \overrightarrow{Ot} , we point out points *A*, *B* and *C*. These points are equidistant from the two branches of the river.



Figure 4.15: The worksheet of group 6 (L.2, S.2)

As discussed above, the students identified from 2 to 4 points for answering *question a*). The students of groups 2 (Ngoc Anh, Bich, Huong, Ngoc Lan, Lanh and Tran Ngoc) and 3 (Nguyen Huyen, Giang Son, Thom, Nhan Ton, Le Ngoc and Loc) identified some points in their worksheets, but they did not draw the perpendicular lines to the two sides of the angles and connect these points (see, for example, the worksheet of group 2 in figure 4.16). Although the students of group 1 (Khanh Huyen, Hue, Hieu, Thanh Hien, Ngoc Tuan and Anh Tuan) did not draw the perpendicular lines from pointed points to the two sides of the angle, they connect these points and the vertex of the angle (see figure 4.17). The students of groups 4 and 5 not only drew the perpendicular lines but also connected the pointed points with the vertex of the angle (see, for instance, the worksheet of group 4 in figure 4.18).

The students of all groups could predict that positions mentioned in *question a*) are on the bisector ray of $\angle xOy$. Four groups used term "the bisector line" with the meaning of "the bisector ray". One group used term "the bisector ray". The others alternatively used both "the bisector line" and "the bisector ray".



Figure 4.16: The worksheet of group 2 (L.2, S.2)



Figure 4.17: The worksheet of group 1 (L.2, S.2)



Figure 4.18: The worksheet of group 4 (L.2, S.2)

Two groups (4 and 5) even wrote down formal proofs (deductive proofs) for their prediction. For instance, the students of group 4 (Thuy An, Cuong, Duong, Dong, Duc, Ha and Tam) presented one deductive proof as follows (see figure 4.18 & 4.19):

Prediction: Positions in *question a*) in the figure belong to the bisector line of $\angle xOy$. [...] We consider $\triangle AOM$ and $\triangle AON$:

 $\begin{array}{c|c} m \angle OMA = m \angle ONA = 90^{\circ} \\ \hline AM \cong \overline{AN} \end{array} \end{array} \Rightarrow \Delta AOM \cong \Delta AON \text{ (hypotenuse - side)} \\ OA \text{ is a common hypotenuse} \end{array}$

 $\Rightarrow \angle MOA \cong \angle NOA \Rightarrow A \text{ belongs to the bisector ray of } \angle xOy$

Analogously, $\angle BOP \cong \angle BOQ \Longrightarrow B$ belongs to the bisector ray of $\angle xOy$.



Figure 4.19: A formal proof of group 4 (L.2, S.2)

In conclusion, all groups of the students could predict that a point that is equidistant from the two sides of an angle is on the bisector ray of this angle. In comparison with *situation 1*, the students had fewer mistakes related to Vietnamese and mathematical language. Nevertheless, most of them improperly used the term "bisector ray". Two groups could create themselves formal proofs (deductive proofs) of this theorem.

4.3.3 The teacher's comments

a) About organizing the students' work in groups

While the students were working in groups, some weaknesses emerged:

• With the students' working in pairs or in groups, the classroom was noisier than usual. The greater volume of noise level could disturb neighboring classes.⁶⁶

• The number of students in the class is quite high. Consequently, the teacher did not manage the students' activities while they were working in groups.⁶⁷

• There were a few low-performing students who did not actively discuss and were not aware of necessary work. These students often thought that the tasks were for only high- performing students in their groups. Therefore, they often did some private work during the discussions.

The students' work in groups has the following advantages:

• The students discussed with each other to rediscover the knowledge: the distance from a point to a straight line which does not contain this point.

• The students had the chances of expressing their ideas and thought.

• Most of the students actively discussed and explained themselves to understand the problems and find the answers.

• The teachers did not have to spend much time lecturing.

b) The teaching time allowance

• Teaching by using RME-based lesson needed three times as much as teaching by using the current textbook.

⁶⁶ Generally, Vietnamese classrooms share walls, and their walls are not soundproof. Moreover, classrooms' windows and doors are often opened on not very cold days. Consequently, a noise which students make during their discussion may affect neighboring classes.

⁶⁷ In comparison with the average of a number of students in a class, the number of students in Mr. Mui's class was not high. It appeared that he lacked experiences of organizing students' group working (see discussion in section 4.3.4 of this chapter).

c) The teacher's activities

• The teacher concentrated on organizing, controlling and guiding the students to rediscover and confirm mathematics knowledge.

• The role of the teacher seemed to be 'less important' than his role when other 'traditional' methods are used. The teacher, however, had to spend more time preparing the lesson and used more tools for the teaching.

• The teacher did not have to present a ready-made knowledge, lecture and explain.

d) About the situations in RME-based lesson

• The students struggled with *situations* in which requirements or questions were not directly presented.⁶⁸

• It is possible to combine *situations 1* and 2 so that the teacher and their students could save time, and the students could expand their intelligence.

e) Other ideas about advantages and disadvantages of RME-based lesson

In general, the theory RME has some advantages:

• It provided the students more opportunities to work actively;

• The students could fully understand the lesson and could discover mathematics knowledge;

• The students naturally learned;

• The students could explain themselves so that they could understand the lesson;

• The teacher worked less during the lesson;

• The students did not mechanically learn under the commands and requirements of the teacher.

While working with RME-based lesson, the teacher and his students met the following difficulties:

• The teacher lacked teaching time while applying RME-based lesson.

• Some low-performing students did not take part in the discussions. Otherwise, they did their private work;

• The teacher had to prepare a great deal for the lesson. It was not suitable for the teacher's amount of work;

4.3.4 Findings:

The main difficulty the teacher faced was the teaching time allowance. He complained that he needed three times as much as using usual ways of teaching. Moreover, he

⁶⁸ This idea of the teacher is not clear because unlike the first lesson (the Triangle Sum Theorem), all questions and requirements are directly presented in this RME-based lesson.

complained that he had to spend much time in preparing the students' worksheets. It was not very suitable for him because it significantly increased his workload. In addition, he did not acclimate to teaching by using RME-based lesson as RME was quite new for him. He found that his role was 'less important' than usual since his students could discover mathematical knowledge. Furthermore, he complained that he could not manage his students' work because of the high number of students in his class.

While working with the *situations* in RME-based lesson, the students could rediscover the knowledge. They did not have to perform strict tasks under the commands and requirements of the teacher or the textbook.

Situations 1 and 2 were not difficult and complicated for the students. All groups could answer the questions and offered their own reasons. The students utilized different levels of formal knowledge to explain their ideas. In some cases, the students did not properly used Vietnamese and mathematical language while writing their answers. Moreover, the students' competence varied between groups. Some students of some groups could deductively reason and build formal proofs, while the students of some other groups were at a low level of reasoning.

While working in groups, the students often made a noise which could affect some neighboring classes. Furthermore, some low-performing students often did not actively discuss with other students in their groups to answer the questions, and they often did their private work. According to the teacher, these students thought that the tasks were for other high-performing classmates. In two situations of RME-based lesson, the teacher divided his students into groups of around 6 and 7 people. As discussed previously, it was not entirely reasonable to allow the students to work in groups in the *first situation* because this *situation* was not complicated. In addition, the number of students in each group was high. This could be one of the reasons why some of the low-achieving students did not actively participate in discussions with other members in their groups. Furthermore, it appeared that the teacher has little experience related to organizing students' working in groups. He gave one copy of a worksheet to all members of each group in each situation. It would have been better if each student had her/his own worksheet. Firstly, s/he should try to individually deal with the problems, and then the students could discuss their individual ideas in groups. After that the teacher could examine the students' work by asking a member of each group.

4.4 Characteristics of the perpendicular bisector of a segment (lesson 3)

4.4.1 Introduction

Firstly, this section briefly introduces how the theorem was presented in *Geometry* 7 of the 'reformed' textbooks and is presented in *Mathematics* 7: part 2 of the current textbooks. Secondly, it describes the aims of the *situations* in RME-based lesson. Finally, it describes the way in which the teacher applied RME-based lesson in his teaching.

Geometry 7 of the 'reformed' textbooks presented only the content and the formal deductive proof of the theorem (see appendix A; see also the discussion about the typical presentation of the 'reformed' textbooks' lessons in section 1.3.1.5, chapter 1). In the current textbook called *Mathematics* 7: part 2, before the content and the proof of the theorem is presented, a brief introduction is presented:

We consider point *M* which is equidistant from the two endpoints of *AB*. Is point *M* on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} ?

We have a theorem: [...]

(Phan Duc Chinh et al., 2004 b, p. 75)

RME-based lesson includes three *situations* (see details in appendix C). The first one which is designed for individual work introduces the context in which some explorers are walking somewhere in a dessert with two wells of water (A and B), and these explorers want to go to one well to take some water. *Question a*) of this *situation* asks students to give a suggestion of a possible direction for the explorers. *Questions b*) and c) help students identify some positions from which these explorers should go to well A or B. The aim of the *second situation* is to help students learn that a point which is equidistant from the two endpoints of a segment is on the perpendicular bisector of this segment. Students work with formal mathematics in the *last situation*. Students are asked to work in groups in the *second* and *third situations*.

The teacher, Mr. Le Xuan Mui, organized his students to work in groups for all *situations* while applying RME-based lesson. There were 37 students participating in his class, and he divided his students into 6 groups of from five to seven people.⁶⁹ Mr.

⁶⁹ The tasks of situations 1 and 2 are not complicated. He should divide his students into smaller groups in these situations. In situation 3, students work with the formal proof of the theorem. So he should divide his students into larger groups.

Mui gave three different tasks to the three pairs of groups.⁷⁰ It appeared that he wanted to save time.

He asked the students of groups 1 and 2 to prove the following problem: "If distances from *M* to the two endpoints of \overline{AB} are equal then *M* is on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} ."

Groups 3 and 4 were asked to deal with the following task (figure 4.20):⁷¹

a. Determine point *N* such
as distances from *N* to *A*and *B* are equal?
b. Predict the locus of point *N*?



Figure 4.20: The questions for groups 3 and 4 (L.3)

Groups 5 and 6 were given the following task (figure 4.21):⁷²

A farmer is at point *M* (see figure).

a. Where should the farmer go to take water?

b. Point out some positions in the figure from which the farmer go to well *A*.



Figure 4.21: The task for groups 5 and 6 (L.3)

4.4.2 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 1 and 2

It appeared that some students of groups 1 and 2 were high-performing students. They could devise different formal deductive proofs for the given problem although the solution of group 2 was not sufficient (see figure 4.22 and 4.23).

Group 1 (Thuy An, Tuan Anh, Cuong, Chung, Hue, Lam and Thuy Lien) proved the theorem by considering two cases: M is the midpoint of \overline{AB} , and M is not

 $^{^{70}}$ It is clear that this manner was not reasonable. More related discussions are found in section 4.6.3.1 of this chapter.

⁷¹ This task may confuse students because of the word "determine".

⁷² This task is similar to the first situation of RME-based lesson. It appears that the teacher wanted to give groups 5 and 6 the 'direct' question and requirement by cutting down the first situation of RME-based lesson. It is clear that this task is quite short and not sufficient.

the midpoint of \overline{AB} (see figure 4.22). It is easy to conclude that if *M* is the midpoint of \overline{AB} then *M* is on the perpendicular bisector of this segment. Otherwise, they call *C* the midpoint of \overline{AB} and prove that ΔAMC and ΔBMC are congruent. Consequently, $m \angle MCA = m \angle MCB$. Moreover, $m \angle MCA + m \angle MCB = 180^{\circ}$. Hence, $m \angle MCA = m \angle MCB = 90^{\circ}$. Therefore, *M* is on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} .

PHIẾU HOC TÂP Nhóm 1: Thuy An., Thair. Aner. Siching ... Chung., ... true. ... Din. ... thing. line. Chứng minh: Nếu khoảng cách từ M tới hai đầu mút của đoạn thẳng AB bằng nhau thì M nằm trên đường trung trực doạn AB. Bai lam Xét 2 truising high; TH1: MEAB 2 , Miltinung dreimaia doan thaig AB 2 Milturoc MA=MB J Trung hut aia AB di qua trung dreimaia no J duiong trung mic doan AB TH2: M& AB. TAZ: AB LOY C 200 Cho E la nung dien and doan AB M => AC = CB (1); CE AB (20) Xet DAMC va A BMC of: AM = MB(gt). AC = CB(rit(4)) MC - cantuching => MCA = MCB (2 did MCA = MCA) AAMC= DEMOTIC C. c) (2 => MeA = mcB (2 god biding ung) CEAB = MCA + MCB = 180° 2 - MCA = MCB = 90° Ma theo (2): MCA = MCB J = MC I AB. 2 MC - Mung MC di qua mung diem doan AB mic doaw AB => M & mung truc doan AB.

Figure 4.22: The worksheets of group 1 (L.3)

Let *N* be the intersection of *AB* and a line which goes through point *M* and is perpendicular to \overline{AB} . Group 2 (Hanh, Vu Hanh, Thu Huyen, Ngoc Khanh, Khuong and Kien) proved that Δ *MNA* and Δ *MNB* are congruent. Then they proved that *N* is the midpoint of \overline{AB} . Consequently, *M* is on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} (figure 4.23).



Figure 4.23: The worksheet of group 2 (L.3)

4.4.3 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 3 and 4

The students of group 3 (Pham Anh, Duc, Hoa, Yen, Tu, Tuoi and Son) did not draw any additional lines in the figure. They used formal knowledge to deal with their task (see figure 4.24):

Draw (A, r) and (B, r) ($r \ge \frac{1}{2}$ AB). The two circles intersect each other at N.⁷³ Proof: M belongs to (A; r) \Rightarrow AN = r (1). M belongs to (B; r) \Rightarrow BN = r (2). Consequently, AN = BN.

b. Prediction: The locus of N is the perpendicular bisector of AB.



Figure 4.24: The answers of group 3 (L.3)

Similar to the students of groups 3, the students of group 4 (Thao, Hong Tien, Nga, Non, Tham, Thu and Thu Thuy) did not draw any additional lines either (see figure 4.25):

[...]

a) Based on characteristics of the perpendicular bisector of a segment, we have: If N belongs to the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} then NA = NB.

b) Prediction: The locus of N is the perpendicular bisector of AB.

a) + Nôi hai điệni A và B truo thành đean thống MB + xác định tung điện của AB chính là điệm N cần tim.
a) Đế Nha vào trình chất điệm thuộc đã trung trực của doan thàng truc N thuộc đã trung trực của doan thàng AB. Khi đó NA = NB.
b) Tàp hợp các điệm N thuộc đã trung trực của doan AB.

Figure 4.25: The worksheet of group 4 (L.3)

⁷³ When $r > \frac{1}{2}AB$, the two circles intersect each other at two points.

In sum, as discussed in footnote of section 4.4.1, the teachers made his student quite confused because of the obscure task. The students of groups 3 and 4 understood that they had to use formal knowledge because of the word "determine" of the problem. For this reason, the solutions of these groups responded with formal reasoning. In general, this teacher's manner was not suitable.

4.4.4 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 5 and 6

Although task 3 was not particularly complicated, it appeared that the students of group 5 (Manh Tien, Quy Van, Dieu Linh, Lan Anh and Vu Thi Lan Anh) could not deal with it. They did not answer *question b*). These students appeared to be low-achieving students. Their answer of *question a*) was quite confusing (see figure 4.26):

• the farmer goes to well *A* which is nearer than well *B* (according to the figure)

• Suppose that the farmer at point *M* then he goes to well *B* which is nearer than well *A*.

These two sentences are contradictory. Furthermore, their second sentence is quite obscure.



Figure 4.26: The worksheet of group 5 (L.3)

The students of group 6 (Thuy Linh, Ly, Phong, Thang and Kiet) answered *question a)* by using formal and informal knowledge alternatively (see figure 4.27):

a. Connect AM, BM and AB. We call \vec{d} the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} .

 \overline{AM} intersects \vec{d} at N. Connect BN.

$$N \in \overrightarrow{AM} \Rightarrow AN = BN$$

$$N \in \overrightarrow{AM} \Rightarrow AN + MN = AM$$

In Δ BMN, we have: $BN + MN > BM$
 $\Rightarrow AM = BN + MN$
 $\Rightarrow AM > BM$.

Consequently, the farmer goes to well *B*, which is nearer.

b. We call a position from which distance to well A is nearer than well B L.

- + If *L* belongs to \vec{d} then AL = BL (not satisfy)
- + According to a), if L belongs to BN then LA > LB (not satisfy)
- + If L belongs to AN :

P is the intersect point of \vec{d} and \overline{BL} .

$$P \in \overline{BL} \Rightarrow BP + PL = BL$$

$$P \in \vec{d} \Rightarrow BP = AP$$

In $\triangle ALP$, we have: $AL < AP + PL$

$$\Rightarrow AL < BL$$
.

Consequently, positions in the figure from which the farmer should go to well A belongs to \overrightarrow{AN}^{74} .



Figure 4.27: The worksheet of group 6 (L.3)

In Vietnamese style, segment AM and segment BN means AM and BN, respectively. However, these students omitted 'segment' in their writing (see figure 4.27).

It appears that deductive Euclidean geometry plays a prominent role in middle school geometry curriculum. Although the task was quite simple, the students of group 6 tried to answer it by exploiting deductive geometry. It appeared that some students of this group are high-achieving students.

⁷⁴ It appeared that the students did not properly use ' \overline{AN} ' (originally, they used 'line AN' in figure 4.27). Perhaps they wanted to refer to ' \overline{AN} '.

From analyzing feedback from the students, it is clear that the competence levels of these students were quite different. Some of them could create formal deductive proofs, while the other could not deal with routine tasks.

4.4.5 Teacher's comments

a) Students' group working Advantages:

• The students paid attention to the lesson. Most of them concentrated on activities which were guided by the teacher. The levels of the students' competence were quite similar 75

• The teacher did not have to work hard.

· Most of the students actively discussed to discover new knowledge. They had chances of discussing with each other and correcting their mistakes.

Disadvantages:

• A few low-performing students did not pay attention to the lesson and actively learn. They often relied on others. These students often did some private work during the discussions.

• There were some inactive students who often relied on others.

• The number of students in the class is quite high.⁷⁶ Consequently, it was quite difficult for the teacher to control and manage the students.

b) Teaching time allowance:

• RME-based lesson took about twice or three times as long as the normal lesson. It was not suitable for the teaching time allowance.

c) The students' activity

Advantages:

• The students had the opportunity to think, naturally discover knowledge and discuss and correct their mistakes.

Disadvantages:

• The students were noisier while discussing with each other in groups.⁷⁷ A few students did not take part in discussions.

⁷⁵ This comment of the teacher seems not correct. In fact, it is clear that the students' competence is quite different. ⁷⁶ See footnote 67.

⁷⁷ See footnote 66.

d) The teacher's activity

Advantages:

The teacher needed to guide the students how to work. The teacher did not lecture.

Disadvantages:

• The teacher had to prepare tools for teaching.

• The teacher could not correct mistakes of the low-performing students.

e) About situations in RME-based lesson

The *situations* of RME-based lesson were naturally presented from easy to complicated one.

f) Other ideas

• RME theory was very new. It was quite difficult to apply this theory widely in teaching mathematics in Vietnam, in general and in rural areas, in particular.

• The students could naturally discover new knowledge;

• The teacher did not have to lecture and rigorously present knowledge;

• RME-based lesson could develop the students' thought, activeness and creativeness.

• The students could freely discuss. Consequently, they felt more confident.

g) Proposals for applying RME-based lesson

• A teacher would effectively apply this theory (RME) if s/he had few lessons per week.

• Teacher should be sufficiently equipped teaching resources.

4.4.6 Findings

Similar to the first lesson, the teacher met some difficulties while applying RME-based lesson. For instance, the teacher complained that RME-based lesson took him quite long time. In addition, some low-performing students did not take part in the discussions.

The current Vietnamese middle school geometry curriculum still places emphasis on deductive geometry. Although it is not necessary to use deductive geometry to answer the questions in tasks 2 and 3, the students often tried to apply deductive reasoning.

In some cases, the students did not properly use Vietnamese to express their ideas.

The competence of the students varied considerably. Some of them could build deductive formal proofs, while other could not deal with basic routine tasks. Perhaps the teachers did not read the worksheets of the student. For this reason, he commented that the students' competence was the same.

As discussed above, the teachers divided his students into 6 groups; each composed of about 6 to 7 members. He assigned the three different tasks to the three pairs of groups in order to save time. However, this manner was not effective because the requirement of these tasks is quite different. Groups 1 and 2 dealt with the *formal situation*, while groups 3 and 4 coped with the less *formal situation*, and the other groups (5 and 6) met the easier and *informal situation*. Moreover, this teacher's way of organizing his class counted for some of the low-achieving students' lack of participation in their groups' discussions.

As discussed in section 4.4.3 of this chapter, it is clear that the task of groups 3 and 4 confused the students. First, the teachers asked the students to "determine point N such that it is equidistant from two points A and B." The students tried to reason deductively in order to carry out this task because of the word "determine". Second, he asked the students to predict the locus of point N. It was not useful when the students predicted the locus from only one point. It appeared that deductive formal reasoning was emphasized in teaching middle school geometry. The students often tried to reason deductively to deal with problems, although in some cases, it was not necessary.

4.5 'Train station' problem (lesson 4)

4.5.1 Introduction

In *Geometry* 7 (the 'reformed' textbook), this problem was presented within a series of exercises following the lesson 'The Triangle Inequality' (Nguyen Gia Coc & Pham Gia Duc, 1996, p. 73; see also appendix A). Students were taught formal knowledge (the theorem, its sequences and their proofs). Later, students were expected to apply this formal knowledge to solve a pure mathematical exercise:

Let two points A and B be on a half plane with a straight-line edge a (A and B are not on \ddot{a}); let C be a point which is on the other half plane such that \ddot{a} is the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AC} . Let M be an arbitrary point on \ddot{a} ; please compare MA + MB with BC. When has MA + MB the least value?

(Nguyen Gia Coc & Pham Gia Duc, 1996, p. 73)

Finally, students were given a problem:

Two workstations are on the same side of a river. Where should a harbor be situated such that the sum of the distances from the harbor to the two workstations has least value?

(Nguyen Gia Coc & Pham Gia Duc, 1996, p. 73)

This problem is similarly presented in the current textbooks entitled *Mathematics 7: part* 2 (Phan Duc Chinh et al., 2004 b, p. 77).

The way in which the 'reformed' and current mathematics textbooks present the problem is quite primitive and limited. Specifically, the order of teaching this mathematics application is: the formal mathematics (the theorem, its consequences and their proofs), the pure mathematics problem and the mathematics application. Freudenthal strongly objects to this manner which he calls *anti-didactical inversion* (1983, p. ix; see also section 2.2.1.2 of chapter 2). Gravemeijer defines this way as "mathematical modeling" which plays its role in mathematics education; however, he urges that "mathematical modeling" needs "emergent modeling", one of RME's tenets, as a precursor (Gravemeijer, 2004, p. 97; see also section 2.4.2.3 of chapter 2 and section 3.2.2.3 of chapter 3).

RME-based lesson gives students opportunities to reason.⁷⁸ Unlike the 'reformed' and present textbooks, students are not asked 'direct' questions in the *situations* of RME-based lesson and are encouraged to build up gradually from informal to formal mathematics (see details in appendix C). Furthermore, this lesson pays attention to developing students' social and sociomathematical norms.⁷⁹

The teacher, Mr. Le Xuan Mui, organized his students' work in groups (see the discussion about the way the teacher organized his class in section 4.6.3.1 of this chapter). There were 37 students attending his class, and he divided these students into 6 groups of from five to seven people. Mr. Mui gave two different tasks to two triads of groups. More specifically, he gave the *first situation* of RME-based lesson to groups 1, 2 and 4 and *second situation* to groups 3, 5 and 6 (see details *these situations* in appendix C).

⁷⁸ Mr. Martin Kindt told the author of this dissertation about ideas which was written (in Dutch) in one of his research paper related to the 'train station' problem during the author's visit at Freudenthal Institute in October 2004. The author used and developed Mr. Kindt's ideas for this RME-based lesson.

⁷⁹ The notions of social and sociomathematics norms are defined and developed by Yackel and Cobb (1996).

4.5.2 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 1, 2 and 3

Group 1 (Thuy An, Tuan Anh, Chuong, Chung, Hue, Lam and Thuy Lien):

To answer the first question, firstly, the students used informal reason, and then they utilized formal knowledge to find a suitable position for the new railroad station (see figure 4.28):

a) [...] The new railway station should be situated in a position such that the track distances which connect this station with the two old stations are equal.

We call the position for the new station $C^{80} \Rightarrow CA = CB \Rightarrow C$ belongs to the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} . So the way to identify C is:

+ Draw perpendicular bisector d of \overline{AB}

+ d intersects the railroad at point C.

b) If all members of the groups work for a ministry of transportation then the new station should be situated in a position such that the sum of the ways is shortest.⁸¹

Then they formally proved that $GI \ge FI$ and $BF \le BI + FI$. They reasoned that the new station should be built in a position such that the sum of the distance from this station to the two old ones is shortest and tried to use formal knowledge to prove that $AF + FB \le BI + FI$. They, however, did not succeed in proving this inequality.

⁸⁰ A role of point C in the figure of their worksheet is different from point C in their writing. It appears that point C in their writing should be replaced by point F in the figure.

⁸¹ It appears that the students wanted to express something like this. However, they did not properly use Vietnamese grammar.



Figure 4.28: The worksheet of group 1 (L.4)

Group 4 (Thao, Hong Tien, Nga, Non, Tham, Thu and Thu Thuy):

The students of this group used formal knowledge to answer *question a*) (see figure 4.29):

We connect two points A and B to form AB.

Draw the perpendicular bisector of AB. The perpendicular bisector intersects the railway at a point.

This point is a suitable position for the new station.

To answer *question b*), the students utilized formal knowledge (the Triangle Inequality). They concluded that the new station should be build on \overrightarrow{AB} (they forgot that the new station needed to be built near the rail) (see figure 4.29). Firstly, they considered the case in which point *C* on \overrightarrow{AB} and prove that AC + CB = AB.⁸² Secondly, they considered the case in which point *C* which is not on \overrightarrow{AB} and prove that AC + CB = AB.⁸² Secondly, they considered the case in which point *C* which is not on \overrightarrow{AB} and prove that AC + CB = AB. Finally, they concluded that *C* should be on \overrightarrow{AB} . Their conclusion was incorrect.

⁸² This is incorrect deduction. AC + CB = AB if and only if point C is somewhere on AB.

2 goi vi tui cân deit uha ga mori la C. - Nôi hai diễm A Vũ B da cơ doan thàng AB. THI Ona sử : đểm C. thuộc đường thàng AB.
tauo': A C + CB = AB. Cria'Su': divin C Khoing there during there ATS.
high de AC+CB>AB (due vao bat doing thur cua 1 tam grois) high de AC+CB to who' what the CA+CB = A'S hay stim C thuộc dự thàng AB hay nhà ga thuộc dự thàng HB

Figure 4.29: The answers for *question b*) of group 4 (L.4)

The students of group 2 (Hanh, Vu Hanh, Thu Huyen, Ngoc Khanh, Khuong and Kien) reasoned that the new station should be built in a position such that the distances from it to two points A and B was equal in case a) and the sum of the distances from it to two points A and B was shortest so that, "it is the financial saving position", and then they formally presented the way to identify a position (point C) for the new station in case a) and formally proved that this point was also the 'financial saving position' (see figure 4.30)



Figure 4.30: The answers of group 2 (L.4)

In conclusion, the students of groups 1, 2 and 4 reasoned that the new station should be built at a position such that the distances from this position to two points A and B were equal for *question a*) and the sum of the distances from this position to two points A and B was shortest for *question b*). In other words, the *situation* motivated the students to discover that they should find an 'equal position' and a 'saving position' and try to find these positions although the *situation* did not mention 'the equality' and 'the least sum of distances'. All groups could find the equidistant points on the track by applying characteristics of the perpendicular bisector of a segment. They, however, used different levels of formal knowledge. In case b), all groups reasoned that they

should find a 'financial saving position'. It appeared that both group 1 and group 2 could project the 'equal position' is also the 'financial saving position' when the distances from two points *A* and *B* to the railroad are equal. However, only group 2 could write the formal proof for this prediction. The students from the last one, group 4, utilized formal mathematics to reach the conclusion: the new railroad station should be built on \overrightarrow{AB} . They did not draw any additional line in the figure of their worksheet. These students were not aware of the mistake because they mechanically used formal deductive knowledge which they did not correctly remember.

4.5.3 Analyzing the students' worksheets of groups 4, 5 and 6

The students of group 5 (Manh Tien, Quy Van, Dieu Linh, Lan Anh and Vu Thi Lan Anh) used only informal knowledge to answer the question (see figure 4.31):

A station number 3 is on position C because it is in the middle of two centers A and B.



Figure 4.31: The answer of group 5 (L.4)

The students of group 3 (Pham Anh, Duc, Hoa, Yen, Tu, Tuoi and Son) changed from informal knowledge to formal knowledge to answer the question (see figure 4.32). Firstly, these students called the position for the new station *C*. Then they reasoned that "For convenience, *C* must be equidistant from two stations *A* and *B*". After that, they used mathematical form (AC = BC) to express this relation. Later, they concluded that *C* was on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} . Finally, they re-proved the theorem of the characteristics of the perpendicular bisector of a segment which they had learned before.



Figure 4.32: The answer of group 3 (L.4)

In contrast, the students of group 6, including Thuy Linh, Ly, Phong, Thang and Viet presented formal knowledge to answer the question:

Let the position of the new train station be M.

Connect Ax and Bx.⁸³ Let \vec{d} be the perpendicular bisector of AxBx.

Take M on \vec{d} . M is on \vec{d} , so MAx = MBx.

Consequently, the new railroad station is situated on \vec{d} (near the rail-way and equidistant from the two others in cities *A* and *B*).

In conclusion, the students of groups 3, 5 and 6 reasoned that the new station should be built at the position such that the distances from this position to two points A and B are equal. All groups could find the 'equal position'. Like groups 1, 2 and 4, these groups also used different levels of formal knowledge. However, none of them referred to a 'financial saving point'. In other words, *situation 2* did not motivate the students to find a 'financial saving point' when they were not involved in *situation 1*. As discussed in section 4.5.1, the teacher was not able to give their students sufficient work opportunities for both *situations* because of the teaching time pressure.

4.5.4 Teacher's comments

a) Students' working in groups

• Most of the students actively discussed and did the exercises.

• The students themselves could find the solutions to the exercises.

• Some weak-achieving students could not write down the exercises' solutions.

⁸³ There is a redundancy in their writing.

• The teacher worked less than usual.

• Most of the students could find the solutions and wrote down the solutions.

• Some students could not write down the solutions and could not totally understand the lesson.

b) The teacher's activity

• The teacher worked less than usual, could work as a referee for the students, and could guide the students to discovery knowledge.

• The teachers had to prepare many teaching aids. During the lessons, it was difficult for the teacher to maintain classroom discipline.

- c) The students' activity
- The students quickly and thoroughly understood the lesson.
- The students work initiatively.
- The teacher did not have to work much during the lesson.

d) The situations in RME-based lesson

• The *situations* of RME-based lesson were presented from simple to complicated one. Some students could keep up with the *situations* and quickly solved the problems.

• It is better if only from 1 to 2 situations were given to the students so that it was suitable for the facts in school. It was not necessary to give many situations because the role of the teachers was still very important for Vietnamese students.

f) Proposals

It is necessary to reduce amount of work for the teachers and reduce a number of students in a class. Moreover, a teacher should be equipped modern means for teaching.

4.5.5 Findings

In general, the students could work with 'indirect' questions. The students were motivated to discuss and find the 'equal position' and the 'financial saving position' in *situation 1*. However, the other students who were not involved in *situation 1* only mentioned the 'equal position' while working with *situation 2*. It should be noted that these *situations* did not refer to 'the equality' and 'the least sum of distances'. Most of the groups could correctly find the 'equal position' in both two *situations*. In the *first situation*, only one group could find the 'saving position' and presented a formal deductive reasoning. Another group predicted that the 'saving position' was also the

'equal position' when the distance from two cities to the railway are equal; however they did not succeed in proving this conjecture formally. The other group failed in predicting the 'saving position' as they mechanically applied formal deductive knowledge when they did not sufficiently remember.

Although most of the students actively discussed the solution to discover knowledge, some of them who are low-achieving students did not attend the discussions to discover knowledge.

The teachers complained that RME-based lesson required a great deal of time. As a result, he gave the *first situation* to groups 1, 2 and 4 and the *second situation* to the other groups.

The teachers lectured less than usual. However, he had to prepare more than usual. In RME-based lesson, he divided his students into 6 groups and gave the *first situation* to the students of groups 1, 2, 4 and *second situations* to the other in order to save time. It is not good because both *two situations* should be given to students.

It appears that the middle school geometry curriculum still places emphasis on deductive geometry. The students often tried to reason deductively to answer the questions although in some cases, they were not asked to do so.

The students' competence was quite different. Some of them could deductively reason and create formal proofs, while some other could not. It was not clear which individual worked well because the teachers gave only one copy of the worksheet to all member of each group.

4.6 Conclusions

The aim of this section is to answer the questions posed at the beginning of this chapter. More specifically, it discusses the difficulties the teachers and theirs students met while working with RME-based geometry lessons, RME's potentials for enriching mathematics education in Vietnam, reactions of the teachers and students with RME-based geometry lessons, and some necessary adjustments for these RME-based geometry lessons.

4.6.1 Difficulties

This section analyzes difficulties which the teachers and their students met while working with RME-based lessons, including the teaching time pressure, inactiveness of low-achieving students, disadvantages of the students' group working, unfamiliarity of working with RME-based lessons.

Firstly, as discussed previously in this chapter (sections 4.2.4, 4.3.3, 4.4.5 and 4.5.4), the two teachers complained that RME-based lessons took them much more time than lessons in the current textbooks. Normally, Vietnamese mathematics teachers have to follow the mathematics curriculum, textbooks and a curricular distribution. Typically, lessons in a curricular distribution are divided into 'theoretical' and 'practical' lessons. Students are taught formal mathematics in the 'theoretical' lessons and expected to apply it in solving mathematics exercises, including pure mathematics and application problems in the 'practical' lessons. The teachers thought that RME-based lessons are similar to the 'theoretical' lessons in the current textbooks. However, in RME-based lessons, 'theoretical' and 'practical' lessons are not always clear-cut. It is argued that students do not need to solve many mathematics exercises to consolidate knowledge when RME-based lessons are properly used. In fact, *the situations* of RME-based lessons also contain implicitly these exercises.

Secondly, as discussed above in sections 4.2.4, 4.3.3, 4.4.5 and 4.5.4, some weak-achieving students did not attend the discussions when the students were asked to work in groups. These students often did their private work while the other discussing. They thought that the tasks were designed for high-performing students. Some details of possible causes and solutions are discussed in section 4.6.3.2 of this chapter.

Thirdly, as discussed in the teachers' feedback, the students often made a noise which affected other neighboring classes while working in groups or in pairs. Typically, Vietnamese school classes are not suitable for group working. In the past, this problem did not emerge since teachers did not use to organize students' group working.

Fourthly, the teachers complained that they could not manage the classes while their students were working in groups. They believed that the high number of students in classes is the cause of this problem. However, it should be noted that there were only about 37 and 38 students in these classes. It was believed that the teachers lacked experience for facilitating students' group-work. Possible solutions are discussed in section 4.6.3.2 of this chapter.

Moreover, the teachers complained that they had to spend much time preparing RME-based lessons. This was not suitable for them because they had to work more.

Moreover, they also stated that they did not become accustomed to teaching RMEbased lessons.

In addition, as described in sections 4.2, 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5 of this chapter, the students often tried to reason deductively to answer the questions although in some cases, it was not necessary.

Finally, the way in which the teachers organized their classes were not entirely reasonable. For example, the number of students in each group was quite high, and the second teacher, Mr. Mui gave one copy to all members of each group. In addition, the teachers gave the groups different tasks with different levels.

4.6.2 Potentials of RME-based lessons

In general, RME-based lessons are suitable for the orientation of the teaching method reform in Vietnam (see section 1.4.2 of chapter 1).

Firstly, the *situations* of RME-based lessons gave the students the chance to rediscover mathematics knowledge. The students did not have to follow completely strict tasks related to ready-made mathematics in the current textbooks.

Secondly, the students gradually got used to the 'indirect' tasks in the *situations* of RME-based lessons. Not only *sociomathematical* but also *social norms* were carefully considered in these *situations*. In contrast, both the 'reformed' and current mathematics textbooks only present 'bare' problems.

Thirdly, most students had chances to express and explain their ideas, approve and disapprove of ideas during RME-based lessons although few low-performing students did not actively take part in the discussions.

Fourthly, RME-based lessons promoted the students' independence, activeness, initiative and creativeness. As the second teacher, Mr. Mui, commented, in RME-based lessons, his students could discuss with each other to rediscover mathematics knowledge. For this reason, in comparison with the normal lessons, he felt that he 'did not have to work hard' and 'was less important'. It is not absolutely true because although he did not have to lecture as usual, he should have paid special attention to low-achieving students.

4.6.3 Adjustment of RME-based lessons

The teachers and students encountered several certain difficulties during RME-based lesson experiments (see section 4.6.1 of this chapter). This section discusses how to adjust these lessons so that they become more suitable for teaching and learning middle school geometry.

4.6.3.1 The teaching time pressure

As described previously (sections 4.2.4, 4.3.3, 4.4.5 and 4.5.4 of this chapter), the two teachers who applied RME-based geometry lessons in their teaching complained that these lessons took them much more time than usual. They tried to deal with this problem by different ways. Nevertheless, it appeared that their solutions were not effective. The section discusses the ways in which the teachers tried to cope with the teaching time pressure. In addition, this section explains that students do not have to spend much time consolidating knowledge when RME-based lessons are applied. Finally, it also discusses some necessary adjustment so that these lessons become more suitable for teaching and learning geometry in Vietnamese middle school.

In the 'Triangle Sum Theorem' lesson, the task of *situation 4* confused some students because they have not worked with such an 'indirect' task.⁸⁴ Nonetheless, the teacher, Ms. Huong, did not have enough time to expound this task to her students and let them work with it. She could not help resorting to the conventional teaching style because of the teaching time pressure. Unlike Ms. Huong, the second teacher, Mr. Mui, divided his students into large groups of around 6 to 7 members and gave different tasks to different groups in the third and fourth RME-based lessons. His solutions could not solve the problem because of many reasons. These tasks of varying levels of difficulty were intended to be taught in a specific sequence. Moreover, the groups were so large that some low-performing students had chances of working their private work and did not join the discussions. In addition, Mr. Mui did not receive the sufficient feedback from his students because in each situation, he gave a copy of worksheet to all members of each group.

Normally, as discussed in section 4.6.1 of this chapter, mathematics lessons are divided into 'theoretical' lessons in which students are taught mathematics concepts, formulae, regulations and theorems and 'practical' lessons in which students are guided

⁸⁴ The same situation was also found in Indonesian primary school when students dealt with realistic contexts in the first lessons. This students' state was described by Fauzan, Slettenhaar and Plomp (2002).

how to apply mathematical theory in solving exercises. In the 'reformed' period, most of the mathematics exercises were pure exercises. Recently, a number of application exercises have increased in the current middle school textbooks. However, the way in which application exercises are used is still quite conventional, primitive and limited. That is, students are expected to apply mathematical theory in solving application exercises. Freudenthal strongly opposed this viewpoint which he called 'anti-didactical inversion' on mathematics education. Conversely, according to RME's viewpoint, realistic contexts need to be firstly given to students and give them chances to reinvent mathematics. Unlike the usual lessons, 'theoretical' and 'practical' lessons are not clear-cut in RME-based geometry lesson. Although it appeared that these RME-based lessons took the teachers quite long time, students would need less time for consolidation if they fully grasp knowledge. The two teachers, who used RME-based lessons, were not aware of this.

However, it is possible to change the way of using the situations in RME-based lessons to deal with the teaching time pressure. More specifically, in some cases, group working can be replaced by whole class and individual working. Because most of the students were familiar with the content of the 'Triangle Sum Theorem' (the 'Triangle-Angle Sum Theorem) lesson before this lesson was officially presented (see section 4.2.5 of this chapter), a teacher does not sufficiently apply the first two situation so that s/he let her/his students work with the other situations. In the other lessons, a teacher can also organize whole class or individual tasks for some first situations. As discussed in chapter 1, typically, teacher-centered approach still has dominant in teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam school. Furthermore, there are significant differences between the current mathematics curriculum and the (Dutch) RME one (see section 3.2.2.3 of chapter 3). In addition, the unique nationwide set of mathematics curriculum and textbooks is often regarded as the official materials for teaching and learning in Vietnam school; furthermore, teaching time is set up for a small unit by a curricular distribution which is designed by a local department of education and training in a province or city. These are the reasons why it is extremely hard to apply RME in teaching and learning in Vietnam. Using RME and the current approaches of teaching in Vietnam alternatively is also a feasible solution.

4.6.3.2 Encouraging low-performing students

According to the teachers, some low-performing students did some private work and did not participate in the discussions. They believed that the tasks were for only highperforming students. As presented in sections 4.3.4, 4.4.6 and 4.5.5 of this chapter, one of the reasons is that the second teacher, Mr. Mui, let his students work in large groups. Furthermore, for each situation, there was one worksheet for all students in each group. Consequently, the teacher could not collect enough feedback from his students. To remedy this problem, several solutions can be used. Firstly, a teacher should explain that every student should deal with the tasks of RME-based lessons. Furthermore, as discussed in section 4.6.3.2 of this chapter, different ways of organizing the class such as whole class discussion or individual working can be alternatively used. In addition, a teacher should divide students into smaller groups and distribute worksheets to every individual student so that s/he can control individual's work and obtain more feedback from the students' worksheets. Finally, a teacher should pay attention to lowperforming students in groups during their discussions. Fully experienced with RMEbased lessons, low-achieving students will notice this teaching and learning style is especially good for them because they have chance to discover from informal to formal mathematics.

Chapter 5 Proposals for applying RME-based geometry lessons in Vietnam

RME complies with the Vietnamese teaching method reform and, as such, has great potential for mathematics education in Vietnam. However, the mathematics teachers and students who worked with RME-based lesson plans encountered a variety of challenges and obstacles (see section 4.6.1 of chapter 4). This chapter discusses conditions and requirements for applying RME-based geometry lessons in Vietnamese middle school. It discusses the following factors: viewpoints on mathematics education, conditions for applying RME-based lessons (amount of content in mathematics curricula and textbooks, the teaching time pressure, teaching and learning equipments, etc.), teachers' education, students' ability and some additional factors. The materials for the proposals are based on analyzing the characteristics of mathematics education in Vietnam (see chapter 1), RME theory (see chapter 2), the bases for designing RME-based geometry lesson (see chapter 3), the feedback from the two teachers and their students (see chapter 4) and the feedback from the middle school mathematics teachers' survey (see the questionnaire form in appendix B).

Nguyen Thanh Thuy (2005) carefully analyzed the effects and process of learning to teach realistic mathematics. She discussed how student teachers developed during teaching methods course, micro-teaching and teaching practice. Because the high school mathematics teachers supervising the student teachers were active and familiar with new approaches in teaching and learning mathematics, including the student-centered learning (since they were involved in several projects related to the reform of teaching methods), Nguyen Thanh Thuy's subjects were quite flexible.

5.1. Viewpoints on mathematics education

As discussed in chapter 2 and section 3.2.2 of chapter 3, the Dutch RME curriculum differs from the Vietnamese mathematics curriculum, which is quite limited despite its recent significant changes. It is important to convince not only school mathematics teachers but also mathematics educators, curriculum creators and textbook writers to consider new perspectives on teaching and learning mathematics in school.

5.1.1 Mathematics as a ready-made product or mathematics as a human activity

As discussed in section 2.2.1 of chapter 2, one of the important Freudenthal's viewpoints on school mathematics is 'mathematics as a human activity'. The opposite
viewpoint is 'mathematics as a ready-made product'. School mathematics in Vietnam is similar to the second one; that is, mathematics is often regarded as a ready-made product. Typically, students are first taught formal mathematics (concepts, theorems, regulations and formulae) in 'theoretical' lessons. Later, they are taught how to apply this knowledge in solving mathematics exercises in 'practical' lessons. According to the surveyed middle school teachers, one of the important purposes of teaching and learning mathematics in school is to help students acquire formal mathematical concepts, theorems, regulations and formulae and apply them in solving mathematical exercises (see a statistics in section 5.1.2 of this chapter). The theoretical emphasis of Vietnamese school mathematics caused many students to struggle in their mathematics learning (see section 5.2.6 of this chapter). In middle school geometry parts in the current textbooks, formal deductive geometry is quickly introduced to students in each lesson although a number of complicated topics have been omitted. This approach forces students to learn formal deductive geometry which is not related to their common sense or informal strategies and solutions. Consequently, some students mechanically learned mathematics. The students learn formal geometry concepts, theorems, regulations, formulae and different problems' forms, and then they apply them to solve geometry exercises (see also section 5.1.2 of this chapter). According to this way, Vietnamese middle school students must learn formal deductive geometry so early and so quickly that the majority of them often encounter many difficulties with this subject. According to the survey (the questionnaire form in appendix B and the statistics in section 5.2.6 of this chapter), many middle school teachers stated that their students often encountered obstacles when they learn geometry. Therefore, the 'mathematics as a human activity' viewpoint should be carefully considered in mathematics education in Vietnam.

5.1.2 Guided reinvention/rediscovery

This section discusses a role of guided reinvention/rediscovery in teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam. One question in the questionnaire asked the middle school teachers what they should emphasize in their teaching. A number of the teachers' ideas are presented in figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1: The teachers' ideas

According to the survey (see the questionnaire form in appendix B), the middle school teachers thought, above all, that the most important aspect of teaching is ensuring that students retain learned knowledge (e.g. formal concepts, theorems, formulae and regulations) and apply this knowledge to solve mathematics problems (see figure 5.1). On the contrary, only one third of the interviewed teachers believed that it is very important for students to be guided to rediscover mathematical knowledge. Guided reinvention/discovery, according to the interviewed middle school teachers, is less important than the other factors. However, they also recognized its role in teaching and learning mathematics, as more than a half of them believed that it is quite important (see figure 5.1). In general, the middle school teachers' viewpoints on mathematic education were still rather primitive and limited. Their primary objective was to help their students memorize formal concepts, theorems, formulae and regulations by assigning similar mathematics problems so that their students could apply them to solve formal mathematics problems. One possible cause of the teachers' focuses was examinations' pressure. The mechanistic approach still played a dominant role in teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam (see discussion about four different approaches to mathematics education in section 2.3.2 of chapter 2).

As discussed in section 2.2 of chapter 2, one of the important ideas of Freudenthal for RME is 'guided reinvention'. It is necessary to convince Vietnamese school teachers that guided reinvention also plays an important role in teaching and learning mathematics.

5.1.3 Well-structured mathematics curriculum and textbooks

According to the feedback of the teachers' survey (see the questionnaire form in appendix B), most middle school mathematics teachers believed that good mathematics

textbooks should be well-structured. In their opinions, mathematics should be scientifically, systematically and logically presented in school textbooks. They regarded this characteristic as one of the advantages of the 'reformed' mathematics textbooks. Generally, both the 'reformed' and current Vietnamese mathematics textbooks emphasize structures of mathematics, although the second series has slightly reduced requirements of mathematics structures. For example, the primary curriculum presents integer numbers with additions and subtractions up until 10 through 100, 1000 and 10 000 to millions. However, a structural characteristic is not a compulsory characteristic in a RME curriculum. According to Freudenthal (1991, p. 119), in some cases, education can benefit from things that "look like chaos".

5.1.4 Informal knowledge (strategies and solutions) in teaching and learning mathematics

As discussed in section 1.3.1 of chapter 1, Vietnamese school mathematics curricula and textbooks are quite formal. In general, informal mathematics (strategies or solutions) is not officially accepted (see MoET, 2002 a, pp.1-2). In contrast, RME approach encourages students to rediscover informal knowledge.

Generally, Vietnamese mathematics school teachers emphasize the way students present their solutions or strategies. One purpose of the mathematics curriculum is to help students practice how to express their ideals clearly (see MoET; 2002 a, p. 1). Consequently, students are able to practice correct usages of mathematical expression. However, its disadvantage is that in some cases, students have to follow fix their teachers' prescribed forms of presentation.

It appeared that the middle school mathematics teachers believed that a good solution must be logically presented and contain a detailed explanation. The middle school mathematics teachers were asked to give their feedback on six solutions of a problem known the 'T-shirts and Sodas' problem (see Van Reeuwijk, 1995, pp. 2-4; appendix B). More specifically, the teachers were asked to comment on six solutions of students. Five solutions based on five strategies in a paper of Van Reeuwijk (1995, pp. 2-4) were used. Aside from these five mentioned solutions, one very formal solution was added. In general, most of the teachers did not accept solutions 1 and 5. The teachers did not consider the first solution, known as *guess and check*, to be a mathematics solution, and generally thought the fifth solution was too complicated. Solutions 4 and 6 are very similar. Solution 6 is a formal style of solution 4. Most of

them thought that the sixth solution, a very formal solution, was sufficient and correct, and the fourth solution was insufficient and incorrect. According to these teachers, formal solutions of mathematics problems were very important for students. Most of the teachers thought that solutions 2 and 3 were good; however, they complained that these solutions could not be generalized and applied for other similar problems. In general, these teachers preferred formal solutions. According to Van Reeuwijk (1995, p. 2), the 'T-shirts and Sodas' problem is given to students to encourage them discover different informal strategies. Some of the students could gradually build and use formal knowledge; however, it is not compulsory for them to use formal knowledge (Van Reeuwijk, 1995, p. 3). On the contrary, in some extents, formal knowledge is introduced too early and quickly to students, and understanding and knowing how to applying formal knowledge are compulsory in Vietnamese school.

As discussed in chapter 4, while working with RME-based lessons, the students tended to use formal mathematics to solve the problems, although in some cases, it was not necessary. It implies that deductive reasoning was typically regarded as a unique way for reasoning while Vietnamese students presented their solutions.

5.1.5 Teaching mathematics application

As discussed and analyzed in section 1.4.1 of chapter 1 and section 3.1.2 of chapter 3, a number of mathematics applications have increased significantly in the current middle school mathematics textbooks. However, the presentation of mathematics applications is quite conventional and rigid. Initially, formal mathematics (axioms, definitions, regulations and theorems) is taught, and then students are expected to use formal mathematics to solve application problems. Conversely, as discussed in section 2.4.1 of chapter 2 and section 3.2.2.3 of chapter 3, according to RME approach, context problems are presented first. While working with context problems, students gradually build their own informal knowledge. In some cases, it is not compulsory for students to work with formal knowledge (axioms, definitions, regulations and theorems) (see, for example, Van Reeuwijk, 1995 & 2001).

Moreover, although a number of mathematics applications have been significantly increased in the current middle school textbooks, teachers' application strategies are still in question. About 74% of the questioned middle school teachers thought that mathematics applications were adequately presented in the current mathematics curriculum. Nonetheless, there is a question about its actual role in teaching and learning mathematics. According to the feedback of the teachers' idea survey, although about 75% teachers often focused on mathematics applications in their teaching, only 23% usually used these applications in oral examinations, and around 38% frequently utilized those in written examinations (see figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2: The frequent use of mathematics application in lessons

It should be noted that examinations are one of the factors which affect the way of teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnamese school. Because the role of mathematics applications is not emphasized in examination, this role in teaching and learning mathematics might be less essential than mathematics educators expect.

5.1.6 Emergent modeling

As discussed above in section 3.2.2.3 of chapter 3, "didactical modeling" and "mathematical modeling" are utilized in the geometry contents of the current Vietnamese middle school textbooks. Firstly, "didactical modeling" is used to concretize formal knowledge (concepts, theorems, formulae, etc.). Students are often asked to manipulate (draw, measure, fold, cut, etc.) according to the guidance of the mathematics textbooks. The purpose of this manipulation is to help students recognize geometrical characteristics. After that, formal mathematics (concepts, theorems, formulae, etc.) is presented. This way offers certain advantages. Students are introduced 'intuition pictures' before formal mathematics is officially presented. However, there are also some disadvantages. The first one is that students do not have the opportunity to reinvent knowledge. Rather, students rigidly adhere to specific instructions and require only simple comments. Moreover, formal knowledge is quickly purveyed to students because of the teaching time pressure. As discussed above in section 5.1.1 of this chapter, acquiring formal knowledge is compulsory tasks for all students in Vietnam. For this reason, some parts of students cannot understand the essence of events. Students often find geometry very complicated and abstract. Finally,

it is better if some other different ways are used in the mathematics textbooks besides manipulations.

In the Vietnamese situation of mathematics education, it is impossible to apply a whole RME curriculum (see section 3.1.2.3 of chapter 3). In addition, the teachers and their students encountered some difficulties while working with RME-based lessons (see section 4.6.1 of chapter 4). These RME-based lessons were presented in order to help students rediscover knowledge. However, the teachers and students did not adjust to working with these lessons. Moreover, the teachers were always concerned about the teaching time allowance. The situation in Vietnam is quite different from that in the Netherlands. It is suggested that apart from "didactical modeling" and "mathematical modeling", "emergent modeling" should be used in teaching mathematics in Vietnamese middle school. In addition, emergent modeling can function as "a precursor to mathematical modeling" as Gravemeijer (2004) suggested.

5.2 Conditions for applying RME-based geometry lessons

Section 5.1 of this chapter discussed the viewpoints which mathematics educators, textbook authors and teachers should accept so that mathematics is taught in a meaningful way. This section discusses necessary conditions so that RME-based geometry lessons can be applied in teaching and learning in Vietnamese school. Specifically, it discusses teachers' quality and competence, amount of content in the mathematics textbooks, teaching time pressure, teachers' and students' difficulties, etc.

5.2.1 Teachers' quality and competence

As discussed in section 1.3.5 of chapter 1, due to historical factors, there is a rather high percentage of school teachers who do not reach the qualification standard in Vietnam. It is difficult for these mathematics teachers to change their teaching styles. They are often experienced teachers but not properly-trained. RME-based geometry lessons are not especially suitable for their teaching.

Recently, a national-wide study, implemented by the National Institute for Education Strategy and Curriculum Development (NIESAC) in two years (2004-2006), reveals that 60 % of primary and 70 % of middle school teachers have encountered difficulties when applying new methods of teaching and using modern teaching facilities in working with the current curricula and textbooks (Nhan Dan, 2006). This finding implies that, in general, quality and competence of Vietnamese teachers have

not satisfied the requirements of the new curricula and textbooks. Consequently, there are related problems needed to be instantly solved, including training in-service and pre-service teachers and adjusting these curricula and textbooks.

Specifically, the two teachers using RME-based lessons encountered some difficulties during their teaching although Mr. Mui, the six-year teacher, got a master degree of education and Ms. Huong, the new teacher, graduated from a college of education. The way in which Mr. Mui used the *situations* of RME-based lessons and organized his students' group working was not effective. In addition, both teachers complained that they could not manage their students during the groups' discussions. The detailed discussions are presented in section 4.6.1 of chapter 4. The possible solutions to this problem are discussed in section 4.6.3.2 of chapter 4.

5.2.2 Amount of content in the current mathematics textbooks

Although complicated and theoretical content has been significantly reduced in the current mathematics textbooks, it appears that the amount of content in these textbooks is not particularly suitable for the majority of students.

The current primary curriculum is quite rigorous for students. For this reason, the MoET (Ministry of Education and Training) decided to reduce 15% of the current primary curriculum from the school-year 2005-2006. However, primary teachers are rather perplexed because they have not received detailed instruction for this reduction. The study of The National Institute for Education Strategy and Curriculum Development (NIESAC) (see section 5.2.1) has also confirmed that mathematics curriculum and textbooks of grades 6 and 8 are quite challenging for students' competence and learning conditions, especially quantity of learning time (Nhan Dan, 2006).

Although most of the interviewed middle school teachers confirmed that the amount of mathematics contents has been decreased remarkably, some of them still argued that it was still difficult for most students in rural and remote areas to keep up with the current curriculum and textbooks (see the questionnaire form in appendix B and figure 5.3). Furthermore, half of the teachers believed that the current textbooks were not suitable for the teaching time allowance. More specifically, these teachers often argued that it was difficult for them to adjust methods of teaching because of the teaching time regulation.



Figure 5.3: The teachers' opinions about the current mathematics curriculum and textbooks

5.2.3 Teaching time pressure

As discussed previously in section 3.2.1 of chapter 3, a curricular distribution which is designed by a local department of education and training often determines time for not only each chapter in a textbook, but also for each small unit in a chapter. More specifically, this material even prescribes to teachers what to teach within a 45-minute-lesson. This policy has both advantages and disadvantages. The main advantage is that a teacher knows what s/he has to teach, and how long s/he is allowed to teach. However, as discussed in section 1.3.1.1 of chapter 1, Vietnamese school students' competence varies not only by region- i.e. urban through rural to remote (mountainous and islandish) areas- but even within a same area or different students within a class students' individual abilities tend to differ. For this reason, a fixed curricular distribution should be adjusted for applying RME-based lessons as well as the renovation of teaching methods in Vietnam.

From the students' and teachers' feedback analysis, it was not easy for the teachers to apply RME-based lessons because RME-based lessons were quite new for them, and the teachers always suffered from the teaching time pressure.

As discussed in chapter 4 (sections 4.3, 4.4 & 4.5), Mr. Mui, who taught three lessons of RME-based lessons, dealt with the teaching time pressure by using the two solutions: dividing the students into large groups and giving different tasks to different groups.

With the first manner, he hoped that it was easier for the students to rediscover knowledge while they were working in groups of around 6 to 7 members. However,

this way also had the disadvantage of some low-achieving students relying on the others and doing some private work during the discussions. Moreover, in each *situation*, he gave only one copy of the worksheet to each group. Hence, we did not get feedback of all students. Mr. Mui complained that he could hardly control the students while they were working in groups. Apparently, he does not have sufficient experience organizing students' group working. It would be better if he were to distribute a worksheet to every student in each group. At first, every student herself/himself should try to answer the questions; then the students discuss the questions in groups to find solutions. All worksheets of individual and groups should be collected so that a teacher can receive feedback from all students in a class.

The second solution of Mr. Mui was not particularly effective. Some groups worked with easy tasks, while others had to deal with more complicated and formal tasks. Furthermore, these tasks should be used following a specific order.

The reason for using the existing distribution curriculum is that it guides teachers what and how long should they teach. A local department of education and training wants to ensure that all contents which are set up by curricula and textbooks are taught in school. It is suggested that a curriculum distribution should have a general rules such as what and how long teachers should teach for a chapter in a textbook. However, it requires that teachers have to response for their work, and teachers are at a high competence.

5.2.4 Teachers' difficulties

5.2.4.1 Methods of teaching mathematics

The middle school teachers interviewed by the questionnaire (see appendix B) often used some methods or approaches: developing students' activeness⁸⁵, the student-centered approach, using suggested questions, problem solving and using visual means (see figure 5.4). There were some approaches or methods which they do not know or rarely used such as constructivism, the didactical situation in mathematics, teaching in activities and by activities and using ICT (see figure 5.4). The data of the figure 5.4 showed what methods or approaches (according to personal realization of the teachers) the teachers often or rarely used in their teaching; however, the questions about how

⁸⁵ It was easy to understand why 138 of 152 teachers answered that they often used a method called developing students' activeness because recently, it has become one motto of the Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) (see figure 5.4).

they use these methods or approaches have not been answered. According to Stigler and Hiebert (1999, p. 16), "It is difficult to know how accurately teachers describe their methods and what they mean by the words they use." Generally, 'new' approaches were not familiar to these teachers.



Figure 5.4: Methods of teaching mathematics

5.2.4.2 Teachers' difficulties for the reform of teaching methods

According to the feedback from the survey, the middle school mathematics teachers often encountered the following challenges (figure 5.5):

1. Teachers' difficulty with using new modern teaching equipment and teaching aids (computers, overhead projectors and beamers) (35 ideas);

2. Insufficient teaching equipment and teaching aids (computers, overhead projectors, beamers, transparent paper, etc.) (51 ideas);

- 3. Unsuitable quality of teaching facilities (24 ideas);
- 4. Students' low levels of awareness (especially those in rural areas) (44 ideas);
- 5. Different students' levels of awareness (43 ideas);
- 6. Rigorous amount of content (especially for students in rural areas) (43 ideas);
- 7. Insufficient teaching time and unsuitable curricular distribution (41 ideas);

- 8. High number of students in a class (47 ideas);
- 9. Insufficient guidance and reference material (30 ideas);
- 10. Miscellaneous difficulties (15 ideas).



Figure 5.5: The teachers' difficulties in the reform of teaching methods

Most of the teachers complained that they experienced difficulties in teaching facilities: unfamiliarity with facilities (35 ideas), insufficiency of facilities (51 ideas), and unsuitable and low quality of facilities (24 ideas) (110 ideas in total). In addition, they had problem with students' awareness: low levels of awareness (44 ideas) and different levels of awareness (43 ideas) (87 ideas in total). More specifically, certain students in rural areas were at low levels of awareness, and students' competency levels were quite different in a class. Moreover, the teachers suffered from rigorous amount of content in the textbooks, insufficient teaching time, unsuitable curricular distributions, high number students per class and insufficient guidance and reference materials.

Although the teaching aids (computers, overhead projectors, beamers, photocopy machines, ect. and others) have been equipped for school, some of the surveyed middle school teachers complained about the quality of the teaching aids and the insufficient instructions. Some teachers did not acclimate to using the 'modern' teaching aids. In addition, some teachers also complained that it required too much

time to design 'electronic teaching plans' by using some software such as PowerPoint. They found these additional preparation tasks inconvenient and frustrating.

5.2.5 Assessment and examinations

As discussed previously in section 1.3.3 of chapter 1, in Vietnam, teaching and learning mathematics are often affected by assessment and examinations which regard mathematics as a formal subject (see some examinations in Do Dat, 2000). RME-based lessons will be applied if informal strategies and knowledge are also accepted in mathematics examinations.

In general, assessment is rather rigid and conventional in Vietnam. Mathematics teachers often emphasize assessing how students understand and remember formal mathematics (concepts, theorems, formulae and regulations) and apply this knowledge in solving exercises. Students are often asked to solve problems in mathematics examinations. These exercises belong to either pure or applied mathematics problems. To solve applied mathematics problems, students often work with traditional mathematical modeling (as discussed in section 3.2.2.3 of chapter 3).

The 'Polar Bear' problem was used to interview the middle school teachers (see appendix B). The aim of the problem is to encourage students to predict an average weight of students and use informal strategies to deal with the problem. In Vietnam, the way of using similar problems is quite different. More specifically, students are initially taught formal knowledge (division with remainder). Then students are expected to utilize formal knowledge to solve problems. About 80% of the mathematics middle teachers interviewed confirmed that the mentioned problem did not have enough suppositions (see figure 5.6; see also appendix B). In contrast, only about one eighth of them thought that it was a good problem. Some of the teachers gave additional ideas about this problem (see figure 5.7). These teachers urged that this problem needed more suppositions such as an average weight, an age and a gender and a 'same weight' characteristic of students (50 ideas in total). In addition, some teachers believed that comparing the Polar Bear' and students' weight was useless (19 ideas). However, a few teachers thought that this problem was suitable for high-performing students because these students could predict or find an average weight of their classmates (6 ideas). It appears that Vietnamese mathematics teachers did not use 'open' problems which have different solutions. Generally, most Vietnamese school mathematics teachers did not accept similar problems. More specifically, Vietnamese students are firstly taught formal mathematics and are expected to apply it in solving mathematics problems which are either pure or applicable ones. It should be noted that most of applicable problems which are used in teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam are bare problems. In other words, these problems are often situated in ideal conditions.



Figure 5.6: The teacher' opinions about the 'Polar Bear' problem



Figure 5.7: Additional ideas of teachers about the 'Polar Bear' problem

Recently, tests have been started to use in mathematics examinations in Vietnam. Forms of assessment have been renovated; however, content of mathematics examinations does not change.

It is argued that not only form, but also content of assessment and examinations should be improved. In the past, nearly all school mathematics examinations are written examinations. Recently, tests have been researched and experimented in school examinations. Special attention has been paid to forms of assessment and examination. Nevertheless, content of assessment and examinations need to be renovated. 5.2.6 Students' difficulties in learning mathematics

One question of the questionnaire asked the middle school teachers what difficulties their students often met while learning mathematics. Eighty-two among the 152 teachers answered this question. According to their answers, while learning mathematics, their students often meet the following difficulties (figure 5.8):

1. Students' dislike for mathematics and lack of amenities in learning mathematics (11 ideas);

2. Students' laziness of thinking, solving mathematics exercises, reading mathematics textbooks and learning mathematics (16 ideas);

3. Inactivity and uncreativeness of students in learning mathematics (17 ideas);

4. Students' carelessness in learning mathematics (15 ideas);

5. Poor students' presentation (students' difficulty in presenting a solution of a mathematics problem and using properly Vietnamese and mathematical languages) (30 ideas);

6. Some students' lack of basic mathematics knowledge of previous grades and lessons (32 ideas);

7. Students' weak ability of applying mathematics theory in solving mathematics exercises (25 ideas);

8. Students' difficulties in learning geometry (25 ideas);

9. Rigorous mathematics curriculum and textbooks (17 ideas);

10. Insufficient learning aids (12 ideas)

11. Abstract characteristics of school mathematics; lack of practical activity (19 ideas);

12. Low or different competence of students (15 ideas);

13. Lack of learning time (11 ideas)

14. Lack of orientation for solving a problem (16 ideas)

15. Weak ability of logical thought (17 ideas)

16. Others (37 ideas).



Figure 5.8: Students' difficulties in learning mathematics

According to these middle school mathematics teachers, their students often met various difficulties of learning mathematics. Nearly 40% of the teachers claimed that students' lacked of knowledge in previous lessons or grades and erratic learning patterns of acquiring knowledge also accounted for students' difficulties in learning mathematics. In addition, Vietnamese teachers often focus on ways in which their students present solutions to a mathematics exercises. They believed that it was very important for students to learn mathematics. Around 36% teachers argued that their students could not get high results of mathematics because of their poor presentation of mathematics problems although they could solve these problems. Furthermore, 30% teachers believed that their students often met difficulties in learning geometry. Similarly, the percentage of the teachers who thought that their students were not good at applying formal theorems (concepts, theorems, regulations and formulae) in solving mathematics problems is 30%.⁸⁶ Moreover, there were some difficulties such as abstract characteristic of school mathematics, students' uncreativeness and inactiveness, etc.

One of possible reasons for the mentioned students' difficulties was that Vietnamese mathematics curricula and textbooks place strong emphasis on formal mathematics. Consequently, it is rather difficult for students to learn mathematics. It is believed that working with RME-based lessons helps students overcome certain obstacles such as the student' lack knowledge in previous lessons, the student' difficulties with learning geometry, the abstract characteristic of school mathematics, the students' uncreativeness and unactiveness, etc.

5.3 Proposals for applying RME-based lessons in Vietnamese school

5.3.1 Applying RME-based lessons in Vietnamese middle school

This section reconsiders the difficulties the two teachers, Mr. Le Xuan Mui and Ms. Do Lan Huong, encountered while applying RME-based lessons in their teaching (see the detailed analysis of the feedback from the teachers and their students in chapter 4). To overcome similar obstacles, later, this section proposes possible solutions to help middle school teachers who will apply RME-based lessons.

5.3.1.1 The difficulties the teacher and students encountered

As discussed in chapter 4 (sections 4.2.5, 4.3.4, 4.4.6, 4.5.5 and 4.6.1), while teaching and learning with RME-based lessons, the teachers and their students encountered some challenges. The following paragraph reconsiders the most common difficulties the teachers and their students encountered:

• The teachers were constrained by the pressure of limited teaching time;

- When the teachers organized the students' group working, some obstacles emerged:
 - · The teachers lacked experience for facilitating group work;

 \cdot A few low-performing students did not actively participate in the discussions with other members in their groups;

• The greater volume of noise from the students' discussions could disturb the neighboring classes;

⁸⁶ The National Institute for Education Strategy and Curriculum Development (NIESAC) (2006) has inquired into primary and middle school student' knowing, understanding, and applying. Its study also confirms that among these phases, students are worst at applying (Nhan Dan, 2006).

• The teachers had to understand the RME's philosophy and RME-based lessons, spend more time preparing these lessons and use more tools for their teaching;

• Formal mathematics was immoderately emphasized in Vietnamese middle school lessons;

• The students often encountered the 'indirect' tasks;

5.3.1.2 Proposals for applying RME-based geometry lessons

This section discusses possible proposals helping teachers and students solve the aforementioned problems (see section 4.6.1 of chapter 4) while applying RME-based lessons in their teaching and learning. More specifically, the primary aim of this section is to find the solutions for the teaching time pressure, the unfamiliarity with group working, RME, RME-based lessons and the 'indirect' tasks and the excessiveness of formal mathematics in middle school lessons.

5.3.1.2.1 The teaching time pressure:

As discussed in chapter 4 (sections 4.2.4, 4.3.3, 4.4.5, 4.5.4), the two teachers who applied RME-based lessons to their teaching, stated that the teaching time pressure is one of the main obstacles for them. This section discusses possible proposals to solve the problem of the teaching time pressure. More specifically, the following proposals are discussed:

• Explaining the difference between RME-based lessons and typical Vietnamese mathematics lessons;

• Adjusting RME-based lessons;

• Applying 'traditional' approach and RME-based lessons alternatively;

• Using RME-based lessons in selected mathematics lessons;

a) Explaining the difference between RME-based lessons and typical Vietnamese mathematics lessons

Chapters 3 and 4 (sections 3.2.2.3, 4.6.1 and 4.6.3.1) discuss the difference between the structure of RME-based geometry lessons and the structure of typical Vietnamese mathematics lessons. As discussed in section 3.2.2.3 of chapter 3, at the beginning of typical geometry lessons of the current mathematics textbooks, students are often asked to execute some manipulations (drawing, measuring, cutting, folding, etc.) which functions as "didactical modelling" (Gravemeijer, 2004, p. 98), followed by formal mathematics (geometric theorems, concepts and formulae). Later, students are expected to apply formal mathematics in solving mathematics application problems (see sections 3.2.2.3.2 of chapter 3 and 4.6.1 of chapter 4). Moreover, as discussed in section 4.6.1 of chapter 4, Vietnamese mathematics lessons are often divided into 'theoretical' lessons and 'practical' lessons.

By contrast, in RME-based lessons, students are offered situations which help them gradually discover from informal mathematics to formal mathematics. In fact, 'theoretical' and 'practical' lessons are not always explicitly distinguished from each other in RME-based lessons (see RME-based lessons in appendix C). Furthermore, when students fully grasp knowledge in RME-based lessons, there is no need to offer students many 'consolidation' exercises (see discussion in section 4.6.1 of chapter 4).

RME-based lessons (see appendix C) did not explicitly elucidate the difference between the structure of RME-based lessons and the typical Vietnamese mathematics lessons. The two teachers applying RME-based lessons did not realize this difference. For this reason, these teachers believed that similar to the typical Vietnamese lessons, they needed more 'practical' lessons to help their students consolidate mathematics knowledge. Consequently, the teachers were under the impression that RME-based lessons required a great deal of time (see sections 4.2.4, 4.3.3, 4.4.5 and 4.5.4 of chapter 4).

Middle school mathematics teachers who will apply RME-based lessons should understand the aforementioned difference in the structure of RME-based lessons and the typical lessons in the current Vietnamese mathematics textbooks. Teachers should fully comprehend this difference so that they will feel secure while applying RMEbased lessons in their teaching.

b) Adjusting RME-based lessons

- Reducing some unnecessary situations

In some cases, it is possible to reduce usage of some situations in RME-based lessons such that teachers will not be overly concerned about the teaching time pressure. For example, in the Triangle Sum Theorem (Triangle-Angle Sum Theorem) (see RME-based lesson in appendix C), many students had known the content of the theorem already (see the students' worksheet analysis in sections 4.2.2 and 4.2.3 of chapter 4) before the lesson was officially taught. For this reason, *situations 1, 2 and 3* (see appendix C), designed to help students discover that the sum of the three angles in a

triangle is 180° , were not especially effective for these students. Therefore, when the content of this theorem is familiar to students, the new version of this RME-based lesson should offer students only two *last situations* (4 and 5) (see these situations in the Triangle Sum Theorem (Triangle-Angle Sum Theorem) in appendix C).

- Applying group/pair working, individual working and the whole class discussion alternatively

In the past, Vietnamese mathematics teachers rarely organized students' working in pairs or groups (see Do Dat, 2000, p. 4). Recently, they have been encouraged to use group/pair working. Consequently, the two teachers applying RME-based lessons in their teaching were not familiar with the instruction of the students' group/pair working (see discussion in section 4.6.1 of chapter 4). RME-based lessons (see appendix C) often suggested which type among group/pair working, individual working and the whole class discussion should be used in *each situation* of these lessons. However, the new version of RME-based lessons should let teachers choose the type they find most suitable for their teaching. Moreover, whereas group/pair working was primarily used in RME-based lessons (see appendix C), the new version of these lessons should offer students the chance to work individually and discuss with the whole class.

c) Applying 'traditional' approach and RME-based lessons alternatively

As discussed in section 3.1.2.3 of chapter 3, a RME curriculum cannot be applied in Vietnamese school for many reasons. This study discusses how to design RME-based geometry lessons and apply these lessons in Vietnamese middle school. However, it is also impossible for teachers to apply all RME-based lessons for a chapter in the current textbooks. In other words, some RME-based lessons could replace some lessons in the current textbooks. The feedback from the students' worksheets and the teachers' reports revealed that RME-based lessons were unfamiliar to them because of their different teaching and learning habits. To reduce the teaching time pressure, teachers, in some cases, can alternatively use 'traditional' methods for some specific situations in the first RME-based lessons when their students are not familiar with these lessons. More specifically, teachers can suggest their students when the students are puzzled by some tasks.

d) Applying RME-based lessons in selected mathematics lessons

Recently, apart from the official compulsory lessons, Vietnamese middle school students can choose *two selected forty-five-minute lessons* per week (see, for example, MoET, 2006, p. 3). In selected lessons, teachers are not constrained by the pressure of the limited teaching time. Therefore, mathematics teachers could apply RME-based geometry lessons in the selected mathematics lessons without having to worry about the teaching time pressure. RME-based geometry lessons were not applied in seventh-grade in the school-year 2005-2006 because this time, the selected lessons were available for students of eight-grade to twelfth-grade. The intended amount of time for RME-based lessons with the aforementioned adjustment is:

Table 5.1	: The proposals for the ar	mount of time for RME-base	d lessons as th	e selected
	n	nathematics lessons		

Nr.	Name of lessons	The amount of time
1	The Triangle Sum Theorem (with situations 4 and 5)	2 periods ⁸⁷
2	Perpendicular line and slant line	3-4 periods
3	The Triangle Inequality	2-3 periods
4	Characteristics of the bisector of an angle	2 periods
5	Characteristics of the three bisectors of a triangle	1 periods
6	Characteristics of the perpendicular bisector (mid- perpendicular) of a segment	2 periods
7	The 'railway station' problem	4-5 periods
8	Characteristics of the three perpendicular bisectors (mid-perpendiculars) of a triangle	2 periods

5.3.1.2.2 Guiding teachers through students' group/pair working

As repeated in section 5.3.1.1 of this chapter, the teachers often encountered some difficulties while organizing their students in groups or pairs because they lacked experience. It appeared that the teachers, especially Mr. Mui, overly organized his students' group working, but the ways he used were not suitable. More specifically,

⁸⁷ A teaching period lasts 45 minutes.

some of their unreasonable manners are (see the detailed discussions in section 4.3.4, 4.4.6 and 4.5.5 of chapter 4):

• Use students' group/pair working in some unnecessary cases;

• Apply students' group working improperly (the number of students per group, offering students' groups different-level tasks (situations) and distributing one worksheet to each group of about 6 or 7 members, etc.);

Some possible proposals which can help mathematics teachers overcome the aforementioned obstacles are:

• Considering which types among students' group/pair working, individual working and the whole class discussion should be use;

• Encouraging low-performing students to participate in discussions;

• Paying attention to low-performing students in each group;

• Dividing students into a reasonable number of groups based on tasks or situations in RME-based lessons;

• Paying attention to the orders of the situations in RME-based lessons;

• Distributing worksheets to every individual student in each group if necessary;

• Reminding students not to make noise during their discussions.

5.3.1.2.3 Additional proposals

As discussed at the instruction of this dissertation, some materials about RME's philosophy and characteristics, as well as RME-based geometry lessons, were translated into Vietnamese, and the two teachers applying RME-based lessons were offered these materials. However, according to the teachers' comments, the two teachers applying RME-based geometry lessons in their teaching requested more materials about RME. Therefore, more materials, especially more examples of RME, should be translated into Vietnamese and provided to teachers who will apply RME-based lessons in their teaching.

As analyzed in section 4.2, 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5 of chapter 4, it appeared that formal mathematics was emphasized in the Vietnamese mathematics curriculum and textbooks. In RME-base lessons, the students tended to exploit formal mathematics in order to solve the problems although in some cases, it was not necessary. The feedback from the students' worksheets revealed that the students sometimes made mistakes with formal deductive reasoning. In addition, in some cases, the students were puzzled

because they often thought that they had to apply (formal) deductive reasoning in solving the problems, while some situations of RME-based lessons encouraged them to discover informal mathematics.

Teachers who will apply RME-based lessons can explain the requirement about using formal mathematics to their students. In each situation of RME-based lessons, students should know whether they need deductive reason or not so that the situation does not confuse students.

As discussed in section 4.2, 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5 of chapter 4, the students sometimes encountered difficulties with the situations of RME-based lessons because they are often offered mathematical exercises with explicit tasks. In some cases, the two teachers, applied RME-based lessons in their teaching, did not clearly explain the requirements of the situations to their students for their impression of the pressure of teaching time.

When students do not fully understand the tasks in RME-based lessons, teachers should explain the tasks to their students and let them try to solve the problems, instead of reverting to conventional teaching methods.

5.3.2 Mathematics teachers' education

5.3.2.1 Teachers with substandard training

As discussed in section 1.3.5 of chapter 1, some parts of school teachers have not reached the training standards because of certain historic factors. It is difficult for these teachers to reform methods of teaching. Most of them are experienced but not well-trained teachers. Because they are already older, it is impossible for many of these teachers to obtain higher teaching qualification. However, it is also impossible to disregard them, since they played important roles in difficult periods of Vietnamese education. The MoET are trying to deal with this problem. RME-based lessons are not suitable for these middle school teachers.

5.3.2.2 Introducing RME and RME-based geometry lessons to in-service mathematics teachers

In Vietnam, primary and middle school mathematics teachers who graduated from colleges are able to participate in in-service courses often taught by lecturers in universities to earn higher degrees. In-service mathematics teachers participate in some courses about methods of teaching mathematics. Generally, contents of these preservice courses are quite flexible. Therefore, it is possible to introduce RME and RMEbased geometry lessons to pre-service middle school mathematics teachers.

These teachers often participate at full-time courses in specific time of the year. In-service middle school mathematics teachers are often offered methodology courses with 90-120 teaching periods. It is possible to introduce in-service middle school mathematics teachers to RME-based lessons in the methodology courses. The following will propose a possible amount of time, main contents, as well as suggested references of the introduction to RME-based lessons about 15-20 teaching periods in the methodology courses for in-service middle school mathematics teachers.

A mount of time for the methodology courses: 90-120 periods (each period lasts 45 minutes).

A mount of time for an introduction to RME-based lessons: about 15 periods to 20 periods.

After the introduction to RME-based lessons, in-service mathematics teachers should have general ideas about RME and the application of RME-based lessons in Vietnam. Moreover, they should apply RME-based geometry lessons to their teaching if possible.

Contents:

0. Survey (see the questionnaire form in appendix B) (1-2 periods)

1. Overview of RME theory (0.5 periods)

1.1 Brief introduction of the Wiskobas project

1.1 Brief introduction of some other related projects/ studies

Suggested references: Treffers (1987), De Lange (1987), Gravemeijer (1994) and Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen (1996).

2. Basic ideas of Freudenthal for RME (mathematics as a human activity, guided reinvention, didactical phenomenology) (1-2 periods)

2.1 Mathematics as a human activity

2.2 Guided reinvention

2.3 Didactical phenomenology

Suggested references: Freudenthal (1973, 1983 and 1991).

3. Meaning of 'Realistic' in RME (1 period)

- 3.1 Mathematizing
- 3.2 Different approaches to mathematics education
- 3.3 'Realistic' and 'authentic'

Suggested references: Treffers (1987), Freudenthal (1991) and Jahnke (2005).

4. Principles of RME (2-3 periods)

- 4.1 The use of contexts
- 4.2 The use of models
- 4.3 The students' own production and construction
- 4.4 The interactivity principle
- 4.5 The intertwining of mathematics strands
- Suggested references: Treffers (1987), De Lange (1987), Freudenthal (1991) and Gravemeijer (1994, 2004).
- 5. RME-based geometry lessons (4-5 periods)
 - 5.1 Overview of geometry curriculum and Vietnamese geometry curricula
 - 5.2 Insufficiency of conditions for a Vietnamese RME curriculum
 - 5.3 Foundations to design Vietnamese RME-based geometry lessons
 - 5.4 Introduction to RME-based lessons

Suggested references: chapter 3 and appendixes C and D of this dissertation.

6. Advantages and disadvantages of applying RME-based geometry lessons in Vietnamese school (2 periods)

Suggested references: Nguyen Thanh Thuy (2005) and chapter 4 of this dissertation.

- 7. Proposals for applying RME-based lessons in Vietnamese school (1.5-2 periods)
 - 7.1 Viewpoints on mathematics education
 - 7.2 Conditions for applying RME-based lessons
 - 7.3 Proposals to help mathematics teachers overcome possible difficulties

Suggested references: chapter 5 of this dissertation.

B. Design and apply RME-based lessons to other mathematics strands (2-2.5 periods)
Suggested references: Treffers (1987), De Lange (1987), Gravemeijer (1994), Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen (1996), Bakker (2004), Doorman (2005) and Nguyen Thanh Thuy (2005).

5.3.2.3 Prospective mathematics teachers

In general, Vietnamese mathematics teachers' training curricula often favor theory over practice. Pedagogical students often study theories in universities, whereas they do pedagogical practice (practicum) in school under guidance and control of school mathematics teachers and/or university supervisors. In the past, university lecturers took part in guiding and controlling students during practical time. However, due to a confluence of factors, particularly financial problems, recently, prospective teachers in some colleges and universities have been instructed by only senior school teachers during practicing time.⁸⁸ Senior school mathematics teachers tend to prefer prospective teachers who use teaching methods most often used in teaching in school. Because teaching methods in Vietnamese school are quite conventional and limited, trainee teachers are not encouraged in practicing new methods or approaches of teaching which they have studies in colleges and universities during practicing time in school. Consequently, prospective teachers cannot help using conventional teaching styles instructed by senior teachers in practicum. For this reason, they tend to utilize these styles when they become real teachers and work in school. This problem can be called a cycle of underdeveloped teaching methods.

In general, there is little chance for mathematics student teachers who are instructed by only senior school teachers to practice applying RME-based lessons during practicum time even though they have been introduced RME approach in colleges and universities. However, prospective mathematics teachers have opportunity to use RME-based lessons if they are given a secure environment in which they are guided by senior school mathematics teachers and lecturers in colleges and universities and are encouraged experiments with new approaches, including RME (see Nguyen Thanh Thuy, 2005, pp.154 & 179).

This policy has both advantages and disadvantages. The disadvantage is that prospective students do not have the opportunity to apply and practice what they study in universities.

5.3.2.3.1 Introducing RME and RME-based lessons

Typically, Vietnamese college or university curricula are quite fixed. In other words, students of a same academic discipline have to study same subjects (compulsory

⁸⁸ Hanoi University of Education and Hue University of Education are examples (see Hanoi University of Education, n.d.; Le Cong Chiem, n.d., pp. 9-10).

subjects) which are set by colleges, universities, or MoET, and normally, they may choose one selected subject. It is possible that RME is introduced as a theme of a selected subject. Normally, teaching methods in Vietnamese colleges and universities are still conventional, rigid and limited. There are theoretical lessons and practical lessons for most of subjects. In the theoretical lessons, lectures often give a lecture for from 100 to 200 students. In the practical lessons, there are a few students per class, and the students are asked to solve exercises to consolidate theories they have studied in the theoretical lessons. Recently, several Vietnamese universities have implemented experiments of using *a system of credits*. In these universities, students have chance to select suitable courses to study in each semester. This section discusses an introduction to a selected course about RME and RME-based lessons for prospective teachers.

A mount of time for a course about RME and RME-based lessons: about 30 periods to 45 periods.

After the course, students should understand RME theory (Freudenthal' viewpoints for RME and the characteristics of RME), know how to design RME-based lessons and to apply these lessons to their teaching.

Contents:

0. Survey (see the questionnaire form in appendix B) (2-3 periods)

- 1. Characteristics of Vietnamese mathematics education (4-6 periods)
 - 1.1 Characteristics of mathematics education in the 'reformed' period
 - 1.2 A necessary of a reform for mathematics education
 - 1.3 Some changes of mathematics education at present

Suggested references: Nguyen Ba Kim (2002); Pham Gia Duc et al. (1998) and several research papers in The Educational Review and The Educational Research (in Vietnamese).

- 2. RME theory (10-15 periods)
 - 2.1. Overview of RME theory (1 period)
 - 2.1.1 Brief introduction of the Wiskobas project
 - 2.1.1 Brief introduction of some other related projects/ studies

Suggested references: Treffers (1987), De Lange (1987), Gravemeijer (1994) and Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen (1996).

- 2.2. Basic ideas of Freudenthal for RME (2-3 periods)
 - 2.1 Mathematics as a human activity
 - 2.2 Guided reinvention
 - 2.3 Didactical phenomenology
- Suggested references: Freudenthal (1973, 1983 and 1991).
 - 2.3. Meaning of 'Realistic' in RME (1- 2 period)
 - 2.3.1 Mathematizing
 - 2.3.2 Different approaches to mathematics education
 - 2.3.3 'Realistic' and 'authentic'

Suggested references: Treffers (1987), Freudenthal (1991) and Jahnke (2005).

- 2.4. Principles of RME (4-5 periods)
 - 2.4.1 The use of contexts
 - 2.4.2 The use of models
 - 2.4.3 The students' own production and construction
 - 2.4.4 The interactivity principle
 - 2.4.5 The intertwining of mathematics strands

Suggested references: Treffers (1987), De Lange (1987), Freudenthal (1991) and Gravemeijer (1994, 2004).

2.5 Examples about RME (2-4 periods)

3. Applying RME to teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam (14-21 periods)

3.1 A way of applying RME in Vietnam (3-5 periods)

3.1.1 Insufficiency of conditions for a Vietnamese RME curriculum

3.1.2 Foundations to design Vietnamese RME-based lessons

3.1.3 Introduction to RME-based lessons

Suggested references: chapter 3 and appendixes C and D of this dissertation.

3.2. Chances and difficulties of applying RME-based geometry lessons in Vietnamese school (3-4 periods)

Suggested references: Nguyen Thanh Thuy (2005) and chapter 4 of this dissertation.

3.3. Proposals for applying RME-based lessons in Vietnamese school (3-5 periods)

3.3.1 Viewpoints on mathematics education

3.3.2 Conditions for applying RME-based lessons

3.3.3 Proposals to help mathematics teachers overcome possible difficulties Suggested references: chapter 5 of this dissertation.

3.4 Designing RME-based lessons (5-7 periods)

Suggested references: Treffers (1987), De Lange (1987), Gravemeijer (1994), Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen (1996), Bakker (2004), Doorman (2005) and Nguyen Thanh Thuy (2005).

5.3.2.3.2 Creating a secure environment for teachers-in-training during practicum

Although teachers-in-training have studied new approaches, they tend to used conventional ones as they wished for reliable structure (Nguyen Thanh Thuy, 2005, pp. 148-151). They could use RME in their teaching thanks to encouragement of their university supervisor, Mrs. Thuy. Moreover, Mrs. Thuy also asked their school supervisors to give the student teachers permission for applying RME. It could be implemented because the school supervisors understand and have experience with new approaches since they participated in some projects on renovation of teaching methods. In general, student teachers are affected by school supervisors during practicum time. It is quite difficult for them to apply new approaches which they have studied in colleges or universities during practicum time. Consequently, they tend to use conventional teaching styles for their practicum lessons.

Generally, curriculum for teacher's training is not flexible in Vietnam. More specifically, for instance, at Hanoi University of Education, nearly all of subjects are compulsory for every student who wants to become a mathematics teacher (a student can choose only one subject between several available subjects in the third year of study). The same situations are found in most colleges and universities in Vietnam. Recently, a few universities have started to reform curricula by using a system of credits. In the near future, all Vietnamese universities will apply this new type of curriculum. It also grants university lecturers and students more latitude in teaching and learning.

5.4 Conclusion

In sum, applying RME-based geometry lessons needs long-term solutions. First, viewpoints of Vietnamese mathematics teachers are still rather conventional although there have been considerable changes of mathematics education in Vietnam. Mathematics can be taught in a meaningful way if some new viewpoints are accepted

in Vietnam (mathematics as a human activity, guided reinvention, teaching applications in appropriate ways, emergent modeling, etc.). Aside from these adjustments' viewpoints, applying RME-based lessons become especially effective if some conditions such as the teachers' quality and competence, the amount of content in the present textbooks, the teaching time pressure, the teaching and learning facilities, etc. are satisfied. Finally, this chapter also discusses some possible solutions for training mathematics teachers so that they can apply RME-based lessons in their teaching.

Chapter 6 Conclusions and suggestions

6.1 Conclusions

Vietnamese education has been influenced by countries such as China, France, the U.S.A. and the former U.S.S.R. (Mo, 2003; Nguyen Thanh Thuy, 2005, pp. 3-5). It appears that the educational system in the last mentioned country, 'the eldest brother' of the former socialist system, had a particularly strong impact on Vietnamese education in the 'reformed' period. Fraser showed that the majority of Vietnamese researchers have studied in the former U.S.S.R.; the Vietnamese National Institute of Educational Science (NIES) in Hanoi had a structure, function and relationship with universities and other institutions that was quite similar to those of the U.S.S.R. Academy of Pedagogical Sciences (APS) in Moscow; and viewpoints of well-known Soviet educational researchers influenced their Vietnamese counterparts (1984, pp. 78 & 80-81). Moreover, education in Vietnam was influenced by consequences of the wars (Pham Minh Hac, 2002; Bui Minh Hien, 2005; Nguyen Thanh Thuy, p. 3). Vietnam's 'open' economic policy, started in 1986, has also affected its education system (Nguyen Thanh Thuy, 2005, p. 3). Finally, cultural factors have made a significant impact on Vietnamese education.

Recently, according to the former Minister of Education and Training, Nguyen Minh Hien, Vietnamese education has faced some serious problems, such as low quality of education, abuse of extra-classes, 'abuse of achievements'⁸⁹ and negatives in education (see, for instance, Thanh Ha, 2005). To some extent, mathematics education has also been affected by these factors.

This section discusses some conclusions related to the current situation of mathematics education, specifically the teaching and learning of geometry and the proposals for applying RME-based lessons.

6.1.1 Vietnamese mathematics education reconsidered

Recently, in comparison with the 'reformed' period, along with the education reform, mathematics education has significantly changed in all levels from primary through high school. As discussed in the introduction to this dissertation, the new series of mathematics textbooks has been used for all grades in primary and middle school. In

⁸⁹ 'Abuse of achievements' means an excessive attaching much important to *good* data of students' results. In other words, data in reports on education are extremely better than the fact.

addition, a new grade-ten mathematics textbook has been used since the school-year 2006-2007. In general, mathematics education has undergone noticeable improvements; however, it has faced many challenges. Generally, the structruralist and the mechanistic approaches still dominate mathematics education in Vietnam (see the distinction of the four different approaches in mathematics education in Treffers, 1987, p. 251 and section 2.3.2 of chapter 2). In other words, mathematics education in Vietnam is still quite conventional and rigid.

6.1.1.1 The current mathematics curricula and textbooks

The current mathematics curricula and textbooks still place strong emphasis on structures of mathematics and formal mathematics, although they do demonstrate some adjustment in the material's presentation order, as well as some deletion of complicated content. 'Uniqueness' is a characteristic of the current mathematics textbooks. That is, beyond the uniqueness of the curricula and textbooks as a whole, typically, a unique situation with a unique instruction or strategy is introduced to students at the beginning of each lesson. In comparison with the 'reformed' mathematics curricula and textbooks, the present ones pay more attention to pedagogic phase. More specifically, many long complicated contents are deleted in the current mathematics curricula and textbooks. Secondly, requirements of mathematical structures are slightly reduced. Thirdly, students are often introduced tasks at the beginning of each lesson before the formal mathematics (definitions, theorems, regulations and formulae). In addition, mathematics applications are paid special attention in the current textbooks. Finally, they have been designed to look more attractive to students, with figures, pictures, stories, events and so forth.

However, there are still many challenges for the current mathematics curricula and textbooks. The following paragraphs reconsider some of them.

Firstly, as discussed previously in section 1.3.1.1 of chapter 1, Vietnamese students' competence varies from urban to remote areas for many reasons, especially teaching and learning conditions and quality of teachers. According to the feedback from the teachers' survey, some teachers in rural areas complained that some material in the current mathematics textbooks are still difficult for their students (see the questionnaire form in appendix B)⁹⁰ although they admitted to a noticeable reduction of complicated theoretical content in these textbooks. This is also confirmed by a

⁹⁰ Almost no middle school mathematics teachers from remote areas were interviewed.

recent national study about the present primary and middle school curricula and textbooks of the National Institute for Education Strategy and Curriculum Development (NIESAC) (Nhan Dan, 2006). Consequently, some questions should be answered:

• Are the unique mathematics curricula and textbooks suitable for teaching and learning conditions in different areas in Vietnam?

• How to deal with the aforementioned problem if it still exists?

Secondly, as discussed above in section 1.3.1.2 of chapter one, it appears that there is the imbalance between the amount of content in the present mathematics textbooks and the quantity of time teachers and students have in school. If teachers and students suffer from the excessive time pressure, it is quite difficult for them to change their conventional teaching and learning styles. Therefore, it is worth researching the relation between the factors of allotted time versus the degree of instructional adjustment.

Thirdly, in comparison with the 'reformed' mathematics curricula and textbooks, the present ones have made many improvements; however, Vietnam may still lack the necessary philosophical outlook, scientific foundation and pedagogical theory necessary to further improve mathematics curricula and textbooks. Furthermore, there remain some questions related to situations in which students are expected to discover formal mathematics knowledge and the way mathematics applications are presented in the current textbooks (see, for example, section of 3.2.2.3 chapter 3). Finally, questions about the effect of tasks with *unique* instruction in these textbooks have yet to be answered (see some mathematics lessons in appendix A). More specifically, the question must be answered, are students bored with such unnatural repeated situations, in which they are required to follow word-for-word instructions in the textbooks in order to achieve results?

6.1.1.2 Teaching styles

In general, aside from the 'teacher explains, students listen and write down' style sufficiently described in section 1.3.2.1 (chapter 1), the mechanistic approach is still a favorite style in teaching and learning mathematics (see, for example, MoET, 2000 and section 5.1.2 of chapter 5). More specifically, mathematics teachers often try to help their students memorize formal knowledge (concepts, theorems, regulations and formulae) so that they can then apply this knowledge to solve mathematical problems.

Moreover, students are frequently given different forms of mathematics problems with solutions; they are then expected to remember these forms and solve similar problems with previously given ones. They are often equipped with sufficient tricks to pass and get good results on mathematics examinations, rather than actually taught the material. It appears that the pressure of examinations has resulted in this teaching style in Vietnam.

6.1.1.3 Examinations and assessment

In the 'reform' period, the main tool used to assess students' learning was written examination. Recently, tests have been researched and gradually used in mathematics examinations. Lately, a number of studies related to assessment have slightly increased (see, for instance, Nguyen Ba Kim, 2002, pp. 301-333; Institute for Education Research, 2004; Tran Kiem Minh, 2006, pp. 20-22). The MoET (2001, 2002 a & b) also discussed an innovation on examinations and assessment in mathematics. However, more studies on examinations and assessment should be conducted, and it is necessary to apply these studies on teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam. In addition, it appears that although there have been studies on forms of examinations and assessment, there is lack of research about the contents of examinations and assessment. More specifically, assessments use different forms (e.g. written examination, tests, etc.) to assess how students remember and apply formal mathematics.

6.1.1.4 Competence of teachers

As discussed in section 1.3.5 of chapter 1, some parts of Vietnamese teachers are still fall below the training standards. In general, it is rather difficult for these teachers to implement the teaching method innovation which have been launched by the MoET. In addition, it does not mean that the standard-trained teachers satisfy the requirements of working with the current curricula and textbooks. A recent study of the National Institute for Education Strategy and Curriculum Development (NIESAC) reveals that about 60% of primary teachers and 70% of middle school teachers have encountered difficulties with the present curriculum in working with the present curricula and textbooks (Nhan Dan, 2006). Generally, there are still some questions related to competence of teachers in Vietnamese school, especially those in rural and remote areas.

6.1.1.5 Some other factors

Although the MoET and the Vietnamese government have implemented many policies to upgrade conditions of teaching and learning in Vietnam, there are still many challenges for the education innovation in Vietnam. Aside from the factors in sections 6.1.1.1, 6.1.1.2, 6.1.1.3 and 6.1.1.4, this section discusses some other factors related to the renovation of teaching methods in Vietnam (see characteristics of mathematics education in Vietnam in chapter one; analyzing the teachers' comments and students' worksheets in chapter four; the feedback of the interviewed teachers, Chapman & Adams, 1998, pp. 645, 648 & 658; Nguyen Thanh Thuy, 2005, pp. 6-8; Nhan Dan, 2006):

- Large quantity of teachers' work;
- Low salary for teachers;
- Insufficient or poor quality of teaching facilities;
- Teachers' difficulties with using modern teaching equipment such as overhead projectors, beamers and computers;
- Insufficient teacher guidebooks;
- High number of students in a class;
- Low and/ or varying levels of students' competence⁹¹;
- Unaccommodating classrooms' structures for renovation of teaching and learning styles;
- Pressure of examinations and high result expectation.

6.1.2 The way of applying RME in teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam (answers to sub-questions 1 and 5)

This section discusses a possible way for applying RME in teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnamese school, in general and in middle school, in particularly. It answers to sub-questions 1 and 5 in sections 1.5.2.1 and 1.5.2.5, chapter 1.

Sub-question 1: *How can RME be applied in teaching and learning grade-seven geometry in Vietnamese school?*

⁹¹ Recently, there have been some newspapers' articles about a few students who finished grades 4, 5, 6, and 8 in some different areas in Vietnam cannot read, write and carry out very simple mathematics operations (see, for example, Duong The Hung, 2005; Minh Giang, 2005; Tran Dang, 2005; Ngoc Long, 2006). This fact probably is the consequence of what is called a 'disease of results' (see the brief description at the beginning of section 6.1 of this chapter).

Sub-question 5 is: *How often should RME be implemented in teaching and learning in Vietnamese middle school?*

As discussed in section 3.1.2.3 of chapter 3, it is impossible, at least in the near feature, to apply a RME curriculum in Vietnamese school because of the characteristics of mathematics education and the regulations relating to teaching and learning in Vietnam. However, RME-based lessons can be potentially applied in teaching and learning in school. The foundations for designing these RME-based lessons were discussed in section 3.2 of chapter 3. In addition, mathematics teachers should, themselves, understand the philosophy and the basic principles of RME if they wish to apply it to their teaching. More materials about RME should be introduced in Vietnam.

Based on the situation of Vietnamese mathematics education (chapter one) and the feedback analysis from the experiment of RME-based geometry lessons (chapter four), it is not reasonable to expect teachers to replace all normal lessons in the current mathematics textbooks by RME-based ones.

6.1.3 The potential of RME for mathematics education in Vietnam (answers to subquestion 3)

In general, RME is a promising approach for Vietnamese mathematics education. Its philosophy is appropriate to the orientation for the teaching method innovation discussed in section 1.4.2 of chapter 1. This section reconsiders some potentiality of RME for mathematics education in Vietnam to answer sub-question 3 in section 1.5.2.3 of chapter 1.

Sub-question 3 is: What is the potential of RME, and how can this potential help mathematics education in Vietnam overcome its shortcomings?

As discussed in section 1.3.2 of chapter one, generally, teaching and learning styles have been rather conventional, basic and rigid in Vietnamese school. For this reason, a reform of teaching methods has become necessary. The orientation of the renovation was described by MoET (2002 a) and Nguyen Ba Kim (2002, pp. 110-120). The philosophy of RME is quite suitable for this orientation. There is a need for long-term solutions for applying RME in mathematics education in Vietnam.

However, as discussed in section 3.1.2.3 of chapter 3, it is impossible to apply a RME curriculum to current teaching and learning in Vietnam because of the reasons

related to its present regulations and facts of education as well as mathematics education. As described in section 1.3.1 of chapter 1, the pedagogical phase was not sufficiently emphasized in the 'reformed' mathematics textbooks. Recently, both the form and content of the present mathematics textbooks have noticeably changed (section 1.4.1 of chapter 1). Particularly, in middle school geometry lessons, students are asked to do some manipulations (drawing, cutting, measuring, folding, etc.) to recognize geometrical characteristics before formal mathematics is presented. In addition, there is a variety of mathematics application problems in the present mathematics textbooks. Nonetheless, the way in which manipulations and mathematics applications are used is still quite primitive and conventional and has some disadvantages (see section 3.2.2.3 of chapter 3). Moreover, there are some questions related to the effect of a *unique* manipulation situation at the beginning of a lesson (see section 6.1.1.1 of this chapter). According to Gravemeijer's notions of modeling (2004), the use of manipulations and applications in the current mathematics textbooks belongs to "didactical modeling" and "mathematical modeling", respectively. Although he confirms the role of each modeling type in mathematics education, he argues that emergent modeling should be "a precursor to mathematical modeling" (Gravemeijer, 2004, p. 97). Although a RME curriculum, at least in its current form, is not applicable to Vietnamese mathematics education, lessons called RME-based ones, in line with emergent modeling, can be used in teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam. Chapter three discussed the foundations for creating (Vietnamese) RME-based geometry lessons. Chapter 4 analyzed the feedback of the teachers and students while they were working with these lessons.

Although the teachers and students still struggled with RME-based geometry lessons, there were still some positive outcomes of using RME-based lessons. These positive outcomes could potentially outweigh the potential disadvantages of the lessons from the current textbooks. Firstly, unlike the lessons in the present textbooks, students do not completely follow the strict instructions in RME-based ones. On the contrary, they are encouraged to build up gradually from informal to formal knowledge. Secondly, students' activeness and creativeness are developed during RME-based lessons. Thirdly, the situations in RME-based lessons allow students to rediscover mathematics knowledge. Finally, most students actively participated in their
discussions. They had the opportunity to express and explain their ideas, accept or reject some other ideas.

6.1.4 The difficulties of applying RME-based lessons in teaching and learning in Vietnam (answers to sub-question 2)

Teachers and their students may encounter certain difficulties with RME-based lessons because of several reasons. Some of these reasons are related to the conventional habit of teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam may result in challenges teachers face while working with not only RME-based lessons but also other non-traditional approaches. The following paragraphs reconsider certain factors such as the teaching time pressure, the students' working in groups, the teachers' competence and others to answer sub-question 2 in section 1.5.2.2 of chapter 1.

Sub-question 2 is: What difficulties do teachers and students meet while RME is applied in teaching and learning middle school geometry?

As discussed in section 3.2.1 of chapter 3, length of time and timetables for each mathematics lesson are often stipulated by a curricular distribution of the local department of education and training in a province or a city. It is important to note that students are firstly taught formal mathematics (concepts, theorems, regulations and formulae) and are expected to apply it in solving either pure or applicable mathematics problems. In contrast, in RME-based lessons, students are situated in the situations which encourage them to rediscover from informal to formal mathematics. While working with RME-based lessons, teachers may assume that these lessons require much more time than conventional lessons. Contrary to these teachers' belief, however, teachers can reduce mathematics application problems when their students acquire knowledge with RME-based lessons.

In addition, traditionally, Vietnamese students rarely ever worked in groups. Recently, the MoET has encouraged teachers to use and promote group-work in their lessons. Due to a number of factors, such as that the unsuitability of classrooms' and student-tables' structures, the students' behavior (i.e. noise-levels), the inactivity of low-performing students, the high number of students in a class, the teachers' uncontrollability, the inappropriate organizing students' work in groups (see section 4.6.1 of chapter 4), it is difficult for these teachers to implement this method successfully. Finally, teachers and students may face some other obstacles with RME-based lessons. Firstly, teachers and students do acclimate to these lessons. Teachers often tend to introduce formal mathematics quickly to their students. Students usually try to utilize formal mathematics to solve problems even though it is not necessary because of over-emphases on deductive formal mathematics in mathematics curricula and textbooks in Vietnam. Secondly, teachers often hesitate to reform their teaching styles because of their unwillingness to change their habit and high quantity of their work. For example, the teachers who used RME-based geometry lessons complained that they had to expend too much time and energy preparing these lessons. Moreover, students may encounter difficulties with some first lessons because they are not accustomed to working with 'indirect' tasks.

6.1.5 The proposals for applying RME-based lessons (answers to sub-question 4)

As discussed previously in section 6.1.1 of this chapter, in general, mathematics education is still rather conventional and rigid in Vietnam. Applying RME as well as RME-based lessons needs long-term solutions although RME is a promising approach for mathematics education in Vietnam. This section reconsiders the proposals for applying RME-based lessons about the viewpoints on mathematics education, the balance between amount of content and quantity of time, the training mathematics teachers, the materials about RME and RME-based lessons and several other factors to answer to sub-question 4 in section 1.5.2.4 of chapter 1.

Sub-question 4 is: What and how proposals should be made so that RME can be applied in teaching and learning in Vietnam?

Firstly, non-traditional, more progressive viewpoints should be accepted and advocated by mathematics educators, curriculum creators, textbook authors and teachers in Vietnam. Some of RME's outlooks, such as *mathematics as a human activity, guided reinvention, didactical phenomenology, using contexts in mathematics lessons versus conventional way of teaching mathematics applications, emergent modeling, using informal mathematics*, and other RME outlooks can help Vietnamese mathematics education overcome its weakness (see section 5.1 of chapter 5).

Secondly, the balance between the amount of content in mathematics textbooks and the quantity of time for teaching and learning should be established, and mathematics teachers should be given necessary flexibility. It is quite difficult for teachers to innovate their conventional teaching styles if they are always suffering from the teaching time pressure. In addition, a regulation of a current mathematics curricular distribution appears inappropriate. Although a regulation of the current mathematics curricular distribution is necessary, it should not strictly fix length of time for each mathematics lesson. However, mathematics teachers should be highly competent and responsible for their work if the flexibility is allowed to them.

Thirdly, one of the necessary tasks for applying RME-based lessons is training pre-service and in-service mathematics teachers. These lessons can be introduced in methodology courses for prospective mathematics teachers. In Vietnam, there are two different training types in universities and colleges. In most of them, students have to no choice but to adhere rigidly to the fixed curricula. In contrast, a few of colleges and universities use a system of credits, and their students have a chance to choose suitable subjects they want to study in each semester. Recently, the MoET have encouraged universities and colleges to change from the first style to the second one. In general, it is easier to introduce new approaches, in general and RME-based lessons, in particularly to those who use a system of credits. For universities or colleges whose student teachers are supervised by only seniors teachers in school, it seems to be quite difficult for student teachers to practice teaching with non-traditional approaches, in general and with RME-based lessons, in particularly (see discussion about 'a cycle of underdeveloped teaching methods' in section 5.3.2.3 of chapter 5). For the others, trainee teachers should be given a 'secure environment' when they try to apply nontraditional approaches in teaching (see Nguyen Thanh Thuy, 2005, pp. 154 & 179). In addition, RME-based lessons can be introduced in-service mathematics teachers when they attend in-service course to get higher degrees.

Finally, some other conditions related to teaching and learning facilities, a number of students in a class, a quantity of teachers' work, teachers' reference books, etc. should be gradually improved.

6.2 Suggestions

This section, firstly, discusses some restrictions of a range of the dissertation. Next, it considers some suggestions for further studies related to Vietnamese mathematics education. As discussed previously, it is argued that more studies should be conducted so that RME can be applied widely in teaching and learning mathematics in

Vietnamese school. For this reason, finally, this section gives some general orientations for further studies on applying RME in Vietnam.

6.2.1 Restrictions of the dissertation

This dissertation mainly emphasizes teaching and learning geometry in Vietnamese middle school, especially grade 7. In addition, some RME-based geometry lessons were taught by only the two young mathematics teachers. Furthermore, these teachers applied these lessons in their teaching once in the school-year 2005-2006. The following paragraphs give more related discussions and explanations.

Firstly, it is necessary that there is a restriction for the dissertation. Typically, deductive formal Euclidean geometry is mainly taught in middle school (grades 6 to 9) in Vietnam. Grade-seven students begin learning formal geometry theorems and their proofs. However, formal geometry is taught so early, quickly, formally and rigorously that it becomes the most difficult topic for middle school students. Recognizing this problem, mathematics curriculum creators and textbook authors have reduced significantly complicated theoretical contents in the current series of middle mathematics curriculum and textbooks. Furthermore, students are expected to work with manipulations before formal geometry is formally introduced. However, the real effect of manipulation uses in teaching and learning geometry is still not entirely clear (see section 3.2.2.3 of chapter 3). For this reason, the author of this dissertation restricted himself a study on teaching and learning middle school geometry. More particularly, grade-seven geometry is emphasized in the research.

Secondly, RME-based geometry lessons could not offer different contexts like the (Dutch) geometry curriculum because of the significant differences between Vietnamese mathematics lesson mechanism and Dutch RME curricula. More specifically, as reconsidered in section 6.1.3 of this chapter, the current Vietnamese mathematics lessons often introduce a unique situation with a unique instruction to students at the beginning of each lesson; after that formal mathematics is quickly presented. In general, the current mathematics textbooks often impose these situations on students. On the contrary, in RME curriculum, students are often introduced different realistic contexts which can be built based on Freudenthal idea of didactical phenomenology. These realistic contexts allow students to rediscover informal strategies or solutions. Moreover, the scope of this dissertation does not expand to include assessment within RME-based lessons.

Furthermore, although RME-based lessons were offered to several mathematics teachers in several middle schools, only the two young teachers were willing to use them as an experiment, for several reasons. First, some senior ones did not want to change their teaching habit. They complained that they had a work overload, and they had no time to apply new approaches in their teaching. Next, some teachers rejected the proposals since they were not allowed by their headmasters, or they did not want to 'break' the teaching regulations. Finally, some of them argued that these RME-based lessons would require too much time. Fortunately, the two junior teachers with oneand six-year experience agreed to use these lessons as an experiment. They are quite eager to learn new approaches. The author of the dissertation met them several times to discuss RME and RME-based lessons during his visit to Vietnam in 2005. Nevertheless, both teachers complained that they were so occupied that they could concentrate on a RME-based lesson only a few days before it was implemented. The author asked them to maintain contact via email. However, Mr. Mui, a six-year experience teacher, did not have an email address and therefore never used email. Although the other teacher, Ms. Huong, has her own an email address, she rarely used it.

Finally, the two teachers used RME-based geometry lessons once. Although the authors of this dissertation wanted them to apply these lessons at least once more time with adjusted RME-based lessons, it was not implemented. The first version of RME-based geometry lessons could not create earlier as RME was quite new for not only mathematics educators in Vietnam but also the author of this dissertation. Moreover, applying RME-based lessons also depended on a timetable of teaching and learning in a school-year in Vietnam. In addition, the author of the dissertation was granted a three-year scholarship from the government of Vietnam. For this reason, it was impossible for him to organize the second experiment.

6.2.2 Mathematics education in Vietnam

Firstly, in general, students' competence varies significantly among not only different areas (urban, rural, mountainous and islandish areas) but also among different schools in the same area, different classes in a school and different students in a class. In addition, conditions for teaching and learning (infrastructures and teachers' competence) in urban areas are better than those in rural areas and much better than those in remote areas. It should be stressed that there is the unique series of

mathematics textbooks in Vietnam. Although recently, many complicated contents have been removed from the current mathematics textbooks, their suitability for the majority of Vietnamese students is still questionable. Consequently, it is worth researching the appropriateness of the present mathematics curricula and textbooks for students' competence.

Secondly, it appears that there continues to be an imbalance between the quantity of content in the present mathematics curricula and textbooks and the quantity of time teachers and students can spend in school. For this reason, studies on the relationship between the quantity of time and the quantity of content should be conducted.

Thirdly, according to the feedback from the survey, students often encountered difficulties with drawing figures, logically reasoning and deductive proving of geometry. The current mathematics textbooks still emphasize deductive formal geometry. One question is posed: is deductive formal geometry in the textbooks suitable for most middle school students, especially those in rural, mountainous and islandish areas? There is a clear need for further research on the relation between geometry content in the current textbooks and levels of students' awareness. Moreover, the scope of this dissertation does not include a sufficient discussion of teaching formal geometry, particularly deductive proofs.

Fourthly, more studies should be conducted on teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnamese school, mathematics teachers' difficulties in innovation of teaching styles, mathematics teachers' competence and solutions for renovation of teaching methods.

Finally, although a number of studies on examinations and assessment have slightly increased, there is a need for assessing students' activities in a mathematics forming process. That is, aside from formal mathematics, informal mathematics also should also be seriously considered in assessment.

6.2.3 Realistic Mathematics Education

The application of RME in Vietnamese school requires long-term solutions as RME is quite new for mathematics educators, curriculum creators, textbooks authors and teachers, and teaching and learning mathematics are still rather rigid in Vietnam. This

section suggests some general orientations for further studies on applying RME to teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam.

Firstly, RME-based geometry lessons should be tested several times and upgraded so that they can be widely applied to teaching and learning mathematics in Vietnam although these lessons revealed some potential for enriching Vietnamese mathematics education, and several proposals were discussed to help mathematics teachers encounter difficulties with these lessons.

Secondly, there is a need for further research on creating RME-based lessons with other content (arithmetic, algebra, analysis, statistics, probability, analytic geometry, etc.) in different grades (primary, middle and high school) in Vietnam. This dissertation is restricted to some RME-based lessons for grade 7 because of its range and the limited time, the regulations of teaching and learning in Vietnam, and the unfamiliarity of these lessons to Vietnamese mathematics teachers.

Thirdly, studies related to assessment with RME-based lesson should be implemented. Typically, assessment in Vietnamese school often focuses on assessing the students' abilities of memorizing, understanding, and applying formal mathematics. Recently, the number of studies on assessment has significantly increased in Vietnam. However, it appears that most of these studies usually emphasize the form of assessment. There are a few studies which assess the students' abilities of developing from informal to formal mathematics.

In addition, it is worth studying further the application of Freudenthal's viewpoints on RME, the characteristics of RME and the studies about RME in creating Vietnamese mathematics curricula and textbooks. It appears that there is a lack of philosophies, scientific foundations, and theories for designing mathematic curricula and textbooks in Vietnam. RME may become a promising theory which can be utilized to design mathematics curricula and textbooks.

Next, further studies about the application of RME-based lessons and RME in training mathematics teachers-in training and in-service teachers should be conducted. This study mentioned and discussed several possible courses of RME-based lessons which can be offered mathematics prospective teachers and in-service teachers. However, these courses should be tested, and feedback from prospective teachers and in-service teachers and in-serv

Finally, studies on designing and applying RME-based lessons for lowperforming students are worth conducting. As discussed previously, achievements of Vietnamese students vary significantly. Typically, students from urban regions have higher achievements than those from rural and remote regions. RME-based lessons for low-performing students can be designed and used because RME-based lessons often offer students the chance to use informal mathematics. By contrast, usual lessons introduced formal mathematics so early and quickly that low-achieving students often encounter difficulties with these lessons.

References

- Bakker, A. (2004). *Design research in statistics education: On symbolizing and computer tools* (dissertation). Utrecht: CD-Beta Press.
- Bender, P. (1982). Abbildungsgeometrie in der didaktischen Diskussion. Zentralblatt für Didaktik der Mathematik (ZDM), 14 (1), 9-24.
- Bender, P.; Schreiber, A. (1985). *Operative Genese der Geometrie*. Wien: Hölder Pichler-Tempsky.
- Binh Thanh Department of Education and Training (2004). Đổi mới phương pháp dạy học ở bậc trung học cơ sở [The innovation of teaching methods in middle school level]. Retrieved on January 25, 2004 from Ho Chi Minh City University of Pedagogy, Institute for Education Research website:

http://ier.hcmup.edu.vn/tintucsukien/dhocthoc/dmppdhbthcsbt.htm

- Brousseau, G. (1998). *Theory of didactical situations in mathematics* (Edited and translated by Balacheff, N.; Cooper, M.; Sutherland, R.; Warfield, V.). Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- Bui Minh Hien (2005). *Lịch sử giáo dục Việt Nam* [The history of Vietnamese Education]. Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Đại học Sư phạm.
- Canadian Mathematical Society (n.d.). *Asian Pacific Mathematics Olympiad*. Retrieved on April 20, 2004 from: <u>http://camel.ca/CMS/Competitions/APMO/</u>
- Chapman, D. W.; Adams, D. (1998). The quality of education in Asia: the perennial priority. *International Journal of Education Research*, *29*, 643-665.
- Clements, D. H. (2003). Teaching and learning geometry. In J. Kilpatrick; W. G. Martin; D. Schifter (Eds.), A research companion to principles and standards for school mathematics (pp. 151-178). Reston: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.
- Clements, D. H.; Battista, M. T. (1992). Geometry and spatial reasoning. In D. A. Grouws (Ed.), *Handbook of research on mathematics teaching and learning* (pp. 420-464). New York: Macmillan.
- Costello, J. (1991). Teaching and learning mathematics 11-16. London: Routledge.
- De Lange, J. (1987). *Mathematics, insight and meaning: Teaching, learning and testing of mathematics for the life and social sciences.* Utrecht: OW & OC.
- De Lange, J. (1996). Using and applying mathematics in education. In A. J. Bishop; K. Clements; C. Keitel; J. Kilpatrick; C. Laborde (Eds.) *International handbook of mathematics education: Part 1* (pp. 49-98). Dordrecht: Kluwer.

- De Moor, E. (1991). Geometry-instruction (age 4-14) in the Netherlands-the realistic approach-. In L. Streefland (Ed.), *Realistic Mathematics Education in primary school: On the occasion of the opening of the Freudenthal Institute* (pp. 119-138). Utrecht: CD-Beta Press.
- Dekker, T. (n.d.). *Great assessment picture book*. Retrieved on November 20, 2004 from the website of the Freudenthal Institute:

http://www.fi.uu.nl/catch/products/GAP_book/intro.html

- Dinh Quang Minh (2003). Tăng cường khai thác ứng dụng của một số chủ đề toán học trong đại số 10 vào giải các bài toán mang nội dung thực tiễn [Exploting applications of some mathematics themes of algebra 10 in solving mathematics problems with reality content]. *Tạp chí Khoa học Giáo dục, 95,* 17-19.
- Do Dat (2000). Mathematics teaching and learning in Vietnam. *International Journal for Mathematics Teaching and Learning*. Retrieved on December 15, 2005 from: <u>http://www.cimt.plymouth.ac.uk/journal/</u>
- Do Dinh Hoan (2003). Chất lượng giáo dục phố thông trong quá trình đối mới chương trình giáo dục phổ thông ở Việt Nam [The quality of education in the innovation process of the general education curriculum in Vietnam]. *Tạp chí Giáo dục, 72*, 10-14.
- Duc Hanh (2005). Úng dụng CNTT trong đào tạo và bồi dưỡng giáo viên tiểu học [Applying IT in training primary teachers]. Retrieved 24 February, 2006 from the website of PCWorld Vietnam:

http://www.pcworld.com.vn/pcworld/pconline.asp?t=pcolarticle&arid=126

- Doorman, L. M. (2005). *Modelling motion: from trace graphs to instantaneous change*. CD- Beta Press.
- Duong The Hung (2005). *Học sinh lớp 5 nhưng không...biết chữ* [Grade-five students but not...litarate]. Retrieved on February 2, 2005 from the website of Tuoi Tre online:

http://www.tuoitre.com.vn/Tianyon/Index.aspx?ArticleID=67424&ChannelID=13

- Educational Review (2003). Dự thảo chuẩn giáo viên tiểu học [The draft of the standards for primary teachers]. *Tạp chí Giáo dục*, *51*, 3-6.
- Fauzan, A. (2002). Applying Realistic Mathematics Education (RME) in teaching geometry in Indonesian primary schools (doctoral dissertation). Enschede: PrintPartner Ipskamp.

- Fauzan, A.; Slettenhaar, D.; Plomp, T. (2002). Teaching mathematics in Indonesia primary schools using Realistic Mathematics Education (RME)-approach. In *The Second International Conference on the teaching of mathematics at the undergraduate level.* Hersonissor, Crete, Greece, July 1-6, 2002.
- Fischer, W. L. (1996). Foundations of school-geometry: congruence or/and transformation. In R. Loska; H. G. Weigand (Hrsg.), *Mathematikdidaktik zwischen Forschung und Lehre* (pp. 135-156). Bad Heilbrunn: Klinkhardt.
- Fraser, S. E. (1984). Notes on the progress and plans for educational research in the Socialist Republic of Vietnam. *International Review of Education*, *30 (1)*, 69-84.
- Freudenthal, H. (1968). Why to teach mathematics so as to be useful. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, *1(1-2)*, 3-8.
- Freudenthal, H. (1973). Mathematics as an educational task. Dordrecht: Reidel.
- Freudenthal, H. (1983). *Didactical phenomenology of mathematical structures*. Dordrecht: Reidel.
- Freudenthal, H. (1991). *Revisiting mathematics education*: China lecturers. Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- Fuys, D.; Geddes, D.; Tischler, R. (1988). *The Van Hiele model of thinking in geometry among adolescents*. Reston: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.
- Gawlick, T. (2001). A comparative study on the influence of dynamic geometry software on the acquisition of basic geometric notions. In M. Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen (Ed.), *Proceedings of the 25th conference of the international group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education, Vol. 1*, 12-17 July, Utrecht, the Netherlands.
- Goddijn, A. (1980). Shadow and Depth. Utrecht: Freudenthal Institute.
- Goddijn, A.; Kindt, M.; Reuter, W. (2004). *Geometry with application and proofs*. Utrecht: Freudenthal Institute.
- Goldenberg, E. P.; Cuoco, A. A. (1998). What is dynamic geometry? In R. Lehrer; D. Chazan (Eds.), *Designing learning environments for developing understanding of geometry and space* (pp. 351-368). Mahwah: Erlbaum.
- Gravemeijer, K. (1990). Realistic geometry instruction. In K. Gravemeijer; M. Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen; L. Streefland (Eds.), *Contexts, free productions, tests and* geometry in Realistic Mathematics Education (pp. 79-91). Utrecht: OW & OC.
- Gravemeijer, K. (1994). *Developing Realistic Mathematics Education*. Utrecht: CD-Beta Press.

- Gravemeijer, K. (1998). From a different perspective: Building on students' informal knowledge. In R. Lehrer; D. Chazan (Eds.), *Designing learning environments for developing understanding of geometry and space* (pp. 45-66). Mahwah: Erlbaum.
- Gravemeijer, K. (2002). Emergent modeling as the basis for an instructional sequence on data analysis. *ICOTST 6*.
- Gravemeijer, K. (2004). Emergent modeling as a precursor to mathematical modeling.
 In H. W. Henn; W. Blum (Eds.) *ICME 14: Applications and Modelling in Mathematics Education*, Pre-Conference Volume (pp. 97-102). Dortmund: University of Dortmund.
- Gravemeijer, K.; Doorman, M. (1999). Context problems in Realistic Mathematics Education: a calculus course as an example. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 39, 111-129.
- Gravemeijer, K.; Terwel, J. (2000). Hans Freudenthal: a mathematician on didactics and curriculum theory. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *32 (6)*, 777-796.
- Gravemeijer, K.; Van den Heuvel- Panhuizen, M.; Streefland, L. (Eds.) (1990). Contexts, free productions, tests and geometry in Realistic Mathematics Education. Utrecht: OW & OC.
- Hadi, S. (2002). Effective teacher professional development for implementation of RME in Indonesia (doctoral dissertation). Enschede: PrintPartner Ipskamp.
- Haggarty, L.; Pepin, B. (2001). An investigation of mathematics textbooks and their use in English, French and German classrooms: Who gets an opportunity to learn what? *Proceedings of the British Society for research into learning mathematics,* 21 (2), 117-125. Retrieved March 25, 2004 from: http://www.bsrlm.org.uk/IPs/ip21-2/
- Hanoi University of Education (n.d.). *Tin vê đào tạo tháng 12* [News about training activities in December]. Retrieved on December 25, 2005 from website of Hanoi University of Education:

http://www.dhsphn.edu.vn/e-content/viewer.asp?a=499&z=2

- Heinze, A.; Cheng, Y. H.; Yang, K. L. (2004). Students' performance in reasoning and proof in Taiwan and Germany: Results, paradoxes and open questions. *Zentralblatt für Didaktik der Mathematik* (ZDM), 36 (5), 162-171.
- Henning, H. (n.d.). Change in mathematics education through the reunification of Germany. Retrieved on April 20, 2006 from: wuerzburg.de/history/meg/mathedb3.html.

- Helmke, A.; Schrader, F. W.; Vo, T. A. T.; Le, D. P.; Tran T. B. T. (2003). Selbstkonzept und schulische Leistungen im Kulturvergleich: Ergebnisse der Grundschlstudie SCHOLASTIK in München und Hanoi. In W. Schneider; M. Knopf (Hrsg.), Entwicklung, Lehren und Lernen (pp. 187-206). Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Hershkowitz, R.; Schwarz, B. (1999). The emergent perspective in rich learning environments: Some roles of tools and activities in the construction of sociomathematical norms. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, *39*, 149-166.
- Ho Chi Minh City's Education and Training Department (n.d.). *Phân phối chương trình các lớp 3, 6 và 7* [Mathematics curricular distributions for grades 3, 6 and 7].
 Retrieved on April 12, 2006 from: <u>http://www.hcm.edu/PPCT/index.htm</u>
- Ho Thieu Hung (2004). Day thêm học thêm-một hiện tượng xã hội có nhiều nguyên nhân [Extra-lesson teaching and learning-a social problem with many causes].
 Retried on October 24, 2004 from:

http://ier.hcmup.edu.vn/tintucsukien/dhocthoc/dthtmhtxh.htm

- Hoang Chung (1999). *Phương pháp dạy học hình học ở trường trung học cơ sở* [Methods of teaching geometry in middle school]. Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Giáo dục.
- Hoang Huy Lap (2004). Chất lượng giáo dục phổ thông: quan niệm, thực trạng và giải pháp [The quality of general education: viewpoints, facts and solutions]. *Tạp chí Giáo dục*, 92, 13-14.
- Hoang Thanh Hai (n.d.). Đổi mới phương pháp dạy học một yêu cầu cấp bách để nâng cao chất lượng đào tạo giáo viên trong trường sư phạm [The teaching method innovation is an urgent requirement to improve the quality of teachers training in universities of education], in *Science Research*, the University of Hong Duc. Retrieved on November 20, 2005 from: <u>http://www.hdu.edu.vn/nckh.html</u>
- Hoang Thi Tuyet (2004). Điểm mới và chưa mới trong đánh giá quá trình học tập ở chương trình trung học cơ sở [New and old points of assessment in the middle school curriculum]. Retrieved August 30, 2005 from:

http://ier.hcmup.edu.vn/tintucsukien/dggd/hoang%20thi%20tuyet.htm

- Hoang Van Tu; Le Van Binh; Vu Anh Tuan; Vu Lan Anh; Phan Thanh Ha (2005). Những nội dung mới của Luật Giáo dục năm 2005 [New contents of the Educational Law 2005]. Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Tư pháp.
- Holland, G. (2001). *Geometrie in der Sekundarstufe: Didaktische und methodische Fragen* (2. Aufl.). Heidelberg: Spektrum Akademischer Verlag.

- Hoyles, C. (2005). Making mathematics and sharing mathematics: Two paths to coconstructing meaning? In J. Kilpatrick; C. Hoyles; O. Skovsmose (Eds., in collaboration with P. Valero), *Meaning in mathematics education* (pp. 139-158). New York: Springer.
- Hoyles, C.; Küchemann, D.; Foxman, D. (2003 a). Comparing geometry curricula: Insights for policy and practice. *Mathematics in School*, *32(3)*, 2-6.
- Hoyles, C.; Küchemann, D.; Foxman, D. (2003 b). The role of proof in different geometry curricula. *Mathematics in School*, *32 (4)*, 36-40.
- Huynh Cong Minh (2004). Dạy thêm học thêm, một vấn đề cần phải thống nhất nhận định [Extra-lesson teaching and learning, a need of a unified consideration for this problem]. Retried February 29, 2004 from:

http://ier.hcmup.edu.vn/tintucsukien/dhocthoc/dthtmvdcptn.htm

- International Mathematics Olympiad (n.d). *IMO Competition Results*. Retrieved on March 20, 2004 from: http://imo.math.ca/
- Jahnke, Th. (2001). Normaler produktiver Mathematikunterricht. In W. Herget; Th. Jahnke; W. Kroll (Eds.), Produktive Aufgaben f
 ür den Mathematikunterricht in der Sekundarstufe 1. Berlin: Cornelsen.
- Jahnke, Th. (2005). *Zur Authentizität von Mathematikaufgaben*. Retrieved on June 10, 2005 from: <u>http://www.math.uni-potsdam.de/prof/o_didaktik/a_mita/aa/Publ</u>
- Ju, M. K.; Kwon, O. N. (2004). Analysis of students' use of metaphor: The case of a RME-based differential equations course. *Journal of the Korea Society of Mathematical Education Series D: Research in Mathematics Education*, 8(1), 19-30.
- Kaiser, G. (1999). Comparative studies on teaching mathematics in England and Germany. In G. Kaiser; E. Luna; I. Huntley (Eds.), *International comparisons in mathematics education* (pp. 140-150). London: Palmer Press.
- Keitel-Kreidt, Ch. (n.d.). *Mathematics teachers in Germany*. Retrieved February 20, 2006 from:

http://www.didaktik.mathematik.uni-wuerzburg.de/history/meg/ matheda4.html

Kieu Oanh (2005). Gần 60% giáo sư không dùng Internet [Nearly 60% of professors not use the Internet]. Retrieved on August 5, 2005 from the website of Vietnamnet: http://www2.vietnamnet.vn/giaoduc/vande/2005/07/467775/

- Kim Dung (2006). THPT: Phân Ban sẽ phải bước sang trang mới? [High school streams: must step into a new page?]. Retrieved on September 29, 2006 from the website of Vietnamnet: http://www2.vietnamnet.vn/thuhanoi/2006/09/616199/
- King, J. R.; Schattschneider, D. (Eds.) (1997). Geometry turned on! Dynamic software in learning, teaching and research. Washington: Mathematical Association of America.
- Knuth, E. J. (2002). Teachers' conceptions of proof in the context of secondary school mathematics. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, *5 (1)*, 61-88.

KSICMI (2004). Korean Presentation at ICME-10, p. 40 & 69, CD-ROM.

Kulm, G.; Roseman, J.; Treistman, M. (1999). A Benchmarks-Based approach to textbook evaluation. Retrieved on February 26, 2005 from website of The Project 2061:

http://www.project2061.org/publications/articles/textbook/articles/approach.htm

- Kunimune, S.; Nagasaki, E. S. (1996). Curriculum changes on lower secondary school mathematics of Japan: Focused on geometry. *ICME-8*, Working group 13: *Curriculum changes in the secondary school*, Spain. Retrieved on March 25, 2006 from: <u>http://www.fi.uu.nl/en/Icme-8/WG13_1.html</u>
- Kwon, O. H. (2002). Conceptualizing the realistic mathematics education approach in the teaching and learning of ordinary differential equation. In *the second International Conference on the Teaching of Mathematics (at the undergraduate level)*, the University of Crete, July 1-6, 2002, Hersonissors, Crete, Greece.
- Laborde, C. (2005). The hidden role of diagrams in pupils' construction of meaning in geometry. In J. Kilpatrick; C. Hoyles; O. Skovsmose (Eds., In collaboration with P. Valero), *Meaning in mathematics education* (pp.159-180). New York: Springer.
- Le Cong Triem (n.d.). *Nội quy thực tập sư phạm tập trung* [The regulations for the pedagogical practicum]. Retrieved from:

http://www.freewebs.com/sptin0307/So-tay-NVSP.zip

- Le Hai Chau; Nguyen Gia Duc; Pham Gia Coc (1996). *Toán 6: Tập 2* [Mathematics 6: part 2] (In lần thứ 10, chỉnh lí năm 1994). Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Giáo dục.
- Le Thi Thanh Thao (2004). *Thử tìm nguyên nhân của thực trạng kiểm tra- đánh giá kết quả* [Trying to find causes for the fact of examinations and assessment]. Retried on April 15, 2004 from
 - http://ier.hcmup.edu.vn/tintucsukien/03.htm

- Le Van Tien (2000). Một số quan điểm khác nhau về giảng dạy giải tích ở trường phổ thông [Some different viewpoints on teaching analysis in school]. *Tạp chí Nghiên cứu Giáo dục*, *338*, 23-25 & 2.
- Malaty, G. (1999). The third world mathematics education is a hope for the world mathematics education development in the 21st Century. *Proceedings of Conference of 21st Century Project*, Egypt. Retrieved on March 25, 2006 from: http://math.unipa.it/~grim/EMALATY231-240.PDF
- McClain, K.; Cobb, P. (2001). Supporting students' ability to reason about data. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 45 (1-3), 103-129.
- Meyer, M. R.; Dekker, T.; Querelle, N. (2001). Context in mathematics curricula. *Mathematics Teaching in the Middle School, 6 (9)*, 522-527.

Meyer, M. (1999). Geometry and its applications. San Diego: Academic Press.

Minh Giang (2005). Quảng Ngãi: Học sinh THCS không biết đọc, biết viết [Quang Ngai: Middle school students not literate]. Retrieved March 5, 2005 from the website of Tuoi Tre online:

http://www.tuoitre.com.vn/Tianyon/Index.aspx?ArticleID=67424&ChannelID=13

- Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) (2000). *Hội nghị tập huấn phương pháp dạy học toán học phổ thông* [Conference on training of school mathematics teaching methods]. Hà Nội: Bộ Giáo dục và Đào tạo.
- Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) (2001). *Chương trình tiểu học môn Toán* [The primary school mathematics curriculum]. Hà Nội: Bộ Giáo dục và Đào tạo.
- Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) (2002 a). Chương trình trung học cơ sở môn Toán [The middle school mathematics curriculum]. Hà Nội: Bộ Giáo dục và Đào tạo.
- Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) (2002 b). Chương trình trung học phố thông môn Toán (ban KHTN và KHXH) [The high school mathematics curriculum (The Natural and Social Streams)]. Hà Nội: Bộ Giáo dục và Đào tạo.
- Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) (2002 c). Quy chế thi tốt nghiệp trung học cơ sở và trung học phổ thông [The regulation on the examinations for dilopma of middle and high school]. Hà Nội: Bộ Giáo dục và Đào tạo.
- Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) (2006). Quy chế tuyển sinh trung học cơ sở và tuyển sinh trung học phổ thông [The regulation of the middle and high school enrollment]. Hà Nội: Bộ Giáo dục và Đào tạo.

- Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) (n.d. a). *The national education system*. Retrieved on October 24, 2005 from: <u>http://www.edu.net.vn</u>
- Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) (n.d. b). Primary Education for Disadvantaged Children Project. Retrieved on March 12, 2006 from: <u>http://www.gdth.org.vn/Default.asp?language=VN</u>
- Ministry of Education and Training (MoET) (n.d. c). Primary Education in Vietnam. Retrieved on October 20, 2004 from:

http://www3.pf-x.net/~kiyokiyo/en/projects/index.html

- Ministry of Foreign Affairs (n.d.). *Ethnics groups in Vietnam*. Retrieved on March 30, 2006 from: <u>http://www.mofa.gov.vn/en/tt_vietnam/nr040810154926</u>
- Mo, S. (2003). *Cinematographs contextualising historical, political and philosophy influences on the development of education in Vietnam* (dissertation). Perth: Curtin University of Technology.
- Ngoc Long (2006). *Học hết lớp 6, lớp 8 vẫn không biết đọc!* [Finishing grades 6 and 8, students still illiterate!]. Retrieved on August 26, 2006 from the website of Vietnamnet: http://vietnamnet.vn/giaoduc/vande/2006/08/605657/
- Nguyen Ba Kim; Tran Kieu (2002). *Hình học 9* [Geometry 9] (Tái bản lần thứ 12). Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Giáo dục.
- Nguyen Ba Kim (2002). *Phương pháp dạy học môn Toán* [Methods of teaching mathematics]. Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Đại học Sư phạm.
- Nguyen Ba Kim; Vu Duong Thuy (1997). *Phương pháp dạy học môn Toán* [Methods of teaching mathematics]. Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Giáo dục.
- Nguyen Ba Kim; Dao Thai Lai; Trinh Thanh Hai (2005). Sử dụng vi thế giới trong dạy học hình học [Using micro-world in teaching geometry]. *Tạp chí Giáo dục*, *123*, 18-21.
- Nguyen Gia Coc; Pham Gia Duc (1996). *Hình học 7* [Geometry 7] (In lần thứ 9, chỉnh lí năm 1994). Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Giáo dục.
- Nguyen Huy Doan (2000). Về bộ sách giáo khoa Toán THPT chỉnh lí hợp nhất [About the series of the corrected and unified high school textbooks]. *Toán học và Tuổi trẻ*, 9, 11 & 23.
- Nguyen Manh Chung (2001). Tăng cường khải niệm toán học bằng những giải pháp sư phạm theo hướng tích cực hóa hoạt động của học sinh (Thông qua khải niệm "hàm số" và "giới hạn" cho học sinh trung học phổ thông [Enhancing the effect mathematical concepts by pedagogical solutions according to approach of

activating students' awareness activities (through the concepts of "function" and "limitation" for high school students)]. Tóm tắt luận án tiến sĩ. Hà Nội: Viện Khoa học Giáo dục.

- Nguyen Minh Hien (2000). *Chỉ thị số 15/2000/CT BGD & ĐT ngày 17/5/2000 của Bộ trưởng Bộ Giáo dục và Đào tạo về các biện pháp cấp bách tăng cường quản lý dạy thêm, học thêm* [Instruction no 15/2000/CT-BGD&DT of the Minister of Ministry of Education and Training about urgent measures to strengthen management of teaching and learning extra-lessons]. Hà Nội: Bộ Giáo dục và Đào tạo.
- Nguyen Minh Hien (2005). *Chỉ thị số 22 /2005/CT-BGD&ĐT về nhiệm vụ của toàn ngành trong năm học 2005-2006* [Instruction no 22/2005/CT-BGD&DDT about tasks of the whole education branch in the school-yare 2005-2006]. Ha Nội: Bộ Giáo dục và Đào tạo.
- Nguyen Minh Phuong (2001). Bộ sách Giáo khoa phổ thông mới sẽ góp phần thực hiện đổi mới chương trình giáo dục phổ thông [The new series of school textbooks will help implement innovations in the general education curriculum]. *Tạp chí Giáo dục*, 10, 8-9 & 11.
- Nguyen Minh Thuyet (2005). Giáo dục Việt Nam: Hiện trạng và yêu cầu đổi mới [Vietnamese education: Fact and innovation requirement]. *Tạp chí Giáo dục*, *3*, 1-5.
- Nguyen Ngoc Anh (1999). Về tình hình ứng dụng toán học trong giảng dạy toán ở trường phổ thông [About situation of applying mathematics in teaching mathematics in school]. *Nghiên cứu Giáo dục, 7*, 13 &18.
- Nguyen Phu Loc (2005). Những chướng ngại về nhận thức trong học tập khái niệm "giới hạn của dãy số" và một số biện pháp khắc phục [Obstacles about awareness in learning the "limit of a sequence" concept and some solutions]. *Tạp chí Giáo dục, 110*, 30-31.
- Nguyen Quang Trung (2004). *Một số bất cập của giáo dục phổ thông trung học ở nước ta hiện nay và một vài giải pháp tổng thể khả thi* [Some problems of the middle and high school education and some general possible solutions]. Retrieved July 25, 2005 from the website of Ho Chi Minh city' University of Pedagogy: http://ier.hcmup.edu.vn/tintucsukien/02.htm
- Nguyen Thanh Thuy (2005). *Learning to teach realistic mathematics in Vietnam* (Doctoral dissertation). Amsterdam: PrintPartner Ipskamp B.V.

Nguyen Thi Quy (2004). Đổi mới phương pháp dạy học ở bậc trung học (THCS, *PTTH)* [The teaching method innovation in secondary level (middle and high school)]. Retrieved on January 24, 2004 from:

http://ier.hcmup.edu.vn/tintucsukien/dhocthoc/bcvdtht.htm

- Nguyen Van An (2004). *Nghị quyết số 37/2004/QH11 về giáo dục* [Resolution no 37/2004/QH11 about education]. Hà Nội: Quốc Hội.
- Nguyen Van Bang (1997). *Hình học 8* [Geometry 8] (In lần thứ 9, chỉnh lí năm 1994). Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Giáo dục.
- Nguyen, D. M.; Kulm, G. (2002). Learning, knowing and doing: A comparison of the U.S. and Vietnamese mathematics textbook lessons. *In Pre-Conference Proceedings of the International Commission on Mathematics Instruction (ICMI): Comparative Study* (pp. 217-223). Hong Kong.
- Nhan Dan (2006). Đánh giá chất lượng chương trình, sách giáo khoa tiểu học, THCS mới [Evaluating quality of the new primary and middle school curricula and textbooks]. Retrieved on August 14, 2006 from the website of Nhan Dan newspaper: http://www.nhandan.com.vn/tinbai/?top=41&sub=74&article=70518
- Orey, D. C.; Nguyen, K. T (n.d.). The ethnomathematics of Vietnamese algorithms, in the Algorithm collection project. Retrieved on November 12, 2005 from: http://www.csus.edu/indiv/o/oreyd/ACP.htm_files/Alg.html
- Pegg, J.; Davey, G. (1998). Interpreting student understanding in geometry. In R. Lehrer; D. Chazan (Eds.), *Designing learning environments for developing understanding of geometry* (pp. 109-136). Mahwah: Erlbaum.
- Pham Gia Duc (2003). Giới thiệu chương 1 phần hình học lớp 7 [Introduction to chapter 1 of the geometry section in the grade-seven textbook]. *Tạp chí Toán học* và Tuổi thơ, 3, 20-21.
- Pham Gia Duc; Nguyen Manh Cang; Bui Huy Ngoc; Vu Duong Thuy (1998 a). *Phương pháp dạy học môn Toán (Tập 1)* [Methods of teaching mathematics: Part 1]. Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Giáo dục.
- Pham Gia Duc; Nguyen Manh Cang; Bui Huy Ngoc; Vu Duong Thuy (1998 b). *Phương pháp dạy học môn Toán (Tập 2)* [Methods of teaching mathematics: Part 2]. Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Giáo dục.
- Pham Minh Hac (2002). Giáo dục Việt Nam trước ngưỡng cửa thế kỷ 21 [Vietnamese education on the threshold of the 21st Century] (Xuất bản lần thứ hai, có sửa chữa, bổ sung). Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Chính trị Quốc Gia.

- Phan Duc Chinh; Ton Than; Vu Huu Binh; Pham Gia Duc; Tran Luan (2004 a). *Toán 7: Tập 1* [Mathematics 7: part 1]. Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Giáo dục.
- Phan Duc Chinh; Ton Than; Tran Dinh Chau; Tran Phuong Dung; Tran Kieu (2004 b). *Toán 7: Tập 2* [Mathematics 7: part 2] (Tái bản lần thứ nhất). Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Giáo dục.
- Phan Duc Chinh; Ton Than; Vu Huu Binh; Tran Dinh Chau; Ngo Huu Dung; Pham Gia Duc; Nguyen Duy Thuan (2004 c). *Toán 8: Tập 1* [Mathematics 8: Part 1]. Hà Nội: Nhà xuất bản Giáo dục.
- Presmeg, N. (2003). Creativity, mathematizing and didactizing: Leen Streefland's work continues. *Educational Study in Mathematics*, *54 (1)*, 127-137.
- Quadling, D. A. (1985). Algebra, analysis, geometry. In R. Morris (Ed.), Studies in mathematics education: The education of secondary school teachers of mathematics (pp. 79-96). Paris: UNESCO.
- Rasmussen, C. L.; King, K. D. (2000). Locating starting points in differential equations: a realistic mathematics education approach. *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, 31 (2), 161-172.
- Romberg, T. A. (2001). Designing middle school mathematics materials using problems set in context to help students progress from informal to formal mathematics reasoning. Retrieved on February 15, 2004 from the website of the National Center for Improving Student Learning and Achievement in Mathematics Science (NCLSLA): http://www.wcer.wisc.edu/ncisla/publications/index.html
- Stevenson, H. W. (1999). The case study project of TIMSS. In G. Kaiser; E. Luna; I. Huntley, *International comparisons in mathematics education* (pp. 104-120). London: Falmer Press.
- Stigler, J. W.; Hiebert, J. (1999). *The teaching gap: Best ideas from the world's teachers for improving education in the classroom.* New York: Free Press.
- Streefland, L. (1990). Free productions in teaching and learning mathematics. In K. Gravemeijer; M. Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen; L. Streefland (Eds.), *Contexts, free productions, tests and geometry in Realistic Mathematics Education* (pp. 33-52). Utrecht: OW & OC.
- Streefland, L. (1991). Fractions in realistic mathematics education: A paradigm of developmental research. Dordrecht: Kluwer.

Thanh Ha (2005). Bộ trưởng Nguyễn Minh Hiển: Bốn "món nợ" phải trả [The Minister Nguyen Minh Hien: Four "debts" must be paid]. Retrieved on December 15, 2005 from the website of Tuoi Tre Online:

http://www.tuoitre.com.vn/Tianyon/Index.aspx?ArticleID=96625&ChannelID=13

The World Bank (2004). Volume 1: How measuring achievement distribution informs education policy development. In *Vietnam reading and mathematics assessment study* (pp. 1-22). Retrieved on March 30, 2006 from:

http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTEAPREGTOPEDUCATION/Resources/1-Chuong_v1.pdf

- Ton Than (2000). Một số điểm mới của sách giáo khoa Toán 6 [Some new points of the 6th grade mathematics textbook]. *Tạp chí Nghiên cứu giáo dục, 8,* 11-12.
- Ton Than (2003 a). Đổi mới phương pháp dạy học đại số ở trường trung học cơ sở [The innovation of methods of teaching algebra in middle school]. *Tạp chí Giáo dục, 53*, 31-32.
- Ton Than (2003 b). Quan điểm chỉ đạo việc xây dựng và những điểm mới của chương trình môn Toán trung học cơ sở [Direct viewpoints and new points of the middle school mathematics curriculum]. Tạp chí Giáo dục, 39, 4-5.
- Ton Than (2003 c). Sách giáo khoa Toán 7-Những điều mới mẻ và lí thú [Grade 7 mathematics textbook-news and interestingness]. *Toán học và Tuổi trẻ, 5,* 5-6.
- Tönnies, D. (2003). Besondere Punkte im Dreieck mit "Euklid". In M. Winter (Hrsg.), *Impulse für den Geometrieunterricht* (pp. 44-74). Vechta: Hochschule.
- Tran Dang (2005). Sáng lóp 6, chiều lớp 1 [Mornings grade 6, afternoons grade 1]. Báo Lao Động, October 27, 2005.
- Tran Kiem Minh (2006). Biên soạn đề kiểm tra, đánh giá môn Toán theo các mức độ nhận thức [Compiling mathematics examinations and assessment according to levels of awareness]. *Tạp chí Giáo dục*, *136*, 20-21.
- Tran Kieu (2001). Một số ý kiến về đổi mới phương pháp dạy toán ở bậc trung học của nước ta [Some ideas about the innovation in methods of teaching and learning mathematics in our country's secondary level]. *Tạp chí Thông tin Khoa học Giáo dục, 83,* 7-13.
- Tran Phuong Dung (2003). Đại số 7 trong đổi mới chương trình và sách giáo khoa Toán 7 [Algebra 7 in the innovation of the grade-seven curriculum and textbook]. *Toán học và Tuổi thơ, 6*, 20-21.

Tran Thu Ha;Tran Tuan; Trudy Harpham; Pham Thi Lan; Tran Duc Thach; Sharon Huttly; Anne Mc Coy (n.d.). *Extra classes and learning outcomes of eight-year old children in Vietnam* Retrieved on March 30, 2006 from:

http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/younglives/data/publications/

- Tran Van Hao (2003). Diễn đàn dạy học Toán [Teaching and learning forum]. Tạp chí Toán học và Tuổi trẻ, 314, 20.
- Tran Viet Luu (2001). Những yếu tố ảnh hưởng việc đối mới phương pháp dạy học ở nước ta hiện nay [Factors affect the teaching method innovation at present in our country]. *Tạp chí Giáo dục, 14*, 18-19 & 22.
- Travers, K. J.; Weinzweig A. I. (1999). The second international mathematics study. In G. Kaiser; E. Luna; I. Huntley (Eds.), *International comparisons in mathematics education* (pp. 19-29). London: Palmer Press.
- Treffers, A. (1987) *Three dimensions: A model of goal and theory and theory description in mathematics instruction- The Wiskobas project.* Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- Treffers, A. (1991). Realistic Mathematics Education in the Netherlands 1980-1990. In L. Streefland (Ed.), *Realistic Mathematics Education in primary school: On the* occasion of the opening of the Freudenthal Institute (pp. 11-20). Utrecht: CD-Beta Press.
- Trinh Quoc Thai (2002). Những giải pháp cơ bản thực hiện đổi mới phương pháp dạy học ở tiểu học [Basic solutions for implementing the innovation of teaching methods at the primary level]. *Tạp chí Giáo dục, 44,* 23-24.
- Van den Brink, F. J. (1991). Realistic arithmetic education for young children. In L. Streefland (Ed.), *Realistic Mathematics Education in primary school: On the* occasion of the opening of the Freudenthal Institute (pp. 77-92). Utrecht: CD-Beta Press.
- Van den Heuvel- Panhuizen, M. (1996). Assessment and Realistic Mathematics Education. Utrecht: CD-Beta Press.
- Van den Heuvel- Panhuizen, M. (1998). Realistic Mathematics Education: Work in progress. In T. Breiteig; G. Brekke, *Theory into practice in mathematics education*. Kristiansand, Norway: Faculty of Mathematics and Sciences/ Hogskolen I Agder.
- Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, M. (2000). Mathematics education in the Netherlands: A guided tour. *Freudenthal Institute CD Rom for ICME 9*. Utrecht: Utrecht University.

- Van den Heuvel- Panhuizen, M. (2003). The didactical use of models in Realistic Mathematics Education: An example from a longitudinal trajectory on percentage. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 54 (1), 9-35.
- Van Galen, F.; Feijs, E. (1991). A mathematics lesson on videodisc. In L. Streefland (Ed.), *Realistic mathematics education in primary school: on the occasion of the opening of the Freudenthal Institute* (pp. 183-208). Utrecht: CD-Beta Press.
- Van Reeuwijk, M. (1995). The role of realistic situations in developing tools for solving systems of equations. Paper presented at the 1995 annual AERA conference in San Francisco at the symposium: The learning and teaching of Algebra: Exploring and Contrasting Two Cyclic approaches to Research and Development.
- Van Reeuwijk, M. (2001). From informal to formal, progressive formalization: An example on "solving systems of equations". In H. Chick; K. Stacey; J. Vincent; J. Vincent (Eds.), Proceeding of the 12th International Commission on Mathematical Instruction (ICMI) Study Conference 'The Future of the Teaching and Learning of Algebra), 2, (pp. 613-620). Melbourne: University of Melbourne.
- Verhage, H.; De Lang, J. (1996). Mathematics education and assessment. *Amesa conference*, 1-5. Greece.
- Vietnam National Assembly (1998). Luật Giáo dục [Education Law]. Hanoi: Vietnam National Assembly. Retrieved on December 10, 2003 from the website of the MoET: http://www.edu.net.vn/VanBan_Luat/LuatGD_1998/index.htm
- Vietnam National Assembly (2005). Luật Giáo dục [Education Law]. Hanoi: Vietnam National Assembly. Retrieved on January 10, 2006 from the web site of the MoET: http://www.edu.net.vn/Default.aspx?tabindex=1&tabid=6&mid=84&tid=207
- Vietnam News (2006). *Tenth-graders turn their back on social sciences*. Retrieved on September 18, 2006 from the website of Vietnam News:

http://vietnamnews.vnagency.com.vn/showarticle.php?num=01EDU150906

- Vollath, E. (1995). *Geometrie im Gelände: Peilen und Messen in freier Natur* (Beartbeitet von Haubner, K.; Utz, K.; Vollath, E., 2. Aufl.). Donauwörth: Auer.
- Vu Huu Binh (2004). Những điểm mới trong chương tứ giác của sách giáo khoa Toán 8 mới [New points in the chapter of quadrilateral in the grade 8 textbook]. *Tạp chí Toán học và Tuổi thơ*, *14*, 15 & 26.
- Vu Kim Thuy (2006). Kết quả cuộc thi Olympic khoa học quốc tế lần thứ hai tại Indonesia của Đoàn Việt Nam [Vietnamese team's results of the Second

International Junior Science Olympiad in Indonesia]. Retrieved on January 27, 2006 from website of Mathematics and Youth Journal:

http://www.nxbgd.com.vn/toanhoctuoitre/

- Wang, L.; Wu, Y. (2002). Comparison of teaching geometry between China and USA-From an oriental perspective. *Journal of the Korea Society of Mathematics Education Series D*, 6 (2), 107-116.
- Weidig, I. (n.d.). *Organization of the German school system*. Retrieved April 10, 2006 from:

http://www.didaktik.mathematik.uni-wuerzburg.de/history/meg/weidiga1.html

- Wijers, M. (2001). How to deal with algebraic skills in Realistic Mathematics Education? In H. Chick; K. Stacey; J. Vincent; J. Vincent (Eds.), Proceeding of the 12th International Commission on Mathematical Instruction (ICMI) Study Conference 'The Future of the Teaching and Learning of Algebra', Vol. 2 (pp. 649-654). Melbourne: University of Melbourne.
- Wittmann, E. Ch. (1987). *Elementargeometrie und Wirklichkeit: Einführung in geometrisches Denken*. Braunschweig: Vieweg.
- Wubbels, Th.; Korthagen, F.; Broekman, H. (1997). Preparing teachers for Realistic Mathematics Education. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 32 (1), 1-28.
- Yackel, E.; Cobb, P. (1996). Sciomathematical norms, argumentation, and autonomy in mathematics. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education, 27*, 458-477.
- Zhongru, L. (2004). Characteristics and issues of China's primary mathematics textbooks based on the current curriculum standards. *ICME-10*, Discussion Group 14, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Zukardi (2002). Developing a 'rich learning environment of Realistic Mathematics Education for student teachers in Indonesia. Paper presented in *the IAMS-1 seminar* at the Faculty of math at the University of Twente, 23-214, June 2002 and published in the special edition of *International Journal of Indonesian Mathematics Society* (HIHM), January 2003.

Appendix

Appendix A: Some seventh- grade geometry lessons (for 12-year-old students) in the 'reformed' and current textbooks

Nr.	Name of lesson
1	The Triangle Sum Theorem
2	Characteristics of the bisector of an angle
3	Characteristics (property) of the perpendicular bisector (mid- perpendicular) of a segment
4	The Triangle Inequality

A.1 The Triangle Sum Theorem

A.1.1 The Triangle Sum Theorem (the Triangle-Angle Sum Theorem) in the 'reformed' textbook

This lesson is translated from the 'reformed' textbook entitled *Geometry* 7 (Nguyen Gia Coc & Pham Gia Duc, 1996, pp. 36-37).

1. The Theorem

The sum of the measures of the three interior angles of a triangle is 180° .

Given: $\triangle ABC$ Prove: $m \angle A + m \angle B + m \angle C = 180^{\circ}$.



Figure A.1.1

*Proof (*figure A.1.1):

Suppose that *M* is the midpoint of \overline{AC} ; *D* is a point on \overline{BM} such that *M* is the midpoint of \overline{BD} .

 $\triangle ABM$ and $\triangle CDM$ are congruent (SAS Congruence Postulate). From this, it follows that $m \angle A = m \angle ACD$. Hence, \overrightarrow{AB} and \overrightarrow{DC} are parallel.

Suppose that \overrightarrow{Cy} is the opposite ray of \overrightarrow{CD} . We have $m \angle B = m \angle BCy$ (Two alternate interior angles).

However, $m \angle BCy + m \angle BCD = 180^{\circ}(1)$.

Moreover, since \overrightarrow{CA} is somewhere between \overrightarrow{CB} and \overrightarrow{CD} , $m \angle BCD = m \angle BCA + m \angle ACD$ (2).

From (1) and (2), we obtain: $m \angle BCy + m \angle BCA + m \angle ACD = 180^{\circ}$

Since $m \angle BCy = m \angle B$ and $m \angle ACD = m \angle A$, $m \angle A + m \angle B + m \angle C = 180^{\circ}$.

2. Problem: Prove that every triangle cannot have two right angles, or one right angle and one obtuse angle, or two obtuse angles.

Proof:

If a triangle has two right angles, or one right angle and one obtuse angle, or two obtuse angles, then the sum of its three angles is greater than 180° . This contradicts the above theorem.

3. Consequence

For every right triangle, the sum of the two acute angles is 90° .

Given: $\triangle ABC$ and $m \angle A = 90^{\circ}$ Prove: $m \angle B + m \angle C = 90^{\circ}$. Proof:

We know that $m \angle A + m \angle B + m \angle C = 180^{\circ}$. Since $m \angle A = 90^{\circ}$, $90^{\circ} + m \angle B + m \angle C = 180^{\circ}$. Hence, $m \angle B + m \angle C = 180^{\circ} - 90^{\circ} = 90^{\circ}$.

Note: Two angles whose measures' sum is 90° are called complementary angles.

4. An exterior angle of a triangle

In figure A.1.2, $\angle ACD$ and $\angle C$ of $\triangle ABC$ are linear pair of angles. $\angle ACD$ is called an *exterior angle at vertex* C of $\triangle ABC$. $\angle A$ and $\angle B$ are called *the interior angles that are not adjacent to the exterior angle.*



Theorem

Each exterior angle of a triangle is equal to the sum of two interior angles that are not adjacent to this exterior angle.

Proof:

 $m \angle ACD + m \angle C = 180^{\circ}$ (1) (a linear pair of angles). $m \angle A + m \angle B + m \angle C = 180^{\circ}$ (2) (the sum of the three angles in a triangle). From (1) and (2), it follows that $m \angle ACD = m \angle A + m \angle B$. Analogously, it can be proved for the exterior angles at vertexes A and B.

5. Theorem

If two sides of one angle are perpendicular, respectively, to two sides of another angle, then:

a) The angles are equal if both of them are the obtuse angles or the acute angles

b) The angles are supplementary angles if one of them is an obtuse angle and the other is the acute angle.

A.1.2 The triangle sum in the present textbook

This lesson is translated from the current textbook entitled Mathematics 7: part 1 (Phan Duc Chinh, Ton Than, Vu Huu Binh, Pham Gia Duc & Tran Luan, 2004 a, pp. 106-107).

1. The sum of the three angle measures in a triangle

1. Theorem

?1

Draw two triangles, measure the three angles and calculate the sum of the angles' measures for each triangle. Have you got any remark on the results?

? 2 Practice: Use a board to cut \triangle ABC. Cut out $\angle ABC$ and put it such that it becomes an adjacent angle of $\angle BAC$; then cut out $\angle ACB$ and put it such that it is an adjacent angle of $\angle BAC$ (figure A.1.3). Predict the sum of $m \angle BAC$, $m \angle ABC$ and $m \angle ACB$.



We have the following theorem: The sum of the measures of the three interior angles of a triangle is 180° .



Proof: (figure A.1.4)

Let \overline{xy} be a line that contains point A and is paralleled to \overline{BC} .

 $m \angle ABC = m \angle A_1(1)$ (Two alternate interior angles).

 $m \angle ACB = m \angle A_2(2)$ (Two alternate interior angles).

From (1) and (2), we have:

 $m \angle BAC + m \angle ABC + m \angle ACB = m \angle BAC + m \angle A_1 + m \angle A_2 = 180^{\circ}.$

Note: Conventionally, we call sum of two angle measures sum of two angles. Analogously, we call difference of two angle measures difference of two angles.

2. Application in a right triangle

Definition: A right triangle is a triangle that has one right angle.

In figure A.1.5, $\triangle ABC$ has $m \angle A = 90^{\circ}$. We speak: right $\triangle ABC$ at A; \overline{AB} and \overline{AC} are called the legs; and

 \overline{BC} is called the hypotenuse of this right triangle.



? 3 Given a right triangle at A. Calculate $m \angle B + m \angle C$.

We have a theorem:

In a right triangle, the two acute angles are complementary angles.

 $\triangle BAC, m \angle A = 90^{\circ} \implies m \angle B + m \angle C = 90^{\circ}.$

3. An exterior angle of a triangle

Definition: An exterior angle of a triangle is an angle that and one angle of the triangle are a linear pair of angles. A

In figure A.1.6, $\angle ACx$ is an exterior angle at vertex *C* of $\triangle ABC$. $\angle A$, $\angle B$, and $\angle C$ are called the interior angles of $\triangle ABC$:



? 4 Fill in the following blanks (...), and compare $m \angle ACx$ and $m \angle A + m \angle B$. Since the sum of the three angle measures of $\triangle ABC$ is 180° , $m \angle A + m \angle B = 180^{\circ}$ -... Because $\angle ACx$ is the exterior angle of the triangle, $m \angle ACx = 180^{\circ}$ -... We have a theorem about a characteristic of an exterior angle of a triangle: Each exterior angle of a triangle is equal to the sum of two interior angles that are not adjacent to the exterior angle.

Comment: In a triangle, the measure of an exterior angle is greater than the measure of each interior angle that is not adjacent to this exterior angle.

 $m \angle ACx > m \angle A, m \angle ACx > m \angle B$ (figure A.1.6).

A.2 Characteristics of the bisector of an angle

A.2.1 In the 'reformed' textbook

This lesson is translated from the 'reformed' textbook entitled *Geometry* 7 (Nguyen Gia Coc & Pham Gia Duc, 1996, pp. 76-77).

1. Characteristic of the bisector of an angle Theorem

A point that on the bisector of an angle is equidistant from the two sides of the angle

Given: M is on the bisector ray of $\angle xOy$

 $\overline{MA} \perp \overrightarrow{Ox}$, $\overline{MB} \perp \overrightarrow{Oy}$

Prove: MA = *MB*

Proof: Since right \triangle *MOA* and \triangle *MOB* have the common hypotenuse \overline{OM} and $m \angle MOA = m \angle MOB$, these triangles are congruent. Hence, MA = MB.

Theorem

If a point that is in the interior of $\angle xOy$ is equidistant from its two sides, then this point is on the bisector ray of the angle.

Given: M is in the interior of $\angle xOy$; $\overline{MA} \perp \overrightarrow{Ox}$; $\overline{MB} \perp \overrightarrow{Oy}$; MA = MB.

Prove: $m \angle MOA = m \angle MOB$

Proof: (figure A.2.1)

Since two right \triangle *MOA* and \triangle *MOB* have common hypotenuse \overline{OM} and MA = MB, these triangles are congruent. Therefore, $m \angle MOA =$ $m \angle MOB$.



This is what must be proved.

Figure A.2.1

The bisector ray of an angle is the locus of all points that are in the interior of this angle and equidistant from its two sides.

A.2.2 In the present textbook

This lesson is translated from the current textbook entitled *Mathematics 7: part 2* (Phan Duc Chinh et al., 2004 b, pp. 68- 69).

1. The theorem

a) Practice

Using paper, cut $\angle xOy$. Fold $\angle xOy$ such that \overrightarrow{Ox} lies on \overrightarrow{Oy} in order to determine its bisector ray \overrightarrow{Oz} (figure A.2.2).



M is any point that lies on \overrightarrow{Oz} . Fold \overrightarrow{MH} such that \overrightarrow{MH} is perpendicular to $\overrightarrow{Ox} (\equiv \overrightarrow{Oy})$ (figure A.2.3). The measure of \overrightarrow{MH} is the distance from *M* to \overrightarrow{Ox} and \overrightarrow{Oy} . Based on the folding way, compare the distances from *M* to \overrightarrow{Ox} and \overrightarrow{Oy} ."

b) Theorem 1

Proof: (Figure A.2.4)

?2 Based on figure A.2.4, write the 'given' information and conclusion of theorem 1.

A point that is on the bisector of an angle is equidistant from the two sides of the angle.

We consider $\triangle MOA$ and $\triangle MOB$: OM = OM (reflexive Property) $m \angle MOA = m \angle MOB$ (given) $m \angle OAM = m \angle OBM$ (= 90⁰) Thus, $\triangle MOA$ and $\triangle MOB$ are congruent (ASA Congruence Postulate). Therefore, MA = MB. Figure A.2.4

2. The converse theorem

We consider the following problem: *M* is a given points in the interior of $\angle xOy$ such that the distance from *M* to the two sides of this angle are equal (figure A.2.5). Is point *M* on the bisector ray (or is \overrightarrow{OM} the bisector ray) of $\angle xOy$?



We have the following theorem:

Theorem 2 (The converse theorem)

If a point that is in the interior of an angle and equidistant from the two sides of the angle then it is on the bisector ray of this angle.

Based on the figure A.2.5, write down the given information (supposition) and conclusion of the theorem.

Guide to prove: (see figure A.2.5)

- Draw \overrightarrow{OM}

- Prove that ΔMOA and ΔMOB are congruent.

From this, it follows that $m \angle MOA = m \angle MOB$. In other words, \overrightarrow{OM} is the bisector ray of $\angle xOy$.

Comment:

From theorems 1 and 2, we have: *The bisector ray of an angle is the locus of all points that are in the interior of this angle and equidistant from its two sides.*

A.3 Characteristics of the perpendicular bisector of a segment

A.3.1 In the 'reformed' textbooks

This lesson is translated from the 'reformed' textbook entitled *Geometry* 7 (Nguyen Gia Coc & Pham Gia Duc, 1996, pp. 40-42).

1. Definition

A line that contains the midpoint of a segment and is perpendicular to the segment is called the perpendicular bisector of this segment.

In figure A.3.1, \ddot{a} that contains the midpoint *I* of \overline{AB} and is perpendicular to \overline{AB} is the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} .

When \overline{AB} is a side of ΔABC , the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} is called the perpendicular bisector of ΔABC (figure A.3.2).



2. Theorem

If a point M is on the perpendicular bisector of AB, then the distances from M to the endpoints of \overline{AB} are equal.

Given: M is on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB}

Prove: MA = MB

Suppose that *I* is the midpoint of \overline{AB} .

If $M \equiv I$, then the theorem is obviously true.

If *M* does not coincide with *I*:

We consider Δ *MIA* and Δ *MIB*:

 $IA = IB \ (\overrightarrow{MI} \text{ is the mid-perpendicular of } \overline{AB} \)$ $m \angle MIA = m \angle MIB \ (=90^{\circ})$

MI = MI (Reflexive Property)



Consequently, ΔMIA and ΔMIB are congruent (SAS Congruence Postulate). Therefore, MA = MB.

2. Theorem

If there is a point *M* such that the distances from *M* to *A* and *B* are equal, then *M* is on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} .

М

I

Figure A.3.4

В

A

Given: MA = MB

Prove: *M* is on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB}

Proof: (figure A.3.4)

Suppose that I is the midpoint of \overline{AB} .

If $M \equiv I$ then the theorem is obviously true.

If *M* does not coincide with *I*, we call \overline{MI} the

bisector at vertex M of Δ ABC. We consider Δ

MIA and Δ *MIB*:

 $m \angle AMI = m \angle BMI$

MI is the common side of both two triangles

MA = MB (Supposition)

Consequently, ΔMIA and ΔMIB are congruent (SAS Congruence Postulate). From this, it follows that:

IA = IB (1) $m \angle MIA = m \angle MIB$

A pair of $\angle MIA$ and $\angle MIB$ is a linear pair of angles. Furthermore, they are congruent. Consequently, $m \angle MIA = 90^{\circ}$ (2).

From (1) and (2), it follows that M is on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} .

Combing theorems 1 and 2, we state:

The set of points whose each point is equidistant from the endpoints of \overline{AB} is the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} .

 $MA = MB \iff M$ is on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} .

A.3.2 In the present textbooks

This lesson is translated from the present textbook entitled *Mathematics 7: part 2* (Phan Duc Chinh et al., 2004 b, pp. 74-75).

1. The theorem about characteristic of the mid-perpendicular of a segment



• Cut a piece of paper, whose cutting edge is AB (figure A.3.5.a)

• Fold this piece of paper such that point *A* lies on point *B* (figure A.3.5.b). Folding crease 1 is the mid-perpendicular of \overline{AB} .

• *M* is a point on folding crease 1, fold \overline{MA} (or \overline{MB}), we have folding crease 2 (figure A.3.5.c). The measure of folding crease 2 is the distance from *M* to *A* (or *B* respectively). From this, we recognize that MA = MB.

We have the following theorem:

b) Theorem 1

A point that is on the perpendicular bisector of a segment is equidistant from the two endpoints of this segment.

Specifically, if a point *M* is on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} , then MA = MB (The students self-prove this theorem).

2. Converse theorem

We consider a point *M* that is equidistant from the two endpoints of \overline{AB} . Is point *M* on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} ?

Theorem 2 (The converse theorem)

If a point that is equidistant from the two endpoints of a segment, then it is on the perpendicular bisector of this segment.
Please write down the given information and the conclusion of the theorem



Proof:

We consider two cases:

 $M \in AB$ (figure A.3.6.a):

Since MA = MB, M is the midpoint of \overline{AB} . Consequently, M is on the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} .

 $M \notin AB$ (figure A.3.6.b):

Draw a segment that connects M with midpoint I of \overline{AB} .

We have: ΔMIA and ΔMIB are congruent (SSS Congruence Postulate). Thus, $m \angle I_1 = m \angle I_2$. Moreover, $m \angle I_1 + m \angle I_2 = 180^{\circ}$. Thus, $m \angle I_1 = m \angle I_2 = 90^{\circ}$. Therefore, \overline{MI} is the perpendicular bisector of \overline{AB} .

Comment:

From the theorem and its converse theorem, we have: *The perpendicular bisector (mid-perpendicular) of a segment is the locus of all points that are equidistant from its endpoints.*

A.4 The Triangle Inequality

A.4.1 In the 'reformed' textbook

This lesson is translated from the 'reformed' textbook entitled *Geometry* 7 (Nguyen Gia Coc & Pham Gia Duc, 1996, pp. 70-71).

1. Theorem

In a triangle, the sum of the length of any two sides is greater than the length of the other side.

Given: ΔABC

Prove: AC + BC > AB, AB + BC > AC, AB + AC > BC.

Proof:

On the opposite ray of \overrightarrow{CA} , point D is identified such

that CD = CB (figure A.4.1). Since \overrightarrow{BC} is somewhere

between \overrightarrow{BA} and \overrightarrow{BD} , $m \angle ABD > m \angle CBD(1)$.

According the way in which point *D* is identified, Δ

BCD is the isosceles triangle with base BD; therefore,

 $m \angle CBD = m \angle D(2)$

From (1) and (2), we have: $m \angle ABD > m \angle D$.



Figure A.4.1

A

In $\triangle ABD$, since $m \angle ABD > m \angle D$, AD > AB. We know AD = AC + CD = AC + CB. Thus, AC + CB > AB.

Analogously, we have can prove that AB + BC > AC, AB + AC > BC.

Consequence

In a triangle, the difference of two sides is shorter than the other one.

Given: ΔABC

Prove: BC - AC < AB (AB - AC < BC, BC - AB < AC)

Proof:

Suppose that AC < BC. According to the above theorem, in $\triangle ABC$, we have: BC < AB + AC.

From this, it follows that BC - AC < AB(1)

If $AC \ge BC$, then inequality (1) is obviously true.

Analogously, we have:

$$AB - AC < BC$$
$$BC - AB < AC$$

Note: Combining the theorem and its consequence, we have:

BC - AC < AB < BC + AC

In a triangle, each side is longer than the difference and shorter than the sum of the other sides

The above inequality is called the *Triangle Inequality*.

A.4.2 In the present textbooks

This lesson is translated from the present textbook *Mathematics 7: part 2* (Phan Duc Chinh et al., 2004 b, pp. 61-63).

"? 1 Try to draw a triangle with the lengths of side 1cm, 2cm and 4 cm. Can you do it?

Theorem

In a triangle, the sum of the two sides is longer than the other side



? 2 Based on figure A.4.2, write down the given information (supposition) and conclusion of the theorem

Proof:



Appendix B: Questionnaire Form Mr. Le Tuan Anh The Institute for Mathematics The University of Potsdam

Questionnaire

(For middle school mathematics teachers)

This questionnaire is intended to collect information about mathematics instruction in Vietnamese school. Please answer the following questions to the best of your ability:

I- Your personal information

1- Name:......Birth date:Sex: (male) (female)

2- Name of the school where you teach:

- District (town):....
- Province (city):....
- 3- Personal qualifications:

4- Number of years you have taught:

II- Mathematics curricula and textbooks

1- Your thoughts on the curriculum and textbooks that you are currently using at your school (check the appropriate boxes). The curriculum and textbooks are:

a- suitable for students' competence

- b- rigorous for students' competence
- c- suitable for the time allotted for teaching



d- rigorous for the time allotted for teaching	
e- attach special importance to the application of mathematics in everyday life or to its application in other school disciplines	
f- do not attach special importance to the application of mathematics in everyday life or to its application in other school disciplines	

2- Additional thoughts about the current mathematics curriculum and textbooks:

3- If you used the 'reformed' textbooks, please comment upon both the good and bad aspects you encountered with this curriculum and these textbooks:

III- Methods of teaching mathematics in school

1-What methods/ approaches do you often use in teaching mathematics? Please check the appropriate boxes:

I do not	I rarely use	I often
know this	this method	use this
method		method

a- Lecturing

b- Using suggested questions
c- Using visual means of teaching
d- Developing Students' Activeness
e- Problem Posing and Solving
f- Teaching through Activities
g- The Theory of Didactical Situations in
Mathematics
h- Constructivism
i- The Student as the Center of Teaching
and Learning Process
J-Applying ICT in teaching

2- Apart from the methods mentioned directly above, what additional methods of/approaches to teaching do you know or use?

3- What difficulties do you usually experience when you implement the teaching method reforms? (For instance, difficulties related to the amount or quality of mathematics content in the curriculum or textbooks, the allotted teaching time, the number of students per class, the teaching guide materials, the teaching tools, different students' levels of competence, etc.)

IV-<u>Your thoughts on the following problem and solutions</u>

1- Here is a problem (Van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, 1996, p. 95):⁹²



One bear is 500 Kg. How many students in your class weigh as heavy as this bear? Please write the solution in the blank and explain why you get this solution.

You can use the scratch paper provided.



2- Here is a problem called 'T-shirts and Sodas' (Van Reeuwijk, 1995, pp. 2-4):



How much does a T-shirt cost? How much does a cup of soda cost? Explain why?

⁹² Some words of the original problem are changed to make a problem more suitable for Vietnamese students.

These are some students' solutions:

The first solution (using the guess and check strategy):

 $A = 11\ 000$ and C = 11000 (Does not satisfy)

 $A = 12\ 000$ and C = 10000 (Does not satisfy)

A = 13 000 and *C* = 9000 (Do not satisfy)

 $A = 14\ 000$ and C = 8000 (Does not satisfy)

 $A = 15\ 000$ and C = 7000 (Does not satisfy)

 $A = 16\ 000$ and C = 6000 (Does not satisfy)

 $A = 17\ 000$ and C = 5000 (Does not satisfy)

A = 18 000 and *C* = 4000 (Satisfies)

Consequently, one T-shirt costs 18 000 d, and one soda costs 4 000 d.

The second solution:



One T-shirt and one soda cost 22 000 d.

Two cups of soda cost: $30\ 000 - 22\ 000 = 8\ 000\ (d)$. Hence, one cup of soda costs: $8000:2=4\ 000\ d$. Therefore, one T- shirt costs: $22\ 000\ d - 4\ 000\ d = 18\ 000\ d$. The third solution:



220

When I replace one T-shirt by one cup of soda, the total price is reduced: 44 $000 - 30\ 000 = 14\ 000\ d$. Again, when I replace one T-shirt by one cup of soda, the total price reduces 14 000 d too. Consequently, the price of 4 cups of soda is: 30 000 - 14 000 = 16 000 d. Therefore, the price of one cup of soda is: 16 000: 4 = 4 000 d. Hence, one T- shirt costs: 3 000 - 3 x 4 000 = 18 000d.

The fourth solution:

 $2 A + 2 C = 44\ 000\ d$ $1A + 3 C = 30\ 000\ d$ $2A + 6 C = 60\ 000\ d$ $0A + 4 C = 16\ 000\ d$ $C = 4\ 000\ d$ $A = 18\ 000\ d$

One T-shirt costs 18 000 d. One cup of soda costs 4 000 d.

	T-shirt	Soda	Price
1	2	2	44 000 đ
2	1	3	30 000đ
3	2	6	60 000đ
4	0	4	16 000đ
5	0	1	4 000đ
6	1	0	18 000đ

The fifth solution:

One T-shirt costs 18 000 d. One cup of soda costs 4 000 d.

The sixth solution:

• Step 1: Select unknown

Let *x* be the price of one T-shirt and *y* be the price of one cup of soda (x, y > 0).

• Step 2: Set up the system of equations

Since two T-shirts and two cups of soda cost 44 000 d, 2x + 2y = 44 000 (d) (1). Since one T-shirt and three cups of soda cost 30 000 d, 3x + y = 30 000 (d) (2). From (1) and (2), we have the following system of equations:

 $\begin{cases} 2x + 2y = 44000 & (1) \\ x + 3y = 30000 & (2) \end{cases}$ (I)

• Step 3: Solve the system of equations

 $\Rightarrow \begin{cases} 2x + 2y = 44000\\ 2x + 6y = 60000 \end{cases}$ $\Rightarrow (2x + 6y) - (2x + 2y) = 6000 - 44000$ $\Rightarrow 2x + 6y - 2x - 2y = 6000 - 44000$ $\Rightarrow 4y = 16\ 000$ $\Rightarrow y = 16\ 000 : 4$ $\Rightarrow y = 4\ 000$

Substituting y = 4000 into equation (1), we have

 $2x + 8\ 000 = 44\ 000.$

Hence, $2x = 36\ 000$.

Therefore, x = 18000.

• Step 4: Check and answer

18 000 and 4 000 satisfy the suppositions.

One T-shirt costs 18 000 d. One cup of soda costs 4 000 d.

Please comment on the above solutions (including your thoughts on their precision, sufficiency, characteristics, form of presentation, etc.).

V- Additional questions

1- What difficulties do your students meet when they learn mathematics?

.....

.....

2- What should teachers emphasize when teaching mathematics? Please rate the following from 0 to 2, with 0 = not very important, 1 = important and 2 = very important).

.....

Levels of

importance

a- Teach students so that it is easy for them to understand lessonsb- Help students understand the various forms of mathematicsproblems so that they can solve similar problems in the future

c- Help students memorize mathematic principles (such as concepts, rules, formulae and theories) so that they can use this knowledge to solve mathematical problems.

d- Help student re-invent or re-discover mathematics principles

3- Do you often use mathematics problems relating to real life or the real world? Please check the appropriate boxes:

a- in the teaching processb- oral examinations (often at the beginning of each lesson)c- in examinations (15 minutes, 45 minutes, etc.)

I do not use	I rarely use	I often use

4- Do you often let your students work in groups or work individually (Please check appropriate blank)?

	Often	Sometimes	Rarely
a- work individually			
b- work in pairs or in groups			

VI- Your additional ideas about teaching and learning mathematics in school:

Thank you very much for answering these questions.

Please send any further comments to:

Herrn Le Tuan Anh Universität Potsdam Institut für Mathematik Mathematikdidaktik Postfach 60 15 53 D- 14 415 Potsdam Deutschland

E-mail: tuananh@rz-uni.potsdam.de or lemathematics@yahoo.com

Appendix C: RME-based geometry lessons

Nr.	Name of lesson
1	The Triangle Sum Theorem (The Triangle-Angle Sum Theorem) ⁹³
2	Perpendicular line and slant line ⁹⁴
3	The Triangle Inequality
4	Characteristics of the bisector of an angle
5	Characteristics of the three bisectors of a triangle
6	Characteristics of the perpendicular bisector (mid-perpendicular) of a segment
7	The 'Railway station' problem ⁹⁵
8	Characteristics of the three perpendicular bisectors (mid-perpendiculars) of a triangle

⁹³ Sometimes the sum of angles is understood as the sum of measures of angles.
⁹⁴ This RME-based lesson is suitable for high-achieving students.
⁹⁵ This RME-based lesson is suitable for high-achieving students.

<u>Notes</u>:

• Teachers should select *situations* from RME-based lessons that are suitable for their teaching practices, students' level of competence and allotted teaching time. They do not have to use all given aspects of each lesson. Moreover, teachers can add suggestions and guidances in order to aid students when necessary. For instance, at first sight, the first lesson looks long and complicated. However, this lesson offers some selected situations which teachers can choose to use.

• Because some of these lessons can be quite long and complicated for students (for example, lessons 4 and 7), teachers have the option not to use them.

• In these lessons, students are expected to build on informal knowledge by acquiring formal mathematical knowledge. Some situations in these lessons function as a bridge which connects informal with formal mathematical knowledge. It should be noted that Dutch RME geometry, at least in middle school, emphasizes informal knowledge. But in the current Vietnamese middle school textbooks, it is frequently formal knowledge (mathematics definitions, theorems and rules) that is emphasized.

• In RME-based lessons, the figures are not drawn with their real measures.

1. The Triangle Sum Theorem (Triangle-Angle Sum Theorem)

Tools: students need rulers and protractors.

<u>Situation 1</u> (Worksheet one, students work in pairs)

Each student draws a triangle. Then each student measures the three angles of the triangle drawn by her/his partner.

Situation 2^{96} (Worksheet two, students work in pairs)

Use a ruler and a protractor to draw a series of triangles with the following measures of angles if possible:

- a) 60° , 60° and 60°
- b) 30° , 50° and 70°

c) 40° , 80° and 100°

d) 35° , 45° and 100°

The purpose of this situation is to help students realize that there are cases (e.g. a and d) in which students can draw a triangle with the three given angle measures and the other cases (e.g. b and c) where a triangle cannot be drawn with the given measures of angles.

*Situation 3*⁹⁷ (Worksheet three) 1) (Students work in pairs)

Two students play a game in turn (approximately 5 to 10 turns)

The rules of the game:

• Each player thinks of and writes down three measures of angles. If s/he can draw a triangle with the three measures of angles s/he has written down then s/he receives one point. Otherwise, s/he obtains no point.

• A player can use a ruler and a protractor during the game. However, in each turn, a player can use only the protractor to measure angles *once*. But a player can use both tools to draw a triangle.

⁹⁶ When the teachers used this lesson for their teaching, they added one additional situation and made change in situation 1. They did not use situation 3 and question a) of situation 4 because of the teaching time pressure. Situations which the teachers utilized in the classes in October 2005 are presented at the end of this lesson. ⁹⁷ This is a 'voluntary' situation. It means that teachers should decide themselves whether they should

use this situation or not.

• The winner is the player who receives the more points. If the two players receive the same number of points, then the game is a draw.

2) (Students work in groups)

Answer the following question in group discussions: What are some strategies you can use in order to obtain more points?

The purpose of this situation

• At first, a player tends to think of three random angle measures and tries to draw a triangle with these three measures. After some failures, s/he may try to justify her/ his strategies. S/he may discover that "*perhaps there is a relationship among the three angle measures in a triangle*", or at least "*in some cases a triangle cannot be drawn with three random angle measures*".

• *The situation suggests* that each player (student) has to change her/his strategy to receive more points. During the game, students may discover that there is a relationship between the three angles of a triangle (*The teacher does not have to interfere in the game*). By contrast, in the situations in the textbook entitled *Mathematics 7: part 1, students have to manipulate under the textbook's instructions* (see appendix A).

• As discussed above, all students have to work the same way despite their different levels of mathematical capability when *Mathematics 7: part 1* is used. Hopefully, this situation encourages them to use a variety of strategies during the game.

• *It is ideal* when students can rediscover that the sum of the three angle measures of a triangle is 180° after playing the game. However, this is not the primary aim of this situation.

1) Some possible strategies students may use in the first situation (expected strategies)

a) 'Random' strategy:

Some players may play the game without paying attention to the three angle measures they think of. In other words, they may think of three random measures of angles. Later, they will try to draw a triangle with these measures of angle. Obviously, these players tend to lose the game.

b) 'Familiar triangle' strategy (figure C.1.1):

For example, a player can recall familiar triangles they have already learned about such as *an equilateral triangle* with angle measures 60° , 60° and 60° ; *a right isosceles triangle* with angle measures 90° , 45° and 45° ; and *a right triangle with one angle that measures* 60° . (S/he can find this triangle by dividing an equilateral triangle into halves)



Figure C. 1.1

c) 'Measurement' strategy:

At first, a player can think of three random measures of angles, for instance, 30^{0} , 40^{0} and 60^{0} . But s/he cannot draw a triangle with these three measures of angles (figure C.1.2). After this turn, s/he may keep two measures of angles, for example, 30^{0} and 40^{0} , and draw a triangle with these two measures of angles and then measure the last angle (110⁰) (figure C.1.3). Afterwards, this player can draw a triangle with the three angle measures 30^{0} , 40^{0} and 110^{0} .



d) 'One constant angle' strategy

After succeeding to draw an equilateral triangle with the angle measures 60^{0} , 60^{0} and 60^{0} , a player can keep the first angle measure at 60^{0} and change the second angle to a different number. In the following turn, this player can increase the measure of the second angle from 60^{0} to 70^{0} and measure the last one (50^{0}). Then s/he can increase the

measure of the second angle from 70^{0} to 80^{0} , measure the last one and find 40^{0} , etc. (figure C.1.4).





e) 'Bisector' strategy



Figure C.1.5

A player can draw an equilateral triangle and one bisector of the triangle in order to divide this triangle into two smaller triangles. In the next turn, s/he draws a triangle with angle measures 90° , 60° and 30° after measuring the unknown-measure angle of one of the two smaller triangles. Again, s/he draws one bisector of the right triangle in order to divide this right triangle into two smaller triangles. Because s/he knows the measures of the two angles of each triangle, in the following turns, s/he can measure the other angle so that s/he can draw a triangle, etc. (figure C.1.5).

<u>Note</u>

• A player not only can use one of the above strategies but also can *alternate or combine strategies*. For example, first, a player can use the *'random' strategy*, and then switches to either the *'familiar triangle'*, *'measurement'*, *'one constant angle'*, or the *'bisector'* strategy. Furthermore, a player can apply different strategies during the game.

• Apart from the mentioned strategies, students may use other strategies.

• The game offers students *opportunities to use different kinds of mathematical knowledge*. Although there might be students who use only the *'random' strategy*, these players need to know the concepts of an angle, a triangle and the measure of an angle, as well as know how to draw angles.

• This situation is most useful when most of the students do not know the content of the theorem before playing the game.

2) Some possible answers

• After the game is over, a student can realize that *in some cases, it is impossible draw a triangle with three arbitrary angles' measures*. Students are not told about this principle beforehand (by their teacher), but instead discover it when playing the game.

• Some students may notice that if *two angles of a triangle are identified, then the last one is also identified.*

• If students use the strategy of 'one constant angle' they may realize that if the measure of the second angle increases, then that of the third angle reduces. They may even discover that if the second angle increases, for example 10^{0} , then the last angle decreases 10^{0} .

• Some students may discover that *there might be a relationship among the three angles in a triangle.*

<u>Situation 4</u> (Worksheet four, students work in groups)

Notice the decorative form in figure C.1.6; where \vec{g} and \vec{h} are parallel; \overline{AB} and \overline{CD} are parallel; and \overline{AC} and \overline{DE} are parallel



Figure C.1.6

a)⁹⁸ Suppose that you want to give some precise instructions (on the telephone) so that one of your friends can draw figure C.1.6. How can you instruct your friend, using different strategies?

 $^{^{98}}$ This is a 'voluntary' situation. It means that teachers should decide themselves whether they should use this situation or not.

In each group, one student plays the role of the listener while the others are the instructors. One of the instructors should write down guidance steps. Note that the listener cannot see the figure and must try to draw this figure only with the instructions of the other members. The instructors are not allowed to see the listener's work.

b) The ancient Greeks used a figure similar to this figure to prove one characteristic of the three angles of a triangle. Based on figure C.1.7, please find this characteristic of Δ *ABC* and prove it.

Expected solutions

Strategy 1: (figure C.1.7)

- Draw $\triangle ABC$; draw \ddot{h} through *B* and *C*;
- Draw \vec{g} through A and is parallel to \overline{BC} ;
- Determine point D on \ddot{g} such that \overline{CD} and \overline{AB} are parallel; Connect C to D;
- Determine point *E* on \ddot{h} such that \overline{DE} is parallel to \overline{AC} ; connect *D* to *E*.



Figure C.1.7

Strategy 2 (figure C.1.8)

- Draw \vec{g} and \vec{h} such that they are parallel;
- Determine points A and B on \ddot{g} and \ddot{h} , respectively; connect A to B;
- Determine point D on \ddot{g} ;





• Determine point C on \ddot{h} such that \overline{CD} and \overline{AB} are parallel; connect C to D; connect C to A;

• Determine point *E* on \vec{h} such that \overline{DE} and \overline{AC} are parallel; connect *D* to *E*.

Note:

• Students may use an alternative strategy

• Apart from the two mentioned strategies, students may use other strategies

b)



Therefore, the sum of the three angle measures is 180° .

Strategy 2 (figure C.1.10)

We have:

 $m \angle ABC = m \angle C_2$ (Two corresponding angles) (1) $m \angle BAC = m \angle C_1$ (Two alternate interior angles) (2)



Figure C.1.10

From (1) and (2), we have: $m \angle BAC + m \angle ABC + m \angle ACB$ $= m \angle C_1 + m \angle C_2 + m \angle ACB = 180^{\circ}$

Thus, the sum of the three angle measures is 180° .

<u>Situation 5</u> (Formal, students work in groups)

Prove the following theorem: The sum of the measures of the three angles of a triangle is 180°

Expected solution Students can prove the general theorem in situation 5 by applying the proofs from situation 4 b).

Students may discover that not all segments, lines and triangles in figures C.1.11 and C.1.12 are necessary for the proofs in situation 4 b) and situation 5 (Dashed lines (- -) in figures C.1.11 and C.1.12 are not necessary for the proofs).



Tasks the teacher, Ms. Huong, intended to use in her teaching:

<u>Task 1</u>: In the first worksheet, the first student was asked to draw three arbitrary triangles, and the second student was asked to measure the thee angles of each triangle and write down the results of her/his measuring (see also the form of the first worksheet for the students in appendix D).

<u>Task 2</u>: In the second worksheet, the first student was asked to write down three arbitrary measures of three angles, and the second student was asked to draw one triangle with these measures of angle, if possible. They were also asked to do this work three times (see also the form of the second worksheet for the students in appendix D).

Task 3: Situation 3 b) in RME-based lesson

Task 4: Situation 4 in RME-based lesson

Task 5: Situation 5 in RME-based lesson

2. Perpendicular line and slant line⁹⁹

<u>Situation 1</u> (Worksheet one, student works individually)

A game is organized in a stadium. Suppose that a player stands at point A. There is a ball in each point B, C, D, E, F, G and H.

The rules of the game: A player tries to run as fast as s/he can from point A to another point among B, C, D, E, F, G and H and intercept the ball at this point. The player who wins is the one who spends the least time running from point A to her/his destination. In order to win, which point should a player choose to reach and why? Assume that the velocity of the wind at the stadium is not a factor (figure C.2.1 is a simple map of the stadium with positions A, B, C, D, E, F, G and H).



Figure C.2.1

Expected solution

A player needs to find the shortest path in order to win the game. Students can measure and compare the lengths of \overline{AB} , \overline{AC} , \overline{AD} , \overline{AE} , \overline{AF} , \overline{AG} and \overline{AH} . When they do, they find that AE is the shortest way. Therefore, a player should run 'directly' from Ato E.

<u>Situation 2</u> (Worksheet two, students work in groups)

A game is organized in a swimming pool (see figure C.2.2). Suppose that a player stands at point *A*, and there is a ball at each point *C*, *D*, *E*, *F* and *G*; $m \angle AFE = m \angle ADE = 60^{\circ}$, $m \angle AGE = m \angle ACE = 40^{\circ}$, and $m \angle AEF = 90^{\circ}$. We assume that the velocities of the water and the wind at the swimming pool are not significant factors.

⁹⁹ This is a 'voluntary' lesson. It means that teachers should decide themselves whether they should use this lesson or not.

The rules of the game: A player tries to swim as fast as s/he can from point A to another point among C, D, E, F and G and take the ball at this point. The player who wins is the one who spends the least time swimming from point A to her/his destination.



In a group, discuss which end point is the best choice and explain why.

Expected solution

Note:

• Students cannot measure distances AC, AD, AE, AF and AG because this time the game is organized at a swimming pool.

• In fact, conditions $m \angle AFE = m \angle ADE = 60^{\circ}$ and $m \angle AGE = m \angle ACE = 40^{\circ}$ are not necessary. However, they are given in this situation so that middle school students have the chance to reinvent theorems and their proofs.

Orientation 1 (From pupils' experiences)

This time, the students have to compare lengths without measuring \overline{AC} , \overline{AD} , \overline{AE} , \overline{AF} , and \overline{AG} .

At first glance and from the previous experience, students may recognize that AE is the shortest. As a consequence, the situation motivates them to prove that AE is the shortest length among AC, AD, AE, AF and AG.



Figure C.2.3

Firstly, students should prove that AE is shorter than AF(figure C.2.3). Analogously, AE is shorter than AD, AC and AG.

Students may use informal strategies to compare the lengths of two segments.



Figure C.2.4

For example, in order to compare AB and CD, they can put two AB and CD together

as figure C.2.4. *D* is on \overline{AB} . Therefore, AB > CD.

Some possible strategies:

Strategy 1: "Guess and check" (figure C.2.5)

The students 'find' a point E' on \overline{AF} such that AE' = AE. From this supposition, they know $m \angle AEF$ and $m \angle AFE$ are 90⁰ and 60⁰, respectively. It is suggested that they can find the point E' on \overline{AF} such that $m \angle AEE' = m \angle AE'E$. The 'guess and check' strategy can be used:



Figure C.2.5

m∠AEE'	$m \angle FEE' = 90^0 - m \angle AEE'$	$m \angle AE'E = 60^0 + \angle FEE'$
50^{0}	40^{0}	100^{0}
60^{0}	30 ⁰	90 ⁰
70^{0}	20 ⁰	80 ⁰
80 ⁰	10 ⁰	70^{0}
75 ⁰	15 ⁰	75 ⁰

We draw $m \angle AEE' = 75^{\circ}$. Consequently, $m \angle FEE' = 90^{\circ}$ - $m \angle AEE' = 90^{\circ}$ - $75^{\circ} = 15^{\circ}$. Thus, $m \angle AE'E = m \angle E'EF + m \angle E'FE = 15^{\circ} + 60^{\circ} = 75^{\circ}$. Since $m \angle AEE' = m \angle AE'E$ (= 75°), $\triangle AEE'$ is the isosceles triangle. Thus, AE = AE'. Consequently, AF > AE. Strategy 2

 $(m \angle AEF (90^{\circ}))$ subtracts m $\angle FEE'$) is equal to m $\angle AEE'$ (1)

 $(m \angle AFE \ (60^{\circ}))$ adds $m \angle FEE'$) is equal to $m \angle AE'E$ (Exterior angle theorem) (2)

Thus, $(m \angle AEF \ (90^{\circ})$ subtracts $m \angle FEE'$) is equal to $(m \angle AFE \ (60^{\circ})$ adds $m \angle FEE'$) Students can relate to a similar problem they had seen in primary school: Hoa has 5 pencils and his brother, Tuan, has 9 pencils. Tuan wants to give Hoa some pencils such that afterwards Hoa has the same number of pencils as he has.

How many pencils should Tuan give Hoa? (figure C. 2.6)

 $\angle FEE' = 15^{\circ}$ satisfies condition (3) (figure C.2.7). We draw \overrightarrow{Ex} such that m \angle FEE' is 15° (E' is the intersect point of \overrightarrow{Ex} and \overrightarrow{AF}). Since $m \angle AEE' = 90^{\circ}$ - $m \angle FEE'$, $m \angle AEE'$ is 75° . Then we can prove that AE' = AE (see strategy 1). Thus, AF > AE. Strategy 3 (Formal strategy)

After drawing m $\angle AEE' = 75^{\circ}$, we can prove that AE = AE'. We have: $m \angle FEE' = m \angle AEF - m \angle AEE' = 90^{\circ} - m \angle AEE' = 15^{\circ}(1)$. $m \angle AE'E = m \angle AFE + m \angle FEE' = 60^{\circ} + m \angle FEE' = 60^{\circ} + 15^{\circ} = 75^{\circ}(2)$. Since (1) and (2), $m \angle AEE' = m \angle AE'E$. Thus, AE = AE'. Therefore, AE < AF. With a *similar strategy*, students can prove that AE is shorter than AD, AC and AG. Therefore, AE is the shortest. Thus, the player should choose to swim to point E.

Orientation 2 (Using the Pythagorean Theorem)

 $\triangle ABC$ is a right triangle with the base \overline{AF} (figure C.2.8). Therefore, $AE^2 + EF^2 = AF^2$ (The Pythagorean Theorem). Thus, $AF^2 > AE^2$. Hence, AF > AE.



Although the proof using the *Pythagorean Theorem* seems to be simple, students may not know that this theorem should be applied in this situation (unless they are told by their teacher or the textbook) because they most likely learned it quite a bit earlier.

<u>Situation 3</u> (Worksheet three, students work in groups)

A game is organized at a swimming pool (figure C.2.9).

The rules for the game: There is one ball at each point B, C, D, E, F, G and H(BC = CD = DE = EF = FG = GH). Each player has a specific length of time to swim, for example 5 minutes.

<u>Step 1</u>: A player starts from A and swims to another point among B, C, D, E, F, G and H, picks up the ball at this point and swims back to A.

<u>Step 2</u>: If a player has time left, s/he can repeat step 1 until time runs out.

The winner is the player who collects the highest number of balls. In groups, decide what would be a suitable strategy for a player to use in order to win.





Let's assume that the velocities of the water and the wind are not significant factors.

Expected solution

This time, students have to compare the measures of \overline{AB} , \overline{AC} , \overline{AD} , \overline{AE} , \overline{AF} , \overline{AG} and \overline{AH} without measuring them. In this situation, they cannot use the 'guess and check' strategy because they do not know the measure of each angle.

Hopefully, they discover that:

- \overline{AE} is the shortest segment among \overline{AB} , \overline{AC} , \overline{AD} , \overline{AE} , \overline{AF} , \overline{AG} and \overline{AH} .
- If F is 'nearer' to E than G, then AF is shorter than AG.

• If *H* is farther from *E* than *G*, then *AH* is longer than *AG*.



Students may discover that in every triangle ABC, if $m \angle ABC > m \angle ACB$, then AC > AB.

Orietation 2 (Using the Pythagorean Theorem) (figureAC.2.11)Because ΔAEF and ΔAEG are right triangles, wehave: $AE^2 + EF^2 = AF^2$ (Pythagorean Theorem) (1) $AE^2 + EG^2 = AG^2$ (Pythagorean Theorem) (2)EG > EF (given).Consequently, $EG^2 > EF^2$ (3).

Hence, $AG^2 > AF^2$ (From (1), (2) and (3)). Thus, AG > AF.

In this lesson, we suppose that points *B*, *C*, *D*, *E*, *F*, *G* and *H* are on a straight line which is perpendicular to \overline{AE} .

G

3. The Triangle Inequality

Situation 1 (Student works individually)

The distance from Hoa's house to her school is 3	S
km. Suppose that Hoa's school is at position S	X
(figure C.3.1).	
a) Point out some possible positions of Hoa's house	Figure C 3 1
(In a worksheet or notebook, students can replace 3	i igui e c.o.i
km by 3 cm).	

b) Do you have any ideas about what the possible positions of Hoa's house could be?

Expected solution

a) Students point out some positions for Hoa's house (for example, positions H_1 , H_2 , H_3 , and H_4 in figure C.3.2).

b) These positions are on the circle with center S and radius 3 km.

Situation 2 (*Students work in groups*)



Figure C.3.2

The distances from An's house and Hoa's house to their school are 8 km and 3 km, respectively.

a) An estimates that: "my house is 2 km from Hoa's". Is his estimation true or false?

b) What is the shortest distance from An's house to Hoa's house?

Expected solutions

Strategy 1 (Informal):

Suppose that An's house is at position A and the school is at position S. Hoa's house is on the circle with center S and radius 3 km (figure C.3.3). This circle intersects \overline{SA} at М.

MA is the shortest distance from An's house to Hoa's house. Since SA = 8 kmand SM = 3 km, MA = 5 km. Therefore, is 5 the shortest distance km Consequently, An's estimation is false.



Note:

Students can draw a line that is perpendicular to \overline{SA} through M.

Strategy 2 (Informal):

The Hoa's house is on the circle with center S and radius 3 km. Analogously, Hoa's house is on the circle with center A and radius 2 km (Figure C.3.4). However, these two circles have no common point.



Suppose that the circle (S) intersects \overline{SA} at point M. From this figure, we can conclude that the shortest distance from Hoa's house to An's house is MA = 5 km.

Strategy 3 (Formal):

We prove that HA > MA (figure C.3.5). Because the triangle *SMH* is the isosceles triangle, $\angle SMH$ is the acute angle. Consequently, $\angle AMH$ is the obtuse angle.





We consider triangle *MHA*. In this triangle, we have $m \angle AMH > m \angle AHM$. Therefore, HA > MA.

<u>Situation 3</u> (Students work in groups)

Prove that in every triangle, the length of a side is longer than the difference of the other sides' lengths.

Similarly, the following situations are introduced to students to help them discover that in every triangle, the sum of the lengths of two sides is longer than the length of the other side.

<u>Situation 4 (Worksheet three, students work in groups)</u>

The distance from Hoa's house (*H*) to a central station (*C*) is 8 km and to her school (*S*) is 3 km.

a) She estimates that: "My school is about 12 km from the central station." Is this estimation true or false and why?

b) What is the maximum possible distance from the central station to the school? Can you prove it?

<u>Situation 5</u> (Generalization, student work in groups)

Suppose that *ABC* is a triangle. What is the relationship between the three lengths of three sides *AB*, *AC* and *BC* of the triangle? Prove your statement.

4. Characteristics of the bisector of an angle

RME-based lesson



b) Point out some positions from which the farmer should go to *branch 1* of the river.c) Point out some positions from which the farmer should go to *branch 2* of the river.

Expected solution (figure C.4.2)

a) Students should realize that the distance from A to branch 1 is shorter than the distance from A to branch
2. Therefore, the farmer should go to branch 1 of the river.



b) Students should point out some positions from which the farmer should travel to *branch 1* on the river.

c) Students should point out some positions from which the farmer should travel to *branch 2* on the river.



a) Find all positions from which he should go to branch 1 and find all positions from which he should go to *branch 2* of the river.

b) Are there any positions from among these that the farmer can choose in order to go to *branch* either *1* or *2*? If these positions exist, do you know where they are?

Expected solution

a) For every position in $\angle xOy$, the students can measure the distance from it to each branch of the river.



If the distance from this position to *branch 1* is shorter than the distance from this to branch 2, then the farmer should go to *branch 1* (small square-positions). Otherwise, the farmer should go to *branch 2* (small circle-positions) (figure C.4.4). b) Students may discover that maybe there is a border between zone one and zone two, and this border is a straight line which divides $\angle xOy$ into two equal angles. Thus, the border of the two zones is the bisector of $\angle xOy$.

Note: The following situation can be used instead of 2 b): Identify some positions in the interior of $\angle xOy$ such that the distances from each position to the two sides of the angle are equal. What have you discovered about these positions?

Situation 3 (Worksheet three, students work in groups)

a) Prove that if point *M* is on the bisector \overrightarrow{Oz} of $\angle xOy$, then the distance from *M* to \overrightarrow{Ox} is equal to the distance from *M* to \overrightarrow{Oy} .

b) Find a set of points in the interior of $\angle xOy$ such that the distance from each point of the set to \overrightarrow{Ox} is equal to the distance from it to \overrightarrow{Oy} .

Solution (figure C.4.5)



Therefore, $\triangle MOH$ and $\triangle MOK$ are congruent (ASA Congruence Postulate). Thus, MH = MK.



OM = *OM* (Reflexive property)

MH = MK (given)

OH = OK (From (1))

Therefore, ΔMOH and ΔMOK are congruent (SSS Congruence Postulate). Thus,

 $m \angle MOH = m \angle MOK$. In other words, *M* is on the bisector of $\angle xOy$.

From (1) and (2), the set of points is the bisector of $\angle xOy$.

Note: Apart from this solution, a contradiction proof can also be used to prove this theorem.

5. Characteristics of three bisectors of a triangle

Situation (figure C.5.1)

Suppose that a farmer is working somewhere in the interior of $\triangle ABC$ where \overline{AB} , \overline{BC} and \overline{AC} are banks of rivers. a) Divide $\triangle ABC$ into three zones. Zones *A*, *B* and *C* include positions in the

triangle from which the farmer should go

to banks \overline{AB} , \overline{BC} and \overline{AC} , respectively.





b) Are there any common part(s) of the three zones? What kind of shape is it (are they)? Can you prove this?

Expected solution (figure C.5.2)

a) After the discussion, students may predict that the three bisectors (three borders of zones *A*, *B* and *C*) meet at one single point.



The distances from M to \overline{BA} and \overline{BC} are also equal (\overline{BK} is the bisector of $\angle ABC$) (2) Hence, the distance from M to \overline{AC} is equal the distance from M to \overline{BC} (From (1) and (2)). Therefore, M is on the bisector of $\angle ACB$ (Situation 3-b in lesson 4). In other words, the three bisectors of $\triangle ABC$ are concurrent lines.

6. Characteristics of the perpendicular bisector (mid-perpendicular) of a segment RME-based lesson

Ideas from *Vorodoi-diagrams* are used in lessons 6 and 8 (Characteristics of the perpendicular bisector of a segment and characteristics of the perpendicular bisectors of a triangle) (Meyer, 1999, pp. 57-59; Goddijn, Kindt & Reuter, 2004, pp. I-5-16). Meyer uses a 'fire stations-large city-fire points' context, whereas Goddijn, Kindt and Reuter refer to a 'wells of water-desert-standing positions' context. The latter is chosen in these two lessons because it sounds more reasonable. However, less than five wells are mentioned to create situations that are suitable for middle school students.

<u>Situation 1</u> (Worksheet one, student work individually)

Suppose that some explorers are traveling in a desert, and they are at position M. There are two wells of water at positions A and B. Figure C.6.1 is a simple map of the desert. The explorers are thirsty and want a drink of water.





a) Which well should they choose to travel to and why?

- b) Point out some positions from which they should go to well A
- c) Point out some positions from which they should go to well B

Expected solution

a) The explorers should choose to go to a nearer well. Students can measure the distances from M to A and B and compare the measures of \overline{MA} and \overline{MB} . In this case, \overline{MB} is shorter than \overline{MA} . Hence, the explorers should go to well B.

b) Students can point out some positions from which the explorers should go to well A.

c) Students can point out some other positions from which the explorers should go to well *B*.
<u>Situation 2</u> (Worksheet two, students work in groups)

Let's assume that some explorers are traveling somewhere in a desert. There are two wells of water A and B (figure C.6.2). They are thirsty and wants to get a drink of water from one of these two wells.

A		
x		
	В	
	х	



a) Divide the map into three parts: Zone *A* includes places from which they should go to well *A*; zone *B* includes places from which they should go to well *B*; and zone *A*-*B* includes positions from which they can go to either well *A* or *B*.

b) How can you identify exactly the zone *A-B* when you know points *A* and *B* already? <u>Note</u>: Similar to lesson about characteristics of the bisector of an angle, the following situation can be used instead of situation 2:

Please point out some positions from which the explorers can go to either well *A* or *B*. What do you notice about these positions?

Expected solution

a) (figure C.6.3)



b) Hopefully, the students discover that the characteristics of zone A-B (figure C.6.4):

 \cdot zone *A*-*B* is \vec{d} :

 $\cdot \vec{a}$ is perpendicular to \overline{AB} ; and

 $\cdot \vec{a}$ divides \overline{AB} into two equal segments. In other words, d is the midperpendicular of \overline{AB} .



Figure C.6.3



Figure C.6.4

Situation 3 (Worksheet three, students work in groups)

Prove that:

a) If *M* is a point on the mid-perpendicular of \overline{AB} , then the distances from *M* to *A* and *B* are equal

b) If there is a point *M* such that the distances from *M* to *A* and *B* are equal, then *M* is on the mid-perpendicular of \overline{AB} .

7. 'Railway station' problem¹⁰⁰

7.1 Typical use of the problem in the current textbooks

• This problem may appear in different forms. For instance, there are similar problems in Meyer (1999, pp. 54-55) and Goddijn, Kindt and Reuter (2004, pp. I-82-83). This problem also appears in Vietnamese mathematics textbooks, including the current textbook entitled *Mathematics 7: part 2* (Phan Duc Chinh et al., 2004 b, p. 77):

Exercise 48. Two points *M* and *N* lie on a half plane with edge \overrightarrow{xy} . *L* is the symmetry point of *M* through \overrightarrow{xy} . *I* is an any point on \overrightarrow{xy} . Compare *IM* + *IN* and *MN*.

Exercise 49.

Two factories are built at positions *A* and *B* near a bank of a river (figure C.7.1). Find a position for a mechanical waterpump at the river bank such that the sum of the lengths of the water-pipes from two factories to the machine for pumping water is shortest.



Figure C.7.1

Exercise 49 is difficult for students if they do not have the suggestions given in exercise 48.

• Ideas from Goddijn, Kindt and Reuter (2004, pp. I-82-83) are used in RME-based lesson. However, one condition is added in the first situation (*The distances from A and B to the railway are equal*) so that this situation may offer middle school students the chance to discover mathematical principles on their own.

 $^{^{100}}$ This is a 'voluntary' lesson. It means that teachers should decide themselves whether they should use this lesson or not.

7.2 RME-based lesson

Situation 1 (Worksheet one- Students work in groups):

Suppose that A and B are two cities. The distances from Aand B to a railway are equal. A new station will be built. Where should this station be built? (figure C.7.2 is a simple map of the area) In groups, discuss the following cases:





a) Some members of each group live in city A and the other members live in city B

b) All members of each group work for the Ministry of Transportation

Expected solution (figure C.7.3)

a) The citizens in city A want to find one location for the new station such that they can travel comfortably. They want the new station to be within the nearest proximity to city A as possible



Figure C.7.3

Therefore, they tend to propose position M such that $\overline{AM} \perp \vec{d}$.

Similarly, the citizens of city *B* want the new railway station to be built at the position *N* such that $\overline{BN} \perp \vec{d}$.

b) When the students play the role of staff persons for the Ministry of Transportation, they may think that (after discussion in a)) the new railway station should be built at the 'fair place'.





Of course, it should not be built at position M because this position is not comfortable for people from city B to travel. Similarly, position N is also not chosen.

Consequently, they may think that they need to find a position F such that the distances from F to A and B are equal (figure C.7.4) (They can apply characteristics of the midperpendicular of a segment to find F).

However, students might think that it is better if "*we can save money and time for our citizens*". So the new railway station should be built at a position *S* such that the sum of the distances from *S* to *A* and *B* has the least value.

They may compare MA + MB, NA + NB and FA + FB by measuring and find that MA + MB = NA + NB > FA + FB (figure C.7.4).

At first, perhaps students think that point *F* is the most suitable for building the new railway station because FA = FB (*F* is the '*fair position*'), and FA + FB is the minimum (*F* is the '*saving position*'). However, the sum FA + FB is only the minimum sum among FA + FB, MA + MB and NA + NB.

Some students may believe that perhaps there is another point Q such that sum QA + QB is less than sum FA + FB.

Students can choose some positions for Q; measure QA and QB and compare FA + FB and QA + QB. However, the number of points on a line is unlimited. Thus, this way cannot solve that FA + FB is the minimum. As a result, they should prove that FA + FB is always less than QA + QB.

They may use their experiences of distances' comparison of two segments. Therefore, they may think they should solve the problem as in figure C.7.5, where *A*' and *A*" lies on \overrightarrow{BF} and \overrightarrow{BQ} respectively such that FA =FA' and QA = QA''.



However, this way does not work because it is difficult to compare BA' and BA".

If it is necessary, the teacher may give students some guidance such that (figure C.7.6):

• What characteristic does Δ *FAA*' have?

Student may realize that $\Delta FAA'$ is the isosceles triangle.



• This suggests that $\Delta QAA'$ is also the isosceles triangle. From this students can find the solution to the problem.

 $\Delta AFA'$ is the isosceles triangle because AF = A'F. Consequently, \vec{d} is the midperpendicular of $\overline{AA'}$. Since $\Delta AFA'$ is the isosceles triangle, \overline{HF} is not only the midperpendicular but also the altitude of $\Delta AFA'$.

Since \overline{HQ} is also not only the mid-perpendicular but also the altitude of $\Delta AQA'$, QA = QA'(1).

Therefore, QA + QB = QA' + QB(2)

> *BA* ' (The theorem of Triangles Inequality)

$$= FA + FB$$

Hence, QA + QB > FA + FB

In conclusion, the new railway station should be built at position F because of two following reasons:

- It is the '*fair position*'. This means that the distances from cities A and B to F are equal.

- It is the 'saving position'. This means that the sum of the distances from F to cities A and B is the shortest sum among the sums of the distances from any point on \vec{d} to two cities A and B.

<u>Situation 2</u> (Worksheet two- Students work in groups)

Suppose that A and B are two cities. The distance from A to the railway is longer than the distance from B to the railway. A new station will be built. (Figure C.7.7 is a simple map)



Figure C.7.7

In groups, answer the question "where should the new station be built?" (figure C.7.7) **Expected solution**

From the experience in situation 1, students may want to find the 'fair position' and the 'save position' It is not difficult for them to find that the 'fair position' *F* is the intersection point of the mid-perpendicular of \overline{AB} and \vec{d} (figure C.7.8).

Normally, pupils think that *F* is also the 'saving point'. To try to prove this, they tend to use a similar strategy to situation 1. However, the strategy in situation 1 is not applied in this situation because ΔQAA ' is not the isosceles triangle (figure C.7.9).



Figure C. 7.8



They may think that they should find a point *S* on \vec{d} such that $\triangle QAA'$ is an isosceles triangle for every point *Q* on \vec{d} .

This suggest that \vec{d} is the mid- perpendicular of \overline{AA}' . In other words, A' is the picture of A through the symmetry transformation S_d . From this, they can find the solution to situation 2 (figure C.7.10).



From (2) and (3), we have QA + QB > SA + SB for every point Q on \vec{a} As a consequence, S, the intersect point of \overline{BA} ' and \vec{a} , is the 'saving position'. This situation helps students distinguish 'fair position' F and 'saving position' S.

<u>Note</u>

Apart from situation 1 and 2, the following problem also can be introduced to students *in high school*:

• The population of city A is twice as much as the population of city B. Therefore, we should find the least value of sum 2AM + BM where M is a point on \vec{d} .

• Generally, find a point *M* on \vec{d} such that sum of *m MA* + *n MB* has the least value where *A* and *B* are one side of \vec{d} ; m and n are two positive real numbers.

These problems can be solved by the *analysis method*.

8. Characteristics of three perpendicular bisectors of a triangle

In the present textbook, this theorem is presented as follows:

Students are asked to do this task:

By using compass and a ruler, construct the three mid-perpendiculars of a triangle. Do you recognize that these three lines are concurrent lines?

(Phan Duc Chinh et al., 2004 b, p. 78)

Later, the theorem and its proof are presented.

RME-based lesson

Situation (Worksheet one, student work in groups):

Suppose that some explorers are traveling in a desert. There are three wells of water at points A, B and C. The explorers are thirsty and want to get some water from one of these wells.

a) Find all positions from which they should go to:

 \cdot well A

 \cdot well *B*

 \cdot well C

Are there any position (s) from which they can go to any of wells A, B and C?

b) Make a statement and prove this statement about characteristic of the three midperpendiculars of \overline{AB} , \overline{AC} and \overline{BC} .

Please consider two cases:

• *A*, *B* and *C* are on a straight line (figure C.8.1.a),

• *A*, *B* and *C* are the three vertexes of a triangle (figure C.8.1.b))



Figure C.8.1.a

Figure C.8.1.b

Expected solution

• *A*, *B* and *C* are collinear points (figure C.8.2)

a) Students may use their
experience from lesson 6
(characteristics of the
perpendicular bisector of a
segment) for this situation.



Figure C.8.2

Suppose that \vec{e}, \vec{f} and \vec{g} are the mid-perpendiculars of $\overline{AB}, \overline{BC}$ and \overline{AC} , respectively.

Suppose that zones *A*, *B* and *C* include positions from which they should go to wells *A*, *B* and *C*, respectively.

They might find that zone A is the half plane which includes A with border \vec{e} . Similarly, zone C is the half plane which includes C with border \vec{f} . Zone B is a part of the plane which includes B and is confined by \vec{e} and \vec{f} .

In this case there isn't any point from which they can go to any of wells *A*, *B* and *C* because \vec{e} , \vec{f} and \vec{g} do not have any common point. This also suggests that these lines are parallel.

b) Students can realize and prove that \vec{e} , \vec{f} and \vec{g} are parallel lines.

• *A*, *B* and *C* are not collinear points (*A*, *B* and *C* are three vertexes of a triangle) (figure C.8.3)

a) Hopefully, when comparing group members' figures with the three midperpendiculars of a triangle, students will realize that mid-perpendiculars of \overline{AB} , \overline{AC} and \overline{BC} "meet each other at a single point". Later, they can prove this supposition.





Figure C.8.3

Consequently, MA = MC (= MB) ((1) and (2)). Thus, M lies on \ddot{g} . In other words, \ddot{e}, \ddot{f} and \ddot{g} concurrent lines

There is unique point M from which they can go to any of wells A, B and C.

<u>Note</u>

The Voronoi-diagrams' ideas can be used to teach content of condition for a cyclic quadrilateral ABCD (grade 9 in Vietnam).

Appendix D: The forms of the students' worksheets (lesson 1)¹⁰¹

THE LEARNING WORKSHEET (1st time) Grade 7 A			
Nguyen Luong Bang middle school, Thanh Mien district, Hai Duong province			
Name of student:	Name of student:		
Please draw an arbitrary triangle	Please measure the angles of the left triangle		

Table D.1: The first worksheet

Table D.2: The second worksheet

THE STUDENTS' WORKSHEET (2nd time)				
Grade 7 A				
Nguyen Luong Bang middle school, Thanh Mien district, Hai Duong province				
Name of student:	Name of student:			
Please write down three arbitrary angle measures	Please draw a triangle with the three angle measures on the left (if it is possible)			

¹⁰¹ These worksheet forms were designed by the first teacher, Ms. Do Lan Huong.

CURRICULUM VITAE

Le Tuan Anh was born in 1973 in Hoa Binh, Vietnam and was raised in Hai Duong. He began to study in the Faculty of Mathematics and Informatics at Hanoi University of Education in 1991. In 1995, he graduated from Hanoi University of Education with his bachelor's degree in mathematics. Between 1995 and 1996, he attended a course for training informatics teachers at the same university. After that, he attended a master course and received a master's degree in mathematics education at Hanoi University of Education in 1998. He then worked as a lecturer in the Department of Teaching Methods at the Faculty of Mathematics and Informatics, Hanoi University of Education. During this time, he was mainly involved in training high school mathematics teachers. He also taught elementary mathematics courses as well as mathematics education courses for in-service middle school mathematics teachers in many provinces in the Northern Vietnam. Moreover, he worked part-time as a high school mathematics teacher in several schools and centers in Hanoi. In 2001, he passed examinations for candidates who intend to study overseas and obtained a three-year scholarship sponsored by the Vietnamese Government. In October 2003, he became a PhD student in the Department of Didactics for Mathematics, the Institute of Mathematics at Potsdam University, Germany.